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P E E F A C E . 

THIS Chronicle of the Cid is wholly translation, but it is 
not the translation of any single work. The three following 
have been used. 

1. C H R O N I C A D E L F A M O S O C A V A L L E R O C I D 
R U Y D I E Z C A M P E A D O R . Burgos 1592. . 

The First and only other edition of this Chronicle was 
printed in 1552. The Infante Don Fernando, who was 
afterwards Emperor, seeing the manuscript-at Cardeña, or-
dered the Abbot Don Fr . Juan de Velorado to publish it , 
and obtained an order from his grandfather Fernando the 
Catholic King to the same effect. The Abbot performed 
his task very carelessly and very inaccurately, giving no ac-
count of the manuscript, and suífering many errors to creep 
into the text, which might have been corrected by collating 
it with the originaL 

Beuther, Éscolano, and others, ascribé it to Abenalfarax, 
the nephew of G i l Diaz. Berganza is of opinión that the 
main part was written by G i l Dias himsélf, because the manu­
script at Cardeña, says, ' Then Abenfax the Moor, who wrote 
this Chronicle in Arable, set down the price of food : And 
Abentaxi, according to him, was the ñame of G i l Diaz be-
fore his conversión. Abenalfarax is named in the end of 
the book as the author : he concludes therefore that it was 
completed by h i m ; . . and this the Coronica General con-

2 
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firms by saying, Según cuenta la Estoria del Cid, que de 
aqui adelante compuso Aben Alfarax su sobrino de Gil Diaz 
en Valencia. The printed Chronicle however says Abenal-
farax where Berganza reads Abenfax, and writes Alfaraxi 
for the Moorish ñame of G i l Diaz. This question is not 
easily decided. There is nothing Arabian in the style of the 
Chronicle, except the lamentation for Valencia, which is 
manifestly so. I t is most probably the work of a Spaniard, 
who used Arabio documents. 

I t is equally impossible to ascertain the age of this Chron­
icle. The Abbot who published it judged that it was as oíd 
as the days of the Cid himself. This supposition is absurd. 
Lucas of Tuy and the Archbishop Rodrigo are frequently 
cited in it. I t was however an oíd manuscript in 1552. A 
much older was seen in 1593 by Don Gi l Ramirez de Arel-
lano, which according to his account was in Portnsfueze, but 
agreed in the main with that which had been published. 
The older the language, the more it would resemble Portu-
gueze. Another question is, whether it has been inserted in 
the Coronica General, or extracted from i t : for that the one 
copied from the other is certain : but it is equally certain 
from the variations, that each must have had some other ori­
ginal ; . . perhaps the Arable. I f the Chronica del Cid be 
extracted from the General Chronicle, which is giving it the 
latest date, even in that case it was written before the end 
of the 13th century ; that is, little more than 150 years after 
the Cid's death ; and whatever fiction has been introduced 
into the story, must have been invented long before, or it 
would not have been received as truth, and incorporated 
into the general history of Spain. This question has not 
been, and perhaps cannot be decided. There are some 
errors in the Chronicle of the Cid which are corrected in the 
General Chronicle, and sometimes it contains passages 
which are necessary to explain an after circumstance, but 
are not found in the other.1 

1 The language of the Ühr. del Cid is sometimes of greater antiquity 
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2. Las quatro partes enteras de la Crónica de España, que 
mando componer el Serenissimo Rey Don Alonso limado el 
sabio, donde se contienen los acontescimientos y hazañas may­
ores y mas señaladas que sucedieron en España, desde su p r i ­
mera población hasta casi los tiempos del dicho señor Rey. 
Vista y emendada mucha parte de su impresión por el maestro 
Florian Docampo Cronista del emperador rey nuestro señor. 
Con previlegio imperial. 

Fue impressa la presente Crónica general de España en la 
magnifica, noble y antiquissima cibdad de Zamora: por los 
honrrados varones Augustin de paz y Juan Picardo com­
pañeros inpressores de libros, vezinos de la dicha cibdad. A 
costa y espensas del virtuso varón Juan de Spinosa mercader de 
libros vezino de Medina del Campo. Acabóse en nueve dias 
del mes de deziembre. Año del nascimiento de nuestro salva­
dor Jusu Christo de mil i y quinientos y quarenta y un años, 
Reynando en España el Emperador Don Carlos nuestro Se­
ñor y Rey natural. 

Florian de Ocampo relates the history of this first edition 
in his epistle dedicatory to Don Luys de Stuniga y Avila. 
The printers of Zamora, he says, carne to him and besought 
him to give them something which they might publish to the 
use and glory of those kingdoms whereof they and he were 
natives. He had at that time in his house a manuscript of 
this Chronicle, which had been lent him by the Licentiate 
Martin de Aguilar. Aguilar joyfully gave up the manu­
script to the printers, and Ocampo undertook to correct the 
press as far as he could in those hours which he could spare 
from his studies and pursuits : this, says he, I did with such 
fidelity, that I would never permit the style, ñor order, ñor 
antique words to be changed, holding any such alteration to 

than the other, . . for instance; . . E tamaño fue el plazer del Rey D . 
Fernando e de los suyos quamaño fue el -pesar del Rey D . Ramiro de A r a ­
gón e de los suyos. 

In the Cor. Ger. quan grande and tan grande are the phrases, But 
this is a subject which none but a Spaniard can properly investigate. 



XÜ PREFACE. 

be an offence committed upon the work of another. Not-
withstanding this becoming respect for antiquity, Ocampo 
passes a censure upon the style at the end of the Sumario. 
He says, Todas estas cosas sobredichas van escritas en estas 
quatro partes con plabras antiguas y toscas, según las usavan 
los Españoles al tiempo que las hazian, quando se presciavan 
mas de bien obrar que de bien hablar; puesto que siempre fue 
y sera gran alabanza bien hablar a los que bien obran. 

The Spanish Chronicles were all villanously printed, be-
cause the printers made use of the first manuscript they 
could ímd, and the correctors did their best to bring the lan-
guage to that of their own times, after the newest and most 
approved fashion. This mischief Ocampo prevented as far 
as he could, but he should have done more; Ocampo was 
not a common Corrector of the Press! he was Chronicler to 
the King of Castille, and any manuscript in the kingdom 
which he had asked for would have been put into his hands 
as readily as thaf of his friend Aguilar. The copy which he 
implicitly followed happened to be remarkably " faulty. 
Words and sentences are omitted in almost every oolumn, 
whole chapters are wanting, and even one entire reign. 
Z urita collated the printed book with a manuscript of great 
antiquity, which had once belonged to the famous Mar­
ques de Santillana ; and this copy, in which he had with his 
own hand inserted all the omissions, was in the possession of 
the Marques de Mondejar. A n imperfect manuscript, 
which is likewise of great antiquity, is at Salamanca, in 
the Collegio de S. Bartolomé : some man of letters has prefix-
ed a note to it, saying that it contains many chapters which are 
not to be found in the printed book.. . y tiene también otra uti l i­
dad que es, el hallarse aqui los vocablos y voces castellanas an­
tiguas en su pureza, sin haberse limado al tiempo presente, 
como la imprimió Florian de Ocampo. I f this writer be accu-
rate, the copier of Aguilar's manuscript had modernized the 
book as well as mutilated it. 

Ocampo calis this work la Chronica de España, que mando 
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componer el Serenissimo Rey D . Alonso. The manuscript 
which Zurita collated has la Esioria de España que fizo el 
mui noble Rey D . Alonso. The Marques de Mondejar pos-
sessed three manuscripts, neither of which supported Ocam-
po's reading, ñor afforded the slightesl ground for support-
ing it. On the other hand, Don Juan Manual", Alonso's 
ncphew, expressly says that the King made thé Chronicle, 
and in the Prologue the King says so himself. That Florian 
de Ocampo, who printed the Prologue, should have over-
looked this, is inconceivable ; and why he should deny that 
the King wrote it, in direct contradiction of the King's own 
authority, is what he has not explained, and what nobody 
can explain for him. Don Francisco Cerda y . Rico says, 
the real author was Maestre Jofre de Loaysa, Archdeacon of 
Toledo, and afterwards Abbot of Santander; and this he 
says he has preved in a dissertation which was ready for the 
press. I know not whether this dissertation has appeared, 
neither do I know that at the distance of more than five cen-
turies any proof can possibly be obtained to show that Alonso 
the 'Wise did not write the history, which he himself says he 
wrote, and which we know he was capable of writing. 

The printed Chronicle is divided into. four parts, and the 
last part is not Alonso's work. Ocampo gives it as his own 
opinión, and that of many other intelligent persons, that it 
was not written by the author of the three foriner, because it 
contained nothing but what was to be found in other books ; 
because the síyle was different, and the language ruder, . . the 
whole being in fact composed of fragments put together 
without any attempt at improving them, and because in 
many places the writer expressed himself as i f he had been 
contemporary with the persons whose feats he was then re-
cor din g. There is no doubt that this opinión is right. I t 
ends with the death of King St. Fernando, Alonso's father. 
I t is in this part that the history of the Cid is contained. 

This very curious work was reprinted at Valladolid in 
1604. I t is the latest edition which I have used. 
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3. P O E M A D E L C I D . 

Sandoval first mentioned this poem, which is preserved at 
Bivar, and gave the four first lines, calling the whole 1 Ver­
sos Barbaros y Notables: Berganza afterwards inserted 
seventeen lines in his Antigüedades. The notice which they 
thus gave of its existence excited the curiosity of Sánchez, 
to whom Spanish literature has been so greatly indebted, 
and he published it in the first volume of his Colección de 
Poesías Castellanas Anteriores al Siglo X V. 

Some leaves are wanting at the beginning of the manu-
script, and one in the middle. The whole fragment con-
sists of 3744 lines, the three last of which are added by the 
transcriber ; 

Quien escribió este libro deV Dios paraiso: Amen. 
Per abbat le escribió en el mes de mayo 
E n era de mili e CC. . X L V . años. 

W h o Per Abbat was, and whether Abbat implied his rank 
or his ñame, cannot now be known : . . it is certain that he 
was the copier of the book, not the author, by the language, 
which is much older than the date of the manuscript. But 
there is difficulty concerning the date. There is a space 
between the CC and the X L V ; and that space is just as 
much as another C would have filled. Perhaps, says Sán­
chez, the copier put one C too much and erased i t ; perhaps 
he placed the conjunction e, part of the date being expressed 
by words and part by figures, and afterwards erased it as 
superfluous; or possibly some person thought to give the 
manuscript greater valué by obliterating one C, to make it 
appear a century older. The writing seems to be of the 
fourteenth century. I t is of little consequence ; even upon 
that supposition the date is 1307 : and no person can doubt 
that the language of the poem is considerably older than 
that of Gonzalo de Berceo, who flourished about 1220 ; . . . 
a century is hardly sufficient to account for the difference 
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between them. Sánchez is of opinión that it was composed 
about the middle of the twelfth century, some fifty years 
after the death of the C i d ; . . . there are some passages 
which induce me to believe it the work of a contemporary. 
Be that as it may, it is unquestionably the oldest poem in 
the Spanish language. I n my judgment it is as decidedly 
and beyond all comparison the finest. 

One other source of information remains to be mentioned, 
the popular ballads of the Cid. 

R O M A N C E S D E L C I D . 

Sarmiento {Mem. para la Hist. de la Poesie, § 546. 548. 
550.) delivers it as his opinión, that the popular ballads of the 
Twelve Peers, Bernardo del Carpió, Ferran González, the 
Cid, & c . were composed soon after the age of the héroes 
whom they celébrate, and were what the Copleros, Trou-
veurs, Joculars, and all the common people, sung at their 
entertainments. That these being orally preserved, were 
subject to frequent alterations as the language of the country 
altered ; and thus when at length they were committed to 
writing, their language was materially different, but their 
substance remained the same. I n support of this authority 
which he assigns to them in point of fact, he observes that 
the Cor. General frequently cites the Joglares or popular 
poets. Their present form he assigns to the end of the 
fifteenth century. 

Sarmiento describes the collection which he had seen of the 
Ballads of the Cid as containing one hundred and two bal­
lads, in oíd style, and in eight syllable verse. This is the Histo­
r ia del muy valeroso Cavallero el Cid Ruy Diez de Bivar, 
en Romances, en leng-uag-e antiguo, recopilados por Juan de 
Escobar. Sevilla, 1632. The ballads in this little volume are 
chronologically arranged; it is, I believe, the only sepárate 
collection, and by no means a complete one. Two which 
Escobar has overlooked are among the Romances nueva­
mente sacados de Historias Antiguas de la Crónica de España 

XV 
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por Lorenso de Sepulveda vezino de Sevilla. Van añadidos 
muchos nunca vistos,- compuestos por un Cavallero Cesario, 
cuyo nombre se guarda para mayores cosas. Anvers, 1566. 
This volume contains forty-one ballads of the Cid, scattered 
through it without any regular order. There are thirty-two 
in the Romancero General, en que se contienen todas los Ro­
mances que andan impressos, en las nueve partes de Romance­
ros. Acra nuevamente impresso, añadido, y emendado. Medina 
del Campo, 1602. Twelve of these are not in Escobar's 
collection; and probably others which he has overlooked 
may be found in other Romanceros. Many of these ballads 
are evidently little older than the volumes in which they are 
contained; very few of them appear to me to bear any 
marks of antiquity, and the greater part are utterly worth-
less. Indeed the heroic ballads of the Spaniards have been 
overrated in this country : they are infiriitely and every way 
inferior to our own. There • are some spirited ones in the 
Guerras Civiles de, Granada, from which the rest have been 
estimated ; but excepting these, I know none of any valué 
among the many hundreds which I have perused. I have 
very seldom availed myself of the Romances del Cid. 

The Chronicle of the Cid is the main web of the present 
volume. I have omitted such parts as relate to the general 
history of Spain but have no reference to Ruydiez, and I 
have incorporated with it whatever additional circumstances, 
either of fact or costume, are contained in the Crónica Gen-, 
eral or the Poema del Cid. The poem is to be considered 
as metrical history, not metrical romance. I t was written 
before those fictions were invented which have been added 
to the history of the Cid, and which have made some authors 
discredit what there is not the slightest reason to doubt. I 
have preferred it to the Chronicles sometimes in point of 
fact, and always m point of costume ; for as the historian of 
manners, this poet, whose ñame unfortunately has perished, 
is the Homer of Spain. A few material additions have been 
made from other authentic sources, and the references are 
given, section by section, with exemplary minuteness. 
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I f any country might have been thought safe from the Sa-
racens, it was Spain. The Wisi-Goths had been nearly 
three centuries in possession of it : during that time the in-
dependent kingdoms which were founded by the first con-
querors, had been formed into one great monarchy, more 
extensive and more powerful than any other existing at 
the same time in Europe ; they and the conquered were 
blended into one people ; their languages were intermingled, 
and the religión and laws of the peninsula had received that 
character which they retain even to the present day. The 
Wisi-Goths themselves were a more formidable enemy than 
the Mahommedans had yet encountered; in Persia, Syria, 
and Egypt, they had found a race always accustomed to 
oppression, and ready for the yoke of the strongest; among 
the Greeks a vicious and eífeminated people, a government 
at once feeble and tyrannical, and generáis who either by 
their treachery or incapacity, aíforded them an easy con-
quest; in Africa they overrun provinces which had not yet 
recovered from the destructive victories of Belisarius. But 
the Spanish Goths were a nation of freemen, and their 
strength and reputation unimpaired. Yet in two battles 
their monarchy was subverted; their cities fell as fast as 
they were summoned, and in almost as little time as the 
Moors could travel over the kingdom, they became masters 
of the whole, except only those mountainous regions in which 
the language of the first Spaniards found an asylum from 

3 
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the Romans, and which were now destined to preserve the 
liberties and institutions of the Goths. 

No country was ever yet subdued by foreign enemies, 
unless the badness of its government, or the folly of its gov-
ernors, prepared the way for them. The laws of succession 
among the Wisi-Goths were ill-defined and worse observed. 
There were claimants to the crown abject enough to be wi l -
ling to accept it from the hand of the Moorish Conqueror, 
and fools enough to suppose that a conqueror would give it 
them ; actuated by this vile hope, and by the desire of 
destroying their rival, though the utter overthrow of their 
country should be brought about by the same means, they 
invited the invaders, and aided them with all their iiifluence. 
These wretches are inexcusable. Count Julián was pro-
voked by heavier injuries to pursue the same unhappy 
course. .Rodrigo the reigning King had forcibly violated 
his daughter. A n act of manly vengeance would have been 
recorded with applause ; but he betrayed his country and 
renounced his religión to revenge an individual wrong, and 
for him too there is no excuse. There is little for those 
Arians and other persecuted sectaries, with whom Spain 
abounded, who welcomed the Moors, or willingly submitted 
to them, . . weak and miserable men, to rejoice in ruin, 
because it fell heavier upon their oppressors than them-
selves ! But there were two classes in Spain, the Jews and 
the slaves, whom the grievances which they endured justi-
fied in forwarding any revolution that afforded them even a 
chance of change, and in joining any invaders as their 
deliverers. The persecution which the Jews endured from 
the Wisi-Goth Kings was more atrocious than any to which 
that persecuted race had yet been exposed : . . . the fiend-
ish system of extirpation, which has since been pursued 
against them in the same country, was little more than a 

Fuero J u z - r e n e w a l o f ^ execrable laws enacted by Sisebuto, Suin-
go. 1.12. thela, Recesuinto, and Egica. I f they were dctected in 
tu . 2. Ley . J 
8 - i i . observmg any custom or ceremony of their religión, they 
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were to be killed upon the spot, or stoned, or burnt ; . • • 
and finally, upon an absurd accusation that they had con-
spired with the Jews of Africa and other provinces to rise 
against the Christians and destroy them, they were all con-
demned to slavery, and their children above the age of seven ^or^es- 2 
taken from them, and baptized. The laws respecting slaves —5. Con-

• i i - i i » . • -| cil. 17. de 
were iniquitous m the highest degree. A t one time they Toledo. 

•were not admitted as witnesses, and the law which disquali- g r S ^ S6" 
fied them, classed them with thieves, murderers, and poison-p- 234' 
ers. I f in spite of this law their evidence was taken, it was puero juz. 
not to be believed, though it had been forced from them by f^i1'^2- t-
torture. When it was found that this disqualification too Do 4> 
frequently obstructed the course of justice, they were al-
lowed to be heard in trifling actions, and upon any deadly 
fray, provided no free witnesses could be found. I n ques- Do.—1.10. 

tions of adultery, treason, coining, murder, and poisoning, 
they might be tortured to extort evidence against their mas-
ters : he who gave it under the torture suffered with the 
criminal, but i f he gave it without compulsión, he escaped ; 
this law must often have occasioned the condemnation of 
the innocent. I f a slave who had been transferred accused Do.— 1. 6. 
his former master, that master had the privilege of re-t' ^ l '4* 
purchasing him to punish him at pleasure. A law wasoo.—l. 5. 
made to keep the children of slaves slaves like their parents, ** 4' 15" 
because, said the legislator, there is a great confusión of 
lineage when the son is not like the father, and as the root 
is even so must the branch be. By a still greater injustice, 
i f a runaway slave of either sex married a free person, 
under pretence of being free, the children of that marriage 
became slaves to the owner of the fugitive. * I f a woman Do.— 1. 9. 
married her slave, or one who having been her slave had Lie.1'14' 
been emancipated, both were to be burnt. The very sane- Do _ i 3_ 
tuary was forbidden them ; they used to fly to the churches, *• 2-1 2-
that the clergy might hear their complaints and compel their 
merciless owners to sell them ; but even this refuge was 
taken away, and it was enacted that they should be given 
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Fuero Juz- up to punishment. There was a penalty for harboring fugi-
t.0^, 1. 18. tive slaves ; and whosoever admitted one into h i s house, 

though the runaway called himself free, and did not imme-
diately carry him before a judge for examination, was to 
receive a hundied stripes and pay the owner a pound ; the 
neighbors were liable to the same penalties, i f they did not 
supply his neglect ; all persons therefore were bound to 
examine a suspicious stranger, and torture him to find out 
who he was. I f they omitted to do this, men or women, of 
whatever race, family, or rank, were to suffer two hundred 
stripes, churchmen and officers of justice three hundred, and 
Bishop or Lord who was thus guilty, either for compassion 
or for a bribe, was to forfeit three pounds to the King, and 
do penance during thirty days, like one who had been ex-

Do.—1.^9. communicated. The monstrous severity of this law proves 
how frequently these unhappy people fled from their mas-
ters, and the legislator complains that there was neither 
city, castle, burgh, ñor village, in which runaway slaves 
were not concealed. Such were the laAvs of the Spanish 
Goths respecting slavery! Where suéh a system was estab-
lished, the first invader could not but be victorious, because 
he found recruits in every house. The kingdom deserved to 
fall, and it fell. 

The Mahommedans made many proselytes in Spain as 
well as everywhere else where they established themselves. 
But the growth and decline of all Mahommedan empires are 
necessarily connected with the civil and religious institutions 
of Islamism, and may be traced to them. 

In forming^a new religión, Mahommed aimed at making 
its ritual less burdensome, its morality more indulgent, and 
its creed more rational than those of other nations. I t was 
not however enough to appeal to the reason, nor even to 
the passions of mankind, without at the same time profiting 
by theii credulity. To the Jews he announced himself as 
the Messiah, the conqueror in whorn their prophecies cen-
tered ; to the Christians as the Paraclete who was to accom-
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• 
plish the yet unfulfilled system of revelation. The mere 
robber would soon have been crushed, the mere philosopher 
would have been neglected, and he who had attempted to 
preach the incommunicable nature of Deity either among Pa­
gan or Christian Idolaters, would hardly have escaped death 
as a blasphemer. God is God, was a tenet to which none 
would have listened without the daring addition that Ma-
hommed was his prophet. The impiety of one reasonable 
doubt would have shocked and terrified those who believed 
the impudence of an asserted mission. Reason was too 
weak to stand alone, and clung to fanaticism for support. 

No traces of a disordered mind are discoverable either in 
the life or in the doctrines of Mahommed. The puré theism 
which he preached he probably believed; but his own 
claims proceeded from ambition, not from self-deceit. Per-
severing in his object, he varied the means, and never 
scrupled at accommodating his institutions to the established 
prejudices of the people. A t first Jerusalem was chosen to 
be the metrópolis of his religión, and the point toward which 
all the faithful should turn their faces in prayer. This privilege 
he transferred to Mecca, and though he destroyed the Idols 
of the Caaba, he suífered the black stone which was the great 
object of idolatrous worship, to retain its honors. Those 
founders or reformers of religión who were inspired, and 
those who believed themselves to be so, have spared neither 
the prejudices, ñor passions, ñor feelings, ñor instincts, 
which opposed them. Mahommed attempted no such con-
quest over human nature: he did not feel himself strong 
enough to conquer. His conduct displayed the versatility 
of a statesman, not the inflexibility of an honest fanatic. 

The Moslem, in proof of their religión, appeal to the 
plenary and manifest inspiration of the Koran. They rest 
the divinity of their holy Book upon its inimitable excel-
lence; but instead of holding it to be divine because it is 
excellent, they believe its excellence because they admit its 
divinity. There is nothing in the Koran which aífects the 
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• 
feelings, nothing which elevates the imagination, nothing 
which enlightens the understanding, nothing which amelio-
rates the heart: it contains no beautiful narrative, no proverbs 
of wisdom or axioms of morality; it is a chaos of detached 
sentences, a mass of dull tautology. Not a solitary passage 
to indicate the genius of a poet can be found in the whole 
volume. Inspired by no fanaticism, of a meagre mind, and 
with moráis of open and impudent profligacy, Mahommed 
has effected a revolution which in its ruinous consequences 
still keeps in barbarism the greatest and finest part of the 
old world. His were common talents, and it is by common 
talents that great revolutions have most frequently been 
effected ; when the train is ready there needs no lightning 
to kindle it, any spark suffices. That his character was not 
generally mistaken, is evident from the number of imitators 
who started up : there is also reason to suspect that it was 
as well understood by many of his friends as by his enemies. 
A l i indeed believed in him with all the ardor of youth and 
aíFection; but they who were convinced by the sword are 
suspicious converts, and among these are Abbas and Amrou 
and Caled, the holiest héroes of Islamism. Ambition and 
the hope of plunder soon filled his armies, and they who 
followed him for these motives could teach their children 
what they did not believe themselves. 

The political and moral system of the Impostor, i f system 
it may be called, is such as might be expected from one who 
aimed only at his own aggrandizement, and had no gener-
ous views or hopes beyond it . That his language and his 
institutions have spread together is not to be attributed to 
him : this great political advantage necessarily arises when 
nations are either civilized or converted by forcé, and it is 
only by forcé that this religión has been propagated ; its 
missionaries have marched in armies, and its only martyrs 
are those who have fallen in the field of battle. Mahommed 
attempted nothing like a fabric of society: he took abuses 
as he found them. The continuance of polygamy was his 
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great and ruinous error ; where this pernicious custom is 
established, there Avill be neither connubial, ñor paternal, nor 
brotherly affection; and henee the unnatural murders with 
which Asiatic history abounds. The Mahommedan impri-
sons his wives, and sometimes knows not the faces of his 
own children ; he believes that despotism must be necessary 
in the state, because he knows i t to be necessary at home : 
thus the domestic tyrant becomes the contented slave, and 
the atrocity of the ruler and the patience of the people pro-
ceed from the same cause. I t is the inevitable tendency of 
polygamy to degrade both sexes ; wherever it prevails, the 
intercourse between them is merely sexual. Women are 
only instructed in wantonness, sensuality becomes the char-
acteristeric of whole nations, and humanity is disgraced by 
crimes the most loathsome and detestable. This is the pri-
mary and general cause of that despotism and degradation 
which are universal throughout the East: not climate, or the 
mountaineers would be free and virtuous ; not religión, for 
through all the changes of belief which the East has under-
gone, the evil and the eífect have remained the same. 

Mahommed inculcated the doctrine of fatalism, because it 
is the most useful creed for a conqueror. The blind pas-
siveness which it causes has completed the degradation, and 
for ever impeded the improvement of all Mahommedan na­
tions. They w i l l not struggle against oppression, for the 
same reason that they w i l l not avoid the infection of the 
plague. I f from this state of stupid patience they are pro-
voked into a paroxysm of brutal fury, they destroy the 
tyrant; but the tyranny remains unaltered. Oriental revo-
lutions are like the casting a stone into a stagnant pool ; the 
surface is broken for a moment, and then the green weeds 
cióse over it again. 

Such a system can produce only tryants and slaves, those 
who are watchful to commit any crime for power, and those 
who are ready to endure any oppression for tranquillity. A 
barbarous and desolating ambition has been the solé motive 
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of their conqiiering chiefs ; the wisdom of their wisest sove-
reigns has produced nothing of public benefit: it has ended 
in idle moralizings, and the late discovery that all is vanity. 
One Tyrant at the hour of death asserts the equality of man-
kind ; another, who had attained empire by his crimes, ex­
poses his shroud at last, and proclaims that now nothing but 
that is left him. I have slain the Princes of men, said Azzud 
ad Dowlah, and have laid waste the palaces of Kings. I 
have dispersed them to the East and scattered them to the 
West, and now the Grave calis me, and I must go ! A n d he 
died with the frequent exclamation, What avails my wealth ? 
my empire is departing from me ! . . . When Mahmoud, 
the great Gaznevide, was dying of consumption in his Palace 
of Happiness, he ordered that all his treasures should be 
brought out to amuse him. They were laid before him, silk 
and tapestry, jewels, vessels of silver and gold, cofíers of 
money, the spoils of the nations whom he had plundered: it 
was the spectacle of a whole day, . . but pride yielded to 
the stronger feeling of nature ; . . Mahmoud recollected that 
he was in his mortal sickness, and wept and moralized upon 
the vanity of the world. 

I t were wearying to dwell upon the habitual crimes of 
which their history is composed ; we may estímate their 
guilt by what is said of their virtues. Of all the Abbassides, 
none but Mutaded equalled Almanzor in goodness. A slave 
one day, when fanning away the flies from him, struck off 
his turban, upon which Mutaded only remarked that the boy 
was sleepy ; but the Vizir who was present fell down and 
kissed the ground, and exclaimed, O Commander of the 
Faithful, I never heard of such a thing ! I did not think 
such clemency had been possible ! . . for it was the custom 

. of this Caliph, when a slave displeased him, to have the 
oífender buried alive. 

The Mahommedan sovereigns have sufFered their just pun-
ishment; they have been miserable as well as wicked. For 
others they can feel no sympathy, and have learned to take 
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no interest: for themselves there is nothing but fear ; their 
situation exeludes them from hope, and they have the per­
petual sense of danger, and the dread of that inevitable hour 
wherein there shall be no distinction of persons. This fear 
they have felt and confessed ; in youth it has embittered en-
joyment, and it has made age dreadful. A dream, or the 
chance words of a song, or the figures of the tapestry, have 
terrified them into tears. Haroun A l Raschid opened a vol-
ume of poems, and read, Where are the Kings, and where 
are the rest of the world ? They are gone the way which 
thou shalt go. O thou who choosest a perishable world, and 
callest him happy whom it glorifies, take what the world can 
give thee, but death is at the end ! And at these words, he Elmacin, 

who had murdered Yahia and the Barmecides, wept aloud. P" 
I n these barbarous monarchies the people are indolent, 

because i f they acquire wealth they daré not enjoy it . Pun-
ishment produces no shame, for it is inflicted by caprice not 
by justice. They who are rich or powerful become the vic-
tims of rapacity or fear. I f a battle or fortress be lost, the 
Commander is punished for his misfortune ; i f he become 
popular for his victories, he incurs the jealousy and hatred 
of the ruler. Ñor is it enough that wealth, and honor, and 
existence are at the Despot's mercy; the feelings and in-
stincts must yield at his command. I f he take the son for 
his eunuch, and the daughter for his concubine ; i f he order 
the father to execute the child, it is what Destiny has ap-
pointed, and the Mahommedan says, . . God's w i l l be done. 
But insulted humanity has not unfrequently been provoked 
to take vengeance ; the monarch is always in danger, be-
cause the subject is never secure ; these are the conse-
quences of that absolute power and passive obedience which 
have resulted from the doctrines of Mahommed; and this 
is the state of society wherever his religión has been estab-
lished. 

But when Islamism entered Spain, it was in its youth and 
vigor ; its destructive principies had not yet had time to de-

4 
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velop themselves; and its military apostles could safely 
challenge corrupted Christianity to a comparison of creeds. 
No nation had yet been able to resist them ; they had gone 
on from victory to victory. W i t h the majority of mankind 
the successful cause passes for the right one ; and when 
there were so many motives for conversión, it is not to be 
wondered at that the greater number of the Spanish Goths 
became converts to a triumphant faithi. When in the first 
years of that faith Amrou led an army against Gaza, the 
Governor asked, for what reason the city was attacked. 
Our Master, replied Amrou, has sent us to conquer you, 
unless ye receive our religión ; do this and ye shall be our 

Elmacin. companions and brethren. I f ye refuse this, pay a yearly 
tribute forever, and we wi l l protect you against all invaders. 
I f neither of these terms be accepted, there can be only the 
sword between us, and we must war upon you in obedience 
to the command of the Lord . This was the system of the 
Mahommedans, and hitherto no policy could have succeeded 
better. The Christians who retained their relio-ion became 
a kind of Helots, who supplied the revenue and cultivated 
the land; they were everywhere the minority, and as 
Mahommedan states grew round them on all sides, it was 
not long before they disappeared. The Moors found the 
same obsequiousness in Spain as they had done in Africa and 
in the East. The main part of the men apostatized, and the 
women contentedly learnt a new creed, to qualify them­
selves for foreign husbands, or for the renegadoes who profit-
ed by the ruin of their 'country. But there yet remained 
Gothic valor and Gothic genius. Pelayo baílled them with 
a troop of mountaineers, the wreck and remnant of the na­
tion. This hero was strengthened by the accident of his 
royal descent; but it was not for his birth that his fellow 
soldiers lifted him upón a shield, and in the hour of difficulty 
and danger acclaimed him King. I n a strong country, with 
the defiles of which he was well acquainted, he maintained 
himself against the neighboring Moors. His own weakness 
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was his best security; foes like these were beneath the no-
tice ofthe conqueror ; he who had overthrown the kingdom 
of the Goths did not stop to extermínate a handful of ban-
ditti. Once already had Musa crost the Pyrenees and ad-
vanced as far as Carcassonne : he now proposed to overrun 
France, proceed through Germany and Hungary to Con-
stantinople, and by this line of conquests, connect Spain 
with the Saracen empire. For this enterprise he was pre-
paring when a courier seized the bridle of his horse, and 
commanded him in the Caliph's ñame to set out for Damas-
cus. There was retribution in this. Musa had imprisoned 
Tarif because he envied his glory ; he himself was now ar-
rested in his own career, and detained in Syria, while secret 
orders were sent to destroy his whole family. AU who 
were in Africa were cut off. His son Abdalazis, a man 
worthy of a better fate, had been left governor in Spain; 
but the commanders of every town at this time exercised 
independent authority, and his power was little more than 
nominal. To strengthen himself by conciliating the Chris-
tians, he married Egilona, widow of the late K i n g ; her 
foolish bigotry was one occasion of his ruin. Finding it 1. 3. 
impossible to convert her husband, she placed saint-images 
in all her apartments, and made the doors so low that he 
could not enter, without bowing his head before her idols. 
The Moorish Chiefs interpreted this as an artífice on his 
part to entrap them into a gesture which was an acknowl-
edgment of their inferiority. His views were too generous 
for their comprehension. He wished to introduce the Gothic 
forms of freedom, and with that view assembled them in a 
Cortes. They murdered him, that the anarchy might con­
tinué. His head was sent to Damascus, and the Caliph 
bade Musa look, i f he knew the face. The broken hearted Cardonne. 

oíd man retired to Mecca, seeking there for that consolation, í ls! '93-
which, such is the blessed nature of religión, every religión 
however corrupted, can in some degree bestow; and there 
he ended his days. 
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Spain was so distant from the capital of the Caliphs, that 
they were continually exerting their authority there, lest their 
weakness should be discovered. For this reason it was 
their policy frequently to change the Governor, a system 
every Avay pernicious, which allowed integrity no time to be 
useful, and hurried avarice into rapacity. A few plunder-
ing expeditions were made beyond the Pyrenees, while 
tyranny and extortion provoked frequent commotions at 
home. At length Abderrahman, as well to employ a rest-
less people as to gratify his own ambition, collected a pro-
digious army, and burst into France. The cause of civil-
ized society has never been exposed to equal danger, since 
the Athenians preserved it at Salarais. Charles Martel met 
him by Tours, and destroyed him and his army. To re-
venge this defeat was for awhile the great object of the 
Moors, and Christendom was still saved by the same hero. 
Dissensions broke out between the original conquerors, and 
the Moors who had flocked over from Africa: an army of 
Syrians was called in, and they soon became a third party. 

^ajg°nne' Meantime Pelayo and the Spaniards strengthened them-
Ferreras. gelves in Asturias. Wherever they advanced they found a 
t . 4. p. 60. ; - _ J J 

number of Christians ready to assist in recovering their 
i30ri3e3 coimtry' Under Alonzo the Catholic, they became formi­

dable, and then in their turn weakened themselves. His 
successor, Froyla, murdered one brother, and was himself 
murdered by another, who seized the throne. The insecure 
Usurper made himself vassal to the Moors, and his only 
wars were against the slaves in his own kingdom, who had 

Bleda. 3,8. risen upon their Christian masters. 
The revolution which established the Abbassides in Syria, 

erected another dynasty and a new empire in Spaim Ab-
doulrahman, one of the Ommiades, fled from the massacre 
of his family, and hid himself, with his child and his brother, 

A . D. 749. in a forest beside the Euphrates. They were discovered, 
the boy was slain, the two brethren rodé into the river. 
One, allnred by the promise of his pursuers to spare him, 
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turned back from the dangerous passage, and was imme-
diately murdered. Abdoulrahman swam on, and effected Cardonne. 

his escape. He got into Africa, and had found adherents 
there who promised to protect him: against the Governor, 
when deputies carne over from the Spanish Moors to invite 
him to the kingdom of Spain as his inheritance. His reign 
was a perpetual warfare against those who transferred their 
loyalty with the throne of the Caliphs, or against chiefs who 
fought for their own aggrandizement, and called it the cause 
of the Abbassides. Almanzor made one direct effort, and 
sent Ala with troops from Africa, and the whole weight of 
his authority, to destroy the last of a rival race. He was at 
Mecca when the head of Ala, salted and filled with cam-
phor, was nailed against his palace door, and the sight made 
him rejoice that the sea rolled between him and his enemy. 
The Ommiade triumphed over every opposer; established ^gg11116, 

his throne at Cordova, and left the undisputed sovereignty 
of all the Spanish Moors to his son. The race of Abdoul- A- D- 787-
rahman should not go without their fame. A n astrologer 
predicted to his successor Haccham, a happy and glorious 
reign, but only of eight years. I n the belief of this predic-
tion he reigned with the wholesome fear of death before his 
eyes, and no act of injustice or cruelty is of him recorded. 
Two eider brethren, to Avhom he had been wisely preferred 
by his father, attempted to dethrone h i m : he subdued them, 
and then settled ampie revenues upon these dangerous rivals, 
when they were at his mercy. Haccham's armies were 
filled by soldiers who loved h i m ; and when a father died, 
the sons received his pay t i l l they also were of an age to serve. 
The Christians resisted him with courage; but he pursued 
them into their mountains, and burnt the palace of their 
Kings, and so reduced them, that when a wealthy Moor 
bequeathed his treasures to ransom his countrymen who 
were in captivity among the Spaniards, none could be found 
to profit by the bequest. The Pyrenees did not bound his 
exploits; he completed the great Mosque at Cordova with 
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the spoils of Narbonne. The liberality of this Caliph was 
Cordonne. as dangerous to the Christians as his arms. Of his body 
Rod25xfm! guard, which consisted of five thousand men, three thousand 
^ss.^" were renegadoes. 

The reign of the second Haccham was more troubled. 
Always in arms either against the Leonese, or his own re-
bellious subjects, he was alike terrible to both. A revolt 
threw Toledo into the hands of the Christians, who were too 
feeble to keep the metrópolis which they had thus recovered. 
Another mutiny of the citizens incensed Haccham, and the 
vengeance which he planned was in the spirit and upon the 
scale of Asiatic barbarity. Their fellow citizen Amrouz 
was made Governor ; he lured the affections of the people, 
and tempted. them to plot another rebellion in which he 
should be their leader ; and he persuaded them that a citi-
del would be necessary for their defence. They built one, 
and within i t , a palace for their new chief. This citadel 
was designed to keep the people in obedience, and Amrouz 
made the workmen dig a pit secretly within the walls, deep 
and wide and long. When everything was prepared, Hac­
cham sent his son to Toledo, on some specious pretext. 
Amrouz entertained him and invited all who possessed either 
authority or influence in the town to a feast. As they en-

Hist. Arat. tered, they were seized ; the massacre lasted from morning 
Caráonne. till mid-day, and the ready grave was filled with five thou-
Martaña. 7. san(i bodies. No provocation can palliate a crime like this ; 
12- yet all that his subjects complained of in Haccham, were his 

sloth, his excesses at table, and above all his love of wine. 
New mutinies excited him to new cruelty: meantime the 
Christians insulted his border. A female Moor, as she was 
led away into captivity, called upon Haccham to deliver her. 
Her appeal was reported to him, and it roused his pride. 
He entered the Christian territories at the head of a victorious 
army, sought out the woman, and with his own hand broke 

Cardonne. ^ 
i . 255. 

A second Abdoulrahman succeeded. He is called the 
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Victorious, though he was more fortúnate against his own 
rebellious subjects than against the Christians, who gained 
upon his frontier, or the Normahs who plundered his coast. 
Mahommed, the next in succession, left thirty-three sons; 
one of his forty-four brethren broke the line of inheritance 
and seized his nephew's throne. The Usurper was the third 
Abdoulrahman, the most magnificent of the Moorish Kings 
of Spain. His history is like a tale of Eastern splendor, 
with an Eastern moral at the end. To gratify the vanity of 
a favorite slave, he built a town and called it after her name, 
Zebra, which signifies the ornament of the world. There 
were in its palace a thousand and fourteen columns of Afr i -
ean and Spanish marble, nineteen from Italian quarries, and 
a hundred and forty beautiful enough to be presents from the 
Greek Emperor. The marble walls of the hall of the Ca-
liph were inlaid with gold ; birds and beasts of gold, stud-
ded with jewels, spouted water into a marble bason in its 
centre ; the bason was the work of the best Greek sculptors, 
and above it hung the great pearl which had been sent to 
Abdoulrahman by the Emperor León. The extent of the 
buildings may be imagined by the size of his seraglio, which 
contained six thousand three hundred persons. This was 
his favorite abode. After the chase, to which twelve thou­
sand horsemen always accompanied him, he used to rest in 
a pavilion in the gardens; the pillars were of puré white 
marble, the floor of gold and steel and jewelry, and in the 
midst there was a fountain of quicksilver. Yet Abdoulrah­
man left a writing which contained this testimony against 
the vanity of the world. F rom the moment when I began 
to reign, I have recorded those days in which I enjoyed 
real and undisturbed pleasure : they amount to fourteen. 
Mortal man, consider what this world is, and what. depend-
ence is to be placed upon its enjoyments ! Nothing seems 
wanting to my happiness; . . riches, honors, to say every-
thing, sovereign power. I am feared and esteemed by my 
contemporary princes, "they envy my good fortune, they are 
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jealous of my glory, they solicit my friendship. Fifty years 
have I reigned, and in so long a course of time can count 
but fourteen days which have not been poisoned by some 

Cardonne. VeXation. 

The reign of his son Haccham was short and splendid and 
peaceful. He wanted to enlarge his palace at Zehra: the 
ground adjoining was the property of a poor woman, who 
would not for any price sell the inheritance of her fathers; 
the workmen took possession by forcé, and she went to the 
Cadi Ibn Bechir with her complaint. Ibn Bechir took a 
large sack, mounted his ass, and rodé to the Caliph, whom 
he found sitting in a pavilion which had been built upon the 
place ; he prostrated himself and asked permission to fill the 
sack with earth. Having obtained leave, he filled it, and 
then requested the Prince would help him to lift i t up upon 
the ass. Haccham attempted, but found i t too heavy. 
Prince, then said the Cadi, this is but a small part of that 
land whereof you have wrongfully deprived one of your sub-
jects ; . . how w i l l you at the last judgment bear the burthen 
of the whole ? He restored the ground, and gave with it the 

fa349nne* buildings which had already been erected there. 

The Christians acquired strength during the disturbed reign 
of the second Haccham, A race of able kings succeeded 
Alfonso the Chaste. Ramiro, Ordoño, and another Alfonso, 
called the Great: then came a feebler line, and the Chris­
tians were divided. New states were erected in Navarre, in 
Catalonia, and in Aragón : i f these sometimes rivalled the 
Kings of León they were more dangerous to the Moors, and 
the common cause was strengthened. But the separation of 
Castille from León, was a dismemberment, an actual loss of 
strength. The bond of unity once broken, jealousies and 
wars followed, and the example was mischievous. Galicia 
was ambitious of becoming independent like Castille, and 
frequent rebellions were the consequence. Abdoulrahman 
profited little by these dissensions: his power was employed 
in gratifying a passion for splendor, for which he is better 
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remembered than he would haA'e been for a life of greater 
activity. His son made only one campaign. A sickly boy 
succeeded him. Mahommed, who was appointed his guar­
dián, was called after the manner of the Orientáis, Alhagib, 
or the Eyelid ; he soon acquired and deserved the name of 
Almanzor, the Victorious, by which he is remembered in 
history. The genius of this man well nigh proved fatal to 
the Spanish Christians, weakened as they were by their own 
divisions. The Leonese looked on with unconcern or with 
satisfaction while he ravaged Castille, and the Castillians 
were consoled when León suffered in its turn. Two and 
fifty times did he lead his armies into their country, and re-
turn with their spoils. Such terror had he struck into them, 
that Bermudo retreated with the seat of government from 
León back among the mountains to Oviedo, the bodies of 
the Kings his predecessors were taken from their graves and 
removed, and the relies of the Saints and Martyrs packed up 
for flight. This fear was not without cause. Almanzor ap-
peared before the walls. Count Guillen was in the city, so 
far spent with sickness that he could not stand; nevertheless 
when he heard that the Moors had made a breach, he ordered 
his men to arm him and carry him in his bed to the place of 
danger. There he encouraged the Leonese, more by his 
presence than by his weak efforts; but there he maintained 
the breach three days, and there, when another quarter had 
been forced, he perished, sword in hand, in his bed. The 
conqueror carried his arms farther and ravaged Galicia. 
Santiago, the tutelary saint of Spain, the god of their battles, 
could not defend his own church. Almanzor sent the great 
bells from Compostella to be his trophies, and hung them up 
as lamps in the mosque of. Gordo va. During one of his ex-
peditions, the Christians took advantage of a fall of snow, 
and oceupied the mountain passes to intercept his return. 
The Moor calmly pitched his cámp in the valley, and pre-
pared to make it his dwelling place. He ploughed and 
sowed the ground, and so harassed the country behind him, 

5 
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Rod. xim. that the Christians offered him a price for his coming harvest, 
Hist. Arab. impiored him to depart. 

They who could not triumph over him while living, in-
sulted him with lying legends when he was no more. 
They assexted that the Saints whose churches he had pro-
faned, struck him with his mortal sickness, and that when 
he died the Devil was heard bewailing him along the 
banks of the Guadalquivir. But the Moors wrote truly 

Cor. Gen. upon his monument, What he was is seen in his actions ; 
Haian apud such a Defender of Spain w i l l not be found after him. 
Casm. t. 2. ascendency which Almanzor obtained by these 

triumphs eventually ruined the Spanish Moors. Their King 
had still the nominal authority ; whatever splendor his state 
required, and whatever luxuries could tend to amuse or 
effeminate him, were amply afforded him ; but he was ac-
tually a prisoner ; he never went beyond the precincts of 
the palace, and none except the governor's friends were ad-
mitted to see him. For a character thus helpless and 
enfeebled, the people could feel no respect ; and they re-
peatedly offered the throne to Almanzor ; he was satisfied 
with the substantial sovereignty which he enjoyed, ñor could 
he be tempted by the wish of leaving a legitímate title to his 
son Abdalmelic, a man not unworthy of such a father. 

Moret That son was supported during a short administration by his 
N a v k í l . own moderation and his father's fame. His brother, who 
io.c.2.§2. succeeded, had less talent and less virtue ; he usurped the 

royal title, abused his power, and was soon destroyed. 
Civil wars ensued ; the Spanish Moors espoused the cause 
of one adventurer, the Africans who had flocked to folloAV 
Almanzor's victories, fought for another ; the race of Ab-

Moret. 1. doulrahman was cut off, and his empire was divided. The 
12. 2. § 4. petty tyrant 0f every town now called j ^ g ^ f and 

crimes and miseries multiplied with the title. The lower 
the sceptre sunk, the more hands were stretched out to 
reach it. Ambition takes no warning from example. H y -
meya, one of these wretches, asked the Cordovans to make 
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him King, just as the last puppet had been murdered. They 
replied, Do you not see the tumultuous state of the city ? 
The populace w i l l destroy you. Obey me to-day, saidRod. Xim. 

Hist A.r 
he, and k i l l me to-morrow. Such was the drunken lust for p. 7i. 
power. 

The Moors brought with them into Spain the causes of 
their own destruction, . . despotism and polygamy ; con-
sumptive principies, which suffered indeed the body to ma-
ture, but when the growing energy had ceased, immediately 
began their morbid and mortal action. These causes pro-
duced their inevitable effects, the war of brother against 
brother, the revolt of towns and provinces, the breaking up 
of kingdoms. The Spaniards meantime were free ; they 
were inferior in numbers, they were less civilized than their 
enemies, and their history is sullied by acts of worse barba-
r i t y ; . . but they were a Christian and a free people. The 
moral institutions of Christianity gave them a decided and 
increasing- advantage. Even its corruptions were in their 
favor. Mahommed won his first victory by calling for an 
army of Angels, when his troops were giving way. He 
galloped forward, and casting a handful of sand among the 
enemy, exclaimed, Let their faces be covered with confu­
sión ¡ The Moslem believed that the armies of God obeyed 
his cali, and in that faith they were victorious. The deliv-
erers of Spain encouraged their followers by coarser frauds ; 
a hermit had promised them victory, . . or they had seen 
visions, . . or the Cross which was their banner, had ap-
peared to them in the sky. The invention of a tutelary 
Saint to fight their battles, not metaphorically, but in person, 
was a bolder and more animating fiction. Ramiro had 
fought a whole day long with the Moors ; he kept the field at 
night with a broken and dispirited army, who were com-
pelled to abide the next morning's danger, because they 
were surrounded and could not fly. The King called them 
together, and told them that Santiago had appeared to him 
in a dream, and had promised to be with them in the bat-
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tle, visibly and bodily, on a white steed, bearing a white 
banner with a red cross. The Leonese, who before this 
had lost all hope, began the attack, shouting- God and San­
tiago. A knight led them on, riding a white steed, and 
bearing a white banner with a bloody cross. They utterly 
defeated the Moors. A general tribute in bread and wine 
was granted to the Saint's church forever, and a knight's 
portion from the spoils of every victory which the Christians 
should gain. 

This pious fraud was the resource of genius in distress ; 
but it had been preluded by deceit, and was systematized 
into a national mythology.. The body of Santiago had been 
discovered under Ramiro's predecessor ; his grandson A l ­
fonso rebuilt the church of the Apostle with greater magni-
ficence than the Christian Kings before him had ever dis-
played ; and its priesthood exercised their ingenuity, in 
inventing legends to the honor of their patrón Saint, and to 
their own emolument.' This they did so successfully, that 
Compostella became the great point of European pilgrim-
age. The merit of this pilgrimage was enhanced by the 
difficulty and danger of the journey; the pilgrims soon 
became so numerous that parties of Moorish, and perhaps 
also of Christian banditti, associated to plunder them. On 
the other hand, the Canons of St. Eloy erected guest-
houses for their accommodation along the road from France, 
and money and estates were often bequeathed to endow 
them by individuáis and princes. After their example a 
few hidalgos who were equally devout and warlike, joined 
their property, and formed themselves into a religious broth-
erhood for the parpóse of protecting the pilgrims. War 

A. D. 1175. never stops at defence. They soon found it their duty to 
attack the Misbelievers : and henee, about fourscore years 
after the death of the Cid, aróse the order of Santiago, which 

f n . T 12. was so long the scourge of the Moors. 
A regular system of deceit practised by the priests for 

their own immediate interest, continually freshened and 
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invigorated the enthusiasm of the people. To obtain the 
profits of a favorite altar, was the motive which influenced 
the inventor, of a Martyr's body, or of an Image ; but when 
Chapéis were thus founded, cities sometimes grew. A 
shepherd told his fellows that he had followed a dove to-
wards a rock, whither by her frequent flight, and turning 
back to him upon the wing, she seemed to invite him : there 
he had discovered a cavern and an image of the Virgin , at 
whose feet the Dove remained undisturbed, being conscious " 
of divine protection. Su-ch was the devotion of the people 
that a town was soon built there. St. Maria la Blanca was Moret. 

deserted by all its inhabitants for this holier place of resi- Nav". t. i . 
dence, but the priests and people go yearly among its rmnsp' 164" 
to perform a service for the souls of their forefathers who 
are buried there. A pious Spaniard employed his life in 
improving the great road to Compostella, opening thickets 
and building bridges along the way. About twenty paces 
from his little hermitage he made his own tomb. The pi l-
grims' gratitude did not cease when their benefactor died. 
His tomb became a place of popular devotion ; a splendid 
church was at length erected over it, and that clmrch is now * 
the Cathedral of a City, which is called St. Domingo de la 
Calzada, after his ñame. A hermit, by ñame Juan, fixed Morales. 9. 

his dwelling on Mount Uruela, not far from Jaca : he built Garibay.^' 

á chapel on one of its summits, and dedicated it to John 638 • 
the Baptist. Four other Monks joined him : the fame of 
their piety was bruited abroad, and their chapel became 
the chosen spot for the devotion of the Christians round 
about. When Juan died, a great multitude assembled at 
his funeral; six hundred hidalgos were among them ; they 
saw their numbers, and the strength of the country ; the 
feeling which had brought them together excited them ; 
they elected a leader, and founded the kingdom of Na-
Varre Mariana. 
VcUre* 1. 8. c. 1. 

The local deities whom their Pagan ancestors had wor-
shipped were less numerous than the Saints who had pa-
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tronized the churches of the Spanish Christians. Every 
town, almost every village, had. been hallowed by the death 
or burial of Martyrs, to whose wonder-working bodies the 
faithful were led sometimes by the song of Angels, more 
frequently by lights hovering over their holy graves. Above 
all, the Vi rg in Mother was lavish in her favors to Spain. 
Once, she descended in person upon a stone pillar, which 
she left behind her, and which is held at this day in as high 
veneration by thousands and tens of thousands of Catholics, 
as the black stone at Mecca is by the Mahommedans. 
Sometimes she sent her image down from Heaven. Some­
times a dove guided the chosen discoverer to the cavern 
where she had been hidden; or the hunted beast who ran 
to her ruined altar was protected by her pity, or struck dead 
for his intrusión. I n the number of her titles the deified 
Mary exceeded the many-named Diana, as well as in the 
extent and effect of her worship. I n perusing the attested 
history of any one of her images, the reader might think she 
had imparted to it all her power, did not the Goddess of the 
next great shrine afford a catalogue of wonders, equally 
splendid, equally attested, and equally authentic. These 
miracles were easily managed in darkness, and amid the 
wilds and ruins of a desolated country. The clergy some­
times, in the confidence of talent, ventured upon a more 

A . D . 1053. public and general exhibition. Fernando the Great sent to 
Benabet King of Seville, requesting that he would let him 
have the body of St. Justa to remove to León . Three 
Counts and two Bishops were the ambassadors to beg 
this boon. Benabet said he knew nothing about it, he 
had never heard of St. Justa, but they were very wek 
come to her body i f they could find it . Upon this Alvito 
the Bishop of León said they would pray three days for a 
revelation. A t the cióse of the third day Alvito fell asleep 
at his prayers, and there appeared to him in a dream an oíd 
man, who told him that St. Justa must not be removed. 
Seville was not to be deprived of a treasure reserved for its 
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glory when it should again become a Christian city, . . but 
they might have his body instead. . . A n d who was he ? . . 
He was St. Isidore. Alvito humbly intreated him to be 
dreamt of twice more, that he might be sure this was not 
merely a dream; and the dead Bishop gave the desired 
proof. A t his last appearance he struck the ground thrice 
with his crosier, saying, Y o u w i l l find me here, here, here. 
I n the morning three boles were seen in the ground, and 
upon digging there they discovered his body in full odor. 
The court and clergy went out from Leon in procession to Sandovai. 

meet the relies ; the King and his three sons bore the body 
barefooted ; all the Monks and Clergy of the city were 
feasted upon the occasion, and Fernando and the Queen 
served them at the board. f-cta Sanc_ 

torum. 

The zeal with which these patrón saints were worshipped Apr. 4. 
was proportionate to the beneficial power which they pos-
sessed. They could preserve their own district from pesti-
lence, and i f for the sins of the people they sometimes suf-
fered the Infidels to viólate their sanctuaries, they never 
failed to punish the violation. I n their beatitude they were 
still influenced by human feelings, by gratitude, and by 
national and local afFection. A Saint was the representativo 
of his townsníen in Heaven where he was supposed to 
receive their prayers, and exert all his influence in their 
behalf. 

The religious fervor of the Moors meanwhile was abating. 
Fanaticism in a few generations becomes bigotry. The be-
lief which the first Mahommedans had chosen was inherited 
by their children ; in the fathers it had the life and ardor of 
a new passion; in the sons it was become habit, invetérate 
indeed, but cold. This process has been exemplified in 
every age, and by every sect. The Dominicans and Fran-
ciscans of the present day profess the same tenets which their 
predecessors practised at the massacre and the auto da fe. 
There are analogies in nature ; the wolf has been tamed 
into the dog: and swine were once formidable in the forest. 
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I n the first years of the Moorish conquest the Christians 
carried on a perpetual war against their invaders. There 
was no alternative between hostilities and submission; but 
during the anarchy which soon weakened the conquerors, 
their little kingdom acquired a respectable strength, and they 
could venture to rest from war when peace was- convenient. 
A righteous national hatred was encouraged by their leaders, 
and this hatred was increased by religious contempt and ab-
horrence. Yet even these feelings readily gave way when-
ever either public or individual interest required their sacri-
íice. A frequent intereourse necessarily subsisted between 
the two people; discontented chiefs fled to a Moorish Court 
for protection, and the Christian princes, when at war wi th 
each other, scrupled not to invite Moorish assistance. I t has 
even been said, that when the kingdom of Aragón was 
founded, and that compact established between the sovereign 
and the people which the Aragonese have struggled so 
nobly, but -unsuccessíully to maintain, one of the privileges 

Zurita 1.1, proposed to them was, that they might choose either a Chris­
tian, or a Mahommedan King, at pleasure; but they rejected 
it as a thing which ought not to be thought of. 

Still the war between the two nations was a war of exter-
mination. Peace was never named, never thought of as a 
thing possible ; but because perpetual hostilities would have 
destroyed both by famine, they made occasional truces by 
common consent, to recover strength for renewing the con­
test : or the weaker power purchased a respite by paying 
tribute, t i l l he believed himself strong enough to revolt. 
Thése intervals were short; the Spaniards could never long 
endure to be idle; they had to recover the country of their 
fathers, an honorable and a holy object: and war also was 
the business, the amusement, the passion of the age. I t was 
in war that the chiefs found their sport and their spoil; that 
the King at once employed and gratified a turbulent nobility ; 
that the people indulged their worst passions, and believed 
that they were at the same time atoning for their sins. And 
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what a warfare ! it was to burn the standing corn, to root 
up the vine and the olive, to hang the heads of their enemies 
from the saddle-bow, and drive mothers and children before 
them with the lance; to massacre the men of a town in the 
fury of assault; to select the chiefs that they might be mur-
dered in cold blood; to reserve the women for violation, 
and the children for slavery; . . and this warfare year after 
year, t i l l they rested from mere exhaustion. The soldiers 
of Ferran González complained that they led a life like 
Devils, like those in Hel l , who rested neither day ñor night: 
Our Lord , said they, is like Satán, and we are like his ser-
vants, whose whole delight is in separating soul from body. cor. Gen. 
The Spaniards on their part sufFered retaliated cruelties, and p" 3" ff" 54, 
the perpetual sense of danger. A t one time Knights, Nobles, 
and Kings, never slept without having the war-horse ready-
saddled in the chamber. Do ff g3 

I n the beginning of the eleventh century, Navarre, Aragón, 
and Castille, were united under Sancho the Great. But ex-
perience had not taught the Christian Kings good policy, and 
when accident had joined the sepárate states, the possessor 
divided them at his death, desirous that his sons should all be 
Kings, though thereby they inevitably became enemies. 
Sancho left Navarre to his eldest son Garcia, Aragón to his 
bastard son Ramiro, and Castille to Fernando; and these 
latter states, which had long been independent, now first 
received the appellation of kingdom. Zurita. 1.1. 

Sancho had compelled Bermudo the King of León to give c'13" 
his sister in marriage to Fernando; the King of León had 
no children, his sister was his heir, and the kingdom there-
fore would fall to her husband. León had long been declin-
ing ; but when the territories of Sancho were divided at his 
death, Bermudo hoped to recover its oíd ascendency, and 
declared war against his brother-in-law. Fernando called 
Garcia to his aid, and an obstínate battle was fought. Ber­
mudo, who was a brave man, confident in his own strength, 
and in that of his horse Pelayuelo, rodé into the Castilian 
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army, meaning to engage Fernando man to man ; he was slain 
in the attempt, and Fernando possessed himselfof Leonby 
the double right of conquest and inheritance. 

The eider brother regarded with impatience the división 
of his father's kingdoms. Fernando had excited some dis­
pute respecting their boundary, and though no enmity was 
yet avowed, no fraternal affection existed. I t happened that 
Garcia fell sick ; the Castilian went to visit him at Najara ; 
he discovered that his brother designed to imprison him, and 
extort a cession of territory for his ransom, and he hastily 
departed, and then sent to excuse his departure on the plea 
of urgent business. He soon feigned sickness and requested 
Garcia to come and see h i m ; the king of Navarre carne, 
and was immediately made prisoner : by the help of money 
he effected his escape, and open war followed. Garcia in-
vited the Moors to his assistance, and entered Castille. The 
armies met about four leagues from Burgos, near Atapuerca. 
St. Iñigo, the Abbot of Oña, endeavored to persuade Garcia 
to peace; the good oíd man was revered by him, and though 
his persuasions were vain, still continued m the camp, hoping 
he might yet succeed in his mediation. A n oíd knight 
called Fortun Sánchez tried also to reconcile the brethren; 
he was Garcia's foster-father, and had lo ved them both from 
infancy. When he found that his advice and entreaties were 
of no avail, knowing the danger of Garcia, and that he could 
not prevent it, the oíd man threw oíf his defensive armor, 
and with only his sword and spear, went foremost among 
the enemy to die, that he might not behold the overthrow 
and destmction of his foster-child. Before the battle began, 
two knights whom Garcia had unjustly stript of their pos-
sessions came to him, and demanded that he would redress 
their wrongs, and for the future respect their privileges. 
The demand was just, but Garcia gave no ear to it, per-
haps provoked that it should be made like a menace in his 
hour of need. They then renounced their allegiance, and 
went over to the Castilian army. The other knights who 
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had joined with them in their remonstrance, did not indeed 
desert the king, but they served him without good wi l l , and 
without exertion. There was a band of Leonese, who di-
rected their efforts against him to revenge Bermudo ; the 
two knights whom García had wronged, fought in their 
company, and one of them thrust him through with a lance. 
The wound was mortal. He died upon the field with his 
head between the Abbot's knees, the pious oíd man holding 
it, and praying and weeping over him as he expired. A 
great stone was set up as a monument, by the brook side Sandoval. 

where he was slain. I n consequence of this victory Fernán- ff' 6' 
do became the most powerful of all the Kings of Spain, 
Moor or Christian. I t was in his days that the Cid began to 
distinguish himself. 
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CHEONICLE O í THE CID 

I . KING Don Ferrando succeeded to the states of Castille BOOK 
after the death of his father King Don Sancho el Mayor, in 
the era 1072, which was the year of the Incarnation 1034, Fermnd^ 

and from the coming of the Patriarch Tubal to settle in caltine!11 
Spain 3197, and from the general deluge 3339, and from 
the creation of the world 4995, according to the computa-
tion of the Hebrews, and from the beginning of the false 
sect of the Moors 413. And in the year 1037 Ferrando 
slew Bermudo the King of León in battle, who was his 
wife's brother, and conquered his kingdom, and succeeded 
to it in right of his wife Doña Sancha. So he was the first 
person who united the states of Castille and León, and the 
first who was called King of Castille ; for t i l l this 'time the 
lords of that country had been called Counts. He was a 
good king, and one who judged justly and feared God, and 
was bold in all his doings. Before he reigned he had by 
Doña Sancha his wife the Infanta Doña Urraca, his eldest 
daughter, who was a right excellent lady, of good customs 
and bounty and beauty ; and after her he had the Infante 
Don Sancho, his eldest son and heir; and then the Infanta 
Doña Elvira, whom after the death oí the King her father, 
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BOOK her brother King Don Alfonso mamed to th'e Count Don 
I • Garci de Cabra. A n d after he became King he had the 

Infante Don Alfonso, and the Infante Don García, who was 
the youngest of all. And he put his sons to read, that they 
might be of the better understanding, and he made them 
take arms, and be shown how to demean themselves in 

demd!8' hattle, and to be huntsmen. And he ordered that his 
Chron Gen ^aughters should be brought up in the studies beseeming 
Gaibay ^ ^ 6 8 ? 80 might be of good customs, and in-
lib. 11. cap. structed in devotion and in all things which it behoved them 
1. Rod.Tol. & 
l ib . 6. cap. to know. 
9 * 

I I . I n those days aróse Rodrigo of Bivar,1 who was a 
lineage of youth strong in arms and of good customs ; and the people 
Rodrigo of rej0jce¿ ^ YÚJ^^ £or bestirred himself to protect the land 

from the Moors. Now it behoves that ye should know 
whence he came, and from what men he was descended, 
because we have to proceed with his history. Ye are to 
know therefore, that after the treason which King Don 
Ordoño the Second committed upon the Counts of Castille, 
that country remained without a chief: the people therefore 
chose two judges, of whom the one was called Ñuño 
Rasuera, and the- other Layn Calvo, who married Nuño 's 
daughter, Elvira Nuñez. F rom Ñuño Rasuera King Don 
Ferrando descended, and from Layn Calvo, Diego Laynez, 
who took to wife Doña2 Teresa Rodríguez, the daughter of 
Don Rodrigo Alvarez, Count and Governor of Asturias, and 

1 He was lord of the town of that ñame, now a small place about two 
leagues North of Burgos. Berganza conjectures that he was called from 
it to distinguish him from his cousin Rodrigo Diaz, son of Count Don 
Diego de Asturias. 

2 T h e Chr. del Cid calis her Doña Teresa Nuñez , and her father Count 
Ñ u ñ o Alvarez de Amaya. Berganza (5. 10. § 117.) quotes two ancient 
M S S . to prove that her ñame was Teresa Rodríguez ; and the Cid's own 
ñame, Rodrigo, must be admitted as some presumption in their favor. 
One of these authorities states that Diego Laynez and his wife were 
buried at S. Pedro de Cardeña. 
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had by her this Rodrigo. I n the year of the Incarnation BOOK 
1026 was Rodrigo born, of this noble lineage, in the city of ! 
Burgos, and in the street of St. Martin, hard by the palace 
of the Counts of Castille, where Diego Laynez had his1 
dwelling. I n the church of St. Martin was he baptized, a 
good priest of Burgos, whose ñame was Don Pedro de 
Perneras, beina: his ffodfather : and to this church Rodrigo chr- del 

0 ' 0 ^ . . & Cid. cap. 1. 
was always greatly aífectionate, and he built the belfry 2. Bergan-

„ , „ za, r. 5. c. 

tower thereoí. 10. § 129. 
I I I . A t this time it came to pass that there was strife 0f the 

between Count Don Gómez the L o r d of Gormaz, andj^enbe' 
Diego Laynez the father of Rodrigo ; and the Count in- ^ ^ a n ^ 0 ' 

sulted Diego and afave him a blow. Now Diego was a man Dieg0 Lay-
& ^ P nez, and 

in years, and his strength had passed from him, so that he how Rodñ-
slcw 

could not take vengeance, and he retired to his home to him. 
dwell there in solitude and lameñt over his dishonor. A n d 
he took no pleasure in his food, neither could he sleep by 
night, ñor would he lift up his eyes from the ground, ñor 
stir out of his house, ñor commune with his friends, but 
turned from them in silence, as i f the breath of his shame 
would taint them. Rodrigo was yet but a youth, and the 
Count was a mighty man in arms, one who gave his voice 
first in the Cortes, and was held to be the best in the war, 
and so powerful that he had a thousand friends among the 
mountains. Howbeit all these things appeared as nothing 
to Rodrigo when he thought of the wrong done to his 
father, the first which had ever been offered to the blood of 

1 In Berganza's days the Casas del Cid were shown at Burgos, and 
probably are so at this day. The Monastery of Cárdena, to which he 
had given them, granted them to the city upon a low rent, atid on condi-
tion that the arms of Rodrigo should always be preservad over the gate-
way, in token of respect to him who was so great an honor to the city, 
and by them the arms of the Monastery, in memory that it had been his 
inheritor. Berganza, 5. 10. ^ 129. 

* For this Berganza quotes the Historia de Burgos of P . Fray Melchior 
Prieto. 
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BOOK Layn Calvo. He asked nothing but justice of Heaven, 
L and of man he asked only a fair field ; and his father see-

ing of how good heart he was, gave him his sword and his 
blessing. The sword had been the sword of Mudarra in 
former times, and when Rodrigo held its cross in his hand, 
he thought within himself that his arm was not weaker than 
Mudarra's. A n d he went out and defied the Count and 
slew him, and srnote oíF his head and earried it home to his 
father. The oíd man was sitting at table, the food lying 
before him untasted, when Rodrigo returned, and pointing 
to the head which hung from the horse's collar, dropping 
blood, he bade him look up, for there was the herb which 
would restore to him his appetite ; the tongue, quoth he, 
which insulted yon, is no longer a tongue, and the hand 
which wronged you is no longer a hand. And the oíd 
man aróse and embraced his son, and placed him above 
him at the table, saying, that he who had brought 

Escobar, home that head should be the head of the house of Layn1 
Rom. 1,2, , 

3,4. Calvo. 
How Ro- I V . After this Diego being full of years fell asleep and 
thcffive00151 was gathered to his fathers. And the Moors entered Cas-
ífings?11 in great power, for there came with them five Kings, 

and they passed above Burgos, and crossed the mountains 
of Oca, and plundered Carrion, and Vilforado, and Saint 
Domingo de la Calzada, and Logroño, and Najara, and all 
that land ; and they earried away many captives both male 
and female, and brood mares, and flocks of all kinds. But 
as they were returning with all speed, Rodrigo of Bivar 
raised the country, and came up with them in the mountains 
of Oca, and fell upon them and discomfited them, and won 
back all their booty, and took all the five Kings prisoners. 

1 The death of Count Gómez is mentioned by the Chronicles, Garibay, 
and Mariana, but not the cause of the quarrel. This , with tbe cir-
cumstances which follow it, is gmh from the first four Ballads in Esco-
bar's collection. 
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Then he went back to his mother, taking the Kings BOOK 
with him, and there he divided the Avhole spoil with the " 
hidalgos and his other companions, both the Moorish cap-
tives and all the spoil of whatever kind, so that they de-
parted right joyfully, being well pleased with what he had 
done. A n d he gave thanks to God for the grace which 
had been vouchsafed to him, and said to his mother, that he 
did not think it good to keep the Kings in captivity, but to 
let them go freely; and he set them at liberty and bade 
them depart. So they returned each to his own country, 
blessing him for their deliverance, and magnifying his great 
bounty ; and forthwith they sent him tribute and acknow- Cid. cap. 2. 
ledged themselves to be his vassals. ff. 194. 

V . King Don Ferrando was going through León, put- HOW xim-
ting the Kingdom in order, when tidings reached him of asL^Ro-2 

the good speed which Rodrigo had had against the Moors. ^ " g the 
And at the same time there came before him Ximena Go- mama?e-
mez, the daughter of the Count, who fell on her knees 
before him and said, Sir, I am the daughter of Count Don 
Gómez of Gormaz, and Rodrigo of Bivar has slain the 
Count my father, and of three daughters whom he has left I 
am the youngest. And Sir, I come to crave of you a boon, 
that you wi l l give me Rodrigo of Bivar to be my husband, 
with whom I shall hold myself well married, and greatly 
honored ; for certain I am that his possessions wi l l one day 
be greater than those of any man in your dominions. 
Certes Sir, it behoves you to do this, because it is for God's 
service and because I may pardon Rodrigo with a good 
wi l l . The King held it good to accomplish her desire ; 
and forthwith ordered letters to be drawn up to Rodrigo 
of Bivar, wherein he enjoined and commanded him that 
he should come incontinently to Falencia, for he had much Chr. del 
to communicate to him, upon an afFair which was greatly to ĉ pen3-
God's service, and his own welfare and great honor. ff- 194-

How Ro-V I . When Rodrigo saw the letters of his L o r d the King go ac-
he greatly rejoiced in them, and said to the messengers t h a t ^ f ^ 
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BOOK he would fulfil the king's pleasure, and go incontinently at 
I : his command. And he dight himself full gallantly and 

well, and took with him many knights, both bis own and bf 
his kindred and of his friends, and he took also many new 
arms, and carne to Falencia to the King with two hundred 
of his peers in arms, in festival guise ; and the King went 
out to meet him, and received him right well, and did him 
honor ; and at this were all the Counts displeased. And 
when the King thought it a fit season, he spake to him and 
said, that Doña Zimena Gómez, the daughter of the Count 
whom he had slain, had come to ask him for her husband, 
and would forgive him her father's death ; wherefore he 
besought him to think it goód to take her to be his wife, in 
which case he would show him great favor. W h e n Ro­
drigo heard this it pleased him well, and'he said to the King 

. . that he would do his bidding in this, and in all other things 
' which he might command ; and the King thanked him 

much. And he sent for the Bishop of Falencia, and took 
their vows and made them plight1 themselves each to the 

1 This marriage, witli alí its circumstances, has been doubted. The 
marriage settlement of the Cid to Ximena Diaz, daughter of his cousin 
Count Don Diego de Asturias, is extant among the archives of Burgos, 
and has been printed by Sandoval. This author, however, who is suffi-
ciently, and more than sufficiently, sceptical concerning the history of the 
Cid, admits that the marriage with Ximena Gómez is assertód in so 
many manuscripts, and her tomb shown with such evident authenticity in 
the monastery of St. Juan de Peña , that there is evidence enough to 
prove two marriages, both wives having the same' baptismal ñame, and 
the first dying young. — A y bastantes indicios,- y digo provanga suficiente,' 
para dezir-, que Rodrigo Diaz fue casado dos vezes, una en tiempo del Rey 
D o n Fernando con Ximena. Gómez, como dizen las historias, ff. 54. 

" I do not,'.' says Berganza, (5. 11. ^ 132.) hold for very certain what 
is related of this match .; because of the suspicion there is- that the an-
cients intermixed in their histories some marriage adventures taken from 
the Joculars {Juglares) ; just as in these times the composers of Come­
dies are wont to invent such, even when they are treatíng of the histories 
of saints/' I f however it be admitted, as it is, that Rodrigo had a wife, 
named Ximena Gómez, the circumstances of that marriage are not to be 



RODRIGO DIAZ DE BIVAR. 51 

other according as the law directs. And when they were BOOK 
espoused the King did them great honor, and gave them _ 

Chr. del 

many noble gifts, and added to Rodrigo's lands more than 
he had t i l l then possessed: and he loved him greatly in his 
heart, because he saw that he was obedient to his commands, cidVcap. 4. 

and for all that he had heard him say. g- . ' 
V I L So Rodrigo departed from.the king, and took his H0^110^-

• , r • , * / i • , i ' i So took his 

spouse with him to the house oí his mother, and gave her to wife home, 

his mother's keeping. And forthwith he made a vow in her vow which. 

hands that he would never accompany with her, neither in e made" 
the desert ñor in the inhabited place, t i l l he had wonfive 
battles in the field. And he besought his mother that she 
would love her even as she loved him himself, and that she 
would do good to her and show her . great honor, for which 
he should ever serve her with the better good wi l l . And Chr.delCid. 

his mother- promised him so to do ; and then he departed Chr. ' Gen. 
from them and went out agaihst the frontier of the Moors. 

V I I I . Now the history relates that King Don Ferrando of the dis-
^ _ • 0 , pute con­

contended with King Don Ramiro of Aragón, for the city ofcerningCa-

Calahorrá, which each claimed as his own ; in such guise 
that the King of Aragón placed it upon the trial by. combat, 
confiding in the prowess of Don Martin González, who was 
at that time held to be the best knight in all Spain. King 
Don Perrando accepted the challenge, and said that Rodrigo 
of Bivar should do battle on his part, but that he was.not 
then present. ' A n d they plighted homage on both parts to 
meet and bring each his knight, and the knight. who con-
quered should win Calahorra for his Lord . Having ratified 
this engagement, they returned into their own lands. A n d . 
immediately Ferrando sent for Rodrigo of Bivar, and told 
him- all the matter as it then stood, and that he was to do 
battle. W e l l pleased was Rodrigo when he heard this, and 

disbelieved for their singularity ; had such circumstánces appeared incre-
dible, or repugnant to common feeling, they would not have been in-
vented; — whether therefore they be trae pr false, they are equally cha- • 
racteristic of the state of manners. 
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BOOK he accorded to all that the King had said that he should do 
^ battle for him upon that cause; but t i l l the day arrived he 

must needs, he said, go to Compostella, because he had 
Cid. cap. 6. vowed a pilgrimage; and the King was contení thcrewith, 
Chr. Gen. i i • . -r», 
fF. 195. and gave mm great giits. 
Ofthechar- I X . Rodrigo forthwith set out upon the road, and took 
i t V 0 f R0d- . , , . , • ; A T I . 1 j - 1 

rigo to- with him twenty knights. And as he went he did great 
íeper. good, and gave alms, feeding the poor and needy. And 

upon the way they found a leper, struggling in a quagmire, 
who cried out to them with a loud voice to help him for the 
lo ve of God ; and when Rodrigo heard this, he alighted from 
his beast and helped him, and placed him upon the beast be-
fore him, and carried him with him in this manner to the inn 
where he took up his lodging that night. A t this were his 
knights little pleased. And when supper was ready he bade 
his knights take their seats, and he took the leper by the 
hand, and seated him next himself, and ate with him out of 
the same dish. The knights were greatly offended at this 
foul sight, insomuch that they rose up and left the chamber. 
But Rodrigo ordered a bed to be made ready for himself 
and for the leper, and they twain slept together. When 
it was midnight and Rodrigo was fast asleep, the leper 
breathed against him between his shoulders, and that breath 
Avas so strong that it passed through him, even through his 
breast; and he awoke, being astounded, and felt for the 
leper by him, and found him not; and he began to cali him, 
but there was no reply. Then he aróse in fear, and called 
for light, and it was brought h im; and he looked for the' 
leper and could see nothing; so he returned into the bed, 
leaving the light burning. And he began to think within 
himself what had happened, and of that breath which had 
passed through him, and how the leper was not there. After 
awhile, as he was thus musing, there appeared before him 
one in white garments, who said unto him, Sleepest thou or 
wakest thou, Rodrigo ? and he answered and said, I do not 
sleep : but who art thou that bringest with thee such bright-
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ness and so sweet an odor ? Then said he, I am Saint BCDOK 

Lazaras, and know that I was the leper to whom thou didst 
so much good and so great honor for the love of God ; and 
because thou didst this for his sake hath God now granted 
thee a great gift; for whensoever that1 breath which thou 
hast felt shall come upon thee, whatever thing thou desirest 
to do, and shalt then begin, that shalt thou accomplish to 
thy heart's desire, whether it be in battle or aught else, so 
that thy honor shall go on increasing from day to day; and 
thou shalt be feared both by Moors and Christians, and 
thy enemies shall never prevalí against thee, and thou shalt 
die an honorable death in thine own hóuse, and in thy re-
nown, for God hath blessed thee ; — therefore go thou on, 
and evermore persevere in doing good; and with that he 
disappeared.3 And Rodrigo aróse and prayed to our lady 

' E por el bien que tu por el su amor me fexiste, otórgate Dios un g r a n 
don, que quando el tafo que sentiste ante te veniere, que comiences la cosa 
que quisieres fazer ; assi como en lides, o en otras cosas, todas las acabaras 
complidamente. 

Both the Chronica del Cid and the Chronica General have this passage. 
It is remarkable that the promised token is never afterwards referred to. 
The Bailad which appears to be one of the more ancient ones, omits the 
circumstance altogether. Sepulveda, íf. 66. Escobar. Rom. 12. 

3 This miracle of the leper is sufficiently common in hagiology. 
Simara Rodríguez, who introduced the Jesuits into Portugal, took one in 
like manner into his bed, who disappeared during the night; por ventura, 
sem saber quem agasalhava, recolhia ao mesmo Christo, saysTellez. In 
most of these miraculous stories charity is carried to an excess at once 
loathsome and ridiculous. Thus in the Chronicle, diz que les semejava 
que cay a la gafedad en la escudilla en que comia. 

Berganza displays some right Catholic logic upon this subject. W e 
believe, he says, the cruelty of Dives towards Lazarus in refusing him 
the crumbs which fell from his table ; why then should we not believe 
that the human heart is capable of an equal degree of charity? And as 
iftoshow there was nothing extraordinary in the miracle, he relates 
three such, one of which happened " about, if not at the very same time, 
to Pope Leo I X . " The devotion of the Cid to St. Lazarus is brought 
forward in proof of the truth of the story. He gave certain houses in 
Falencia to form a parish and hospital under his invocation, and estab-
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BOOK and intercessor St. Mary, that she would pray to her 
L blessed son for him to watch over both his body and sonl 

in all his undertakings; and he continued in prayer t i l l 
chr. del ^ the day broke. Then he proceeded on his way, and per-
Chr. Qen.' formed his pilgrimage, doingmuch good for the love of God 

and of St. Mary. 
Ofthecom- X . Now the day carne which had been appointed for the 
was fought combat concerning Calahorra, betwéen Rodrigo and Don 
horra. d d' Martin González, and Eodrigo was not arrived; there-

fore his cousin Alvar Fañez Minaya nndertook the battle in 
his stead, and ordered his horse to be harnessed1 right well . 
While he was arming himself Rodrigo carne up and took the 
horse of Alvar Fañez , and entered the lists ; Don Martin 
González did the same, and the judges placed them fairly, 
each in his place, so that neither should have the sun in his 
eyes.2 They ran their career, one against the other, and met 
so fiercely that their lances brake, and both were sorely 

lished a brotherhood (Cofradía) of knights in the hospital to attend to the 
lepers. This institution was revived by Don Alonzb Martinez de Olivera, 
one of his descendants, as appears by his will, and by a privilege of Fer­
nando I V . granted in 1296. Another proof is, that the promise of per­
petual success made by the Saint was accomplished. 

Leprosy is a disease so loathsorae, and was considered as so dreadfully 
infectious, that it is easy to conceive how charity towards a leper should 
be considered as an effort of heroic piety. — W h y was there a sort of in-
famy attached to if? A clergyman beconjing a leper was to be snper-
seded, and just enough allowed him from his former preferment to subsist 
upon ; but if he were disabled by any other disease, a coadjutor was 
allowed him, and he was to receive half his income, and retain his rank. 
1 Part ida. T i t . 16. I 18. 

1 Mando armar su cavallo muy bien. Harness, it may be remembered, 
is a word used in our Bible for armor. 

8 Par t i é ron les el sol. The phrase is remarkable, and may best be ren-
dered by explaining it. Many battles, in what the Spaniards cali the 
days of the shield and lance, have been lost because the conquered army 
had their.faces towards the sun. 

" Equally without any favor distributed to them the sun—" is the way 
in which Anthony Munday expresses this. Primaleon, P . 1. page 201. 
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wounded; but Don Martin began to address Rodrigo, think- B O O K 

ing to dismay h i m : Greatly dost thou now repent, Don ! 
Rodrigo, said he, that thou hast entered into these lists with 
me ; for I shall so. handle thee that never shalt thou marry 
Doña Ximena thy spousé, whom thou lovest so well, ñor 
ever return alive to Castille. Rodrigo waxed angry at these 
words, and he replied, You are a good knight, Don Martin 
González, but these words are not suitable to this placej for 
in this business we have to contend with hands and not with 
empty speeches ; and the power is in God who w i l l give the 
honor as he thinketh best. And in his anger he made at 
him, and smote him upon his helmet, and the sword cut 
through and wounded as much of the head as it could reach, 
so that he was sorely hurt and lost much blood. And Don 
Martin González struck at Rodrigo, and the sword cut into 
the shield, and he plucked it towards him that with main 
forcé, he made Rodrigo lose the shield; but Rodrigo did not 
forget himself, and wounded him again in the face. A n d 
they both became greatly enraged, and cruel against each 
other, striking without mercy, for both of them were men 
who knew how to demean themselves. But while they thus 
struggled Don Martin González lost much. blood, and for 
yery weakness he could not hold himself upon his horse, but 
fell from his horse upon the ground; and Rodrigo alighted 
ánd went to him and slew h im: and when he had slain him 
he asked the judges i f there was any thing more to be done 
for the right of Calahorra: and they made answer that there 
was not. . Then came the King Don Ferrando to him, and 
alighted by him, and helped to disarm him, and embraced 
him much ; and when he was disarmed he went with him 
from the field, he and all the Castilians greatly rejoicing 
but as great as was the pleasure of King Don Ferrando and 
his people, so great was the sorrow of King Don Ramiro of 
Aragón and of his. A n d he ordered them to take up Don 
Martin González, and they carried the body into his own 
lands, and he went with it, and Calahorra remained in tíéCiscáis: 
power of King Don Ferrando. Chr. Gen. 
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BOOK 
I . 

How the 
Counts 
plotted 
against 
Rodrigo. 

X I . But when the Comits of Castille saw how Eodrigo 
. increased day by day in honor, they took counsel together 
that they should plot with the Moors, and fix a day of battle 
with them, on the day of the Holy Cross in May, and that 
they should invite Rodrigo to this battle, and contrive 
with the Moors that they should slay him ; by which means 
they should be revenged upon him, and remain masters of 
Castille, which now because of him they could not be. 
This counsel they sent to communicate to the Moors and to 
the Moorish Kings who were Rodrigo's vassals, being those 
whom he had made prisoners and set at liberty. But they, 
when they saw this counsel and the falsehood which was 
devised, took the letters of the Counts, and sent them to 
Eodrigo their Lord , and sent to tell him all the secret of the 
treason. And Rodrigo thanked them greatly for their good 
faith, and took the letters and carried to the King, and 
showed him all the enmity of the Counts, and especially of 
the Count Don Garcia, who was afterwards called of 
Cabra. When the King saw this as it was, he was aston-
ished at their great falsehood, and he issued his letters in 
which he ordered them to leave his dominions ; then he 
went to Santiago on a pilgrimage, and ordered Rodrigo 
to cast these Counts out of the land ; and Rodrigo did as 
the King commanded him. Then Doña Elvira his kins-
woman, the wife of the Count Don Garcia, came and fell 
on her knees before him ; but Rodrigo took her by the 
hand and raised her up, and would not hear her t i l l she was 
arisen. And when he had raised her up she said, I be-
seech you Cousin, since you have banished me and my 
husband, that you would give us a letter to some King who 
is one of your vassals, enjoining him to befriend us, and 
give us something for your sake, whereon we may live. 
So he gave her a letter to the King of Cordova, who re-
ceived her and her husband well for the love of Rodrigo, 
and gave Cabra to him, that he and his people might dwell 
therein. This Count was afterwards so ungrateful to the 
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King of Cordova, that he made war upen him from Ca- BOOK 
bra which the King had given him, t i l l Rodrigo 1 carne and, 
4 i Chr. del 
took it. cid cap 9 

X I I . The history relateth that at this time, while the ^ r . Gen. 
King was in Galicia, the Moors entered Estremadura, and 
the people called upon Rodrigo of Bivar to help them. gow Ro-
And when he heard the summons he made no delay, but tained a 

^ r 6 3 . t V1C~ 

gathered together his kinsmen and his friends, and went tory over 
against the Misbelievers. And he carne up with them be-
tween Atienza and San Estevan de Gormaz, as they were 
carrying away a great booty in captives and in flocks, and 
there he had a brave battle with them in the field ; and in 
fine Rodrigo conquered, smiting and slaying, and the pur-
suit lasted for seven leagues, and he recovered all the spoil, 
which was so great that two hundred horses were the fifth, 
for the whole spoil was worth a hundred times a thou- Chr del 
sand maravedís. Rodrigo divided the whole among his u . 'Chr! 
people without covetousness, and returned with great honor. Gen' 197-

X I I I . Now the greater part of these Moors had been of the tak-
they of Merida, Badajoz, Beja, and Evora, and the Kiagvfseu. 
was minded to requite them in their own land according to 
their deeds ; and he entered into the heart of their country, 
carrying with him fire and sword, and pressed them sorely 
so that they yielded vassalage. Then turning through Por­
tugal, he won the town of Sea, which was upon the western 
slope of the Serra da Estrella ; and also another town 
called Gamne, the site whereof cannot now be known, for 
in course of years ñames change and are forgotten. And 
proceeding with his conquests he laid siege to the city of 
Viseu, that he might take vengeance for the death of King 
Don Alfonso, his wife's father, who had been slain before 
that city. But the people of Viseu, as they lived with this 

1 Como vos lo contara adelante la hystoria says the Chronica del Cid, 
and the promise is repeated in the Chronica General; but no such account 
is to be íbund in either. 
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BOOK fear before their eyes, had fortified their city well, and stored 
11 it abundantly with all things needíul, and moreover, they 

put their trust in their Alcayde, who was an African, by 
ñame Cid Alafum, a man tried in arms. He encouraged 
them, saying that the city could not be taken in ten years, 
by a greater power than the Christians ; and there were 
many good arbalisters in the city, who shot so strong that 
neither shield nor armor availed against their quarrels. 
King Don Ferrando therefore ordered mantles to be made, 
and also pavaises to protect his people ; and moreover he 
enjoined them to fasten boards upon their shields, so that 
the quarrels from the cross-bows might not pierce through. 
A n d he continued for eighteen days to combat the city, 
keeping such good watch, that neither could they within 
receive help from without, nor themselves issue forth ; and 
on the eighteenth day, which was the Vespér of St. Peter's, 
he won the city by forcé of arms ; and few were they who 
escaped from the sword of the conquerors, except those who 
retreated with Alafum into the eastle. And on the follow-
ing day at the hour of tierce they also carne to terms, and 
yielded themselves to his mercy, saving their lives. I n this 
manner was Visen 1 recovered by the Christians, and never 
after did that city fall into the hands of the barbarians. 
A n d the Moor who had slain King Dons Alfonso fell into 

1 The particulars of this siege are recorded in a M S . Chronicle, 
which belonged to Andre de Resende, better known to antiquarians by 
his latinized ñame, Resendius. Both Brito and Sandoval relate them from 
this source. 

The Alcayde had lands given him by Ferrando, where his ñame is still 
preserved, a Serra being still called Monte Alafom, and the whole district 
the Concelho de Alafoens, from whence the ducal title, lately extinct in 
the person of Don Joam Carlos de Braganza, Sousa, e Ligne, the third 
Duke. B r i t o , P . 2. L . 7. C. 28. 

2 Alfonso V . Havinglaid siege to Visen, he rodeout one day to recon-
noitre, with nothing on but his shirt and his cloak, on account of the heat. 
This Moor took aim at him, and though he was at a considerable distance 
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Ferrando's power, and the King took vengeance and pun- BOOK 
ished him in all the parts which had oíFended ; he cut——'—— 

r 7 Rnto. Mon. 
off the foot which had pressed down the 1 Armatost, and Lusitana, 

lopped off the hands which had held the bow and fitted 7. cap! 28.' 
the quarrel, and plucked out the eyes which had taken the |?n4dova1' 
mark ; and the living trunk was then set up as a butt for the cid ca^is. 
archers. chr- Gen. 

X I V . I n all these wars there was not a man who bore of the tak-
greater part, or did-better feats in arms, than Rodrigo of Bi-mlgo.f La ' 
var. And the King went up against Lamego, and besieged 
it. Now Zadan Aben Huim, son of Huim Alboazem, the King 
thereof, was mightier than all the Kings who had reigned 
before him in Lamego, and he had peopled many places 
from the Doaro 2 even to the rivers Tavora and Vouga. 
And because he was well beloved and his city well stored and 
strong, all the chief Moors in that district being dismayed 
by the fall of Visen, retired into it, to be under his protection. 
But maugre all their power, King Don Ferrando girt the 
city round about, and brought against it so many engines, 
and so many bastilles, that Zadan submilted, and opened his 
gates on the twenty-second of July, the day of St. Mary 
Magdalene, being twenty-five days after the capture of Viseu. j?"^ 
And Zadan became tributary to the King, and the King took c^deicld 
with him many of the Moors, to be employed in building up âP- i | -
the churches which had fallen to ruin since the land was lost. ff. m . 

from the walls, shot him between the shoulders, — being, says Morales, 
the first and last of our kings who died in war against the Moors. H e 
was slain in the year 1027. 

1 The Armatoste was an instrument made for charging the cross-bow 
at this time, as they were not made of steel, says Brito. According to 
this author, the foot was used to press the bow down ; but in the. original 
document it is called the foot of the Armatost, which seems as if it acted 
upon the instrument like a lever, 

2 Duero is the Spanish orthography. I prefer the Portugeze, because, 
though the river rises in Spain, it falls into the sea in Portugal; and it 
seems right to adoptthat ñame by which it is kncwn where it is of most 
importance. 
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BOOK X V . AU this while was Coimbra in the power of the 
I ' misbelievers. And the Abbot of Lorvam took counsel with 

?f Coimbrl! his Monks, and they said, Let us go to King Ferrando and 
tell him the state of the city. And they chose out two of 
the brethren for this errand. When the Moors therefore 
who came to hunt among tlie mountains took up their lodging 
in the monastery, as they were wont to do, these twain said 
unto them, W e would go to the holy Daminicum, to say pray-
ers there for our sins. So feigning this to be their errand 
they set forth, and came to the King in the town of Carrion, 
and spake unto him in council, saying, Sir King, we come 
to you through waters and over mountains and by bad ways, 
to tell you concerning Coimbra in what plight it is, i f you 
desire to know, and in what guise the Moors dAvell therein, 
what they are and how many, and with how little heed they 
keep the city. And he said unto them, I beseech ye, for the 
love of God, say on. Then told they him what they knew: 
and the King took counsel upon this matter with Rodrigo of 
Bivar, and Rodrigo said, that certes the L o r d would help 
him to win the city : and he said he would fain be knighted 
by the King's hand, and that it seemed to him now that he 
should receive knighthood at his hand in Coimbra. A cov-
enant was then made with the two Monks, that they should 
go with the army against the city in the month of January 
without fail. Now this was in October. Incontinently the 
King sent to summon his knights and people, and whe.pi one 
part of them had assembled at Santa Maria, he bade them 
do all the damage they could against Coimbra, and ravage 
the country, which accordingly they did. I n the mean time 
the King made a pilgrimage to Santiago, as Rodrigo had 
exhorted him to do; and he remained there three days and 
nights in prayer, oífering great gifts, and taking upon himself 
great devotion, that it might please God to fulfil his desire. 
And with the help of Santiago he gathered together a great 
host, and went up against Coimbra in the month of January, 
even as he had covenanted, and laid siege to it. And he 

http://whe.pi
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fought against the city all February, and March, and Apr i l , BOOK 
May and June, five months did he fight, and could not pre- ' 
vail against it. And when July carne the food of the be-
siegers failed them, insomuch that they had only the dolé for 
a few days left; then the baggage Avas made ready, and the 
sumpter-beasts and serving men were ordered to depart for 
León, and proclamation was made in the camp that the ar-
my should remain yet íbur days, and on the fifth they might 
break up and depart every one to his own house. But then 
the Monks of Lorvam and the Abbot consnlted together 
and said, Let us now go to the King and give him all the 
food which we have, both oxen and cows, and sheep and 
goats and swine, wheat and barley and maize, bread and 
wine, fish and fowl, even all that we have; for i f the city, 
which God forbid, should not be won by the Christians, we 
may no longer abide here. Then went they to the King 
and gave him all their stores,1 both of flocks and herds, and 
pulse, and wine beyond measure, which they had for a 
long time stored. Then was there abundance in the camp ; 
but they who were within the city waxed feeble for hunger 
and long sufFering, because the Christians beset them on all 
sides, and warred upon them hotly, and brought their en-
gines to bear on every part, and the walls of the city were 
broken down. When the Moors saw this they carne to the 
King, and fell at his feet, and besought him of his mercy that 
he would let them depart, leaving to him the city and all that 
they had therein, for they asked for nothing but their lives. 
And the King had compassion upon them and granted their ^ " 3 ° R™! 
prayer ; and the city was yielded to him on a Sunday at the l¿¡- %ff> 
hour of tierce, which was before a week had run out since Hi1d•caR14• ' Chr. Gen. 
the Monks of Lorvam had succored the host. ff- 198. 

X V I . Now it came to pass that while the Kins: lay be- How Santi-
. f / ~ ( - n i - i • r o J ag0 appear-
tore Coimbra, there came a pilgnm from the land of Greece ed to 

the Greek 
on pilgrimage to Santiago; his ñame was Estiano, and he Bishop. 

1 Berganza intimates a possibility that these stores were miraculously 
increased by the prayers of the Monks. 



62 CHRONICLE OP T H E CID, 

BOOK was a Bishop. And as he was praying in the church he 
I ' heard certain of the townsmen and of the pilgrims saying that 

Santiago was wont to appear in battle like a knight, in aid of 
the Christians. And when he heard this it nothing pleased 
him, and he said unto them, Friends, cali him not a knight, 
but rather a fisherman. Upon this it pleased God that he 
should fall asleep, and in his sleep Santiago appeared to him ' 
with a good and cheerful countenance, holding in his hand a 
bunch of keys, and said unto him, thou thinkest it a fable 
that they should cali me a knight, and sayest that I am not 
so : for this reason am I come unto thee that thou never more 
mayest doubt concerning my knighthood; for a knight of 
Jesús Christ I am, and á helper of the Christians against the 
Moors. While he was thus saying a horse was brought him 
the which was exceeding white, and the Apostle Santiago 
mounted upon it, being well ciad in bright and fair armor, 
after the manner of a knight. And he said to Estiano, I go 
to help King Don Ferrando who has lain these seven months 
before Coimbra, and to-morrow, with these keys which thou 
seest, w i l l I open the gates of the city unto him at the hour 
of tierce, and deliver it into his hand. Having said this he 
departed. And the Bishop when he awoke in the morning 
called together the clergy and people of Compostella, and 
told them what he had seen and heard. And as he said, 

Cid.'cap. 14. even so did it come to pass ; for tidings came that on that 
ffhi98Gen' day, and at the hour of tierce, the gates of the city had been 

of the X V I I . King Don Ferrando then assembled his Counts 
byThe K S and chief caPtains5 ancl told them all that the Monks of Lor-
moíks of0 yam done' in bringing him to besiege the city, and in 
Lorvam. supplying his army in their time of need : and the Counts and 

chief captains made answer and said, Certes, O King, i f the 
Monks had not given us the stores of their Monastery, thou 
couldest not have taken the city at this time. The King then 
called for the Abbot and the brethren, for they were with 
him in the host, and said the hours to him daily, and mass in 
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Si. Andre's, and buried there and in their Monastery as many BOOK 

as had died during the siege, either of arrow-wounds or by " 
lances, or of their own iníirmities. So they carne before him 
and gave him joy of his conquest; and he said unto them, 
Take ye now of this city as much as ye desire, since by God's 
favor and your council I have won i t . But they made an-
swer, Thanks be to God and to yon, and to your forefathers, 
we have enough and shall have, i f so be that we have your 
favor and dwell among Christians. Only for the love of God, 
and for the remedy of your own soul, give us one church 
with its dwelling houses within the city, and confirm unto 
us the gifts made to us in oíd times by your forefathers, and 
the good men to whom God give a happy rest. W i t h that 
the King turned to his sons and his soldiers, and said, Of a 
truth, by our Creator, these who desire so little are men 
of God. I would have given them half the city, and they 
wi l l have only a single church ! Now therefore, since they 
require but this, on the part of God Almighty let us grant 
and confirm unto them what they ask, to the honor of God 
and St. Mamede. And the brethren brought him their 
charters of King Ramiro, and King Bermudo, and King 
Alfonso, and of Gonzalo Moniz, who was a knight and mar-
ried a daughter of King Bermudo, and of other good men. 
And the King confirmed them, and he bade them make a 
writing of all which had passed between him and them at 
the siege of Coimbra; and when they brought him the 
writing, they brought him also a crown of silver and of 
gold, which had been King Bermudo's, and which Gonzalo • 
Moniz had given to the Monastery in honor of God and St. 
Mamede. The King saw the crown, how it was set with 
precious stones, and said to them, To what end bring ye 
hither this crown ? A n d they said, That you should take it, 
Sire, in return for the good which you have done us. But 
he answered, Far be it from me that I should take from 
your Monastery what the good men before me have given 
to i t ! Take ye back the crown, and also ten marks of 
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B O O K silver, and make with the money a good cross, to remain 
I . with you forever. And he who shall befriend you, may 

God befriend h im; but he who shall disturb you or your 
Monastery, may he be cursed by the living God and by his 
Saints. So the King signed the writing which he had 
commanded to be made, and his sons and chief captains 
signed1 it also, and in the writing he enjoined his children 
and his children's children, as many as should come after 
him, to honor and protect the Monastery of Lorvam, upon 
his blessing he charged them so to do, because he had 
found the brethren better than all the other Monks in his 

Brito Mon. 
Lus.2.7.28. dominions. 

1 The history of the siege of Coimbra, as far as the Monks of Lorvam 
are concerned, is preserved in this very writing, to which among other 
witnesses, the ñame of Kodrigo Diaz appears. Brito has printed the 
original Latin in the Monarchia Lusitana. P . 2. L . 7. C . 28. Its 
authenticity has never I believe been called in question ; the Latin is 
barbarous, and contains one Arabic word, which was disused at a very 
early period; it differs from the Ballads and Chronicles, in assigning 
seven months to the siege, instead of seven years, and is in other 
respects authenticated by other records. 

There is however one passage which at first appears suspicious. The 
Monks in asking leave of the Moors to make their pilgrimage say, — 
Volumus i ré ad SANCTUM DOMINICUM faceré orationern pro peccaiis nos-
tr is . Sanctum Dominicum has been literally rendered St. Domingo ; but 
Brito has perceived the error, for neither of the S i . Domingos were then 
born. Dominicum, he says, is here used in its ancient signification, for a 
church ; and the church thus called for distinction, is probably that of 
San Salvador at Oviedo, then the most famous in Spain for its treasury of 
relies. Sandoval explains it in the same manner, but accounts less satis-
factorily for his explanation. He transíales the words Santo Domingo, 
and says in a marginal note, Santo Domingo seria Oviedo, que por 
excelencia se dir ia Sanctum Dominicum, primer Santo del Señor. 

The document is very valuable, and that not merely because it gives a 
fuller and more authentic account of the conquest of Coimbra than is 
elsewhere to be found. It proves that the Kings of León had possession 
of this district at an early age ; that the Christians were tolerated with 
the utmost freedom by the Moorish conquerois; — and that the con-
querors had good reason to repent of their toleration. 
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X V I I I . Then King Don Ferrando knighted Rodrigo of B O O K 

Bivar in the great mosque of Coimbra, which he dedicated 
to St. Mary. And the ceremony was after this manner: 
the King girded on his sword, and gave him the kiss,1 but k̂ S111611-

not the blow. To do him more honor the Qneen gave him 
his horse, and the Infanta, Doña Urraca fastened on his 
spurs; and from that day forth he was called Ruydiez.2 
Then the King commanded him to knight nine noble squires 
with his own hand ; and he took his sword before the altar, 
and knighted them. The King then gave Coimbra to the 
keeping of Don Sisnando, Bishop of Iria ; a man, who 
having more hardihood than religión, had by reason of his 
misdeeds gone over to the Moors, and sorely infested the 
Christians in Portugal. But during the siege he had come 
to the King's service, and bestirred himself well against the 
Moors ; and therefore the King took him into his favor, 
and gave him the city to keep, which he kept, and didChr del 
much evil to the Moors t i l l the day of his death. And the Cid.cap.i4. 

J Cr. Gen. 

King departed and went to Compostella to return thanks toff. 199. 
Santiago. Rom. 13. 

X I X . But then Benalfagi, who was the Lord of many pf the tak-
lands in Estremadura, gathered together a great power of íemor. 0n* 

the Moors and built up the walls of Montemor, and from 
thence waged war against Coimbra, so that they of Coimbra 
called upon the King for help. And the King carne up 

1 The blow was given with the hand upon the neck, and with these 
words, Despertad, y no os durmáis en las cosas de Cavaller ia ,—Awake, 
and sleep not in affairs of knighthood. Berganza. 5. 11. § 143. He 
adds that the K i n g omitted this, knowing well that the Cid needed no 
such exhortation. 

2 Ruy is merely the abbreviation of Rodrigo. Berganza (5. 11 . § 
142.) infers from this passage, that they who aspired to knighthood were 
called only by their baptismal ñames, and did not assume the patro-
nymic till they had received the order ; — i n signification that they 
were not to pride themselves upon hereditary honor till they were able to 
support it. 

9 .. 
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BOOK against the toAvn, and fought against it, and took it. Great 
. honor did Ruydiez win at that siege ; for having to protect 

the foragers, the enemy carne out upon him, and thrice in 
one day was he beset by them ; but he, though sorely 
pressed by them, and in great peril, nevertheless would not 

Brito Mon. send to the camp for succor, but put forth his manhood 
Chr 2dei28' defeated them. And from that day the King gave more 
chr'C Geif' Power into his hands, and made him head over all his house-
ff. 200. ' hoid. 

How Ruy- x x . Now the men of León besought the King that he 
diez was " 0 
caüed the would repeople Zamora, which had lain desoíate. since it 

was destroyed by Almanzor. A n d he went thither and 
peopled the city, and gáve to it good privileges. And'while 
he was there carne messengers from the five Kings who 
were vassals to Ruydiez of Bivar, bringing him their t r i ­
bute ; and they came to him, he being with the King, and 
called him Cid, which signifyeth Lord , and would have 
kissed his hands, but he would not give them his hand t i l l 
they had kissed the hand of the King. A n d Ruydiez took 
the tribute, and offered the fifth thereof to the King, in 
token of his sovereignty ; and the King thanked him, but 

Chr. del would not receive it, and from that time he ordered that 
Chl^Gen.9' Ruydiez should be called the Cid, because the Moors had so 
ff-2'01- ' called him. 
How the X X I . I n those days Pope Victor I I . held a council at 
dímanded Florencé, and the Emperor Henry there made his com-
spain6 0f pla^nt agaiust King Don Ferrando, that he did not ac-

knowledge his sovereignty, and pay him tribute, like all 
other Kings ; and he besought the Pope to admonish him so 
to do. A n d the Pope being a Germán, and the friend of 
Henry, sent to the King to admonish him, and told him that 
unless he obeyed he would proclaim a crusade against him ; 
and in like manner the Emperor, and the King of France, 
and the other Kings, sent to exhort him to obedience, defy-
ing him i f he should refuse. When the King saw their 
letters he was troubled, for, he knew that i f this thing were 
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done, great evil would follow to Castille and León. A n d B O O K 

he took counsel with his honorable men. They seeing , 
on the one hand the great power of the Church, and on 
the other the great evil that it would be if Castille and León 
should be made tributary, knew not what counsel to give; 
howbeit at length they said to him that he should do the 
Pope's bidding. A t this council the Cid was not present, for 
he had lately completed his marriage with Doña Ximena 
Gómez, and was then with her ; but at this time he arrived, 
and the King showed him the letters, and told him the matter 
how it then stood, and what had been the advice of His good 
men, and besought him to speak his advice, as a good and 
true vassal to his Lord . When the Cid heard what had 
passed it grieved him to the heart, more for the counsel 
which had been given to the King, than because of the Pope's 
commands; and he turned to the King and said, I n an i l l 
day, Sir, were you born in Spain, i f it be in your time to be 
made tributary, which it never was before ; for all the honor 
which God hath given you, and whatever good he hath done 
to you, "is lost i f it should be so. And, Sir, whoever hath 
given you this counsel is not a true man, neither one who 
regardeth your honor ñor your power. But send to defy 
them since they w i l l have it so, and let us carry the war 
home to them. You shall take with you five thousand 
knights, all of whom are hidalgos, and the Moorish Kings 
who are your vassals w i l l give you two thousand knights ; 
and, Sir, you are such a one as God loves, and he AVÍII not 
that your honor should perish. And the King thought that Chr. del^ 
he was well counselled by him, for the Kina; was .of a great Chr. Gen. 
heart. 

X X I I . Then the King ordered letters to be written, i n o f the an-
which he besought the Pope not to proceed farther against the King 
him without just cause, for Spain had been conquered by Ŝ X' 
those who dwelt therein, by the blood of them and of their 
fathers, and they had never been tributary, and never would 
be so, but would rather all die. Moreover he sent his letters 
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B O O K to the E m p e r o r a n d to the other K i n g s , t e l l ing t h e m that 

L they w e l l k n e w the w r o n g w h i c h the E m p e r o r d i d h i m , 

h a v i n g no jur i sd i c t i on over h i m , nor l a w f u l c l a i m ; a n d he 

besought t h e m to let h i m alone that he m i g h t c o n t i n u é to 

w a g e w a r against the enemies of the f a i t h ; but i f they per -

sisted to speak against h i m he then sent t h e m b a c k their 

fr iendship , a n d def ied t h e m , a n d w h e r e they a l l w h e r e there 

w o u l d he go seek them. W h i l e this r e p l y w a s o n its w a y he 

gathered together his people , as h e a n d the C i d h a d a d v i s e d , 

a n d set f o r w a r d w i t h eight thousand a n d n i n e h u n d r e d 

knights , both of his o w n a n d of the C i d , a n d the C i d l e d the 

a d v a n c e d g u a r d . W h e n they h a d p a s s e d the passes o f A s p a 

they f o u n d that the c o u n t r y w a s up , a n d the people w o u l d 

not se l l t h e m food ; but the C i d set his h a n d to, to b u r n a l l 

the c o u n t r y before h i m , a n d p l u n d e r f r o m those w h o w o u l d 

not se l l , but to those w h o brought food he d i d no w r o n g . 

A n d after such m a n n e r d i d he p r o c e e d , that w h e r e v e r the 

Chr del K i n g a n d his a r m y a r r i v e d they found a l l th ings of w h i c h 

Chr'^Gen c o u ^ s tand m u e e d ; a n d the n e w s w e n t sound ing 

ff. 202. throughout a l l the l a n d , so that a l l m e n t r e m b l e d . 

How the X X I I I . T h e n C o u n t R e m o n , L o r d of S a v o y , w i t h the 
Cid defeat- ' J ' 

ed the Lord p o w e r o f the K i n g of F r a n c e , gathered together t w e n t y 

SavoJ- t h o u s a n d knights a n d c a m e b e y o n d T o l o s a , to h o l d the r o a d 

against K i n g D o n F e r r a n d o . A n d he m e t w i t h his harb in -

ger1 the C i d , w h o w e n t before h i m to p r e p a r e lodg ings , a n d 

they h a d a h a r d battle ; a n d the m e n of the C o u n t w e r e dis-

comfi ted , a n d he h imse l f m a d e pr i soner a n d m a n y w i t h h i m , 

a n d m a n y w e r e s la in . A n d the C o u n t besought the C i d of 

1 Aposentador. Harbinger is the corresponding word : an officer of the 
Prince's court, that allotteth the noblemen and those of the household 
their lodgings in time of progress. Minshew. 

Anthony Munday {Primaleon, P a r í 1. p . 68.) speaks of the Fourriers 
and Harbingers of the Emperor. The former of these ternas is found in 
French, Spanish, I tal ian, Dutch , and G e r m á n . I ts etymology is doubt-
f u l , and i t seems in England to have given place to a word of more ob-
vious meaning, as Furr ie l has done in Spain. 



RODRIGO DIAZ DE BIVAR. 69 

his mercy to set him free, saying that he would give him a B O O K 

daughter he had, the which was right fair ; and the Cid did '. 
as he besought him, and the daughter was given to him, and 
he set the Count free. And by this woman King Don Fer- Chr. del 
rando had his son the Cardinal Ferrando, who was so hon- chr '^Geu! 

i i ff. 202. 
orabie a man. 

X X I V . After this the Cid had another battle with allHow the 
Pope and 

the power of France, and discomrited them, and at neither the Empe-
T I I T T - ' T I * • • <~< ror yielded 

oí mese batties did the King and his mam army arnve. So their de-
the news went sounding before them to the council, of the 
fierceness of the C id ; and as they all knew that he was the 
conqueror of batties, they knew not what to advise ; and 
they besought the Pope that he would send to them, beg-
ging them to turn back, and saying that they did not require 
tribute. These letters came to the King when he had past 
Tolosa, and he took counsel with the Cid and with his good 
men, and they advised that he should send two of his good 
men to the Pope, who should tell him to send a Cardinal 
with power to make a covenant, that this demand should 
never again be made upon Spain; and that persons from 
the Emperor and from the other Kings also should come to 
ratify this, and meanwhile he would abide where he was. 
But i f they did not come he would go on to them. Count 
Don Rodrigo, and Alvah Fañez Minaya, and certain learned 
men, were sent with this bidding. A n d when they came to 
the Pope and gave him their letters, he was much dismayed, 
and he assembled the good and honorable men of the coun­
cil, and asked of them what he should do. And they made 
answer that he must do as the King willed him, for none 
was so hardy as to fight against the good fortune of his 
vassal the Cid. Then the Pope sent Master Roberto, the 
Cardinal of St. Sabina, with full powers, and the representa-
tives of the Emperor and of the other Kings came also and 
signed the covenant, that this demand should never again 
be made upon the King of Spain. And the writings which cíd.cap^s. 
they made were confirmed by the Pope and by the Em- fl^'f6'1, 
peror and the other Kings, and sealed with their seáis. 
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BOOK X X V . While this was doing the King abode where he 
was, beyond Tolosa ; six months did he abide there. And 

King re-6 P0Pe sent to ask 0^ him the daughter of Count Remon; 
turned into a n ¿ was £ve months gone with child; and by the 
nis own 

land. advice of his vassal the Cid the King sent her, and sent to 
tell the Pope the whole trath, requesting that he would see 
she was taken care of; and the Pope ordered that she 
should be taken care of t i l l the event should be. A n d 
she was delivered of the Abbot Don Ferrando; the Pope 
was his godfather, and brought him up right honorably, 
and dispensed with his bastardry that he might hold any 
sacred dignity; and in process of time he was made an 
honorable Cardinal. So the King1 returned with great 
honor into his own land, and from that time he was called 
Don Ferrando the Great, the Emperor's Peer; and it was 

Cid.caplsQ. said of him in songs that he had passed the passes of Aspa 
ff.^os!611 in ctaspite of the Frenchmen. 
How the X X V I . Many other things did King Don Ferrando, 
King di- -v^ich are Written in the book of the Chronicles of the Kings 
vided his ~ 

dominions. 0f gpain, enriching churches and monasteries, and honoring 
the saints and martyrs, and making war upon the misbe-
lievers. A n d it came to pass when he was waxed oíd, that 
as he was one day saying his prayers, the confessor St. 
Isidro appeared unto him, and told him the day and hour 
when he should die, to the intent that he might make 
ready and confess his sins, and make atonement for them, 
and take thought for his soul, that so he might appear 

1 Berganza believes everything in the history of this expedition, ex-
cept the episode of the Lord of Savoy's daughter, which he attributes 
with good reason to the Joculars. That Ferrando had no bastard son 
of that ñame, or that dignity, is certain ; and to suppose, as the Chronicle 
does, that this son was oíd enough at the King's death "to have his 
brethren confided to his care, is a manifest absurdity. Berganza guesses 
that there was such a Cardinal Abbot, but that he was the King's 
nephew; this is a mere guess, for there is no other intimation of the 
existence of any such person than in this story, which is so evidently 
false in all its parts. 
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clean from offence before the face of God. From that day BOOK 
he, being certain that his end was at hand, began to dis-
charge his soul. A n d he devised within himself how to 
dispose of the kingdoms which God had given him, that 
there might be no contention between his sons after his 
death ; and he thought it best to divide his lands among 
them ; but this which he thought best preved to be the 
worst, and great evil carne thereof, for better had it been 
that he had left all to the eldest. Howbeit it was his plea-
sure to divide them : he had three sons, Don Sancho who 
was the eldest, and Don Alfonso who was the second born, 
and Don Garcia who was the youngest; and two daughters, 
Doña Urraca and Doña Elvira. The manner in which he 
divided his lands was this ; he gave to Don Sancho the 
kingdom of Castillo as far as to the river Pisuerga, on the 
side of León, with the border,1 which included the dioceses 
of Osma, and Segovia, and Avila, and on the side of Na-
varre as far as the Ebro, as he had won it from his nephew 
Don Sancho Garcia, King of Navarra. To Don Alfonso 
he gave the kingdom of León, and in Asturias as far as the 
river Deva, which runs by Oviedo, and part of Campos as 
far as Carrion, and the river Pisuerga, with the border, 
which contained the dioceses of Zamora, Salamanca, and 
Ciudad Rodrigo, and the city of Astorga, and other lands 
in Galicia, with the town of Zebreros. To Don Garcia he 
gave the kingdom of Galicia, and all the lands which he 
had won in Portugal, with the title of King of Galicia, 
which country had had no King of its own since the king- c^ d l 
dom of the Suevi had been overthrown by King Leovegildo. cid.cap.27. 
A -i -r^ ~ T T ! 1 • <> r * . , Chr. Gen. 

And to Dona Urraca he gave the city oí Zamora, with all ff. 204. 

1 Estremadura is the word which I have rendered Border. It is now 
the ñame of two provinces, one in Spain, the other in Portugal. Bor­
der was its original meaning, as the word implies ; and the country 
designated by that ñame variad, as the Christians extended their con-
quests. 

http://cid.cap.27
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BOOK its dependencies, and with half the Infantazgo ; and the 
other half, with the city of Toro and its dependencies, to I . 

|^?vaL D o ñ a E l v i i a . 
L T í a g . X X V I I . When the Infante Don Sancho knew that the 
How the King his father had made this allotment, it displeased him, 
Sancho D" ^or 1̂6 w a s e^est son I and he said to his father that he 
ofIt^eaÍned neit^er could nor ought to make this división ; for the 
wrong Gothic Kings had in oíd times made a constitution for them-
which was 0 

done him. selves, that the kingdom and empire of Spain should never 
be divided, but remain one dominión under one Lord . But 
the King replied that he wonld not for this forbear to do as 
he had resolved, for he had won the kingdom : then the I n ­
fante made answer. Do as yon wiU, being my father and 
Lord ; but I do not consent unto it . So the King made 
this división against the right of the Infante Don Sancho, and 

ch d i it displeased many in the kingdom, and many it pleased ; 
Cid.cap.28. but they who were of good understanding perceived the evil 
Chr. Gen. i • i i n 

ff. 205. which would anse. 
Of the X X V I I I . After this the King fell sick with the malady 
Ke¡ng1.of tlie whereof he died. And he made himself be carried to León, 

and there on his knees before the bodies of the saints he be-
sought mercy of them. And putting his crown upon his 
head before theholy body of St. Isidro, he called upon God, 
saying, O Lord Jesús Christ, thine is the power over all, 
and thine is the kingdom, for thou art King of all king-
doms, and of all Kings, and of all nations, and all are at thy 
command. And now L o r d I return unto thee the kingdom 
which thou hast given me, but I beseech thee of thy mercy 
that my soul may be brought to the light which hath no end. 
Having said thus, he stript himself of the royal robes adorned 
with gold in which he was arrayed, and took the crown from 
his head and placed it upon the altar ; and he put sackcloth 

1 In this instancel have rendered cilicio by sackcloth, a familiar word 
in this sense, and here sufficiently accurate. CILICIUM, a cilicibus populis 
dictum, apud quos {ut inqvit YAnno de re rustica, cap. 11.) Cilicia p n -

http://Cid.cap.28
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upen the carrion of his body, and prayed to God, confessing B O O K 

all the sins which he had committed against him, and took 
his acquittal from the bishops, for they absolved him from 
his sins ; and forthwith he there received extreme unction, 
and strewed ashes upon himself. After this by his own or-
der he was carried to St. Mary of Almazan in pilgrimage, 
and there he remained thrice nine days, beseeching St. Ma­
ry that she would have merey upon him and intercede with 
her blessed Son for his soul. F rom thence they carried him 
to Cabezón, and there the Abbot Don Ferrando came to 
him, an honorable man, and many other honorable men of 
his realms, and the Cid Ruydiez, whom the King commend-
ed to the Infante Don Sancho, his son. And after he had A D 1065 
put all his afFairs in order he remained three days lamenting 
in pain, and on the fourth, being the day of St John the 
Evangelist, he called for the Cardinal Abbot, and commend-
ed Spain and his other sons to him, and gave him his bless-
ing, and then at the hour of sexts1 he rendered up his soul 

mum confecta sunt. Cilicia Arabes nuncwpant vélamenta pellibus caprarum 
contexta, ex quibus sibi tentoria faciunt . ISID. Est autem vestís e pi l is hirco-
rum et caprarum tonsilibus texta, qvá monachi et eremicola dum paniten- ' 
í iam agebant u t i consueverunt. Gr. X I I Í K Í O P , a L a t . ut alia p lura graca 
vocabula a laiinis eodem modoformantur. Minshew. 

The cilicio w&s however sometimes made of such. materials that to cali 
it either háircloth or sackeloth would be a contradiction in terms. In a 
future work therefore, wherein it will frequenlly be necessary to mention 
it, I shall venture to anglicize the original word, which in all probability 
has already been done bysome of our Catholic writers. I believe there 
are few words in any European language for which a precise term may 
not be found in our own ; but our Dictionaries are miserably imperfect. 
The Reviews have more than once censured me for having introduced 
new words, when not my English but their own ignorance was in fault. 

Our word in the Bible is literally from the Hebrew p^j sale, — a word 
which is said to be the same in almost every known language. 

i Berganza (5. 12. ^ 155.) in examining this account of the King's 
death, admits as beyond all doubt, that St. Isidro warned him of i t ; — 
shews by good proof that he might receive extreme unction before the 
Viaticum, and says that Cabezón has been wrongly understood to mean 

10 . 
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BOOK without stain to God, being full of years. So they carried him 
L to León, and buried him near his father, in the Church of St. 

Isidro, which he had built. Thirty and one years did King 
Don Ferrando the Great, who was peer with the Emperor, 
reign over Castille. The Queen his wife lived two years 
after him, leading a holy l ife; a good Queen had she been 
and of good understanding, and right loving to her husband : 
alway had she counselled him well, being in truth the mirror 

Chr. del of his kingdoms, and the friend of the widows and orphans. 
29d 3oaP3i. Her end was a good end, like that of the Kingher husband: 
ffh205en' ^0^- §^ve them Paradise for their reward. Amen. 

the ñame of a place, E lo llevaron a cabezón meaning that he was carried 
in men's arms, being unable to stand. 



H E R E B E G I N N E T H T H E S E C O N D B O O K 

OF THE 

CHEONICLE O í THE CID 

I . THE history relates how after the death of King Don BOOK 

Ferrando, the three Kings his sons reigned each in his 
kingdom, according to the división made by their father, DonsScfo 

who had divided that which should all by right have d e - ^ J ^ . 
scended to the King Don Sancho. Now the Kings of Spain g j ^ ™ 1 6 

were of the blood of the Goths, which was a fierce blood,1 
for it had many times come to pass among the Gothic Kings 
that brother had slain brother upon this quarrel ; from this 

1 The Chronica General refers here to the Archbishop Rodrigo, whose 
words are these : Sed licet ipse regnum filiis divisisset, et far tem suam 
unicuique assignasset, quia omnis poíestas impaiiens est consortis, et quia 
Reges Hispanice a feroci Gotthorum sanguine coniraxerunt, ne majores a l i -
quem velint parem, nec minores superiorem, scepius ínter Gotthos regalia 

fuñe ra fraterno sanguine maduerunt. Rex itaque Sancius, Castellce et Na­
varra finibus non contentus, inhumanitatis Gotthica, successor et hceres, et 
sanguinem f r a t r u m sitire, et ad eorum regnam ccepit cupidus anhelare, éfc. 
L . 6. C . 15. 

The Archbishop himself seems to have had before hira the observation 
"which the Monk of Silos makes on the same occasion. Porro Hispanici 
Reges tantee ferocitatis dicuntur fore , quod quum ex eorum stirpe quilibet 
Regulus adulta á ta te j a m arma primo sumpserit, sive in fratres, seu i n 
parentes, si superstites fuer in t , u t j u s regale solus obtineat, pro viribus con­
tendere parat. Chronicon Monachi Siliensis, C. 2. § 10, 
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BOOK blood was King Don Sancho descended, and he thought 
11 • that it would be a reproach unto him if he did not join to-

gether the three kingdoms under his own dominión, for he 
was not pleased with what his father had given him, holding 
that the whole ought to have been his. A n d he went through 

cid'cap ^aní^ setting ^ in order, and what thing soever his people 
32- 33. asked at his hand that did he grant them freely, to the end 
Chr. Gen. . 0 

ff- 205. that he might win their hearts. 
How the I I . Now when King Don Sancho of Navarre saw that 
Navarre there was a new King in Castille, he thought to r eco ver the 
camerag0n lands of Bureva and of Oíd Castille as far as Laredo, which 
cTstille. had been lost when the King his father was defeated and 

slain at Atapuerca in the mountains of Oca. A n d now see-
ing that the kingdom of Ferrando was divided, he asked 
help of his únele Don Ramiro, King of Aragón ; and the 
men of Aragón and of Navarre entered Castille together. 
But King Don Sancho gathered together his host, and put 
the Cid at their head ; and such account did he give of his 
enemies, that he of Navarre was glad to enjoy Rioja in 
peace, and lay no farther claim to what his father had lost. 
Now the King of Castille was wroth against the King of 
Aragón, that he should thus have joined against him without 
cause ; and ih despite of him he marched against the Moors 
of Zaragoza, and laying waste their country with fire and 
sword, he came before their city, and gave orders to assault 
it, and began to set up his engines. When the King of Za­
ragoza saw the great wi l l which the King had to do evil unto 
him, and that there was none to help him, he thought it best 
to come to his merey, paying tribute, or serving him, or in any 
manner whatsoever. And he sent interpreters to King Don 
Sancho saying, that he would give him much gold and silver, 
and many gifts, and be his vassal, and pay him tribute 
yearly. The King received them right honorably, and 
when he had heard their bidding he answered resolutely, 
being of a great heart, A l l this which the King of Zaragoza 
sends to say unto me is well, but he hath another thing in 
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liis heart. He sends to bid me break up the siege and de- BOOK 
part from his land, and as soon as I should have departed, '.— 
he would make friends unto himself among Christians and 
among Moors, and fail me in all which he covenants. Ne-
vertheless I w i l l do this thing which your King requires of 
me ; but i f in the end he lie, I w i l l come back upon him1 
and destroy him, trusting in God that he cannot defend him­
self against me. And when the interpretéis heard this they 
were greatly dismayed, and they returned and told their 
King all that he had said. And the Moors seeing that they 
could not help themselves, made such terms with him as it 
pleased him to grant, and gave him hostages that they might 
not be able to prove false. And they gave him gold and Chr del 
silver and precious stones in abundance, so that with great g j^0^3-
riches and M I honorably did he and all his men depart from ff. 206. 

J r Sandoval. 

the siege. ff. 21. 
I I I . Greatly was the King of Aragón displeased at this g ^ g ^ ^ l 

which King Don Sancho had done, thinking that it was to defeated 
0 the King of 

his great injury and abasement, for Zaragoza he held to be Aragón, 

within his conquest. And he came out with all his power to 
cut off the King's return, and took possession of the way, 
and said unto him that he should not pass t i l l he had made 
amends for the great dishonor which he had wrought him, 
in coming into his conquest and against his vassals: the 
amends which he required was, that he should yield unto 
him all the spoil, and all which the King of Zaragoza had 
given him, else should he not pass without battle. When 
King Don Sancho heard this, being a man of great heart, he 
made answer, that he was the head of the kingdoms of 
Castille and León, and all the conquests in Spain were his, 
for the Kings of Aragón had no conquests appertaining unto 
them, being by right his tributarles, and bound to appear at 
his Cortes. Wherefore he counselled him to waive this de-
mand, and let him pass in peace. But the King of Aragón 
drew up his host for battle, and the onset was made, and 
heavy blows were dealt on both sides, and many horses were 
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BOOK left without a master. And while the battle was yet upon 
Í Í the chance, King Don Sancho riding right bravely through 

the battle, began to cali out Castille ! Castille ! and charged 
the main body so fiercely that by fine forcé he broke them; 
and when they were thus broken, the Castilians began 
cruelly to slay them, so that King Don Sancho had pity 
thereof, and called out unto his people not to k i l l them, for 
they were Christians. Then King Don Ramiro being dis-
comfited, retired to a mountain, and King Don Sancho beset 
the mountain round about, and made a covenant with him 
that he should depart, and that the King of Zaragoza should 
remain tributary to Castille ; and but for this covenant the 
King of Aragón Avould then have been slain or made pris-
oner. This was the battle whereof the Black Book of San­
tiago speaketh, saying, that in this year, on the day of the 

A. D. loes. Conversión of St. Paul, was the great slaughter of the Chris­
tians in Porca. I n all these wars did my Cid demean 
himself after his wonted manner : and because of the great 

Chr. del . . ' . 5 

Cid.cap.34. feats which he performed the King loved him well, and made 
ff. sos. ' him his Alférez; so that in the whole army he was second 
Sandovai, t o ^ i l i ng , A n d because when the host was in the 

field i t was his office to choose the place for encampment, 
therefore was my Cid called the Campeador.1 

Of the be- j y , Whi le King Don Sancho was busied in these wars, 
ginning of 0 7 
the strife King Don Garcia of Galicia took by forcé from Dona Ur-
between . . . 1 

the breth- raca his sister a great part of the lands which the King their 
father had given her. And when she heard this she began 
to lament aloud, saying, A h King Don Ferrando, in an evil 
hour didst thou divide thy kingdom, for thereby wi l l all the 

1 This word is variously latinized Campiator, Campidator, and Campi-
ductor. Berganza, by way of explaining it, gives an account of the origin 
and form of judicial combats, and supposes that the title was given to 
Rodrigo either because he was appointed judge of the field on such occa-
sions, or King's Champion. Sandoval's, which I have followed, is the 
more probable explanation. 

http://Cid.cap.34
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land be brought to destruction. A n d now also w i l l be ac- BOOK 
I I . 

complished that which my fost.erer Arias Gonzalo said, for 
now that King Don García who is my younger brother, hath 
dispossessed me and broken the oath which he made unto 
my father, what w i l l not the eider do, who made the vow by 
compulsión, and alway made protestation against the división ! 
God send that as thou hast disherited me, thou mayest 
speedily thyself in like manner be disherited, Amen! But 
when King Don Sancho heard what his brother had done 
he was well pleased thereat, thinking that he might now 
bring to pass that which he so greatly desired ; and he as-
sembled together his Ricos-omes and his knights, and said 
unto them, The King tay father divided the kingdoms which 
should have been mine, and therein he did unjustly; now 
King Don Garcia my brother hath broken the oath and dis­
herited Doña Urraca my sister ; I beseech ye therefore 
counsel me what I shall do, and in what manner to proceed 
against him, for I w i l l take his kingdom away from him. 
Upon this Count Don Garcia Ordoñez aróse and said, There 
is not a man in the world, Sir, who would counsel you to 
break the command of your father, and the vow which you 
made unto him. And the King was greatly incensed at him 
and said, Go from before me, for I shall never receive good 
counsel from thee. The King then took the Cid by the 
hand and led him apart, and said unto him, Thou well 
knowest, my Cid, that when the King my father commended 
thee unto me, he charged me upon pain of his curse that I 
should take you for my adviser, and whatever I did that I 
should do it with your counsel, and I have done so even until 
this day; and thou hast alway counselled me for the best, 
and for this I have given thee a county in my kingdom, 
holding it well bestowed. Now then I beseech you advise Chr. del 
me how best to recover these kingdoms, for i f I have not c h r . ^ S 
counsel from you I do not expect to have it from any man ff' 207' 
in the world. 
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BOOK 
11. 

How King 
Don San­
cho had a 
meeting 
with his 
brother 
King Don 
Alfonso. 

V . Greatly troubled at this was the Cid, and he an-
swered and said, 111, Sir, would it behove me to counsel 
yon that you should go against the w i l l of your father. 
Yon well know that when I went to Cabezón unto him, 
after he had divided his kingdoms, how he made me swear 
to him that I would alway counsel his sons the best I could, 
and never give them i l l counsel; and while I can, thus must 
I continué to do. But the King answered, M y Cid, I do 
not hold that in this I am breaking the oath made to my 
father, for I ever said that the partition should not be, and 
the oath which I made was forced upon me. Now King 
Don Garcia my brother hath broken the oath, and all these 
kingdoms by right are mine : and th&reíbre I w i l l that you 
counsel me how I may unite them, for from so doing there 
is nothing in this world which shall prevent me, except it be 
death. Then when the Cid saw that he could by no means 
turn him from that course, he advised him to obtain the love 
of his brother King Don Alfonso, that he might grant him 
passage through his kingdom to go against Don Garcia : 
and i f this should be refused, he counselled him not to make 
the attempt. And the King saw that his counsel was good ; 
and sent his letters to King Don Alfonso, beseeching him to 
meet him at Sahagun. When King Don Alfonso received 
the letters, he marvelled to what end this might be : howbeit 
he sent to say that he would meet him. And the two Kings 
met in Sahagun. And King Don Sancho said, Brother, you 
well kndw that King Don Garcia our brother hath broken 
the oath made unto our father, and disherited our sister 
Doña Urraca : for this I w i l l take his kingdom away from 
him, and I beseech you join with me. But Don Alfonso 
answered that he would not go against the w i l l of his father, 
and the oath which he had sworn. Then King Don Sancho 
said, that i f he would let him pass through his kingdom he 
would give him part of what he should gain : and King Don 
Alfonso agreed to this. A n d upon this matter they fixed 
another day to meet; and then forty knights were named, 
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twenty for Castille and twenty for León, as vouchers that B O O K 

this which they covenanted should be faithfully falfilled on 
Chr. del 

both SldeS. Cid.cap.36. 

V I . Then King Don Sancho gathered together a great ffh2o^ei1* 

host, Castilians and Leonese, and they of Navarre and How Kino. 
Biscay, Asturians, and men of Aragón and of the border. Don Garcia 

1/7 1 ° sent to ask 
And he sent Alvar Fañez , the cousin of the Cid, to Kins aid from 

. . . 0 brother 

Don Garcia, to bid him yield up his kingdom, and i f he King Don 
refused to do this, to defy him on his part. Alvar Fañez , 
albeit unwillingly, was bound to obey the bidding of his 
Lord, and he went to King Don Garcia and delivered his 
bidding. When King Don Garcia heard it he was greatly . 
troubled, and he cried out in his trouble and said. L o r d 
Jesús Christ, thou rememberest the oath which we made to 
our father ! for my sins I have been the first to break it, and 
have disherited my sister. And he said to Alvar Fañez , Say 
to my brother that I beseech him not to break the oath which 
he made to our father ; but i f he w i l l persist to do this thing, 
I must defend myself as I can. A n d with this answer Alvar 
F a ñ e z returned. Then King Don Garcia called unto him a 
knight of Asturias, whose ñame was Ruy Ximenez, and 
bade him go to his brother King Don Alfonso, and tell him 
what had passed, and how King Don Sancho would take 
away his kingdom from him ; and to beseech him as a 
brother that he would not let him pass through his domin-
ions. And King Don Alfonso replied, Say to my brother 
that I w i l l neither help King Don Sancho, ñor oppose him : 
and tell him that i f he can defend himself I shall be well 
pleased. A n d with this answer Ruy Ximenez returned, and 
bade the King look to himself for defence, for he would find cid.'cap^r. 
no help in his brother. íSo?11 ' 

V I L Now Don Garcia was not beloved in his kingdom How Don 
of Galicia, neither in Portugal, for as much as he showed Fr00jraísiew 

little favor to the hidalgos, both Galegos and Portuguese, Verna-
and vexed the people with tributes, which he had newly 

9 * 

http://Cid.cap.36
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BOOK imposed. The cause of all this was a favorite,1 by name 
' Verna, to whom the King gave so much authority, that he 

displeased all the chief persons in his dominions, and 
hearkened unto him in all things ; and by his advice it was 
that he had despoiled his sister Doña Urraca of her lands, and 
his sister Doña Elvira also, and had done other things, 
whereby Portugal and Galicia vfere now in danger to be 
lost. And the knights and hidalgos took counsel together, 
how they might remedy these evils, and they agreed that 
the King should in the name of them all be advised how i l l 
he was served, and entreated to put away his favorite. 
Don Rodrigo Frojaz was the one named to speak unto the 
King ; for being a man of approved valor, and the lord of 
many lands, it was thought that the King would listen more 
to him than to any other. But it fell out otherwise than 
they had devised, for Verna had such power over the mind 
of the King, that the remonstrance was i l l received, and Don 
Rodrigo and the other hidalgos were contumeliously treated 
in public by the King. Don Rodrigo would not bear this, 
being a right loyal and valiant man ; and he went one day 
into the palace, and finding Verna busied in aífairs of 
state, he drew forth his sword and slew him ; then leaving 
the palace, for none cared to lay hands on him, he left 
Portugal, and took the road towards France ; many of his 

del Conde vassals and kinsmen and friends followins; him, to seek 
Don Pedro, "'>•. . i •, 

]x45.^ ^ their íortunes m a country where valor would be esteemed, 
Cid.'cap.ss. for they were weary of the bad government of King Don 
Chron.Gen. ^ 
ff. 208. barcia. 
of the bat- V I I I . But when King Don Garcia knew of the league 
de ¡b^Su* which his brethren had made to divide his kingdom between 

them, it was a greater trouble to him than the death of Verna, 
and he called his chief captains together and consulted with 

1 Garibay says a female favorite ; in this he differs from all other au-
thorities, otherwise the manners of the age would not render his account 
improbable. The story of Iñez de Castro is well known. 

Nobiliario, 
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them; and they advised him that he should send to recall BOOK 
Don Rodrigo Frojaz, for having him the realm would be se- _ 
cure, and without him it was in danger to be lost. So two 
hidalgos were sent after him, and they found him in Navarre, 
on the eve of passing into France. But when he saAV the 
King's letters, and knew the peril in which he then stood, 
setting aside the remembrance of his own wrongs, like a 
good and trae Portugueze, he turned back, and went to 
the King at Coimbra. I n good time did he arrive, for the 
captains of King Don Sancho had now gained many lands 
in Galicia and in the province of Beira, finding none to re-
sist them, and the Count Don Ñuño de Lara, and the Count 
of Monzón, and Don Garcia de Cabra, were drawing nigh 
unto Coimbra. When Don Rodrigo heard this and knew 
that the Castilians where approaching, and who they were, 
he promised the King either to maintain his cause, or die for 
i t ; and he besought him not to go into the battle himself, 
having so many vassals and so good; for it was not fitting 
that he should expose himself when there was no king com-
ing against him. And it came to pass that when the scouts 
gave notice that the Castilians were at hand, he ordered the 
trumpets to be sounded, and the Portugueze sallied, and a 
little below the city, at the place which is now called Agoa de 
Mayas, the two squadrons met. Then was the saying of 
Arias Gonzalo fulfilled, that kinsmen should k i l l kinsmen, 
and brother fall by his brother's hand. But the Portugueze 
fought so well , and especially Don Rodrigo, and his brothers 
Don Pedro and Don Vermui Frojaz, that at length they dis-
comfited the Castilians, killing of them five hundred and 
forty, of whom three hundred were knights, and winning 
their pennons and banners. Howbeit this victory was not 
obtained without great loss to themselves ; for two hun­
dred and twenty of their people were left upon the field, Nobiliario, 

j i J J , ' p . 46. Do. 

and many were soreiy wounaea, among whom, even to the 211. 
great peril of his life, was Don Rodrigo Frojaz, being wound- cap. 30. 
ed with many and grievous wounds. I n this battle was #^os'Gen' 
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BOOK slain the Count Don Fafes Sarracem de Lanhoso, w i t h many 
' of his vassals, he from whom the Godinos are descended: he 

was a right good knight. 
DorTam-cia I X . A sorrowful defeat was that for King Don Sancho" 
Moors! the niore for the quality of the slain than for their number; 

and he put himself at the head of his army, and hastened 
through the midst of Portugal, to go against his brother. 
And King Don García hearing of his approach, called to-
gether his knights and hidalgos, and said unto them, Friends, 
we have no land whereunto to fly from the King Don San­
cho my brother, let us therefore meet him in battle, and 
either conquer him, or die ; for it is better to die an honor­
able death than to suffer this spoiling in our country. And 
to the Portugeze he said, Friends, ye are right noble and 
haughty knights, and it is your custom to have among you 
few lords and good ones; now therefore make me a good 
one, which w i l l be to your own great honor and profit; and 
i f I come out of this struggle well, I shall guerdon ye 
well, so that ye shall understand the w i l l I have to do good 
towards ye. And they made answer and said that they 
would stand by him to the last, and that he should not be 
put down by their default. Then spake he to the Galegos 
and said, Friends, ye are right good and true knights, and 
never was it yet said that lord was forsaken by you in the 
field. I put myself in your hands, being assured that ye 
w i l l well and loyally advise me, and help me to the utmost 
of your power. Ye see how King Don Sancho my brother 
presses upon us, and we have nothing left us but to die or to 
conquer ; but i f ye know any other counsel, I beseech ye 
tell it me. And the Galegos answered, that they would 
serve and defend him loyally, and that they held it best to 
fight. Nevertheless they were too few in number to stand 
against the King Don Sancho : so they retired before him. 
And Don Garcia took with him three hundred horsemen, 
and went to the Moors, and besought them to lend him aid 
against his brother, saying that he would give them the 
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kingdom of León. And the Moors made answer, O King, B O O K 

thou canst not defend thyself; how then canst thou give ' 
unto us the kingdom of León ? Howbeit they did him Chr. del 

„ J Cid. Cap. 
honor and gave him great gifts, and he returned to his4oChr. 
people and recovered many of the castles which he had Kod Tol. 
í + 1. 6. c. 18. 
lost. 

X . Then King Don Sancho came against his brother, to How King 
besiege him in Santarem. A n d the Portugueze and Gale-wentout 
gos took counsel together what they should do ; for some rem to bat-
were of advide that it was better to defend the cities andüe" 
fortresses which they held, and so lengthen out the war; 
others that they should harass the army of the Castilians 
with frequent skirmishes and assaults, and never give them 
battle power to power, thinking that in this manner they 
might baffle them t i l l the winter came on. Don Rodrigo 
Frojaz was at this time recovering of the wounds which he 
had received at Agoa de Mayas, and he said unto the King 
that it behoved him above all things to put his kingdom 
upon the hazard of a battle ; for his brother being a greater 
lord of lands than he, and richer in money and more pow-
erful in vassals, could maintain the war longer than he could 
do, who peradventure would find it difficult another year to 
gather together so good an army as he had now ready. 
For this cause he advised him to put his trust in God first, 
and then in the hidalgos who were with him, and without 
fear give battle to the King his brother, over whom God 
and his good cause would give him glorious victory. A n d 
to show his own good w i l l to the King, he besought of him 
the leading of the van for himself and the Counts Don Pe­
dro and Don Vermui Frojaz his brethren, and his two 
nephews. Greatly was the King Don Garcia encouraged 
by his gallant cheer, and he bade his host make ready to 
give battle to King Don Sancho, as soon as he should ar-
rive ; and -he marched out from the city, and took his stand 
near unto it in a field where afterwards were the vineyards 
of the town. And when the banners of the Castilians were 
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BOOK seen advancing, the Galegos and Portugueze drew up in 
IL battle array, Don Rodrigo and his brethren having the van, 

L U S ^ S Q . ancl as 1̂6 requested, and a body of chosen knights with 
Nobiliario/ t h e m t 

How Alvar X I - C o u n t ^on Garcia carne in the front of King Don 

f d t h e K i Í g ^ a n c h 0 ' S a r m y j arl(Í in ^ 0116 W Í n g WaS t l l e C o u n t d e 
fbr a horse Monzón and Count Don Ñuño de Lara ; and the Count 
and arras. 

Don Fruela of Asturias in the other ; and the Kmg was m 
the rear, with Don Diego de Osma, who carried his ban-
ner : and in this manner were they arrayed on the one side 
and on the other, being ready for the onset. And King Don 
Garcia bravely encouraged his men, saying, Vassals and 
friends, ye see the great wrong which the King my brother 
doth unto me, taking from me my kingdom; I beseech ye 
help me now to defend i t ; for ye well know that all which 
I had therein I divided among ye, keeping ye for a season 
like this. A n d they answered, Great benefits have we re-
ceived at your hands, and we w i l l serve you to the utmost of 
our power. Now when the two hosts were ready to join 
battle, Alvar Fañez came to King Don Sancho and said to 
him, Sir, I have played away my horse ánd arms; I beseech 
you give me others for this battle, and I w i l l be a right good 
one for you this day ; i f I do not for you the service of six 
knights, hold me for a traitor. And the Count Don Garcia, 
who heard this, said to the King, Give him, Sir, what he 
asketh; and the King ordered that horse and arms should 
be given him. So the armies joined battle bravely on both 

Chr. del sides, and it was a sharp onset; many were the heavy blows 
Cte.^&ei wl:lich were given on both sides, and many were the horses 
landoval t h a t w e r e s l a i n a t t h a t e n c o u n t e r j and many the men. Now 
ff. 26. ' my Cid had not yet come up into the field. 
How King X I I . Now Don Rodrigo Froiaz and his brethren and 
Dun Sancho T , . i , & J 

•wastaken, the knights who were with them had resolved to make 
death of6 straight for the banner of the King of Castille. A n d they 
goTroj íz" ' broke through the ranks of the Castilians, and made their 

way into the middle of the enemy's host, doing marvellous 
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feats of arms. Then was the fight at the hottest, for they B O O K 

did their best to win the banner, and the others to defend i t ; .— 
the remembrance of what they had formerly done, and the 
hope of gaining more honors, heartened them; and with 
the Castilians there was their King, giving them brave ex-
ample as well as brave words. The press of the battle was 
here ; here died Gonzalo de Sies, a right valiant Portu-
gueze, on the part of Don García ; but on Don Sancho's 
part the Count Don Ñuño was sorely wounded and thrown 
from his horse ; and Count Don García Ordoñez was made 
prisoner, and the banner of King Don Sancho was beaten 
down, and the King himself also. The first who encoun-
tered him was Don Gomes Echiguis, he from whom the oíd 
Sonsas of Portugal derived their descent; he was the first 
who set his lance against King Don Sancho, and the other 
one was Don Moninho Hermígis, and Don Kodrigo made 
way through the press and laid hands on him and took him. 
But in the struggle his oíd wounds burst open, and having 
received many new ones he lost much blood, and perceiving 
that his strength was failing, he sent to cali the King Don 
García with all speed. A n d as the King came, the Count 
Don Pedro Frojaz met him and said, A n honorable gift, 
Sír, hath my brother Don Rodrigo to give you, but you lose 
him in gaining it. And tears fell from the eyes of the King, 
and he made answer and said, I t may indeed be that Don 
Rodrigo may lose his life in serving me, but the good ñame 
which he hath gained, and the honor which he leaveth to his 
descendants, death cannot take away. Saying this, he came 
to the place where Don Rodrigo was, and Don Rodrigo 
gave into his hands the King Don Sancho his brother, and 
asked him three times if he was discharged of his prisoner ; 
and when the King had answered Yes, Don Rodrigo said, 
For me, Sir, the joy which I have inyour victory is enough ; 
give the rewards to these good Portugueze, who with so 
good a wi l l have put their lives upon the hazard to serve 
you, and in all things follow their counsel, and you wi l l not 
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BOOK err therein. Having said this he kissed the King's hand, 
111 and lying upon his shield, for he felt his breath fail him, 

with his helmet for a pillow, he kissed the cross of his sword 
in remembrance of that on which the incarnate Son of God 
had died for him, and rendered up his soul into the hands 
of his Creator. This was the death of one of the worthy 
knights of the world, Don Rodrigo Frojez. I n all the con-
quests which King Don Ferrando had made from the Moors 
of Portugal, great part had he borne, insomuch that that 
King was wont to say that other Princes might have more 

Brito Mon. dominions than he, but two such knights as his two Rod-
N o b ü i l r f o 9 ' r ^ o s ' m e a n i n g m y Cid and this good knight, there was 
48 • none but himself who had for vassals. 
How Alvar X I I I . Then King Don Garcia being desirous to be in the 
Fañez res- 0 0 

cued the pursuit himself, delivered his brother into the hands of six 
knights that they should guard him, which he ought not to 
have done. A n d when he was gone King Don Sancho said 
unto the knights, Let me go and I w i l l depart out of your 
country and never enter it again; and I w i l l reward ye well 
as long as ye l ive; but they answered him, that for no re­
ward would they commit such disloyalty, but would guard 
him well, not oíFering him any injury, t i l l they had delivered 
him to his brother the King Don Garcia. While they were 
parleying Alvar Fañez Minaya came up, he to wbom the 
King had given horse and arms before the battle; and he 
seeing the King held prisoner, cried out with a loud voice, 
Let loóse my Lord the K i n g : and he spurred his horse and 
made at them; and before his lance was broken he over-
threw two of them, and so bestirred himself that he put the 
others to flight; and he took the horses of the two whom he 
had smote down, and gave one to the king, and mounted 
upon the other himself, for his own was hurt in the rescue ; and 
they went together to a little rising ground where there was 
yet a small body of the knights of their party, and Alvar 
Fañez cried out to them aloud, Ye see here the King our 
Lord , who is free; now then remember the good ñame of 
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the Castilians, and let us not lose it this day. And about BOOK 
four hundred knights gathered about him. And while they !— 
stood there they saw the Cid Euydiez coming up with three 
hundred knights, for he had not been in the battle, and they 
knew his green pennon. And when King Don Sancho be-
held it his heart rejoiced, and he said, Now let us descend 
into the plain, for he of good fortune cometh: and he said, 
Be of good heart, for it is the w i l l of God that I should re-
cover my kingdom, for I have escaped from captivity, and 
seen the death of Don Rodrigo Frojaz who took me, and 
Ruydiez the fortúnate one cometh. And the King went 
down to him and welcomed him right joyfully, saying, I n 
happy time are you come, my fortúnate Cid ; never vassal 
succored his L o r d in such season as you now succor me, for 
the King my brother had overeóme me. A n d the Cid an- chr. del 
swered, Sir, be sure that you shall recover the day, or I w i l l q^;0^1-
die ; for wheresoever you go, either you shall be victorious § ^ 1 ^ , . ^ 

or I w i l l meet my death. 49-

X I V . By this time Kinar Don Garcia returned from the ^ow King 
J 0 _ Don García 

pursuit, singing as he came full joyfully, for he thought thatwas taken. 

the King his brother was a prisoner, and his great power 
overthrown. But there came one and told him that Don 
Sancho was rescued and in the field again, ready to give 
him battle a second time. Bravely was that second battle 
fought on both sides ; and i f it had not been for the great 
prowess of the Cid, the end would not have been as it, was : 
in the end the Galegos and Portugueze were discomfited, 
and the King Don Garcia taken in his turn. A n d in that 
battle the two brethren of Don Rodrigo Frojaz, Don Pedro 
and Don Vermui, were slain, and the two sons of Don Pe- Qhr Gen 
dro, so that five of that family died that day. And the King f'^1 del 
Don Sancho put his brother in better ward than his brother c^ caP-

r , . „ Bnto. M 

three hours before had put him, for he put him in chains and Lus- P- 2-
sent him to the stronar castle of Luna.1 Sandoval, 

0 ÍF. 27. 
1 The history of Garcia's captivity is defectivo. His epitaph says that 

he was taken by stratagem. The Castle of Luna was in Alfonso's do-

12 

4 2 . 
on. 
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BOOK X V . When King Don Sancho had done this he took 
11 • Unto himself the kingdom of Galicia and of Portugal, and 

without delay sent to his brother King Don Alfonso, com-
DorTsaSbo manding him to yield up to him the kingdom of León, for it 
agSnst his was his h j right. At this was the King of León troubled at 
¿Tfonso. heart; howbeit he answered that he would not yield up his 

kingdom, but do his utmost to defend it . Then King Don 
Sancho entered León, slaying and laying waste before him, 
as an army of infidels would have done; and King Don 
Alfonso sent to him to bid him cease from this, for it was 
inhuman work to ki l l and plunder the innocent: and he de-
fied him to a pitched battle, saying that to whichsover God 
should give the victory, to him also would he give the king­
dom of L e ó n : and the King of Castille accepted the de-
fiance, and a day was fixed for the battle, and the place was 
to be Lantada, which is near unto Carrion. The chief 
counsellor of King Don Alfonso was Don Pero Ansures, a 
notable and valiant knight, of the oíd and famous stock of 

minions, and from henee Sandoval infers that he aided Sancho. Ber-
ganza adduces two early M S S . to prove that Sancho set him fres, and 
that he was afterwards taken by Alfonzo ; and it should be remarked in 
corroboration of his opinión, that the Archbishop Rodrigo makes the defeat 
and flight of Alfonso anterior to Garcia's capture : but whether or not 
Alfonso assisted one brother in ruining the other, he profited by the 
crime. Seventeen years after his own succession he suffered Garcia to 
remain a prisoner and in chains. A t the end of that time Garcia fell sick 
and desired to be bled. The King then either felt or aífected compassion, 
and ordered his brother's irons to be taken off. But Garcia would not 
submit to this tardy and unavailing humanity ; he knew that his sickness 
was mortal, and said that as he had worn those irons so long, he would 
die in them, and all that he requested of his brother now, was that he 
might be buried in them. This was not refused, and he was buried in his 
chains beside the King his father, in the church of St. Isidro, at León. 
Chronica General, ff. 234. 

His monument represents him in these fetters. This is the epitaph : 
H . R Dmnus Garcia Rex Por lugala et Galicim, filius Regís M a g n i Fer-
dinandi : hic ingenio capíus a f ra t re suo, i n vinculis obiit. E r a M.C.XXVIII. 
XI K a l . Apr i l i s . Sandoval, ff. 27. 
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the Ansures, Lords of Monzón, which is nigh unto Falencia ; BOOK 

the same who in process of time was Count of Carrion and — 
of Saldaña and Liebana, and L o r d of Valladolid, a city 
which was by him greatly increased. This good knight 
commanded the army of his King Don Alfonso, and on the 
part of King Don Sancho carne Ruydiez the Cid. Both 
Kings were in the field that day, and full hardily was the 
battle contested, and great was the mortality on either side, 
for the hatred which used to be between Moors and Ghris-
tians was then between brethren. And that day also was 
the saying of Arias Gonzalo fulfilled. But in the end the chr. del 
skill and courage of my Cid prevailed, and King Don A l - chr '^Gea! 

fonso was fain to avail himself of his horse's feet to save f̂ n2d0o\;al 
himself. ff- ^ 

X V I . Nevertheless the power of King Don Alfonso was ^ y ^ f " 
not yet destroyed, and he would not yield up his kingdom ; pegera. 

and he sent to his brother a second time to bid him battle, 
saying that whosoever conquered should then certainly re-
main King of León ; and the place appointed was at V u l -
pegera, beside the river Carrion. A n d the two armies met 
and joined battle, and they of León had the victory, for my 
Cid was not in the field. A n d King Don Alfonso had pity 
upon the Castilians because they were Christians, and gave 
orders not to slay them ; and his brother King Don Sancho 
fled. Now as he was flying, my Cid came up with his 
green pennon; and when he saw that the King his L o r d 
had been conquered, it grieved him sorely; howbeit he 
encouraged him saying, This is nothing, Sir! to fail or to 
prosper is as God picases. But do you gather together 
your people who are discomfited, and bid them take heart. 
The Leonese and Galegos are with the King your brother, 
secure as they think themselves in their lodging, and taking 
no thought of you; for it is their custom to extol them­
selves when their fortune is fair, and to mock at others, and 
in this boastfulness w i l l they spend the night, so that we 
shall find them sleeping at break of day, and wi l l fall upon 
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BOOK them. And it carne to pass as he had said. The Leonese 
IL lodged themselves in Vulpegera, taking no thought of their 

enemies, and setting no watch ; and Euydiez aróse be-
times in the morning and fell upon them, and subdued 
them before they could take their arms. King Don A l -

Chr. del fonso fle¿ to the town of Carrion. which was three leagues 
Cid. cap. 7 < 0 
j f : 45- distant, and would have fortified himself there in the 
Chr. Gen. ' 
ff. 210. Church of St. Mary, but he was surrounded and constramed 
Sandoval. J ' 

ff. 29. to yield. 
How the X V I I . Now the knights of Leon gathered together in 
ered King' their flight, and when they could not find their King they 
SS San" were greatly ashamed, and they turned back and smote the 

Castilians; and as it befell, they encountered King Don 
Sancho and took him prisoner, not having those in his com-
pany whom he should have had, for his people considered 
the victory as their own, and all was in confusión. A n d 
thirteen knights took him in their ward, and were leading 
him away, — but my Cid beheld them, and galloped after 
them : he was alone, and had no lance, having broken his 
in the battle. And he came up to them and said, Knights, 
give me my Lord , and I wi l l give unto yon yours. They 
knew him by his arms, and they made answer, Ruydiez, 
return in peace and seek not to contend with us, otherwise 
we w i l l carry yon away prisoner with him. And he waxed 
wroth and said, Give me but a lance and I w i l l , single as I 
am, rescue my Lord from all of ye : by God's help I wi l l 
do it. And they held him as nothing, because he was but 
one, and gave him a lance. But he attacked them there-
with so bravely, that he slew eleven of the thirteen, leaving 
two only alive, on whom he had mercy ; and thus did he 

Cid rapáis. rescue tlie King. And the Castilians rejoiced greátly at the 
Chr.^Gen. King's deliverancc : and King Don Sancho went to Burgos, 
A. D. 1072. an(i took with him his brother prisoner. 
How King X V I I I . Great was the love which the Infanta Doña 
íbnso fled Urraca bore to her brother King Don Alfonso, and when 
Moorl slie lieard that 116 was made prisoner, she feared lest he 
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should be put to death : and she took with her the Count BOOK 

Peransures, and went to Burgos. A n d they spake with the. 
Cid, and besought him that he would join with them, and 
intercede Avith the King that he should reléase his brother 
from prison, and let him become a monk at Sahagun. F u l l 
willing was the Cid to serve in anything the Infanta Doña 
Urraca, and he went with her before the King. And she 
knelt down before the King her brother, and besought mercy 
for Don Alfonso, his brother and hers. A n d the King took 
her by the hand, and raised her from her knees, and made 
her sit beside him, and said unto her, Now then, my sister, 
say what you would have. And she besought him that he 
would let their brother Don Alfonso take the habit of St. 
Benedict, in the royal Monastery of Sahagun, and my Cid, 
and Count Peransures and the other chief persons who were 
there present, besought him in like manner. And the King 
took my Cid aside, and asked counsel of him what he 
should do ; and the Cid said, that i f Don Alfonso were wi l ­
ling to become a Monk, he would do well to set him free 
upon that condition, and he besought him so to do. Then 
King Don Sancho, at my Cid's request, granted to Doña 
Urraca what she had asked. And he released King Don 
Alfonso from prison, and Don Alfonso became a Monk in 
the Monastery at Sahagun, more by forcé than of free wi l l . 
And being in the Monastery, he spake with Don "Peransures, 
and took counsel with him, and fled away by night from the 
Monks, and went. among the Moors to King Alimaymon of 
Toledo. And the Moorish King welcomed him with a good Chr ^ 
wi l l , and did great honor to him, and gave him great posses- ^-0^?-42* 
sions and many gifts. ff. 211. 

X I X . When Doña Urraca knew that hér brother King of the 
Don Alfonso had fled to Toledo, she sent to him three good whkhSAlo­
men of the kingdom of León, that they should be his coun- SXto 
sellors, for she loved him well. These were Don Pero Stó̂ ín 
Ansures, and Don Ferran Ansures, and Don Gonzalo An-
sures, all three brethren: and they went with King Don 
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BOOK Sancho's permission, for it was God's pleasure. Now A l i -
IL maymon rejoiced in the King Don Alfonso, and lo ved him 

as i f he had been his own son. And Don Alfonso made a 
covenant with him to love him and defend him and serve 
him alway, so long as he should remain with him, and not 
to depart from him without his leave; and the King cove-
nanted on his side to love him and honor him, and defend 
him to the utmost of his power. A n d Alimaymon ordered 
fair palaces to be edified for him, by the wall of the Alcázar, 
on the outer part, that the Moors of the city might do no 
displeasure neither to him ñor to his companions : and they 
were hard by a garden of the King's, that he might go out 
and disport himself therein whensoever it pleased him. 
And for these things King Don Alfonso loved to serve King 
Alimaymon. Nevertheless when he saw the great honor 
of the King of Toledo, and how powerful he was, and that 
he was the L o r d of so great chivalry, and of the noblest 
city which had belonged unto the Gothic Kings, from whom 
he himself was descended, it grieved him in his heart to see 
that city in the hand of the Moors: and he said within his 
heart, Lord God and Father Jesús Christ, it is wholly in 
thy power to give and to take away, and right it is that thy 
w i l l should be done, even as thou hast done it to me, to 
whom thou gavest a kingdom, and it was thy w i l l to take 
it away from me, and thou hast made me come hither to 
serve the enemies who were at the service of the King my 
father. Lord , I put my hope in thee that thou wil t deliver 
me from this servitude, and give me a land and kingdom 
to command, and that thou wilt show unto me such favor 
that this land and this city shall by me be won, that thy holy 
body may be sacrificed in it to the honor of Christendom. 
This prayer he made with great devotion and with many 
tears; and the Lord God heard him, as hereafter you shall 
hear in this history. I n those days King Alimaymon was 
at war with other Moorish Kings his enemies, and King 
Don Alfonso fought against them on his side, and did such 
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good service that he quelled their power, and they durst BOOK 

no longer oífend him. A n d in time of peace Don Alfonso — 
and his companions went fowling along the banks of the 
Tagus, for in those days there was much game there, and 
venison of all kinds; and they killed venison among the 
mountains. And as he was thus sporting he carne to a 
place which is now called Brihuega, and it pleased him 
well, for it was a fair place to dwell in, and abounded with 
game, and there was a dismantled castle there, and he 
thought that he would ask the King for this place. And he 
returned to Toledo and asked it of the King, and King 
Alimaymon gave it him, and he placed there his huntsmen 
and his fowlers who were Christians, and fortified the place 
as his own. A n d the lineare of these people continued Chr. del 

0 ¡ , Cid. cap. 
there t i l l Don Juan, the third archbishop of Toledo, en- 48. 4.9. 

• r o, -r, i ' Chr Gen. 

larged it, and peopled the parish of St. Pedro. ff. 211. 
X X . I t came to pass after this that both the Kings oneofthetalk 

day came out of Toledo, and past over the bridge of Alean- Moorsheid, 

tara, and went into the royal garden to disport themselves ma^nerTo-

therein and take their pleasure. A n d at evening Don A l - ĵ e °akenld 

fonso lay down upon a bed to sleep, and King Alimaymon 
fell in talk with his favorites concerning his city of Toledo, 
how strong it was and how well provided with all things, 
and that he feared neither war of Moor ñor Christian against 
i t ; and he asked them i f it could by any means be lost in 
war. Then one of them answered and said, Sir, i f yon 
would not hold it i l l , I would tell yon how it might be lost, 
and by no other manner in the world could it be so. And 
the King bade him say on. A n d the favorite then said, I f 
this city were beset for seven years, and the bread and the 
wine and the fruits should be cut down year by year, it Avould 
be lost for lack of food. A l l this King Don Alfonso heard, 
for he was not sleeping, and he took good heed of it. Now 
the Moors knew not that he was lying there. And when 
they had thus spoken Alimaymon aróse to walk in the palace, 
and he saw King Don Alfonso lying there as i f he were 
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BOOK 
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Chr. del 
Cid.cap.50 

How Al i -
maymon 
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King Don 
Alfonso. 

sleeping: and it troubled him, and he said to his favorites, 
W e did not heed Alfonso who is lying there, and has heard 
all that we have said. And the favorites made answer, 
K i l l him, Sir. But the King said, How shall I go against 
my true promise ? Moreover he sleepeth, and peradventure 
hath heard nothing. And they said to him, Wou ld you 
know whether or not he sleepeth ? A n d he answered, Yea : 
and they said, Go then and wake him, and i f he have driv-
eled he hath slept, but i f not, he hath been awake, and hath 
heard us. Then King Don Alfonso immediately wetted the 
pillow,1 and feigned himself hard to be awakened, so that 
Alimayrnon thought he slept. : 

X X I . And when the Eáster of the Sheep1 was come, 
which the Moors celébrate, the King of Toledo went out of 
the city to k i l l the sheep at the place accustomed, as he was 

1 Garibay relates with due discredit an oíd story, in which Alfonso is 
p\it to a more painful proof. To try whether he is really asleep, they 
propose to pour melted lead upon his hand ; he resolutely lets the proof 
be made, and his hand is burnt through, frorawhence, it is added, he was 
callad E l de la mano oradada, — he of the pierced hand. But this appel-
lation was in reality given him for his liberality, como oy día dezimos ma-
niroio, a los que mucho gastan, como lo noto bien Alcocer sobre el mesmo 
punto. L . 11. C. 12. The Chronica GeneraZ has neither of these stories. 

2 The Bairem of the Turks . " This festival consisteth of fonr days 
successively, days of satisfaction, rejoicing, and content, wherein both 
soul and body are exhilarated. This sacrifice must be of a creature law-
fully to be eaten, elected frorn the drove or flock of those who have 
them, or purchased by those who have none of their own ; and it ought 
tobe in good case, sound and healthy,and the ceremony performed at 
the hour of Adoah, (in the forenoon, when the sun is half way advanced 
towards the meridian,) the feet of the victim fast tied, the head to the 
Kebla, and when the weapon passeth over the creature's throat, Bismil -
lah Al lahu Akbar must be pronounced aloud. I f possible this ought to 
be performed in a clear unpolluted place, rather in prívate than other-
wise, and accompanied with fumigations of odoriferous drugs. This 
must be constanlly observed once a year on this day, and every Mussul-
man must then sacrifice a sheep if he is able, or if not, that which he 
can most conveniently procure ; for God receiveth and accepteth of offer-
ings according to the intention with which they are rendered by the 
offerer." Morgan's Mahometism Ewplained, Val. 2. P . 188. 
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wont to do, and King Don Alfonso went w i t h h i m . BOOK 
Now Don Alfonso was a goodly personage and of fair 
demeanor, so that the Moors liked him well. And as 
he was going by the side of the King, two honorable 
Moors followed them, and the one said unto the other, H o w 
fair a knight is this Christian, and of what good customs ! 
well doth he deserve to be the lord of some great land. 
And the other made answer, I dreamed a dream last night, 
that this Alfonso entered the city riding upon a huge boar, 
and many swine after him, who rooted up all Toledo with 
their snouts, and even the Mosques therein : Certes, he w i l l 
one day become King of Toledo. And while they were 
thus communing every hair upon King Don Alfonso's head 
stood up erect, and Alimaymon laid his hand upon them to 
press them down, but so soon as his hand was taken offthey 
rose again ; and the two Moors held it for a great token, and 
spake with each other concerning it, and one of King A l i -
maymon's favorites heard all which they said. And after 
the sheep had been sacrificed they returned into the city, and 
the favorite told the King what he had heard the two Moors 
say; and the king sent for them forthwith, and questioned 
them, and they repeated to him what they had said, even as 
ye have heard. A n d King Alimaymon said unto them, 
What tlien shall I do ? and they made answer, that he should 
put Don Alfonso to death ; but the King replied, that this 
he would not do, ñor go against the trae promise which he 
had given him, but that he would so deal that no evil should 
ever come towards himself from Alfonso. So he sent for 
Don Alfonso and bade him swear that he would never come 
against him, ñor against his sons, and that no evil should 
come against them from him ; and King Don Alfonso did as 
Alimaymon required, and did him homage to this eífect. 
And thenceforth was the King of Toledo more secure of him, 
and held him even in greater favor than before. A l l this Chr del 
while did King Don Alfonso govern himself by the advice of Cid.cap.si. 
Count Peransures, who alway advised him discreetly and well. ff. 211. 

13 
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BOOK X X I I . But when King Don Sancho heard how his 
IL brother had fled from the Monastery, he dre^v out his host 

DoiTsS^ and went against city of León. The Leonese would 
ed^mseif ^ n kave maintained the city against him, but they could 
King of the not an¿ jjg too^ city 0f León, and all the towns and 
three king- l c 

doms. castles which had been under the dominión of his brother 
King Don Alfonso. And then he put the crown upon his 
head, and called himself King of the three kingdoms. He was 
a fair knight and of marvellous courage, so that both Moors 
and Christians were dismayed at what they saw him do, for 
they saw that nothing which he willed to take by forcé 
could stand against him. A n d when the Infanta Doña 
Urraca, and the men of Zamora, saw that he had quiet pos-
session of both his brothers' kingdoms, they feared that he 
would come against them and disherit his sister also. A n d 
for this reason they took Don Arias Gonzalo to be their 
chief captain, Doña Urraca's foster-father, that by his means 
they might protect themselves, i f need should be. And i t 
came to pass as they had feared, for King Don Sancho knew 
that his sisters greatly loved Don Alfonso, and he thought 
that by their counsel he had fled from the Monastery, espe-
cially by Doña.Urraca 's , because Don Alfonso guided him­
self in all things by her counsel, holding her in place óf a 
mother, for she was a lady of great understanding. "And he 
went forth with his army, and took from the Infanta Doña 
Elvira the half of the Infantazgo which she possessed, and 
also from Doña Urraca the other half. And he went 
against Toro, the city of Doña Elvira, and took it ; and 
then he went to Zamora to Doña Urraca, bidding her yield. 
him up the city, and saying that he would give her lands as 
much as she required in the plain country. But she returned 
for answer that she would in no manner yield unto him that 
which the King her father had given her ; and she besought 

ff.h2i2en' ^ m tliat 116 w o u ^ su:̂ er ^61" to continué to dwell peaceably 
chr. del therein, saying that no disservice should ever be done against 
Cid. cap. , • i ^ 
62. 53. him on her part. 
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X X I I I . Then King Don Sancho went to Burgos, be- B O O K 

cause it was not the season for besieging a town, being win-
ter. And he sent his letters through all the land, callingDonSaíicho 
upon his vassals to assemble together, upon the íirst day ^ i n s t 

of March, in Sahagun, upon pain of forfeiting his favor. Zamora-
Now though the King was yet but a young man, whose 
beard was but just coming, he was of so great courage that 
the people feared him, and dared not do otherwise than as 
he commanded. And they assembled together in Sahagun 
on the day appointed ; and when the King heard in what 
readiness they were, it gladdened him, and he lifted up his 
hands to God and said, Blessed be thy ñame, O Lord , be-
cause thou hast given me all the kingdoms of my father. 
And when he had said this, he ordered proclamation to be 
made through the streets of Burgos, that all should go forth 
to protect the host and the body of the King their Lord . 
And the day in which they left Burgos, they took up their 
lodging at Fromesta ; and the next day they came to Car-
rion, but the King would not lodge there, and he Avent on to 
Sahagun, where the army awaited him, and took up his 
lodging without the town ; and on the following morning he 
bade the host advance, and they made such speed that in 
three days they arrived before Zamora, and pitched their 
tents upon the banks of the Douro ; and he ordered procla­
mation to be made throughout the host that no harm should 
be done until he had commanded it . And he mounted on 
horseback with his hidalgos, and rodé round the town, and 
beheld how strongly it was situated upon a rock, with strong 
walls, and many and strong towers, and the river Douro 
runningat the foot thereof; and he said unto his knights. Ye chr Gen 
see how strong it is, neither Moor ñor Christian can prevalí ^hfl¿el 
against i t ; i f I could have it from my sister either for money Cid. cap. 
or exchanffe, I should be Lord of Spain. 

Ofthemes-
X X I V . Then the King returned to his tents, and incon- sage which 

tinently he sent for the Cid, and said unto him, Cid, you Sent vo8 
well know how manifoldly you are bound unto me, both by ¡JJf Ur" 
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BOOK nature, and by reason of the breeding which the King my 
IL father gave you ; and when he died he commended you to 

me, and I have ever shown favor unto you, and you have 
ever served me as the loyalest vassal that ever did service to 
his L o r d ; and I have for your good deserts given unto you 
more than there is in a great county, and have made you 
the chief of all my household. Now therefore I beseech 
you as my friend and true vassal, that you go to Zamora to 
my sister Doña Urraca, and say unto her again, that I be­
seech her to give me the town either for a price, or in ex-
change, and I w i l l give to her Medina de Rio-seco, with the 
whole Infantazgo, from Villalpando to Valladolid, and 
Tiedra also, which is a good Castle ; and I wi l l swear unto 
her, with twelve knights of my vassals, never to break this 
covenant between us ; but i f she refuseth to do this I w i l l 
take away the town from her by forcé. Ánd my Cid 
kissed the hand of the King and said unto him, This bid-
ding, Sir, should be for other messenger, for it is a heavy 
thing for me to deliver i t ; for I was brought up in Zamora 
by your father's command, in the house of Don Arias Gon­
zalo, with Doña Urraca and with his sons, and it is not fit-
ting that I should be the bearer of such bidding. And the 
King persisted in requiring of him that he should go, inso-
much that he was constrained to obey his wi l l . And he 
took with him fifteen of his knights and rodé towards Za­
mora, and when he drew nigh he called unto those who kept 
guard in the towers not to shoot their arrows at him, for he 
was Ruy diez of Bivar, who came to Doña Urraca Avith the 
bidding of her brother King Don Sancho. W i t h that there 
came down a Knight who was nephew to Arias Gonzalo, 
and had the keeping of the gate, and he bade the Cid enter, 
saying that he would order him to be well lodged while he 
went to Doña Urraca to know i f she would be pleased to 
see him. So, the Cid went in, and the knight went to the 
Infanta, and told her that Ruydiez of Bivar was come with 
a message from King Don Sancho; and it pleased her well 
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that he should be the messenger, and she bade him come BOOK 

before her that she might know what was his bidding ; and ! 
she sent Arias Gonzalo and the other knights of her party to 
meet him and accompany him. A n d when the Cid entered 
the palace Doña Urraca advanced to meet him, and greeted 
him full well, and they seated themselves both upon the 
Estrado. And Doña Urraca said unto him, Cid, you well 
know that you were brought up with me here in Zamora, in 
the house of Don Arias Gonzalo, and when my father was 
at the point of death he charged you that you should alway 
counsel his sons the best you could. Now therefore tell me 
I beseech you what is it which my brother goes about to do, 
now that he has called up all Spain in arms, and to what 
lands he thinks to go, whether against Moors or Christians. 
Then the Cid answered and said, Lady, to messenger and 
a letter no wrong should be done; give me safe assurance 
and I w i l l tell unto you that which the King your brother 
hath sent me to say. A n d she said she would do as Don 
Arias Gonzalo should advise her. A n d Don Arias answered 
that it was well to hear what the King her brother had sent 
to say : Peradventure, said he, he goeth against the Moors, 
and requires aid of you, which it would be right to give ; and 
for such service I and my sons would go with him, and I 
would give fifteen of my people well mounted and armed, 
and supply them with food for ten years, i f he needed them. 
Doña Urraca then said to the Cid, that he might speak his 
bidding safely. Then said my Cid, the King your brother 
sends to greet you, and beseeches you to give him this town 
of Zamora, either for a price or in exchange; and he 
wi l l give to you Medina de Rio-seco, with the whole 
Infantazgo, from Villalpando to Valladolid, and the good 
castle of Tiedra, and he w i l l swear unto you, with twelve 
, . . . . ^ 7 Chr. Gen. 
knights his vassals, never to do you hurt or harm; but ff. 213. 
i f you wi l l not give him the town, he Avill take it against Gicí.cap.55. 
your wi l l . 
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BOOK X X V . When Doña Urraca heard this she was sorely 
IL grieved, and in her great sorrow she lamented aloud, say-

ofuncii ingj Wretch that I am, many are the evil messages which I 
Urraca0' hacve heard since my father's death! He hath disherited 
held, and j ^ y brother Kins Don García of his kingdom, and taken hirn, 
the answer J 0 . 

which she and now holds him in irons as i f he were a thief or a Moor : 
and he hath taken his lands from my brother King Don 
Alfonso, and forced him to go among the Moors, and live 
there exiled, as i f he had been a traitor ; and would let none 
go with him except Don Peransures and his brethren, whom 
I sent: and he hath taken her lands from my sister Doña 
Elvira against her wi l l , and now would he take Zamora 
from me also ! Now then let the earth open and swallow 
me, that I may not see so many troubles ! A n d with that, 
in her strong anger against her brother King Don Sancho, 
she said, I am a woman, and well know that I cannet strive 
with him in battle; but I wi l l have him slain either secretly 
or openly. Then Don Arias Gonzalo stood up and said, 
Lady Doña Urraca, in thus complaining and making lamen-
tation you do inconsiderately ; for in time of trouble it befits 
us to take thought of what best is to be done, and so must 
we do. Now then, Lady, give order that all the men of 
Zamora assemble in St. Salvador's and know of them 
whether they w i l l hold with you, seeing that your father gave 
them to you to be your vassals. And i f they w i l l hold with 
you, then give not you up the town, neilher for a price, ñor 
in exchange ; but i f they wi l l not, let us then go to Toledo 
among the Moors, where your brother King Don Alfonso 
abideth. A n d she did as her foster-father had advised, and 
it was proclaimed through the streets that the men of 
Zamora should meet in council at St. Salvador's. Arid 
when they were all assembled. Doña Urraca aróse and said, 
Friends and vassals, ye have seen how my brother King 
Don Sancho hath disherited all his brethren, against the 
oath which he made to the King my father, and now he 
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would disherit me also. He hath sent to bid me give him BOOK 
Zamora, either for a price or in exchange. Now concern-
ing this I would know whereunto ye advise me, and i f you 
w i l l hold with me as good vassals and true, for he saith that 
he wi l l take it from me whether I w i l l or no; but i f ye w i l l 
keep my career I think to defend it by God's mercy and 
with your help. Then by command of the council there 
rose up a knight who was called Don Ñuño, a man of 
worth, aged, and of fair speech; and he said, God reward 
you, Lady, this favor which you have shown us in thinking 
good to come to our council, for Ave are your vassals, and 
should do what you command. And we beseech you give 
not up Zamora, neither for price ñor for exchange, for he 
who besieges you upon the rock would soon drive you from 
the plain. The council of Zamora w i l l do yoür bidding, 
and w i l l not desert you neither for trouble ñor for danger 
which may befall them, even unto death. Sooner, Lady, 
w i l l we expend all our possessions, and eat our mules and 
horses, yea sooner feed upon our children and our wives, 
than give up Zamora, unless by your command. And they 
all with one accord confirmed what Don Ñuño had said. 
When the Infanta Doña Urraca heard this she was well 
pleased, and praised them greatly; ánd she turned to the 
Cid and said unto him, You were bred up with me in this 
town of Zamora, where Don Arias Gonzalo fostered you by 
command of the King my father, and through your help it 
was that the King my father gave it unto me to be my in-
heritance. I beseech you help me now against my brother, 
and intreat him that he w i l l not seek to disherit me ; but i f 
he w i l l go on with what he hath begun, say to him that I 
wi l l rather die with the men of Zamora, and they with 
me, than give him up the town, either for price or ex-chr. Gen. 
change. And with this answer did the Cid return untoci^dk 
the King. Cid.cap.56. 

X X V I . When King Don Sancho heard what the Cid ^ 
said, his anger kindled against him, and he said, You have íhre0cidwilh 

http://Cid.cap.56
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BOOK given this counsel to my sister because you were bred up 
11, with her. And my Cid answered and said, Faithfully have 

I discharged your bidding, and as a true vassal. Howbeit, 
O King, I Avill not bear arms against the Infanta your sister, 
ñor against Zamora, because of the days which are past;1 — 
and I beseech you do not persist in doing this wrong. But then 
King Don Sancho was more greatly incensed, and he said 
unto him, I f it were not that my father left you commended 
to me, I would order you this instant to be hanged. But 
for this which you have said I command you to quit my 
kingdom within nine days. A n d the Cid went to his tent in 
anger, and called for his kinsmen and his friends, and bade 
them make ready on the instant to depart with him. And he 
set forth with all the knights and esquires of his table, and with 
all their retainers horse and foot, twelve hundred persons, 
all men of approved worth, a goodly company ; — and they 
took the road to Toledo, meaning to join the King Don A l ­
fonso among the Moors. And that night they slept at Cas­
tro Ñuño. But when the Counts and Ricos-ornes, and the 
other good men of the host saw this, they understood the 
great evil and disservice which might arise to the King, and 
to the land, from the departure of the Cid, who went away 
in wrath. A n d they went to the King and said unto him, 
Sir, wherefore would you lose so good a vassal, who has 
done you such great service ? I f he should go unto your bro-
ther Don Alfonso among the Moors, he would not let you 
besiege this city thus in peace. And the King perceived that 
they spake rightly, and he called for Don Diego Ordoñez, 
the son of Count Don Bermudo, who was the son of the 

11 have ventured to insert in this place the declaration of the Cid that 
he would not bear arms against Zamora, which is nowhere to be found, 
neither in the Chronicles ñor Ballads, though refened to by some, and 
implied in all. This seemed the fittest place, as it would account for the 
•violence of K i n g Sancho's resentment, which would hardly havebeen so 
excitad by the failure of his embassy, oí a mere suspicion that the Cid 
had not faithfully discharged it. 
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Infante Don Ordoño of León, and bade him follow the Cid, B O O K 

and beseech him in his ñame to return ; and whatever cove-
nant he should make it should be confirmed unto h im; and 
of this he ordered his letters of credence to be made out. 
And Don Diego Ordoñez went to horse, and rodé after the 
Cid, and overtook him between Castro Ñuño and Medina 
del Campo. And when it was told unto the Cid that Don 
Diego Ordoñez was coming, he turned to meet him, and 
greeted him well, and asked him wherefore he was come. 
And he delivered the King's bidding, and showed unto him 
his letters of credence, and said unto him that the King be-
sought him not to bear in mind the words which he had 
spoken unto him, being in anger. Then the Cid called to-
gether his kinsmen and friends, and asked them what they 
should do. And they counselled him that he should return 
to the King, for it was better to remain in his land and serve 
God, than to go among the Moors. And he held their 
counsel good, and called for Don Diego, and said unto him 
that he would do the w i l l of the K i n g : and Don Diego sent 
to the King to tell him how he had sped. And when the 
Cid drew nigh unto the host, the King went out with five 
hundred knights to meet him, and received him gladly, and 
did him great honor. A n d the Cid kissed his hand and 
asked him i f he confirmed what Don Diego had said ; and 
the King confirmed it before all the knights who were there 
present, promising to give him great possessions. And when 
they carne to the army great was the joy because of the Cid's 
return, and great were the rejoicings which were made: but 
as great was the sorrow in Zamora, for they who were in the 
town held that the siege was broken up by his departure. gandoval. 

Nevertheless my Cid would not bear arms against the In-chr.3'Gen. 
fanta, ñor against the town of Zamora, because of the days ch?1 dd 
which were past. cid.cap.57. 

X X V I I . A n d the King ordered proclamation to be made How Dona 
throughout. the host that the people should make ready to at- sotad 

tack the town. And they fought against it three days and towí.the 

14 
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BOOK three nights so bravely that all the ditches were filled up^ 
f | and the barbicans thrown down, and they who were within 

fought sword in hajid with those without, and the waters of 
the Douro, as they past below the town, Avere all discolored 
with blood. A n d when Count Don García de Cabra saw 
the great loss which they were suffering, it grieved h im; and 
he went unto the King and told him that many men were 
slain, and advised him to cali off the host that they should no 
longer fight against the town, but hold it besieged, for by 
famine it might soon be taken. Then the King ordered them 
to draw back, and he sent to each camp to know how many 
men had died in the attack, and the number was found to be 
a thousand and thirty. And when the King knew this he 
was greatly troubled for the great loss which he had received, 
and he ordered the town to be beleagered round about, and, 
in this manner he begirt it, that none could enter into it, 
neither go out therefrom; and there was a great famine 
within the town. And when Don Arias Gonzalo saw the 
misery, and the hunger, and the mortality which were there, 
he said to the Infanta Doña Urraca, Yon see, Lady, the 
great wretchedness which the people of Zamora have suífered, 
and do every day sufFer to maintain their loyalty ; now then 
cali together the Council, and thank them truly for what they 
have done for you, and bid them give up the town within 
nine days to the King your brother. And we, Lady, wi l l go 
to Toledo to your brother King Don Alfonso, for we cannot 
defend Zamora; King Don Sancho is of so great heart and 
so resolute, that he w i l l never break up the siege, and I do 
not hold it good that you should abide here longer. And 
Doña Urraca gave orders that the good men of Zamora 
should meet together in Council; and she said unto them, 
Friends, ye well see the resoluteness of King Don Sancho 
my brother; and already have ye suffered much evil and' 
much wretchedness for doing right and loyally, losing kins-
men and friends in my seryice. Ye have done enough, and 
I do not hold it good that ye should perish ; I command ye 
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therefore give up the town to him within nine days, and I BOOK 

wil l go to Toledo to my brother King Don Alfonso. The 
men of Zamora when they heard this had srreat sorrow, be-

i i -t _ ^ * , & , Chr. del 

cause tney nad endured the siege so iong, and must nowcid.cap. 
give up the town at last; and they determined all to go with chr^ Gen. 
the Infanta, and not remain in the town. ff' 214" 

X X V I I I . "When Vellido Dolfos1 heard this, he went t o H o w V e l l i -

Doña Urraca and said, Lady, I carne here t o Zamora t o do ñed out of 
you service with thirty knights, all well accoutred, as you 
know; and I have ser ved you long time, and never have I 
had from you guerdon for my service, though I have de-
manded i t : but now ff you w i l l grant my demand I w i l l re­
lieve Zamora, and make King Don Sancho break up the 
siege. Then said Doña Urraca, Vellido, I shall repeat to 
thee the saying of the wise man, A man bargains well with 
the slothful and with him who is in need; and thus you 
would deal with me. I do not bid thee commit any evil 
thing, i f such thou hást in thy thought; but I say unto you, 
that there is not a man in the world to whom i f he should 
relieve Zamora, and make the King my brother raise the 
siege, I would not grant whatsoever he might require. A n d 
when Vellido heard this he kissed her hand, and went to a 
porter who kept one of the gates of the town, and spake with 
him, saying, that he should open the gate unto him when he 
saw him flying toward it, and he gave him his cloak. Then 
went he to his lodging and armed himself, and mounted his 
horse, and rodé to the house of Don Arias Gonzalo, and 
cried with a loud voice, W e all know the reason, Don Arias 
Gonzalo,' why you w i l l not let Doña Urraca exchange Za­
mora with her brother ; it is because you deal with her as 
with a harlot, like an oíd traitor. When Arias Gonzalo 
heard this, it grieved him to the heart, and he said, I n an 
evil day was I born, that so shameful a falsehood as this 

1 Dolfos is the cormpted patronymic of Ataulpho, the Adolphus of 
modern Germany. 
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BOOK should be said to me in mine oíd age, and there should be 
IL none to revenge me ! Then his sons aróse and armed them-

selves hastily, and went after Vellido, who fled before them 
toward the gate of the town. The porter when he saw him 
coming opened the gate, and he rodé out and galloped into 
the camp of the King Don Sancho, and the others foliowed 
him t i l l they were nigh the camp, but farther they did not 
venture. And Vellido went to the King and kissed his 
hand, and said unto him these false words with a lying 
tongue : Sir, because I said to the Council of Zamora that 
they should yield the town unto you, the sons of Arias Gon­
zalo would have slain me, even as you have seen. A n d 
therefore come I to you, Sir, and w i l l be your vassal, i f I 
may find favor at your hands. And I w i l l shew you how in 
a few days you may have Zamora, i f God picases; and i f I 
do not as I have said, then let me be slain. And the King 
believed all that he said, and received him for his vassal, and 
did him great honor. And all that night they talked to-
gether of his secrets, and he made the King believe that he 

Cid.cap 60. knew a postern by means of which he would put Zamora 
ffhr2i5Gei1, i n t o h i s h a n d s -

How the X X I X . On the morrow in the morning, one of the 
mora0warn- knights who were in the town went upon the wall , and 
DonSancho cried out Avith a loud voice, so that the greater part of the 
s ínwhich host heard him, King Don Sancho, give ear to what I say; 
was desiga-1 am a knight and hidalgo, a native of the land of Santiago ; 

and they from whom I spring were true men and delighted 
in their loyalty, and I also wi l l live and die in my truth. 
Give ear, for I would undeceive you, and tell you the truth, 
i f you w i l l believe me. I say unto you, that from this town 
of Zamora there is gone forth a traitor to k i l l you; his ñame 
is Vellido Dolfos; he is the son of Adolfo, who slew Don 
Ñuño like a traitor, and the grandson of Laino, another 
traitor, who killed his gossip and threw him into the river; 
and this is as great a traitor as the rest of his race ; look to 
yourself therefore and take heed of him. I say this to you, 
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that i f peradventure evil should befall you by this traitor, BOOK 
it may not be said in Spain that you were not warned. 
against him. Now the ñame of this knight was Bernal 
Diañez de Ocampo. A n d the men of Zamora sent also to 
the King to bid him beware of Vellido, and the King took 
their warning in good part, and sent to say unto them, that 
when he had the town he would deal bountifully with them, 
for this which they had done; nevertheless he gave no heed 
to the warning. And Vellido, when he heard this, went to 
the King, and said, Sir, the oíd Arias Gonzalo is full crafty, 
and hath sent to say this unto you, because he knows that by 
my means you would have won the town. And he called 
for his horse, feigning that he would depart because of what 
had been said. But the King took him by the hand, and 
said, Friend and vassal, take no thought for this ; I say 
unto you, that i f I may have Zamora, I w i l l make you chief 
therein, even as Arias Gonzalo is now. Then Vellido Sandova] 
kissed his hand and said, God grant you life, Sir, for many ^ 4 - ^ ' 
and happy years, and let you fulfil what you desire. But Cid.ca^ei. 
the traitor had other thoughts in his heart. íf. 215. 

X X X . After this Vellido took the King apart and said How King 
to him, I f it please you, Sir, let us ride out together alone; Sasslai?0 
we w i l l go round Zamora, and see the trenches which youby treason-
have ordered to be made ; and I wi l l show unto you the 
postern which is called the Queen's, by which we may enter 
the town, for it is never closed. When it is night you shall 
give me a hundred knights who are hidalgos, well armed, 
and we w i l l go on foot, and the Zamorans because they are 
weak with famine and misery, w i l l let us conquer them, and 
we w i l l enter and open the gate, and keep it open t i l l all 
your host shall have entered i n ; and thus shall we win the 
town of Zamora. The King believed what he said, and 
they took horse and went riding round the town, and the 
King looked at the trenches, and that traitor showed him the 
postern whereof he had spoken. And after they had ridden 
round the town the King had need to alight upon the side 
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BOOK of the Douro and go apart; now he carried in his hand a 
,IL üght hunting spear which was gilded over, even such as the 

Kings from whom he was descended were wont to bear ; 
and he gave this to Vellido to hold it while he went aside, 
to cover his feet. And Vellido Dolíbs, when he saw him 
in that guise, took the hunting spear and thrust it between 
his shoulders, so that it went through him and carne out at 
his breast. A n d when he had stricken him he turned the 
reins and rodé aŝ  fast as he could toward the postern; this 
was not the first treason which he had committed, for he 
had killed the Count Don Ñuño treacherously. Now it 
chanced that the Cid saw him riding thus, and asked him 
wherefore he fled, and he would not answer ; and then the 
Cid understood that he had done some treason, and his 
heart misgave him that he had slain the King ; and he called 
in haste for his horse, but while they were bringing it, Vel­
lido had ridden far away; and the Cid being eager to fol-
low him, took only his lance and did not wait to have his 
spurs buckled on. And he followed him to the postern and 
had well nigh overtaken him, but Vellido got in ; and then 
the Cid said in his anger, Cursed be the knight who ever 
gets on horseback without his spurs. Now in all the feats 
of the Cid never was fault found in him save only in this, 
that he did not enter after Vellido into the town; but he 
did not fail to do this for cowardice, neither for fear of 
death, or of imprisonment j but because he thought that 
peradventure this was a device between him and the King, 
and that he fled by the King's command; for certes, i f he 

Cid'cap.es. ki:iown ^ a t the King was slain, there was nothing 
ffh2i5Gen* w ^ c ^ w o u ^ have prevented him from entering the town, 
Saadoval, and slaying the traitor in the streets, thereright. 
How Veili- Now the history saith, that when Vellido Dolfos 

fledDt0olfDS had g0t within the postern, he was in such fear both of those 
Urraca for who- were in the town and of those who were without, that 
protection. , i i -, , 

he went and placed himself under the mantle of the Infanta 
Doña Urraca. And when Don Arias Gonzalo knew this. 
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he went unto the Infanta and said, Lady, I beseech you that BOOK 

you give up this traitor to the Castilians, otherwise be sure , 
that it wi l l be to your own harm ; for the Castilians wi l l im-
peach all who are in Zamora, and that w i l l be greater dis­
honor for you and for us. And Doña Urraca made answer, 
Counsel me then so that he may not die for this which he 
hath done. Don Arias Gonzalo then answered, Give him 
unto me, and I w i l l keep him in custody for three days, 
and i f the Castilians impeach us we w i l l deliver him into 
their hands ; and i f they do not impeach us within that 
time, we w i l l thrust him out of the town so that he shall 
not be seen among us. A n d Don Arias Gonzalo took him Chr del 
from thence, and secured him with double fetters, and Cid.cap.63. 

guarded him well. ff- 216-
X X X I I . Meantime the Castilians went to seek their Of the 

deata oí 

King, and they found him by the side of the Douro, where the King. 
he lay sorely wounded, even unto death ; but he had not 
yet lost his speech, and the hunting spear was in his body, 
through and through, and they did not daré to take it out, 
lest he should die immediately. And a master of Burgos 
came up, who was well skilled in these things, and he sawed 
off the ends of the spear, that he might not lose his speech, 
and said that he should be confessed, for he had death within 
him. Then Count Don Garcia de Cabra, the curly-haired 
one of Grañon, said unto him, Sir, think of your soul, for 
you have a desperate wound. And the King made answer, 
Blessed be you, Count, who thus counsel me, for I perceive 
that I am slain : the traitor Vellido has killed me, and I 
well know that this was for my sins, because I broke the 
oath which I made unto the King my father. And as the 
King was saying this the Cid came up and knelt before him 
and said, I , Sir, remain more desoíate than any other of 
your vassals, for for your sake have I made your brethren 
mine enemies, and all in the world who were against you, 
and against whom it pleased you to go. The King your 
father commended me to them as well as to you, when he 

http://Cid.cap.63
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BOOK divided his kingdoms, and I have lost their love for your 
IL sake, having done them great evil. A n d now neither can I 

go before King Don Alfonso, your brother, ñor remain 
among the Christians before Doña Urraca your sister, be-
cause they hold that whatsoever you have done against them 
was by my counsel. Now then, Sir, remember me before 
you depart. The King then commanded that they should 
raise him up in the bed, and the Counts and Eicos-omes 
stood round about him, and the Bishops and Archbishops 
who had come thither to make accord between him and his 
sister Doña Urraca, and they heard what the Cid said, and 
knew that he said t ru ly ; for whatever good speed King 
Don Sancho had had in his doings was all by means of my 
Cid. And the King said unto them, I beseech all ye who 
are here present, Counts and Ricos-omes, and all my other 
vassals, that i f my brother King Don Alfonso should come 
from the land of the Moors, ye beseech him to show favor 
unto you, my Cid, and that he always be bountiful unto 
you, and receive you to be his vassal ; and i f he alway 
doth this and listen unto you, he w i l l not be badly advised. 
Then the Cid aróse and kissed his hand, and all the chief 
persons who were there present did the like. And after this 
the King said unto them, I beseech ye intreat my brother 
King Don Alfonso to forgive me whatever wrong I have 

A. D. 1072. done him, and to pray to God to have mercy upon my soul. 
Oct. 4. whg-Q saj¿ jjg ag^ed for Candle, and pre-

Chr. Gen. ' . . . . N A •, . . 

ff. 216. sently his soul departed. And all who were there present 
cid.'cap.eí. made great lamentation for the King, 
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I . Now w h e n the King was dead, the townsmen w h o BOOK 
were i n the camp forsook their tents and fled, and much d i d 
they lose in their flight ; but the noble Castilians, thinking ÍSved^uf 
rather of what they were bound to do as men who had ™ep̂ tyhóf 
alway preserved their loyalty, like their ancestors before Zamora, 

them, would not depart from Zamora, nor break up the 
siege thereof, but remained bravely before it, though they 
had lost their Lord . And they summoned all the Bishops, 
and took the body of the King and sent it full honorably to 
the Monastery of Oña, and buried him there as beseemed a 
King ; and while one part of the chief men of the host ac-
companied the body, the rest remained in the camp before 
Zamora. And when the prelates and good men had re-
turned to the army, they took counsel together how they 
should proceed against the men of Zamora, for this great 
treason which had been committed. Then Count Don 
Garcia de Cabra aróse and said, Friends, ye see that we 
have lost our L o r d the King Don Sancho ; the traitor Vel­
lido, being his vassal, slew him, and they of Zamora have 
received and harbored him within their walls ; and therefore 
as we think, and as has been said unto us, he did this 

15 
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BOOK treason by their counsel. Now then i f there be one here 
I IL who wi l l impeach them for this thing, we wi l l do whatever 

may be needful that he may come off with honor, and the 
impeachment be carried through. Then Don Diego Or-
doñez aróse, the son of Count Don Ordoño, a man of royal 
lineage and great hardihood ; and he said unto them, I f 
ye w i l l all assent unto this which ye have heard, I w i l l im-

cíd" c í Peach the men of Zamora, for the death of the King our 
64. 65. L o r d : and they all assented, promising to falfil what had 
Sandoval. ^ 

ff. 35. been said. Now my Cid did not make this impeachment 
ff. 217.en* against the people of Zamora, because of the oath which he 
Escobar , , 

Rom.so.si. had sworn. 
How Don I I Then Don Diego Ordoñez went to his lodging and 
doñezSadearmed himself well , and armed his horse also, and mounted 
peachíñent an(1 ro^e toward Zamora. And when he drew nigh unto 

the town, he covered himself with his shield, that they 
might not hurt him from the walls, and began to cry aloud, 
asking i f Don Arias Gonzalo were there, for he would 
speak with him. A squire who was keeping guard upon 
the wall went to Don Arias and told him that there was a 

• knight well armed calling for him, without the walls, and he 
said that i f it pleased Don Arias he would shoot at him with 
a cross-bow, and strike him or k i l l his horse: but Don Arias 
forbade him, saying that he should no ways harm him. 
And Don Arias Gonzalo went with his sons" upon the wall, 
to see who called for him, and he spake to the knight, say­
ing, Friend, what wouldst thou ? And Don Diego Ordoñez 
answered, The'Castilians have lost their L o r d ; the traitor 
Vellido slew him, being his vassal, and ye of Zamora have 
received Vellido, and harbored him within your walls. 
Now therefore I say that he is a traitor who hath a traitor 
with him, i f he knoweth and consenteth unto the treason. 
And for this I impeach the people of Zamora, the great as 
well as the little, the living and the dead, they who now 
are, and they who are yet uhborn; and I impeach the 
waters which they drink, ánd the garments which they put 
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on ; their bread and their wine, and the very stones in : B ^ K 
their walls. I f there be any one in Zamora to gainsay what 
I have said, I w i l l do battle with him, and with God's 
pleasure conquer him, so that the infamy shall remain upon 
you. Don "Arias Gonzalo replied, I f I were what thou say-
est I am, it had been better for me never to have been born ; 
but in what thou sayest thou liest. I n that which the great 
do the little Have no fault, ñor the dead for the deeds of the 
living, which they neither see ñor hear : but setting aside 
these and the things which have no understanding, as to the 
rest I say that thou liest, and I wi l l do battle with thee upon 
this quarrel, or give thee one in my stead. But know 
that you have been i l l advised, in making this impeach-
ment, for the manner is, that whosoever impeacheth a 
Council must do battle with five, one after another, and i f 
he conquer the five, he shall be held a true man, but i f 
either of the five conquer him, the Council is held acquitted 
and he a liar. When Don. Diego heard this it troubled 
h i m ; howbeit he dissembled this right well, and said unto 
Don Arias Gonzalo, I w i l l bring twelve Castilians, and do 
you bring twelve men of Zamora, and they shall swear 
upon the Holy Gospel to judge justly between us, and i f 
they find that I am bound to do battle with five, I w i l l per-
form it. And Don Arias made answer that he said well, and 
it should be so. A n d truce was made for three times nine chr Geni 
days, t i l l this should have been determined and the combat del 

fought. Cid.cap.66, 

I I I . Then when the truce was made, Don Arias Gon- of the matí­

zalo went out from the town into the host of the Castilians, which the 

and his sons with him, and many of the knights of the town, to'be pe^-^ 

and all the Ricos-ornes and knights who were in the hostformecL 
assembled together with them, and consulted what was to 
be done in this impeachment. And they chose out twelve 
alcaldes on the one part, and twelve on the other, who 
should decide in what manner he was bound to perform 
combat who impeached a Council. And the four and tAventy 

http://Cid.cap.66
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BOOK alcaldes accorded concerning what was the law in this case ; 
111' and two of them who were held the most learned in these 

things aróse, the one being a Castilian and the other of Za­
mora, and said that they had found the law as it was written 
to be this : That whosoever impeacheth the Council of a town 
which was a bishop's seat, must do battle with five in the 
field, one after another ; and that after every combat there 
should be given unto him fresh arms and horse, and three sops 

Ch Ge 0^ breac^ an^ a draught either of wine or of water, as he 
íT. ais. ' chose. And in this sentence which the twain pronounced, 
Cid.'cap.69. the other twenty and two accorded. 
How Don I V . On the morrow before the hour of tierce, the four 

sonJfe-and twenty alcaldes marked out the lists upon the sand 
combat fo í beside the river, at the place which is called Santiago, and 
Zamora. jn ^ j^iddie 0f the lists they placed a bar, and ordained 

that he who won the battle should lay hand on the bar, and 
say that he had conquered: and then they appointed a term 
of nine days for the combatants to come to those lists which 
had been assigned. And when all was appointed as ye 
have heard, Don Arias -returned to Zamora, and told the 
Infanta Doña Urraca all that had been done, and she or-
dered a meeting to be called, at which all the men of the 
town assembled. And when they were gathered together, 
Don Arias Gonzalo said unto them, Friends, I beseech ye, 
if there be any here among ye who took counsel for the 
death of King Don Sancho, or were privy thereunto, that 
ye now tell me, and deny it not; for rather would I go 
with my sons to the land of the Moors, than be overeóme in 
the field, and held for a traitor. Then they all replied, that 
there was none there who knew of the treason, ñor had 
consented unto it . A t this was Don Arias Gonzalo well 
pleased, and he bade them go each to his house; and he 
went to his house also with his sons, and chose out four of 
them to do combat, and said that he would be the fifth 
himself; and he gave them directions how to demean 
themselves in the lists, and said, that he would enter 
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first; and if, said he, what the Castilian saith be true, I BOOK 
would die first, not to see the infamy ; but i f what he saith 
be false, I shall conquer him, and ye shall ever be held cid.cap.ro. 
in honor. KÍIT*' ' 

V. When the day appointed was come, Don Arias How Don 
Gonzalo early in the morning armed his sons, and they pJísuaded 

armed him ; and it was told him that Don Diego Ordoñez Srarias011 
was already in the lists. Then he and. his sons mounted batüeSn0 
their horses, and as they rodé through the gates of theirhis stead-
house. Doña Urraca, Avith a company of dames met them, 
and said to Don Arias, weeping, Remember now how my 
father, King Don Ferrando, left me to your care, and you 
swore between his hands that you would never forsake me ; 
and lo ! now you are forsaking me. I beseech you remain 
with me, and go not to this battle; for there is reason 
enough why you should be excused, and not break the oath 
which you made unto my father. And she took hold on 
him, and would not let him go, and made him be disarmed. 
Then came many knights around him, to demand arms of 
him, and request that they might do battle in his stead; 
nevertheless he would give them to none. And he called 
for his son Pedro Arias, who was a right brave knight, 
though but of green years, and who had greatly intreated 
his father before this, that he would suffer him to fight in his 
stead. And Don Arias armed him completely with his 
own hands, and instructed him how to demean himself, 
and gave him his blessing with his right hand, and said 
unto him, that in such a point he went to save the people 
of Zamora, as when our L o r d Jesús Christ came through 

• the Virg in Mary, to save the people of this world, who 
were lost by our father Adam. Then went they into the 
field, where Don Diego Ordoñez was awaiting them, and 
Pedrarias entered the lists, and the judges placed them each Chr Gen 
inhis place, and divided the sun between them, and went^21-»-, 

' Chr. del 
out, leaving them in the lists. Cid.cap.71. 

http://Cid.cap.71
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BOOK V I . Then they turned their horses one against the other, 
and ran at each other full bravely, like good knights. Five 

S m b a t . ^ ^™68 encountered, and at the sixth encounter their 
spears brake, and they laid hands upon their swords, and 
dealt each other such heavy blows that the helmets failed; 
and in this manner the combat between them continued t i l l 
noon. And when Don Diego Ordoñez saw that it lasted so 
.long, and he could not yet conquer him, he caled to mind 
that he was there fighting to revenge his Lord , who had been 
slain by a foul treason, and he collected together all his 
strength. And he lifted up his sword and smote Pedrarias 
upon the helmet, so that he cut through it, and through the 
hood of the mail also, ' and made a wound in the head. 
A n d Pedrarias with the agony of death, and with the blood 
which ran over his eyes, bowed down to the neck of the 
horse; yet with all this he neither lost his stirrups, nor let 
go his sword. And Don Diego Ordoñez seeing him thus, 
thought that he was dead, and would not strike him again ; 
and he called aloud, saying, Don Arias, send me another 
son, for this one w i l l never fulfil your bidding. When Pe­
drarias heard this, grievously wounded as he was, he wiped 
the blood away with the sleeve of his mail, and went fiercely 
against h i m : and he took the sword in both hands, and 
thought to give it him upon his head ; but the blow missed, 
and fell upon the horse, and cut off great part of his nostrils, 
and the reins with i t ; and the horse immediately ran away 
because of the great wound which he had received. A n d Don 
Diego had no reins wherewith to stop him, and perceiving 
that he should else be carried out of the lists, he threw him-
self oíf. And while he did this, Pedrarias fell down dead, 
just without the mark. And Don Diego Ordoñez laid hand 
on.the bar, and said, Praised be the ñame of God, one is 
conquered. A n d incontinently the judges came and took 
him by the hand, and led him to a tent and disarmed him, 
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and gave him three sops,1 and he drank of the Avine and BOOK 
rested awhile. A n d afterwards they gave him other arms, 

Chr. Gen. and a horse that was a right good one, and went with himffi 
to the hsts. g ^ 7 2 . 

V I I . . Then Don Arias Gonzalo called for another son, ofthese-

whose ñame was Diego Arias, and said unto him, To horse ! bat.d com' 

and go fight to deliver this Council and to revenge the death 
of your brother : and he answered, For this am I come 
hither. Then his father gave him his blessing and went 
with him to the lists. A n d the judges took the reins of the 
two champions and led them each to his place, and went out 
and left them in the lists. And they ran against each other 
with such forcé that both shields failed, and in another career 
they bráke their lances. Then laid they hand on their good 
swords, and delivered such blows that their helmets were cut 
away, and the sleeves of the mail. A n d at length Diego 
Arias receivéd such a blow near the heart that he fell dead. 
And Don Diego Ordoñez went to the bar and laid hold on 
it, and cried out to Don Arias Gonzalo, Send me another 
son, for I have conquered two, thanks be to God. Then the 
judges came and said that the dead knight was not yet out 
of the lists, and that he must alight and cast him out. And 
Don Diego Ordoñez did as they had directed him, and 
alighted from his horse and took the dead man by the leg, 
and dragged him to the line, and then letting the leg fall he 
thrust him out of the lists with his feet. And then he went 
and laid hand upon the bar again, saying that he had liefer 
fight with a living man than drag a dead one out of the field. 
And then the judges came to him, and led him to the tent, 
and disarmed him, and gave him the three sops and the 

1 So in one of the Scotch Metrical Romances — 
Thre soppes de mayn 
Thei brought to Schir Gawayn, 
For to confort his brayn, 
The King gared commaunde. 

Sir Gawan and Sir Galaron. 2. x ¡ . 
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BOOK wine, as they had done before, and sent to say to Don Arias 
IIL Gonzalo that this son also was slain, and that he should send 

ff.h2i9Gen- another. 
del„o V I I I . Then Don Arias Gonzalo, in sreat rase and in 

Cid.cap.73. . . 

Of thethird great trouble called for his son "Rodrigo Arias, who Avas a 
h o w ^ w í good knight, right hardy and valiant, the eider of all the 
tennkied" brethren; he had been in many a tournament, and with 

good fortune. A n d Don Arias said unto him, Son, go now 
and do battle with Diego Ordoñez, to save Doña Urraca 
your Lady, and yourself, and the Council of Zamora; and 
i f you do this, in happy hour were you born. Then Rodrigo 
Arias kissed his hand and answered, Father, I thank you 
much for what you have said, and be sure that I w i l l save 
them, or take my death. A n d he took his arms and mount-
ed, and his father gave him his blessing, and went with him 
to the lists ; and the judges took his reins and led him. in. 
A n d when the judges were gone out, they twain ran at 
each other, and Don Diego missed his blow, but Rodrigo 
Arias did not miss, for he gave him so great a stroke with 
the lance that it pierced through the shield, and broke the 
saddle-bow behind, and made him lose his stirrups, and he 
embraced the neck of his horse. But albeit that Don 
Diego was sorely bested with that stroke, he took heart 
presently, and went bravely against him, and dealt him so 
great a blow that he broke the lance in h i m ; for it went 
through the shield and all his other arms, and great part 
of the lance remained in his flesh. After this they laid 
hand to sword, and gave each to the other great blows, 
and great wounds with them. And Rodrigo Arias gave 
so great a wound to Diego Ordoñez, that he cut his left 
arm through to the bone. And Don Diego Ordoñez, when 
he felt himself so sorely wounded, went against Rodrigo 
Arias and delivered him a blow upon the head which cut 
through the helmet and the hood of the mail, and entered 
into his head. When Rodrigo Arias felt himself wound­
ed to death, he let go the reins and took his sword in both 
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hands, and gave so great a blow to the horse of Don Diego B ^ K 
that he cut his head open. And the horse in his agony — 
ran out of the lists, and carried Don Diego out also, and 
there died. And Rodrigo Arias fell dead as he was follow-
ing him. Then Don Diego Ordoñez would have returned 
into the field to do battle with the other two, but the judges 
would not permit this,1 neither did they think good to de­
cide whether they of Zamora were overeóme in this third 
duel or not. And in this manner the thing was left unde-
cided. Nevertheless though no sentence was given, there 
remained no infamy upon the people of Zamora. But bet-
ter had it been for Don Arias Gonzalo i f he had given up 
Vellido to the Castilians, that he might have died the death 
of a traitor; he would not then have lost these three sons, 
who died like good men, in their duty. Now what was the 
end of Vellido the history sayeth not, through the default of 
the Chroniclers ;* but it is to be believed, that because the im-

1 The Emperor Palmerin de Oliva, lest any good knight should some 
day lose the guerdon of his valor, (as Don Diego Ordoñez in this instance) 
encircled the lists at Constantinople with a palisade, sufficiently high ; a 
precaution of which Palmerin of England found the benefil when he and 
his brother and Dramuziando fought with the three giants. The reins of 
his horse were cut, and if it had not been for the palisade he would have 
been carried out of the lists. Palmeir im de Inglaterra, P . 2. C. 94. 

The costume of the Spanish romances is very ill preserved in the va-
rious translations. Every translator seems to have thought himself privi-
leged to make what oraissions and additions he pleased in the manner of 
narration. No trace of the passage to which I have just referred is to be 
found in the English Palmerin. 

2 A l l the Chronicles, Histories and Ballads, are silent as to the fate 
of Vellido Dolfos. A n account however, which is manifestly fabulous, 
is to be found in the interpolations made by an anonymous writer in the 
Sumario de los Reyes de E s p a ñ a por el Despensero* Mayor de la Reyna 
Doña Leonor. 

This fable states that Vellido exacted from Doña Urraca a promise to lie 

^ * His ñame is said by the Marques de Mondejar to been Juan Rodríguez de 
Cuenca. 

16 
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BOOK peachment was not made within three days. Don Arias 
IIL Gózalo thrust him out of the town as Doña Urraca had re-

Chr Gen. 

quested, and that he fled into other lands, peradventure 
among the Moors. And though it may be that he escaped 

fandoval Punishmerit in this world, yet certes he could not escape it in 
ff. 37. hell where he is tormented with Dathan and Abiram, and 
Chr.delCid. . . . ' 

cap. 74. witn Judas tne Traitor, for ever anp. ever. 
How King I X . I n the meantime the Infanta Doña Urraca wrote 
departed letters secretly and sent messengers with them to Toledo 
from Tole" to King Don Alfonso, telling him that King Don Sancho his 

brother was dead, and had left no heir, and that he shonld 
come as speedily as he could to receive the kingdoms. 
And she bade her messengers deliver these privately that 
the Moors might not discover what had taken place, lest 
they should seize upon King Don Alfonso, whom she dearly 
loved. Moreover the Castilians assembled together and 
found that as King Don Sancho had left no son to suc-
ceed him they were bound by right to receive King 
Don Alfonso as their Lord ; and they also sent unto him 
in secret. Howbeit, certain of those spies who discover 
to the Moors whatever the Christians design to do, when 
they knew the death of King Don Sancho, went pre-
sently to acquaint the Moors therewith. Now Don Peran-
sures, as he was a man of great understanding and under-
stood the Arabio tongue, when he knew the death of 
King Don Sancho, and while he was devising how to get 
his L o r d away from Toledo, rodé out every day, as i f to 
with him; — accordingly, after he had coramitted the treason, she had 
him bound hand and foot, put into a sack, tied in it, and laid in her bed, 
where she herself lay down in her clothes and past the night beside 
him. A s soon as it was day-break he was by her orders fastened to 
four wild horses, and so torn in pieces. 

This anonymous interpolator wished to make the Sumario of the Des­
pensero pass for his own, and altered it for that purpose. Many of his 
additions are as fabulous as the one which is here related; and they 
have been singularly mischievous, having misled such truly able men 
and excellent historians as Zurita, Mariana, Garibay, and G i l González 
Davila. 
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solace himself, on the way towards Castille, to see whoín hé BOOK 

might meet, and to learn tidings. And it fell out one day '.— 
that he met a man who told him he was going with news .to . ••.. 
King Alimaymon, that King Don Sancho was dead; and 
Don Peransures took him aside from the road as i f to speak 
to him, and cut off his head. And Peransures returned 
into the road and met another man coming with the same 
tidings to the King, and he slew him in like manner. Ne-
vertheless the tidings reached King Alimaymon. Now Pe­
ransures and his brethren feared that i f the Moor knew this 
he would not let their L o r d depart, but would seize him 
and make hard terms for his deliverance ; and on the other 
hand they thought that i f he should learn it from any other 
than themselves, it would be yet worse. And while they 
were in doubt what they should do, King Don Alfonso, 
trusting in God's mercy, said unto them, When I came 
hither unto this Moor, he received me with great honor, and 
gave to me abundantly all things of which I stood in need, 
even as i f I had been his son ; how then should I conceal 
from him this favor which it hath pleased God to show me ? 
I w i l l go and tell it unto him. But Don Peransures be-
sought him not to tell him of his brother's death. And he 
went to King Alimaymon and said unto him, that he would 
fain go into his own country, i f it pleased him, to help his 
vassals, who stood greatly in need of him, and he besought 
him that he would give him men. The death of King Don 
Sancho he did not make known. And King Alimaymon 
answered that he should not do this, because he feared that 
King Don Sancho his brother would take him. And King 
Don Alfonso said, that he knew the ways and castoms of 
his brother, and did not fear him, i f it pleased the king to 
give him some Moors to help him. Now Alimaymon had 
heard of the death of King Don Sancho, and he had sent to 
occupy the roads and the passes, that King Don Alfonso 
might be stopped i f he should attempt to depart without his 
knowledge. Howbeit he did not fully believe the tidings. 
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BOOK seeing that King Don Alfonso did not speak of it ; and he 
111' rejoiced in his heart at what the King said, and he said unto 

him, I thank God, Alfonso, that thou hast told me of thy 
wish to go into thine own country ; for in this thou hast 
dealt loyally by me, and saved me from that which might 
else have happened, to which the Moors have alway im-
portuned me. And hadst thou departed privily, thou couldst 
ñot have escaped being slain or taken. Now then go and 
take thy kingdom ; and I wi l l give thee whatever thou hast 
need of to give to thine own people, and win their hearts 
that they may serve thee. And he then besought him to 
renew the oath which he had taken, never to come against 
him ñor his sons, but alway to befriend them ; and this 
same oath did the King of Toledo make unto him. Now 
Alimaymon had a grandson whom he dearly loved, who 
was not named in the oáth, and King Don Alfonso there-
fore was not bound to keep it towards him. And King 
Don Alfonso made ready for his departure, and Alimay­
mon and the chief persons of the court went out from the 

chr. del eity with him, and rodé with him as far as the Sierra del 
Chr^Ge'n7' ^^g011) which is now called Valtome ; and he gave him 
ff. 217^218. oreat gifts, and there they took leave of each other with 
Rod. Tol. o o J 

l . 6. c. 20. great love. 
How íhe X . As soon as King Don Alfonso arrived at Zamora", he 
not kiss the pitched his tents in the field of Santiago, and took counsel 
hand.8 "with his sister. And the Infanta Doña Urraca, who was a 

1 The Chronicle of the Cid relates this differently ; that Alimaymon, 
after giving him leave to depart, detained him day after day, upon va-
rious pretexts, and that at last Alfonso and his followers let themselves 
down from the eastle by ropes, and escaped in the night. In the morn-
ing Alimaymon asked his favorites if they knew why Alfonso was in such 
haste to depart, and they said they thought his brother was dead; upon 
which he sent to seize him, meaning to detain him prisoner. 

I have preferred the Archhishop Rodrigo's account, because, if the 
previous narrative be authentic, Alfonso knew that the rqads were guarded 
to prevent his flight, and because, by the after transactions between him 
and Alimaymon, it is evident that they parted in friendship. 
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right prudent lady and a wise, sent letters throughout Üie B ^ K 
land, that a Cortes should assemble and receive him for their 
Lord. And when the Leonese and the Gallegos knew that 
their Lord King Don Alfonso was come-, they were full 
joyful, and they carne to Zamora and received him for their 
Lord and King. And afterwards the Castilians arrived, and 
they of Navarre,1 and they also received him for their L o r d 
and King, but upon this condition, that he should swear that 
he had not taken counsel for the death of his brother King 
Don Sancho. Howbeit they did not come forward to re­
ceive the oath, and they kissed his hands in homage, all, 
save only Ruydiez, my Cid. And when King Don Alfonso 
saw that the Cid did not do homage and kiss his hand, as 
all the other chief persons and prelates and Councils had 
done, he said, Since now ye have all received me for your 
Lord, and given me authority over ye, I would know of the 
Cid Euydiez why he wi l l not kiss my hand and acknow-
ledge me ; for I would do something for him, as I promised 
unto my father King Don Ferrando, when he commended 
him to me and to my brethren. And the Cid aróse and 
said, Sir, all whom you see here present, suspect that by 
your counsel the King Don Sancho your brother carne to 
his death ; and therefore, I say unto you that, unless you 
clear yourself of this, as by right you should do, I w i l l never 
kiss your hand, ñor receive you for my Lord . Then said 
the King, Cid, what you say picases me w e l l ; and here I 
swear to God and to Saint Mary, that I never slew him, ñor 
took counsel for his death, neither did it picase me, though 
he had taken my kingdom from me. And I beseech ye 
therefore all, as friends and true vassals, that ye tell me how 
I may clear myself. And the chiefs who were present said, 
that he and twelve of the knights who carne with him from Cid.'cap-

Toledo, should make this oath in the Church of St. Gadea 2 Si.7 Gen. 
at Burgos, and that so he should be cleared. ff" 220' 

1 The people of Rioja are meant. 
2 There were in these times, says Garibay, and for many ages after, 
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BOOK X I . So the King and all his company took horse and went 
111' to Burgos. A n d when the day appointed for the oath was 

Of the oath Come, the King went to hear mass in the church of Gadea, 
which the . 0 ' ' 

King Don and his sisters the Infantas Dona Urraca and Doña Elvira 
took. with him, and all his knights. And the King carne forward 

upon a high stage that all the people might see him, and my 
Cid carne to him to receive the oath ; and my Cid took the 
book of the Gospels and opened it, and laid it upon the altar, 
and the King laid his hands upon it, and the Cid said unto 
him, King Don Alfonso, yon come here to swear concerning 
the death of King Don Sancho your brother, that you neither 
slew him ñor took counsel for his death ; say now you and 
these hidalgos, i f ye swear this. And the King and the hi­
dalgos, answered and said, Yea, we swear it. And the Cid 
said, I f ye knew of this thing, or gave command that it should 
be done, may you die even such a death as your brother the 
King Don Sancho, by the hand of a villain whom you trust; 
one who is not a hidalgo, from another land, not a Castilian ; 
and the King and the knights who were with him said Amen. 
And the King's color changed ; and the Cid repeated the 
oath unto him a second time, and the King and the twelve 
knights said Amen to it in like manner, and in like manner 
the countenance of the King was changed again. And my 
Cid repeated the oath unto him a third time, and the King 
and the Knights said Amen; but the wrath of the King was 
exceeding great, and he said to the Cid, Ruydiez, why dost 

particular chuiches in the chief places of these kingdoms, where the 
sacraments of the oath were wont to he taken, for the greater awe and 
terror, when any one had to purge himself by oath from some great and 
atrocious crime, whereof he was accused. Such a church, under the 
advocation of St. Mary Magdalene, there is, he adds, in this town of 
Mondragon, where in times past people used to come from the whole dis-
tiict for such purposes. Some, he adds, are even rememhered in the pre-
sent age. L . 11". C . 13. 

These expurgatory oaths were forbidden by the Leyes de Toro. Ber-
ganza 5. 14. 191. 
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thou thus press me man ? To-day thou swearest me, and 16 Ĵ 15-
to-morrow thou wilt kiss my hand. And from that day íbr-
ward there was no love towards my Cid 1 m the heart of the ÍF. 220. 
Tr-, Chr. del 
King. Cid. cap. 

X I I . After this was King Don Alfonso crowned King 77. 78. 79. 

How Don of Castille, and León, and Galicia, and Portugal; and he "°fonSo 
was ero 
ed King. called himself King and Emperor of all Spain, even as his ̂ 38,^0^' 

father had done before him. And in the beginning of his 
reign he did in all things according to the counsel of the 
Infanta Doña Urraca his sister ; and he was a good King, 
and kept his kingdom so well, that rich and poor alike 
dwelt in peace and security, neither did one man take arms 

1 The Cid when he repeated the oath seems only to have enforced the 
law of Castille. A case of debt might be decided by the oath of the de-
fendant, as ía our Court of Chancery, and he was bound torepeat the oath 
three times : Devele responder fasta la tercera vegada sin refierta; e siV 
refierta la j u r a , es vencido. Fuero Viejo. L i b . 3. T i t . 2. § 7. ^ 9, 

The threat of Urraca, that she would have her brother Sancho slain, 
either secretly or openly, and the escape of Vellido, give some color to 
the suspicion, which all the Castilians, and especially the Cid, entertained. 
They aecused Urraca in the King's epitaph : 

Sanctius f o r m a Paris, etferooc Hedor i n armis 
Clauditur hac tumba, jamfactus pulvis óf umbra; 
Femina mente d i r á , sóror , hunc vi ta expoliavit, 
Jure quidem dernpto nonflevi t , f ratre perempto. 

Rex iste occisus esi proditore, consilio sororis sua Urraca, apud Numantiam 
Civitatem, per manum Bel l i t i Adelfis, magni traditoris, i n era M . C. X . 
Nonis Octobris, rapuit me cursus ab horis. 

Berganza, 5. 13. 184. This author, whose judgment is of great valué 
when there is no miracle, to mislead it, inclines, on the oldest and best 
authorities, to this suspicion, which is strengthened by Alfonso's conduct 
towards Garcia. He who kept one brother so many years in chains, would 
have little scruplein instigating the assassin of another. 

A place of penance was shown in Philip ll . 's time, in the cloisters of a 
church at Bamba near Valladolid, said to have been made by Urraca in 
atonement for having occasioned Sancho's death. The tombs of the sons of 
Arias Gonzalo were also shown there—both, as Morales thinks, without 
any good authority. Morales, 12. 40. 7. 
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BOOK against another, ñor daré to do it , i f he valued the eyes in 
his head. And i f the King was noble and high of lineage, 
much more was he of heart; and in his days justice aboundr 
ed in the land so, that i f a woman had gone alone through-
out the whole of his dominions, bearing gold and silver in 
her hand, she would have found none to hurt her, neither 
in the waste, ñor in the peopled country. The merchants 
and pilgrims also who passed through his lands were so well 
protected, that none durst do them wrong. Never while 
the kingdom was his, had they of his land to do service to 
any other Lord . And he was a comforter of the sorrowful, 
and an increaser of the faith, and a defender of the churches, 
and the strength of the people j a judge without fear ; there 
was not in Spain a consoler of the poor and of those who 
were oppressed, t i l l he carne. Now there was a mortal 
enmity between my Cid and Count Garcia Ordoñez, and in 
this year did my Cid gather together those of his table, and 
all his power, and entered into the lands of Longroño, and 
Navarre, and Calahorra, burning and spoiling the country 
before him. A n d he laid siege to the Castle of Faro and 

rhr Gen ^00^ ^ 1 1 ^ 1̂6 sen^ Hiessengers to the Count his enemy, 
chr doicid to t^at 1̂6 would wait for him seven days, and he 
cap.̂ so.̂  waited. And the mighty men of the land came to the 
ff. 39.42.' Count Don Garcia, but come against my Cid that they 
Cárdena, dared not do, for they feared to do battle with him. 
How King X I I I . I n the second year of the reign of King Don A l -
wenf to"180 fonso, the King of Cordova made war upon Alimaymon 
maymon!7' ^ n g 0^ Tdedo, and did great damage in his land, and held' 

him besieged in Toledo ; and King Don Alfonso drew forth 
a great host and went to help the King of Toledo. When 
Alimaymon knew that he was coming with so great a 
power, he was greatly dismayed, thinking that he came 
against h im; and he sent to remind him of the love and 
the honor which he had shown unto him in the days of his 
brother King Don Sancho, and of the oath which he had 
taken; and to beseech him that he would continué in peace 
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with him. And the King detained his messengers, giving BOOK 

them no reply, and went on advancing into the land, doing 
no hurt therein. And when he carne to Olias, he ordered 
the whole army to halt. And when the King of Cordova 
kneAV that King Don Alfonso was coming, he rose up from ^ ^ 
before Toledo, and fled away, and the men of Toledo pur- Cid.cap.82. 

sued him, and inflicted great loss upon him in his flight. ff. 222. 
X I V . And when the army had halted at Olias, the Kinar How the 

C A Í - , ^ King went 

called for the messengers 01 Alimaymon, and took with him imoToiedo. 

five knights, and rodé to Toledo. And when they came to 
the gate which is called Visagra, the messengers who Avent 
with him made him enter the town, and he sent one of 
them to tell the King that he was there, and went on in the 
mean time towards the Alcázar. And when King A l i -
maymon heard this, he would not wait t i l l a beast should be 
brought him that he might ride, but set out on foot and 
went to meet him ; and as he was going out he met King 
Don Alfonso, and they embraced each other. And the 
King of Toledo kissed King Don Alfonso's shoulder, for 
the joy and pleasure that he had in his heart at seeing h im; 
and he gave thanks to God for what he had done to King 
Don Alfonso, and thanked him also for the truth which 
was in him, in coming thus to his deliverance, and for 
remembering the oath which they had made each to the 
other. And they rejoiced together all that night, and great 
was the joy of the people of Toledo, because of the love 
which King Don Alfonso bore toward their Lord . But 
great was the sorrow in the host of the Castilians, for they 
never thought to see their L o r d again; and they thought Chr del 
that he had committed a great folly in thus putting himself g j 0 ^ ^ . 
into the power of the Moors. ff. 222. 

X V . On the morrow, King Don Alfonso besought King oí:the no-
A T ! 1 i i n l)le deahng 
Alimaymon that he would go and eat with him at Olias, of the King 
and see how he came to help him. And they went both maynípíf 

together with a little company, and when they of the host 
saw their lord they were all right joyful, and the two Kings 

17 

http://Cid.cap.82
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BOOK went through the camp, and they sat down to eat in the 
m ' tent of the King, which was a large one. And while they 

were at meat King Don Alfonso gave order in secret that 
five hundred knights should arm themselves and surround 
the tent. And when the King of Toledo saw these armed 
knights, and that the tent was surrounded, he was in great 
fear, and he asked of King Don Alfonso what it should be ; 
and the King bade him eat, and said, that afterwards they 
would tell him. And after they had eaten, King Don A l ­
fonso said to Alimaymon, Yon made me swear and promise 
when yon had me in Toledo in your power, and no evil 
should ever come against yon on my part: now since I have 
yon in my power I w i l l that yon reléase me from this oath 
and covenant. And the King of Toledo consented to reléase 
him, and besought him to do him no other Avrong, and he 
acquitted him from the promise three times. And when he 
had done this King Don Alfonso called for the book of the 
Gospels, and said unto him, Now then that you are in my 
power, I swear and promise unto you, never to go against 
you, ñor against your son, and to aid you against all other 
men in the world. And I make this oath unto you because 
there was reason why I should have broken that other one, 
seeing that it was made when I was in your hands; but' 
against this I must not go, for I make it when you are in 
mine, and I could do with you even whatever pleased me ; 
and he laid his hands upon the book, and swore even as he 
had said. Right joyful was the King of Toledo at this which 
King Don Alfonso had done, for the loyalty. which he had 
shown towards him. And they remained that night together ; 
and on the morrow Alimaymon returned to his city full gladly, 
and King Don Alfonso made his host move on towards Cor-
dova, and Alimaymon went with h im; and they overran the 
land, and burnt towns and villages, and destroyed castles, and 
plundered whatever they could find ; and they returned each 

Cid ' cap "lto own country with great spoils. And from thenceíbr-
84 85. ward the King of Cordova durst no more attack the King of 
Chr. Gen. 0 
ff. 223. Toledo. 
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X V I . I n the following years nothing is found to be B O O K 

related, save that my Cid did battle by command of the 
King, with a knight called Ximen García de Tiogelos, who Cid won 
was one of the best of Navarre : they fought for the castle ™eas"y bat" 
of Pazluengas, and for two other castles, and my Cid con-
quered him, and the King Don Alfonso had the castles. 
And after this my Cid did battle in Medina Celi, with a 
Moor called Faras, who was a good knight in arms, and he 
defeated and slew him and another also. And in the fifth 
year of the reign of King Don Alfonso, the King sent the 
Cid to the Kings of Seville and of Cordova, for the tribute 
which they were bound to pay him. Now there was at this 
time war between Almocanis King of Seville, and Almun-
dafar King of Granada, and with Almundafar were these 
men of Castille, the Count Don Garcia Ordoñez, and For-
tun Sánchez, the son-in-law of. King Don Garcia of Na­
varre, and Lope Sánchez his brother, and Diego Pérez, one 
of the best men of Castille ; and they aided him all that they 
could, and went against the King of Seville. And when 
my Cid knew this it troubled him, and he sent unto them 
requiring them not to go against the King of Seville, ñor to 
destroy his country, because he was King Don Alfonso's 
vassal ; otherwise the King must defend him. And the 
King of Granada • and the Ricos-omes who were with him, 
cared nothing for his letters, but entered boldly into the land 
of Seville, and advanced as far as Cabra, burning and lay-
ing waste before them. When the Cid saw this, he gathered 
together what Christians he could, and went against them. 
And the King of Granada and the Christians who were 
with him, sent to tell him that they would not go out of the 
country for him. And the wrath of the Cid was kindled, 
and he went against them, and fought with them in the field, 
and the battle lasted from the hour of tierce even until the 
hour of sexts; and man y died upon the part of the King of 
Granada, and at length my Cid overéame them, and made 
them take to flight. And Count Garcia Ordoñez was taken 
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BOOK prisoner, and Lope Sánchez, and Diego Pérez, and many 
IIL other knights, and of other men so many that they were 

out of number ; and the dead were so many that no man 
could count them; and the spoils of the field were very 
great. And the Cid held these good men prisoners three 
days,1 and then set them free, and he returned with great 
honor and great riches to Seville. And King Almocanis 
received him full honorably, and gave him great gifts for 
himself, and paid him the full tribute for the K i n g ; and he 
returned rich to Castille, and with great honor. And King 

cid"cap -^on -^lfonso was weU pleased 2 with the good fortune of 
Chacen ^n a^ ' ^ut ^616 were many who wished i l l 

íf. 223. to him, and sought to set the King against him. 
D o T A f f S X V I I . After this King Don Alfonso assembled together 
so was aii jjjg p0wer and went against the Moors. And the Cid 
made wroth r 0 
•with the ghould have gone with him, but he fell sick and perforce 
Cid, i - i t . * / -\' 

therefore abode at home. And while the King was going 
through Andalusia, having the land at his mercy, a great 
power of the Moors assembled together on the other side, 
and entered the land, and besieged the castle of Gormaz, 
and did much evil. A t this time the Cid was gathering 
strength; and when he heard that the Moors were in the 
country, laying waste before them, he gathered together 

1 I t was a custom that the victor should remain three days upon the 
field of battle, in proof of his victory : and this seems to have been the 
Cid's reason for detaining his prisoners thus long. A disgraceful in-
stance of this custom w i l l be found in the history of Affbnso V . of Por­
tugal , who remained three days upon the field at Alfarrobeira, after he 
had slain the Infante Don Pedro, his únele , guard ián , and father in law, 
the best and ablest man that ever Portugal produced. 

2 I n recompense for these services, Alfonso granted a privilege to the 
Cid , confirming to h im all his possessions, and declaring them free from 
al l imposts : the town of Bivar is especially mentioned. This privilege 
bears date July 28, 1075 ; i t is preserved at Bivar, and in reverence for 
the Cid's memory has been confirmed by all the subsequent kings of Cas-
t i l l e , down to Phil ip V . and is probably continued to this day. Berganza 
5. 14. ^ 196. 



RODRIGO DIAZ DE BIVAR. 133 

what forcé he could, and went after them; and the Moors, B O O K 
. I I I . 

when they heard this, dared not abide his coming, but began '.— 
to fly. And the Cid followed them to Atienza, and to 
Siguenza, and Fita, and Guadalajara, and through the 
whole land of St. Esteban, as far as Toledo, slaying and 
burning, and plundering and destroying, and laying hands 
on all whom he íbund, so that he brought back seven thou-
sand prisoners, men and women ; and he and all his people 
returned rich and with great honor. But when the King of 
Toledo heard of the hurt which he had received at the 
hands of the Cid, he sent to King Don Alfonso to complain 
thereof, and the King was greatly troubled. And then the 
Eicos-omes who wished i l l to the Cid, had the way open to 
do him evil with the King, and they said to the King, Sir, 
Ruydiez hath broken your faith, and the oath and promise 
which yon made to the King of Toledo : and he hath done 
this for no other reason but that the Moors of Toledo may 
fall upon us here, and slay both you and us. And the King 
believed what they said, and was wroth against the Cid, 
having no love towards him because of the oath which he 
had pressed upon him at Burgos concerning the death of ̂ J- del 
King Don Sancho his brother. And he went with all speed to 88. 89.ap' 

Burgos, and sent from thence to bid the Cid come unto him. ff. 224. 
X V I I I . Now my Cid knew the evil disposition of the Hpw the 

. . . . Cl(1 was 
King towards him, and when he received his bidding, he wrongíully 

made answer that he would meet him between Burgos and 
Bivar. A n d the King went out from Burgos and came nigh 
unto Bivar ; and the Cid came up to him and would have 
kissed his hand, but the King withheld it, and said angrily 
unto him, Ruydiez, quit my land. Then the Cid clapt spurs 
to the mulé upon which he rodé, and vaulted into a piece of 
ground which was his own inheritance, and answered, Sir, I 
am not in your land, but in my own. And the King replied 
full wrathfully, Go out of my kingdoms without any delay. 
And the Cid made answer, Give me then thirty days time, 
as is the right of the hidalgos; and the King said he would 
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BOOK not, but that i f he were not gone in nine days time he would 
IIL come and look for him. The Counts were well pleased at 

this; but all the people of the land were sorrowful. And 
then the King and the Cid parted. And the Cid sent for all 
his friends and his kinsmen and yassals, and told them how 
King Don Alfonso had banished him from the land, and 
asked of them who would follow him into banishment, and 
who would remain at home. Then Alvar Fañez , who was 
his cousin-german, carne forward and said, Cid, we w i l l all 
go with you, through desert and through peopled country, 
and never fail you. I n your service w i l l we spend our 
mules and horses, our wealth and our garments, and ever 
while we live be unto you loyal friends and vassals. And 

Chr. del they all confirmed what Alvar Fañez had said ; and the Cid 
89.9o.ap" thanked them for their love, and said that there might come 
ff. 224. á time in which he should guerdon them. 
How the X I X . And as he was about to depart he looked back 
Cid depart-

ed from his upon his own home, and when he saw his hall deserted, the 
being a ba- household chest unfastened, the doors open, no cloaks hang-
man?d ing up, no seats in the porch, no hawks upon the perches, the 

tears came into his eyes and he said, M y enemies have done 
this . . God be praised for all things. And he turned toward 
the. East, and knelt and said, Holy Mary Mother, and all 
Saints, pray to God for me, that he may give me strength to 
destroy all the Pagans, and to win enough from them to re­
quite my friends therewith, and all those who follow and help 
me. Then he called for Alvar Fañez and said unto him, 
Cousin, the poor have no part in the wrong which the King 
hath done us; see now that no wrong be done unto them 
along our road ; and he called for his horse. And then an 
oíd woman who was standing at her door said, Go in a lucky 
minute and make spoil of whatever you wish. And with this 
proverb he rodé on, saying, Friends, by God's good pleasure 
we shall return to Castille with great honor and great gain. 

Chr. del And as they went out from Bivar they had a crow on their 
9ildÍPoeama right hand, and when they came to Burgos they had a crow 
fif¿d v-onthe left. 
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X X . M y Cid Ruydiez entered Burgos, having sixty B ^ K 
streamers in his company. And men and women went forth 
to see him, and the men of Burgos and the women of Bur- Burgalese 

gos were at their windows, weeping, so great was their sor- receke101 

row ; and they said with one accord, God, how good a vas- him" 
sal i f he had but a good L o r d ! and willingly would each 
have bade him come in, but no one dared so to do. For 
King Don Alfonso in his anger had sent letters to Burgos, 
saying that no man should give the Cid a lodging; and that 
whosoever disobeyed should lose all that he had, and more-
over the eyes in his head. Great sorrow had these Christian 
folk at this, and they hid themselves when he came near 
them because they did not daré speak to him ; and my Cid 
went to his Posada, and when he came to the door he found 
it fastened, for fear of the King. And his people called out 
with a loud voice, but they within made no answer. And 
the Cid rodé up to the door, and took his foot out of the stir-
rup, and gave it a kick, but the door did not open with i t , 
for it was well secured ; a little girl of nine years oíd then 
came out of one of the houses and said unto him, O Cid, the 
King hath forbidden us to receive you. W e daré not open 
our doors to you, for we should lose our houses and all that 
we have, and the eyes in our head. Cid, our évil would 
not help you, but God and all his Saints be. with you. And 
when she had said this she returned into the house. A n d 
when the Cid knew what the King had done he turned 
away from the door and rodé up to St. Mary's, and there 
he alighted and knelt down, and prayed with all his heart; 
and then he mounted again and rodé out of the town, and 
pitched his tent near Arlanzon, upon the Glera, that is to 
say, upon the sands. M y Cid Euydiez, he who in a happy 
hour first girt on his sword, took up his lodging upon the 
sands, because there was none who would receive h i m ^ 1 " ^ <¡f-
within their door. He had a good company round about g/^Jj*del 
him, and there he lodged as i f he had been among the 9J- Pr-

0 Gen.n. 224. 
mountams. 
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BOOK X X I . Moreover the King had given orders that no food 
IIL should be sold them in Burgos, so that they could not buy 

CiTseíu to even a Pennyworth. But Martin Antolinez, who was a good 
borrow mo- Burgalese, he supplied my Cid and all his company with 
Jews. bread and wine abundantly. Campeador, said he to the Cid, 

to-night we w i l l rest here, and to-morrow we w i l l be gone ; I 
shall be accused for what I have done in serving you, and 
shall be in the King's displeasure ; but following your for­
tunes, sooner or later, the King w i l l have me for his friend, 
and i f not, I do not care a fig 1 for what I leave behind. 
Now this Martin Antolinez was nephew unto the Cid, being 
the son of his brother. Ferrando Diaz.2 And the Cid said 
unto him, Martin Antolinez, you are a bold Lancier ; I f I 
live I w i l l double you your pay. You see I have nothing 
with me, and yet must provide for my companions. I wi l l 
take two chests and fill them with sand, and do you go in 
secret to Rachel and Vidas, and tell them to come hither 
privately ; for I cannot take my treasures with me, because 
of their weight, and wi l l pledge them in their hands. Let 

Liteially • 

Si non, quanto dexo non lo precio un figo. 
Poema del Cid. V. 77. 

The probable origin of this common phrase I have remarked in a note 
upon Thalaba, Vol. I . p . 309. Ancient Fistol is good authority for its 
Spanish descent. 

2 Diego Laynez, the father of Rodrigo, r iding out when a young man 
upon Santiago's Day, met a woman who was carrying food to her hus-
band at the threshing floor, and forced her. She conceived a son, pro-
ceeded to her husband, and told him what had befallen her ; and she con­
ceived another son by him also, the same day. The child of the knight 
carne into the world first, and was baptized Ferrando Diez. This Don 
Ferrando married the daughter of Antón Antolinez of Burgos, and had 
by her Mart in Antolinez, Fernand Alfonso Pero Bermudez, Alvar Salva­
dores, and Ordoño. Chronica del Cid. Cap. 2. 

•How the son of the knight was distinguished from the son of the peas-
ant, is not specified by the Chronicler. I t was perhaps believed that the 
young Cavallero would insist upon taking precedence. 



ilODRIGO DI-AZ DE BIVAR. 137 

them come for the chests at night, that no msln may see BOOK 
them. G-od knows that I do this thing more of .necessity l — 
than of wilfulness; but by God's good help I shall redeém 
all. Now Rachel and Vidas were rich Jews, from whom 
the Cid used to receive maney for his spoils.1 And Martin 
Antolinez went .in quest of them, and he passed through 
Burgos and entered into the Castle ; and when he saw t-hem 
he said, A h Rachel and Vidas, my dear friends ! now 
let ,me speak with 1 ye in. secret. And they three wént 
apart. And he said to them, Give me your. hands that you 
wi l l not discover me neither to Moor ñor Christian I I w i l l 
make you rich men forever. The Campeador went for the 
tribute and he took great wealth, and some of. it he has kept 
for himself. He has two chests full of gold ; ye know that 
the King is in anger against him, and he cannot carry these 
away with him, without their being seén / He w i l l leave 
them therefore in your hands, and you shall lend him • . 
money upon them, swearing with great oaths and upon your 
faith, that ye w i l l not open them t i l l a year be past. Rachel 
and Vidas took counsel together and answered, W e well , 
knew he got something when he entered the land of the 
Moors ; he who lias treasures does not sleep without suspi-
cion; we.wil l take the chests, and-place them where they 
shaíl not be seen. But tell us with what w i l l the Cid be 
contented,'and what gain w i l l he give us for the year? 
Martin Antolinez answéred, like. a prudent man, M y Cid 
requires what is reasonable ; he w i l l ask but little to leave 
his treasures in safety. Men come to him from all parts. 
He.must have six hundred marks. A n d the Jews said, W e 

" wi l l advance him so much. • "Well then, said Martin Antoli­
nez, ye see that-the night is advancing ; the Cid is in haste, 
give us the marks. This-is not the way of business, said 
they ; we must take first, and then give. • Ye say well, re- • 
plied the Burgalese ; come, then to the Campeador, and we 

Con quien el solia fazer sus manllenas. 
is ... . • ;• 
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BOOK wi l l help you to bring away the chests, so that neither Moors 
IIL ñor Christians may see us. So they went to horse and rode 

out together, and they did not cross the bridge, but rode 
Poema del through the water that no man might see them, and they 
Cid. V . 62 5 , . , J 
—íes. carne to the tent oí the Cid. 
How the X X I I . Meantime the Cid had taken two chests, which 
th^money, were covered with leather 1 of red and gold, and the nails 
l l V e t h e which fastened down the leather were well g i l t ; they were 
chests. ribbed with bands of iron, and each fastened with three locks ; 

they Avere heavy, and he filled them with sand. A n d when 
Rachel and Vidas entered his tent with Martin Antolinez, 
they kissed his hand ; and the Cid smiled and said to them, 
Ye see that I am going out of the land, because of the King's 
displeasure ; but I shall leave something with ye. And they 
made answer, Martin Antolinez has covenanted with us, that 
we shall give you six hundred marks upon these chests, and 
keep them a full year, swearing not to open them t i l l that 
time be expired, else shall we be perjured. Take the chests, 
said Martin Antolinez; I wi l l go with you, and bring back 
the marks, for my Cid must move before cock-crow. So 
they took the chests, and though they were both strong men 
they could not raise them from the ground ; and they were 
full glad of the bargain which they had made. And Rachel 
then went to the Cid and kissed his hand and said, Now, 
Campeador, you are going from Castille among strange na-
tions, and your gain w i l l be great, even as your fortune is. 
I kiss your hand, Cid, and have a gift for you, a red skin ; 
it is Moorish and honorable. And the Cid said, I t picases 
me : give it me i f ye have brought it, i f not, reckon it upon 
the chests. A n d they departed with the chests, and Martin 
Antolinez and his people helped them, and went with 

1 Guadamacel. Tapeium coriaceum pictum 4- deauratum. So called, 
according to Covarrubias, because i t was first manufacturednear the river 
Guadamecí in Andalusia. Hangings of this were used in Spain. Beck-
mann speaks of the ' now old-fashioned leather tapestry.' 
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them. And when they had placed the chests in safety BOOK 
they spread a carpet in the middle of the hall, and laid a 
sheet upon it , and they threw down upon it three hundred 
marks of silver. Don Martin counted them, and took them 
without weighing. The other three hundred they paid in 
gold. Don Martin had five squires with him, and he loaded 
them all with the money. And when this was done he said 
to them, Now Don Rachel and Vidas, yon have got the 
chests, and I who got them for you well deserve a pair of hose. 
And the Jews said to each other, Let us give him a good 
gift for this which he has done ; and they said to him, W e 
wil l give you enough for hose and for a rich doublet and a J°¿mva 

good cloak; you shall have thirty marks. Don Martin ¿g°'c^r* 
thanked them and took the marks, and bidding them both cap. 90. 91. 

' 0 Chr. Gen. 

farewell, he departed right joyfully. ff- 224. 
X X I I I . When Martin Antolinez carne into the Cid's tent g ¿ ^ * t 0 

he said unto him, I have sped well. Campeador ! you have ^•^^t"8, 
gained six hundred marks, and I thirty. Now then strike 
your tent and be gone. The time draws on, and you may 
be with your Lady Wife at St. Pedro de Cárdena, before 
the cock crows. So the tent was stmck, and my Cid and 
his company went to horse at this early hour. And the Cid 
turned his horse's head toward St. Mary's, and with his right 
hand he blest himself on the forehead, and he said, God be 
praised ! help me, St. Mary. I go from Castille because the 
anger of the King is against me, and I know not whether I 
shall ever enter it again in all my days. Help me, glorious 
Virgin, in my goings, both by night and by day. I f you do 
this and my lot be fair, I w i l l send rich and goodly gifts to 
your altar, and w i l l have a thousand masses sung there. 
Then with a good heart he gave his horse the reins. A n d 
Martin Antolinez said to him, Go ye on; I must back to 
my wife and tell her what she is to do during my absence. 
I shall be with you in good time. And back he went to 
Burgos, and my Cid and his company pricked on. The 
cocks were crowing amain, and the day began to break, 
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BOOK when the good Campeador Teached St. Pedro's. The Abbot 
IIL Don SisebutO1 ,was saying matins, and Doña Ximena and 

five of her ladies of good lineage were with him, praying to 
God and St. Peter to help my.Cid. And when he called 
at the gate and they knew his voice, God, what a joyful 
man was the Abbot, Don Sisébuto ! Out into the court yard 
they went with torches aiid with tapers, and the-Abbot gave " 
thanks to God .thát he nbw beheld the face of my Cid. 
And the Cid told him all that had befallen him, and how he 
was a banished man ; and he gave him fifty marks, for. him-
self, and a hundred for Doña Ximena and her children. 
Ábbot, said he, I léave two little girls behind me; whom I 
commend to your care. Take you care of them and bf my 
wife and bf her ladies: when this rnoney be gone, i f it be 
not enough, siipply them abundantly ; for every mark which 
y mi ex'pend upon them I wi l l give the Monastery four. And. 
the Ábbot promised to do this with a right good wi l l . Then 
Doña Ximena carne up and her daughters with her, each of 
them borne in arms, and she knelt down on both her knees 
before her husband,. weeping bitterly, and she would have 
kissed his hand ; and she said to him, L o now you are ban­
ished from the land by mischief-makirig men, and hére ám I 
with your daughters, who are little ones and of tender years, 
and we and you must be parted, even in your life time. 

; For the love of St. Mary tell me now what we shall do. 
And-the Cid took the children in his arms, and held them to 

. his heart and wept, for he dearly loved them. PJease God 
and St.,Mary, said he, I shall yet live. to give these my 
daughters in marriage with my own hands, and to do you 

Poema del service yet, my honored wife, whom I have ever loved, even 
202. 285. as my own soul. 1 

1 On the unquestiqnable authority of Berganza I restore his true ñame 
to the Abbot, who is cálled in the Chronicle and in the Poem, Sancho ;—• 
J.caso, he says by a fortúnate conjecture, por aver enconttado en la His­
toria Lflíwa Sanctus, y después iraduxeron Sancho. 5. 15. ^ 201. 
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X X I V . A great feast did they make that day in the B O O K 

Monastery 'for the-good Campeador, and the bells of St. 
Pedro's rung merrily. Meantime the tidings had gone cf^líf 
throush Castille how my Cid was banished from the land, le?-ye "f,1"8 
and great was the sorrow of the people. Some left their daughters. 

hous'es to follow him, others forsook their honorable offices 
which they held. And that day a hundred and fifteen 
knights assembled at the bridge • of Arlanzon, all in quest of' 
my Cid ; and there Martin Antolinez joined them, and they 
rodé on together to St. Pedro's.- A n d when he of Brrax 
knew what a goodly company were coming to join him, he 
rejoiced in his own strength, and rodé out to meet .them arid • 
greeted them ñill courteously ; and they kissed his hand, and 
he said to them, I pray to God that I may one day requite 
ye well, bécause ye have forsaken your houses and your her-
itages for my sake, and I trust that I shall pay ye twofold. 
Six days of the term allottéd weré now gone, and three only 
remained: i f after that time he should be found within the 
King's dominions, neither for gold ñor for silver could he 
then escape. That day they feasted together, and when -it 
was evening the Cid distributed among them all that he had, 
giving to each man according to what he was ; and he told 
them that they must meet at mass after matins, and depart at 
that early hour. Before the cóck crew they were ready, and 
the Abbot said the mass of the Holy Trinity, and when it 
was done they left the church and went to horse. And my 
Cid embracéd Doña Ximena and his daughters, and blest 
them ; and the parting between them was like separating the 
nail from the quick. flesh : and he wept and continued to 
look round after them. Then Alvar Fañez came up to him 
and said, Where is your courage, my Cid ? I n a good hour 
were you born of woman. Think of our road now ; these 
sorrows w i l l yet be turned into joy. And the Cid spake 
again to the Abbot, commending his family to his care ; — 
well did the Abbot know that he should one- day receive 
good guerdon. And as he took leave of. the .Cid, Alvar 
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BOOK Fañez said to him, Abbot, i f you see any who come to fol-
low us, tell them what route we take, and bid them make 
speed, for they may reach us either in the waste or in the 

Poema del People(i country. And then they loosed the reins and 
234 * 394. pricked forward. 
How the X X V . That night my Cid lay at Spinar de Can, and 
ktogdom of P60?!6 flocked to him from all parts, and early on the mor-
Kjng Don row he set out; Santestevan lay on his left hand, which is a 
Alfonso. ' J 

good city, and Ahilon on the right, which belongs to the 
Moors, and he passed by Alcobiella,' which is the boundary 
of Castille. A n d he went by the Calzada de Quinea, and 
crossed the Douro upon rafts.1 That night, being the 
eighth, they rested at Figeruela, and more adventurers 
carne to join him. And when my Cid was fast asleep, the 
Angel Gabriel appeared to him in a visión, and said, Go 
on boldly and fear nothing ; for everything shall go well 
with thee as long as thou livest, and all the things which 
thou beginnest, thou shalt bring to good end, and thou shalt 
be rich and honorable. A n d the Cid awoke and blessed 
himself; and he crost his forehead and rose from his bed, 
and knelt down and gave thanks to God for the mercy which 
he had vouchsafed him, being right joyful because of the 
visión. Early on the morrow they set forth ; now this was 
the last day of the nine. And they went on towards the 
Sierra de Miedes. Before sunset the Cid halted and took 
account of his company ; there were three hundred lances, 
all with streamers, beside foot soldiers. And he said unto 

Poema del them, Now take and eat, for we must pass this great and 
395.' 42S. wi ld Sierra, that we may quit the land of King Alfonso this 
cid.cap^s. niSht- To-morrow he who seeks us may find us. So they 
ffiSi.®60, Passed the Sierra that night. 

1 Sohre navas de palos al Duero va paser. 
V. 404. 

In the Chronica General, this is made the ñame of a place — Nava de 
Palos. TheChronica del Qrfsays, barca de Palos, agreeing with the Poem, 
which is hetter authority than either. 
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CHRONICLB OF THE CID. 

I . Now hath my Cid left the kingdom of King Don B®®K 
Alfonso, and entered the country of the Moors. And at 
daybreak they were near the brow of the Sierra, and they ckTwon 

halted there upon the top of the mountains, and gave barley of CastU-

to their horses, and remained there until evening. And3011" 
they set forward when the evening had closed, that none 
might see them, and continued their way all night, and 
before dawn they carne near to Castrejon, which is upon the 
Henares. A n d Alvar F a ñ e z said unto the Cid, that he 
would take with him two hundred horsemen, and scour the 
country as far as Fita and Guadalajara and Alcalá, and 
lay hands on whatever he could find, without fear either of 
King Alfonso or of the Moors. And he counselled him to 
remain in ambush where he was, and surprise the castle 
of Castrejon: and it seemed good unto my Cid. Away 
went Alvar Fañez , and Alvar Alvarez with him, and Alvar 
Salvadores, and Galin Garcia, and the two hundred horse­
men ; and the Cid remained in ambush with the rest of his 
company. And as soon as it was morning, the Moors of 
Castrejon, knowing nothing of these who were so near 
them, opened the castle gates, and went out to their work 
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B O O K as they were wont to do. And the Cid rose from ambush 
IV' and fell upon them, and took "all their .flocks, and .made 

straight for the gates, pursüing them. And there was a cry 
within the castle that the Christians were upon them, and 

. . they who were within ran to the gates to defend' them, but 
my Cid came up sword in hand ; eleven Moors did he 

Cid^ . í i s slay with his own hand, ánd they forsook the gate and fled 
chnddcid. before him to hide themselves. within, so that he won the 
cZ' Gen castle presently, and took gold and silver, and whatever else 
ff. 225. ' he w o u l d i • ; 

adsbM J í ' Alvar Fañez meantime scoured the country along 
his spoil to Henares as far as Alcalá, and he returned driving flocks 
the Moors. ' 0 

and herds before him, with great stores of wearing apparel, 
. ' and of otheí plunder. . He came with the banner of Minaya, 

and there were none who dared fall upon his rear. And 
when the Cid kn'ew that he was nigh at hand he went out to 
meet him, and praised him greatly for what he had done, 
and gave thanks to God. A n d he gave-order that all the 
spoils should be heaped together, both what AJvar F a ñ e z 
had brought, and what had been taken in the castle ; and 
he said to him, Brother, of all this Avhich God hath given us, 
take you thé fifth, for you well 'deserve i t ; but Minaya 
would not, saying, You ha ve need of it for our support. 
And the Cid divided the spoil among the knights and foot-
soldiers, to each his due portion; to every horseman a 
hundred marks of silver, and half as much to the foot-sol-
diers : and because he could find none to whom to sell his 
íífth, he spake to the Moors of Castrejon, and sent to those 
of 'F i ta and Guadalajara, telling them that they might come 
safely to pur.chase the spoil, and the prisoners. also whom he 
had taken, bóth men-prisoners and women, for he would 
have none with him. And they came, and valued the spoil 

C i d T 484 an(^ Prisoners5 and gave for them three thousand marks 
Chr3ldel 0^ S^ver' which ^ey paid within three days: they bought 
Cid.cap.94. also much of the spoil which had been divided, making 
Chr. Gen. . ._. , , , • i , 

ff. 225. great gam, so that all who were m my Cid's company were 

http://Cid.cap.94


* • 
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. full rich. And the heart pf my Cid was joyous, and he sent BOOK 

to Kirig Don Alfonso, telling him that he and his compan- __—'.— 
ions would yet do him service upon the Moors. • 

I I I . Then my Cid assembled together his 2;ood men and H.ow the 
•J D 0 . Cid went 

said unto them, Friends, we cannot take up our abode in against 
Alcocer. 

this Castle, for there is no water in it , and moreover the ' 
King is at peace with these Moors, and I know that the 
treaty between them hath been writ ten; so that i f we 
should abide here he would come against ús with all his 
power, and with all the power of the Moors, and we could 
not stand against him. I f therefore it seem good unto you, 
let us leave the rest of our prisoners here, for it" does not 
beseem us to take any with us, but to be as free from all 
encumbranee as may be, like men who . are to live by war, 
and to help ourselves with our-arms.- And it pleased them 
well that it shóuld be so. A n d he said to them. Ye have all 
had your shares; rieither is there anything owing to any one 
among ye. Now then let us be ready to take horse betimes 
on the morroAv, for I would not fight against my L o r d the 
King. So on the morrow they went to horse and departed, 
being rich with the spoils which they had won : and they 
left the Castle to the Moors, who remained blessing them for 
this bounty which they had received at their hands. Then 
my Cid and his company went up the Henares as fast as 
they could go, and they passed by the Alearlas,1 and by the 
caves of Anquita, and through the waters, and they entered ' 
the plain. of Torancio, and halted between Fariza and : 
Cetina : great were the spoils which they collected as they 
went along. And on the morrow they passed Alfama, and 
leaving the Gorge. below them they passed Bobierca, and 
Teca which is beyond it, and came against Alcocer. There 
my Cid pitched his tents upon a round hill , which was a 

1 Alearía signifies'a cottage. The word however is used in the Poem 
as the ñame of a place, as we should speak of a few dwelling houses • - . 
standing together in an open country. 

19 
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BOOK great hill and a strong ; and the river Salon ran near them, 
so that the water could not be cut off. M y Cid thought to 

CidT ^ss ta^e ^cocer : so 1̂6 pitched his tents securely, having the 
—571-, , Sierra on one side, and the river on the other, and he made 
Chr. del 7 . 
cid.ca]x.95. all his people dig a trench, that they might not be alarmed, 
ff. 226. ' neither by day nor by night. 
Of the ta- I V . When my Cid had thus encamped, he went to look 
Alcoceí. at the Alcázar, and see i f he could by any means enter it. 

And the Moors offered tribute to him i f he would leave 
them in peace ; but this he would not do, and he lay before 
the town. And news went through all the land that the Cid 
was come among them, and they of Calatayud were in fear. 
And my Cid lay before Alcocer fifteen weeks; and when 
he saw that the town did not surrender, he ordered his peo­
ple to break up their camp, as i f they were flying, and they 
left one of their tents behind them, and took their way 
along the Salon, with their banners spread. And when the 
Moors saw this they rejoiced greatly, and there was a great 
stir among them, and they praised themselves for what they 
had done in withstanding him, and said, that the Cid's 
bread and barley had failed him, and he had fled away, and 
left one of his tents behind him. And they said among 
themselves, Let us pursue them and spoil them, for i f they 
of Teruel should be before us the honor and the profit wi l l 
be theirs, and we shall have nothing. And they went out 
after him, great and little, leaving the gates open and shout-
ing as they went; and there was not left in the town a 
man who could bear arms. And when my Cid saw them 
coming he gave orders to quicken their speed, as i f he was 
in fear, and would not let his people turn t i l l the Moors 
were far enough from the town. But when he saw that 
there was a good distance between them and the gates, then 
he bade his banner turn, and spurred towards them, cry-
ing, Lay on, knights, by God's mercy the spoil is our own. 
God! what a good joy was theirs that morning ! M y 
Cid's vassals laid on without mercy; — in one hour, and 
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in a little space, three hundred Moors were slain, and BOOK 

the Cid and Alvar Fañez had good horses, and got between ~ — 
them and the Castle, and stood in the gateway sword in 
hand, and there was a great mortality among the Moors; 
and my Cid won the place, and Pero Bermudez planted his 
banner upon the highest point of the Castle. And the Cid 
said, Blessed be God and all his Saints, we have bettered 
our quarters both for horses and men. And he said to 
Alvar Fañez and all his knights, Hear me, we shall get no-
thins: by killing these Moors ; — let us take them, and they 

. . Poema del 
shall show us their treasures which they have hidden in their Cid. v, 572 

632. 
houses, and we w i l l dwell here and they shall serve us. I n chr. del 
this manner did my Cid win Alcocer, and take up his abode Ghr C§en.6' 

therein. ff- 226-
V . Much did this trouble the Moors of Teca, and it did g^J6 

not please those of Teruel, ñor of Calatayud. And they Valencia 
r i ¿ ¿ seni orders 

sent to the King of Valencia to tell him that one who was to take the 
& Cid alive. 

called Ruydiez the Cid, whom King Don Alfonso had 
banished, was come into their country, and had taken A l ­
cocer ; and i f a stop were not put to him, the King might 
look upon Teca and Teruel and Calatayud as lost, for 
nothing could stand against him, and he had plundered the 
whole country, along the Salón on the one side, and the 
Siloca on the other. When the King of Valencia, whose 
ñame was Alcamin, heard this, he was greatly troubled. 
And incontinently he spake unto two Moorish Kings who 
were his vassals, bidding them take three thousand horsemen cid'vf &sg 
and all the men of the border, and bring the Cid to him chr 0del 
alive, that he might make atonement to him for having en- cifran7* 
tered his land. ff- 227. 

V I . Faris and Galve were the ñames of these two How the 
Moorish Kings, and they set out with the companies ofSeged^n8" 
King Alcamin from Valencia, and halted the first night inAlcocer-
Segorve, and the second night at Celfa de Canal. A n d 
they sent their messengers through the land to all the Coun-
cils thereof, ordering all men at arms, as well liorsemen as 
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BOOK footmen, to join them, and the third night they halted at 
IV' Calatayud, and great numbers joined them ; and they came 

up against Alcocer, and pitched their tents -round about the 
Castle. Every day their host increased, for their people 
were many in number, and their watchmen kept watch day 
and night ; and my Cid had no succor to look for except 

s the mercy of God, in which he put his trust. • A n d the 
Moors beset them so cióse that they cut off their water, arid 
albeit the Castilians would have sallied against them, my 
Cid fórbade this. I n this guise -were my Cid and his people 
besieged for three weeks, and when the fourth week began, 
he called for Alvar Fañez , and for his company, and said. 
unto them, Ye see that- the Moors have cut off our water, 
and we have but little bread ; they gather numbers day by 
day, and we become weak, and they are in their own coun-
try. I f we would depart they would not let us, and we can-
not go out by night beeause they have beset us round about 
on all sides, and we cannot pass on high through the air, 

cidTesi neither through the earth which is underneath. Now then i f 
Chr 8del ^ please you let us go out and fight with them, though they 
Cid.cap.98. are many in number, and either defeat them or die an hon-
Chr. Gen. J 

ff. 227. orable death. 
How the V I L Then Minaya answered and said, W e have left the 
out to give gentle land of Castille, and are come hither as banished 
thembaUle'men, and i f we do not beat the Moors, they w i l l not give us 

food. • Now though we are but few, yet are we of a good 
stock, and of one heart and one w i l l ; .by God's help let us 
go out and smite them to-mprrow, early in the morning, 
and you who are not in a state of penitence, go and- shrieve 
yourselves, and repent ye of your sins. A n d they all held 
that what Alvar Fañez had said was good. And my Cid 
answered, Minaya, you have spoken as you should do. 
Then ordered he all the Moors, both men and women, to be 
thrust out of the town, that it might not be known what 
they were preparing to do ; and the rest of that day and 
the night also, they passed in making ready for the battle. 

http://Cid.cap.98
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And on the morrow at sunrise, the Cid gave his banner to- BOOK 

Pero Bermudez, and bade him bear it boldly like a good J — 
man as he was, but he charged him not-to thrust forward 
with it without his bidding. And Pero Bermudez kissed his 
hand, being well pleased. Then leaving only two foot soi-
diers to keep the gates, they issued out ; and the Moorish 
scouts saw them and hastened to the camp. Then was there 
such a noise of tambours, as i f the earth would have been 
broken, and the Mpors armed themselves in great haste. 
Two royal banners were there, and five city ones, and they poema del 
drew up their men in two great bodies, and moved on, Cid. v. 679. 
thinking to take my Cid and all his company alive ; and my ghr- del 
Cid bade his men remain still, and not move t i l l he should 98. 99. • 

Chr. Gen. 

bid them. • . flF. 227. 
V I I I . Pero Bermudez could not bear this, but holding How Pero 

the banner in his hand, he cried, God help you, Cid Cam- caer™d The 
peador •; I shall put your banner in the middle of that main the "middle 

body ; and you who are bound to stand by it — I shall see ^ ^ s . 
how you wi l l succor it. A n d he began to prick forward. 
And tlie Campeador called unto him to stop as he loved 
him, but Pero Bermudez replied he would stop for nothing, 
and away he spurred and carried his banner into the middle 
of the great body of the Moors. A n d the 1 Moors fell upon 
him that they might win. the banner, and beset him on all 
sides, giving him many and great blows to beat him down ; 
nevertheless his arms were proof, and they could not pierce 
them, neither could they beat him down, ñor forcé the ban­
ner from him, ÍOT he was a right brave man and a strong, 
and a good horseman, and of great heart. And when the 
Cid saw him thus beset he called to his people to move on 
and help him. Then placed they their shields before their 
hearts, and lowered .their lances with the streamers thereon, 
and bending forward, rodé on. Three hundred lances 
were they, each with its péndant, and every man at the first 
charge slew his Moor. Smite them, knights, for the lové of 
charity, cried the Campeador. I am Ruydiez, the Cid of 
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BOOK Bivar ! Many a shield was pierccd that day, and many a 
IV' false corselet was broken, and many a white streamer dyed 

with blood, and many a horse left without a rider. The Mis-
believers called on Mahomet, and the Christians on Santiago, 
and the noíse of the tambours and of the trumpets, was so 
great that none could hear his neighbor. A n d my Cid and 
his company succored Pero Bermudez, and they rodé 
through the host of the Moors, slaying as they went, and 
they rodé back again in like manner ; thirteen hundred did 
they k i l l in this guise. I f yon would know who they were, 
who were the good men of that day, it behoves me to tell yon, 
for though they are departed, it is not fitting that the ñames 
of those who have done well should die, ñor would they 
who have done well themselves, or who hope so to do, think 
it r ight ; for good men would not be so bound to do well i f 
their good feats should be kept silent. There was my Cid, 
the good man in battle, who fought well upon his gilt saddle ; 
and Alvar F a ñ e z Minaya, and Martin Antolinez the Burga-
lese of prowess, and Muño Gustios, and Martin Munos who 
held Montemayor, and Alvar Alvarez, and Alvar Salvadores, 
Galin Garcia the good one of Aragón, and Felez Munos 
the nephew of the Campeador. Wherever my Cid went, 
the Moors made a path before him, for he smote them down 
without mercy. And while the battle still continued, the 
Moors killed the horse of Alvar Fañez , and his lance was 
broken and he fought bravely with his sword afoot. And 
my Cid, seeing him, came up to an Alguazil who rodé upon 

Poema del a good horse, and smote him with his sword under the right 
Cid. 712. S- , 5 & 

yes.^Chr. arm, so that he cut him through and through, and he gave 
cap. 99.' the horse to Alvar Fañes , saying, Mount, Minaya, for you 
Cnr. Gen. • i i i 

ff. 228. are my right hand. 
Of the I X . When Alvar Fañez was thus remounted, they fell 
fye wonCty uPon the Moors again, and by this time the Moors were 
the Cid. greatly disheartened, having sufí'ered so great loss, and they 

began to give way. And my Cid, seeing King Fariz, raade 
towards him, smiting down all who were in his way ; and 
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he carne up to him, and made three blows at him ; two of B O O K 

them failed, but the third was a good one, and went through 
his cuirass, so that the blood ran down his legs. And with 
that blow was the army of the Moors vanquished, for King 
Fariz, feeling himself so sorely wounded, turned his reins 
and fled out of the field, even to Teruel. And Martin 
Antolinez the good Burgalese carne up to King Galve, and 
gave him a stroke on the head, which scattered all the car-
buncles out of his helmet, and cut through it even to the skin ; 
and the King did not wait for another such, and he fled also. 
A good day was that for Christendom, for the Moors fled 
on all sides. King Fariz got into Teruel, and King Galve 
fled after him, but they would not receive him within the 
gates, and he Avent on to Calatayud. And the Christians 
pursued them even to Calatayud. A n d Alvar Fañez had a 
good horse ; four and thirty did he slay in that pursuit with 
the edge of his keen sword, and his arm was all red, and the 
blood dropt from his elbow. And as he was returning from 
the spoil he said, Now am I well pleased, for good tidings 
w i l l go to Castille, how my Cid has won a battle in the field. 
M y Cid also turned back ; his coif was wrinkled, and you 
might see his full beard ; the hood of his mail hung down 
upon his shoulders, and the sword was still in his hand. 
He saw his people returning from the pursuit, and that of all 
his company fifteen only of the lower sort was slain, and he 
gave thanks to God for this victory. Then they fell to the spoil, 
and they found arms in abundance, and great store of wealth ; 
and five hundred and ten horses. And he divided the spoil, 
giving to each man his fair portion, and the Moors whom cid^M*!61 
they had put out of Alcocer before the battle, they now re- ^ del 
ceived again into the castle, and gave to them also a part gg* 
of the booty, so that all were well content. And my Cid Gen. ff. 
had great joy with his vassals. 

X . Then the Cid called unto Alvar Fañez and said, How the 
Cousin, you are my right hand, and I hold it good that you pvesent to 

should take of my fifth as much as you wi l l , for all would be Sfons?.00 



152 CHRONICLE OP T H E CID, 

BOOK well bestowed upon you; but Minaya thanked him, and said, 
I V . that he would take nothing more than his share. And the 

Cid sáid unto him, I wi l l send King Don Alfonso a present 
from my part of the spoils. You shall go into Castille, and 
take with you thirty horses, the best which were taken from 
the Moors, all bridled and saddled, and each having a sword 
hanging from the saddle-bow ; and you shall give them to the 
King, and kiss his hand for me, and tell him that we know 
how to make our way among the Moors. And you shall 
take also this bag of gold and silver, and purchase for me a 
thousand masses in St. Mary's at Burgos, and hang up there 
these banners of the Moorish Kings whom we have overeóme. 
Go then to St. Pedro's at Cardeña, and salute my wife Doña 
Ximena, and my daughters, and tell them how well I go on, 
and that i f I live I wi l l make them rich women. And salute 
for me the Abbot Don Sisebuto, añd give him fifty marks of 
silver ; and the rest of the money, whatever shall be left, give 

Poema del to my wife, and bid them all pray' for' me. Moreover the 
Cid. sis. (^¿gará unt0 j ^ j ^ This country is all spoiled, and we have 
cid" cap. to help ourselves with sword and spear. You are going to 
Gerí ff.hr gentle Castille ; i f when you return you should not find us 
228- here, you w i l l hear where we are. 

How Alvar X I . Alvar Fañez went his way to Castille, and he found 
Fanez pre- < * ' 

horses the ^n Valladolid, and he presented to him .the thirty 
the King. horses, with all their trappings, and swords mounted with 

silver hanging from the saddle-bows. A n d when the King 
saw them, before Alvar F a ñ e z could deliver his bidding, he 
said unto him, Minaya, who sends me this goodly present; 
and Minaya answered, M y Cid Ruydiez, the Campeador, 
sends it, and kisses by me your hands.. For since you were 
wroth against him, and banished him-from the land, he being 
a man disherited, hath helped himself with his own hands, 
and hath won from the Moors the Castle of Alcocer. And 

. • the King of Valencia sént two Kings to besiege him there, 
with all his power, and they begirt him round about, and cuf 
off the water and bread from us so that we could not subsist. 
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And then holding it better to die like good men in the field, BOOK 

than shut up like bad ones, we went out against them, and 
fought with them in the open field, and smote them and put 
them to flight; and both the Moorish Kings were sorely 
wounded, and many of the Moors were slain, and many 
were taken prisoners, and great was the spoil which we won 
in the field, both of captives and of horses and arms, gold 
and silver and pearls, so that all who are with him are rich 
men. And of his fifth of the horses which were taken that 
day, my Cid hath sent you these, as to his natural Lord , 
whose favor he desireth. I beseech you, as God shall help 
you, show favor unto him. Then King Don Alfonso an-
swered, This is betimes in the morning for a banished man 
to ask favor of his L o r d ; ñor is it befitting a King, for no 
Lord ought to be wroth for so short a time. Nevertheless, 
because the horses were won from the Moors, I w i l l take 
them, and rejoice that my Cid hath sped so well. And I 
pardon you, Minaya, and give again unto you all the lands 
which you have ever held of me, and you have my favor to 
go when you w i l l , and come when you wi l l . Of the Cid 
Campeador, I shall say nothing now, save only that all who 
choose to follow him may freely go, and their bodies and 
goods and heritages are safe. And Minaya said, God grant 
you many and happy years for his ser vice. Now I beseech 
you, this which you have done for me, do also to all those 
who are in my Cid's company, and show favor unto them poema del 

also, that their possessions may be restored unto them. A n d 879" 
the King gave order that it should be so. Then Minaya ^ 
kissed the King's hand and said, Sir, you have done this jo,3-

Chr. Gen. 

now, and you w i l l do the rest hereafter. ff. 229. 
X I I . M y Cid remained awhile in Alcocer, and the Moors How the 

of the border waited to see what he would do. And in this ed^frma^1 

time King Fariz got well of his wound, and my Cid sent to Alcocer' 
him and to the Móors, saying, that i f they would give him 
three thousand marks of silver, he would leave Alcocer and 
go elsewhere. And King Fariz and the Moors of Techa, 

20 
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BOOK and of Teruel, and of Calatayud, were right glad of this, and 
IV' the covenant was put in writing, and they sent him the three 

thousand marks. And my Cid divided it among his com-
pany, and he made them all rich, both knights and esquires 
and footrnen, so that they said to one another, He who 
serves a good Lord , happy man is his dolé. But the Moors 
of Alcocer were full sorry to see him depart, because he had 
been to them a kind master and a bountiful; and they said 
unto him, Wherever you go. Cid, our prayers w i l l go before 
you: and they wept both men and women when my Cid 
went his way. So the Campeador raised his banner and 
departed, and he went down the Salón, and crossed i t ; and 
as he crossed the river they saw good birds, and signs of 
good fortune. And they of Za and of Calatayud were well 
pleased, because he went from them. M y Cid rodé on t i l l 
he came to the knoll above Monte-Real; it is a high hil l 
and strong, and there he pitched his tents, being safe on all 
sides. And from thence he did much harm to the Moors of 
Medina and of the country round about; and he made 

Poema del Daroca pay tribute, and Molina also, which is on the other 
845.'878. s^e' anĉ  Teruel also, and Celia de Canal, and all the 
Cid cap country along the river Martin. And the news went to 
Chr Gen ̂ 16 k*nS 0^ Zaragoza, and it neither pleased the King ñor 
ff. 229. his people. 

C i T V a í ^ I H - ^ver after was that knoll called the Knoll of the 
received at Cid. And when the perfect one had waited a long time for 

aragoza. ]y[-naya an(j saw ^ i d not come, he removed by night, 
and passed by Teruel and pitched his camp in the pine-forest 
of Tebar. A n d from thence he infested the Moors of Zara­
goza, insomuch that they held it best to give him gold and 
silver and pay him tribute. And when this covenant had 
been made, Almudafar, the King of Zaragoza, became 
greatly his friend, and received him full honorably into the 
town. I n three weeks time after this came Alvar Fañez 
from Castille. Two hundred men of lineage came with 
him, every one of whom wore sword girt to his side, and 
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the foot-soldiers in their company were out of number. BOOK 
When my Cid saw Minaya he rodé up to him, and embraced 
him without speaking, and kissed his mouth and the eyes in 
his head. And Minaya told him all that he had done. 
And the face of the Campeador brightened, and he gave 
thanks to God and said, I t w i l l go well with me, Minaya, as 
long as you live ! God, how joyful was that whole host be-
cause Alvar F a ñ e z was returned ! for he brought them greet-
ings from their kinswomen and their brethren, and the fair 
comrades whom they had left behind. God, how joyful 
was my Cid with the fleecy beard, that Minaya had pur- ^j™a ^ 
chased the thousand masses, and had brought him the bid- 941. ^ ^ 
dings of his wife and daughters! God, what a joyful man Cid. cap. 
was he ! Geii.ff. 230. 

X I V . Now it carne to pass that while my Cid was in How the 
Zaragoza the days of King Almudafar were fulfilled: and the country. 

he left his two sons Zulema and Abenalfange, and they di-
vided his dominions between them; and Zulema had the 
kingdom of Zaragoza, and Abenalfange the kingdom of De­
nla. And Zulema put his kingdom under my Cid's protec-
tion, and bade all his people obey him evcn as they would 
himself. Now there began to be great enmity between the 
two brethren, and they made war upon each other. And 
King Don Pedro of Aragón, and the Count Don Eamon 
Berenguer of Barcelona, helped Abenalfange, and they were 
enemies to the Cid because he defended Zulema. And my 
Cid chose out two hundred horsemen and went out by night, 
and fell upon the lands of Alcañiz; and he remained out 
three days in this inroad, and brought away great booty. 
Great was the talk thereof among the Moors ; and they of 
Monzón and of Huesca were troubled, but they of Zaragoza 
rejoiced, because they paid tribute to the Cid, and were safe. 
And when my Cid returned to Zaragoza he divided the spoil 
among his companions, and said to them. Ye know, my 
friends, that for all who live by their arms, as we do, it is not 
good to remain long in one place. Let us be ofF again to-
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BOOK morrow. So on the morrow they moved to the Puerto de 
Alucant, and from thence they infested Huesca and Montal-

cidíT. 943. ban. Ten days were they out upon this inroad ; and the 
chr del news was sent every where how the exile from Castille was 
105' chr" handling them, and tidings went to the King of Denia and 
Geu.ff. 230. i0 the Count of Barcelona, how my Cid was overrunning 

the country. 

Ra0mo!?0n X V - When 1)011 Ramón Berenguer the Count of Barce-
Berenguer iona heard this, it troubled him to the heart, and he held it 
came to ' 

take a-wñj for a great dishonor, because that part of the land of the 
from the Moors was in his keeping. And he spake boastfully saying, 

Great wrong doth that Cid of Bivar ofFer unto me ; he smote 
my nephew1 in my own court and never would make amends 
for it, and now he ravages the lands which are in my keeping, 
and I have never defied him for this nor renounced his friend-
ship ; but since he goes on in this way I must take ven-
geance. So he and King Abenalfange gathered together a 
great power both of Moors and Christians, and went in 
pursuit of the Cid, and after three days and two nights they 
came up with him in the pine-forest of Tebar, and they 
came on confidently, thinking to lay hands on him. Now 
my Cid was returning with much spoil, and had descended 
from the Sierra into the valley when tidings were brought 
him that Count Don Ramón Berenguer and the King of 
Denia were at hand, with a great power, to take away his 
booty, and take or slay him. And when the Cid heard this 
he sent to Don Ramón saying, that the booty which he had 
won was none of his, and bidding him let him go on his 
way in peace : but the Count made answer, that my Cid 
should now learn whom he had dishonored, and make 
amends once for all. Then my Cid sent the booty forward, 
and bade his knights make ready. They are coming upon 
us, said he, with a great power both of Moors and Chris-

1 Nothing more than this incidental mention of this circumstance is to 
be found. 
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tians, to take from us the spoils which we have so hardly B00K 
won, and without doing battle we cannot be quit of them ; 
for i f we should proceed they would follow t i l l they over-
took us: therefore let the battle be here, and I trust in God 
that we shall win more honor, and something to boot. 
They come down the hil l , drest in their hose, with their gay 
saddles, and their girths wet ; we are with our hose covered 
and on our Galician saddles; — a hundred such as we 
ought to beat their whole company. Before they get upon 
the plain ground let us give them the points of our lances ; 
for one whom we run through, three wi l l jump out of their poema ¿ei 
saddles ; and Ramón Berenguer wi l l then see whom he has ^Q^"967' 
overtaken to-day in the pine-forest of Tebar, thinking to Chr. del 
despoil him of the booty which I have won from the enemies ios. loe. 
of God and of the faith. ff. 231. 

X V I . While my Cid was speaking, his knights had taken of the 
their arms, and were ready on horseback for the charge. fyTf theUn 
Presently they saw the pendants of the Frenchmen coming Don Ramón 

down the hill , and when they were nigh the bottom, and had Berenguer-
not yet set foot upon the plain ground, my Cid bade his 
people charge, which they did with a right good wi l l , thrust-
ing their spears so stiffly, that by God's good pleasure not 
a man whom they encountered but lost his seat. So 
many were slain and so many wounded, that the Moors 
were dismayed forthwith, and began to fly. The Count's 
people stood firm a little longer, gathering round their 
Lord ; but my Cid was in search of him, and Avhen he 
saw where he was, he made up to him, clearing the way 
as he went, and gave him such a stroke with his lance that 
he felled him down to the ground. When the Frenchmen 
saw their L o r d in this plight they fled away and left h in | ; 
and the pursuit lasted three leagues, and would have been 
continued farther i f the conquerors had not had tired 
horses. So they turned back and collected the spoils, which 
were more than they could carry away. Thus was Count 
Ramón Berenguer made prisoner, and my Cid won from 
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BOOK him that day the good sword Colada, which was worth 
IV' more than a thousand marks of sil ver. That night did my 

Cid and his men make merry, rejoicing over their gains. 
And the Count was taken to my Cid's tent, and a good sup-
per was set before h i m ; nevertheless he would not eat, 
though my Cid besought him so to do. And on the morrow 
my Cid ordered a feast to be made, that he might do pleas-
ure to the Count, but the Count said that for all Spain he 
would not eat one mouthful, but would rather die, since he 
had been beaten in battle by such a set of ragged fellows.1 
And Ruydiez said to him, Eat and drink, Count, of this 
bread and of this wine, for this is the chance of war ; i f 
yon do as I say yon shall be free ; and i f not you w i l l never 
return again into your own lands. And Don Ramón an-
swered, Eat you, Don Rodrigo, for your fortune is fair 
and you deserve i t ; take you your pleasure, but leave me to 
die. And in this mood he continued for three days, refusing 
all food. But then my Cid said to him, Take food, Count, 
and be sure that I w i l l set you free, you and any two of 
your knights, and give you wherewith to return into your 
own country.8 And when Don Ramón heard this, he took 

1 Tales malcalzados. A term of reproach, not unlike Sans-culottes. 

2 Pr. Francisco Diago, in his Historia de los Victoriosissimos Antiguos 
Condes de Barcelona, Batcelona, 1603, attempts to disprove this part of 
the Cid's history, by showing that the dates cannot possibly be accurate. 
L i b . 2. Cap. 63. He was in duty bound not to allow that any of the 
Victoriosissimos had been taken prisoner. But as the dates in oíd chron-
icles are seldom so accurate as to be implici t ly relied on, l i t t le weight is 
to be laid upon any trifling inaccuracy in them. The Annals of Santiago 
(the same I believe which Sandoval often refers to by the ñame of the 
Black Book, and which are of great authority, — cuyas noticias se tienen 
por seguras, says Berganza,) affirm the fact. So does the Conde Dom 
Pedro in his Nobiliario, P . 67 ; though this adds l i t t le support to the 
story, not being older authority than the Chronicles. Zuri ta , L . I , C 
22, devotes half a chapter to show the discordance of historians upon 
this subject; but he quotes una relación muy antigua de los succéssos y 
hazañas del Cid in proof of i t . H is own opinión seems to be that the 
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comfort and said, I f you w i l l indeed do this thing, I shall B00K 
marvel at you as long as I live. Eat then, said Ruydiez, ! — 
and I wi l l do it ; bot mark you, of the spoil which we have 
taken from you I w i l l give you nothing; for to that you 
have no claim neither by right ñor custom, and besides we 
want it for ourselves, being banished men, who must live by 
taking from you and from others, as long as it shall please 
God. Then was the Count full joyful, being well pleased 
that what should be given hira was not of the spoils which 
he had lost; and he called for water and washed his hands, 
and chose two of his kinsmen to be set free with him ; the 
one was named Don Hugo, and the other Guillen Bernalto. 
And my Cid sate at the table with them, and said, I f you 
do not eat well , Count, you and I shall not part yet. Never 
since he was Count did he eat Avith better w i l l than that 
day. A n d when they had done he said, Now Cid, i f it be 
your pleasure, let us depart. A n d my Cid clothed him 
and his kinsmen well with goodly skins and mantles, and 
gave them each a goodly palfrey, with rich caparisons, and 
he rodé out with them on their way. And when he took 
leave of the Count he said to him, Now go freely, and I 
thank you for what you have left behind; i f you wish to 
play for it again let me know, and you shall either have 
something back in its stead, or leave what you bring to be 
added to i t . The Count answered. Cid, you jest safely 
now, for I have paid you and all your company for this 
twelvemonths, and shall not be coming to see you again so 
soon, Then Count Ramón pricked on more than apace. Poema del 

and many times looked behind him, fearing that my Cid losó!"1,008' 
would repent what he had done, and send to take him back cid.' cap. 
to prison, which the Perfect one would not have done for the ^ 
whole world, for never did he do disloyal thing. ff. 231. 

story was invented by the ballad-makers. The uniform testimony of all 
the histories of the Cid, both in prese and verse, supported by these 
early authorities, seems to me of more weight than the silence of the Cat­
alán writers. 
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BOOK X V I I . Then he of Bivar returned to Zaragoza, and di-
IV' vided the spoil, which was so great that none of his men 

How the knew how much they had. And the Moors of the town re­
d a won all _ " . . . 
the landsof joiced in his good speed, liking him well, because he p r o 

tected them so well that they were safe from all harm. And 
my Cid went out again from Zaragoza, and rodé over the 
lands of Monzón and Huerta and Onda and Buenar. A n d 
King Pedro of Aragón carne out against him, but my Cid 
took the Castle of Monzón in his sight; and then he wenl to 
Tamarit: and one day as he rodé out hunting from thence 
with twelve of his knights, he fell in with a hundred and 
fifty of the King of Aragón's people, and he fought with 
them and put them to flight, and took seven knights pris-
oners, whom he let go freely. Then he turned towards the 
sea-coast, and won Xerica and Onda and Almenar, and all 

Poema de ^ ian(js 0f Bomana and Murviedro ; and they in Valencia 
Chr.'del05' were greatly dismayed because of the great feats which he 
ios Cap' ^n ^16 lan(i- And when he had plundered all that 
ff^s^611' country 1̂6 returned to Tamarit, where Zulema then was. 
How the X V I I I . Now Zulema had sent for my Cid, and the cause 
fealedKing Was ^ s brother the King of Denia had taken counsel 
Abenal- count; Ramón Berenguer, and with the Count of Car­iante and o ' 
Don Ramón dona, and with the brother of the Count of Urgel, and with 
Berenguer. _ o 7 

the chiefs of Balsadron and Remolin and Cartaxes, that they 
should besiege the Castle of Almenar, which my Cid had re-
fortified by command of King Zulema. And they came up 
against it while my Cid was away, besieging the Castle of 
Estrada, which is in the rivers Tiegio and Sege, the which 
he took by forcé. And they fought against it and cut ofF the 
water. And when my Cid came to the King at Tamarit, 
the King asked him to go and fight with the host which be-
sieged Almenar; but my Cid said it would be better to give 
something to King Abenalfange that he should break up the 
siege and depart; for they were too great a power to do 
battle with, being as many in number as the sands on the 
sea-shore. And the King did as he counselled him, and sent 
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to his brother King Abenalfange, and to the chiefs who B^)K 
were with him, to propose this accord, and they would not '.— 
Then my Cid, seeing that they would not depart for fair 
means, armed his people, and fell upon them. That was a 
hard battle and well íbught on both sides, and much blood 
was shed, for many good knights on either party were in the 
field; howbeit he of good fortune won the day at last, he 
who never was conquered. King Abenalfange and Count 
Ramón and most of the others fled, and my Cid followed, 
smiting and slaying for three leagues; and many good 
Christian knights were made prisoners. Ruydiez returned 
with great honor and much spoil, and gave all his prisoners 
to King Zulema, who kept them eight days, and then my 
Cid begged their liberty and set them free. And he and the 
King returned to Zaragoza, and the people came out to meet 
them, with great joy, and shouts of welcome. And the King cid.' cap. 
honored my Cid greatly, and gave him power in all his Geil< 
dominions. ff- 232-

X V I I I . A t this time it came to pass that Almofalez, a ° ^ s r e a t 
Moor of Andalusia, rose up with the Castle of Renda, which which was 

1 í committed 

was held for King Don Alfonso. And because he held pris- at Rueda, 

oner there the brother of Adefir, another Moor, Adefir sent 
to the King of Castille, beseeching him to come to succor 
him, and r eco ver the Castle. And the King sent the Infante 
Don Ramiro his cousin, and the Infante Don Sancho, son to 
the King of Navarre, and Count Don Gonzalo Salvadores, 
and Count Don Ñuño Alvarez, and many other knights with 
them; and they came to the Castle, and Almofalez said he 
would not open the gates to them, but i f the King came he 
would open to him. And when King Don Alfonso heard 
this, incontinently he came to Rueda. And Almofalez be-
sought him to enter to a feast which he had prepared; how­
beit the King would not go in, neither would his people have 
permitted him so to have risked his person. But the Infante 
Don Sancho entered, and Don Ñuño, and Don Gonzalo, 
and fifteen other knights; and as soon as they were within 

21 
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BOOK the gate, the Moors threw d o w n gTfeat stones upon them and 
IV' killed them all. This was the end of the good Count Don 

Gonzalo Salvadores, who was so good a knight in battle that 
he was called He of the Four Hands. The bodies were 
ransomed, seeing that there was no remedy, the Castle being 

|an2d3°va1' so strong, and Don Gronzalo was buried in the Monastery of 
Cid" cap C)ña' according as he had appointed in his w i l l ; and the In-
J,.1,0- „ fante Don Sancho with his forefathers the Kings of Navarre, 
Chr. Gen. . 

ff. 232. in the royal Monastery of Naxara. 
How the X I X . Greatly was King Don Alfonso troubled at this 
the castle ofvillany, and he sent for the Cid, who was in those parts ; 
Rueda' and the Cid carne to him with a great company. And the 

King told him the great treason which had been committed, 
and took the Cid into his favor, and said unto him that he 
might return with him into Castille. M y Cid thanked him 
for his bounty, but he said he never would accept his favor 
unless the King granted what he should request; and the 
King bade him make his demand. And my Cid demanded, 
that when any hidalgo should be banished, in time to come, 
he should have the thirty days, which were his right, allowed 
him, and not nine only, as had been his .case ; and that 
neither hidalgo ñor citizen should be proceeded against t i l l 
they had been fairly and lawfully heard; also, that the King 
should not go against the privileges and charters and good 
customs of any town or other place, ñor impose taxes upon 
them against their right; and i f he did, that it should be law-
ful for the land to rise against him, t i l l he had amended the 
misdeed. And to all this the King accorded, and said to my 
Cid that he should go back into Castille with h im; but my 
Cid said he would not go into Castille t i l l he had won that 
Castle of Rueda, and delivered the villanous Moors thereof 
into his hands, that he might do justice upon them. So the 

1 The Black Book of Santiago notices this. E ra 1121. ( A . D . ) 1083. 
f u i t interfeciio apud Rodam, ubi et Gundisalvus Comes interfectus. San-
doval. 
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King thanked him greatly, and returned into Castille, and BOOK 
my Cid remained before the Castle of Rueda. And he lay 
before it so long, and beset it so cióse, that the food of the 
Moors failed, and they had no strength to defend them-
selves ; and they would willingly have yielded the Castle, so 
they might have been permitted to leave it and go whither 
they would; but he would have their bodies, to deliver them 
up to the King. When they saw that it must be so, great 
part of them carne out, and yielded themselves prisoners ; 
and then my Cid stormed the Castle, and took Almofalez 
and they who held with him, so that none escaped; and he 
sent him and his accomplices in the treason to the King. 
And the King was right glad when they were brought before gj1^ 
him, and he did great justice upon them, and sent to t hank^ - nQen 
my Cid for having avenged him. ff- 233-

X X . After my Cid had done this good service to King 
Don Alfonso, he and Kins; Zulema of Zaragoza entered Ara- King Don 

Pedro of 

gon, slaying, and burning, and plundering before them, and Aragón 

they returned to the Castle of Monzón with great booty. pnsorier-
Then the Cid went into King Abenalfange's country, and 
did much mischief there ; and he got among the mountains 
of Moriella, and beat down every thing before him, and de-
stroyed the Castle of Moriella. And King Zulema sent to 
bid him build up the ruined Castle of Alcalá, which is upon 
Moriella; and the Cid did so. But King Abenalfange being 
sorely grieved hereat, sent to King Pedro of Aragón, and be-
sought him to come and help him against the Campeador. 
And the King of Aragón gathered together a great host in 
his anger, and he and the King of Denia, came against my 
Cid, and they halted that night upon the banks of the Ebro ; 
and King Don Pedro sent letters to the Cid, bidding him 
leave the Castle which he was then edifying. M y Cid made 
answer, that i f the King chose to pass that way in peace, he 
would let him pass, and show him any service in his power. 
And when the King of Aragón saw that he would not for-
sake the work, he marched against him, and attacked him. 
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BOOK Then was there a brave battle, and many were slain ; but 
IV- my Cid won the day, and King Abenalfange fled, and King 

Don Pedro was taken prisoner,1 and many of his Counts 
and knights with him. M y Cid returned lo Zaragoza with 
this great honor, taking his prisoners with him ; and he set 

Chr. del them all freely at liberty, and having tarried in Zaragoza a 
112. ' few days, set forth for Castille, with great riches and full of 
Chr. Gen. 

ff. 233. nonors. 
How the X X I . Having done all these things in his banishment, 
turned into my Cid returned to Castille, and the King received him well, 
Castille. gave the Castle of Dueñas, and of Orcejon, and 

Ybia, and Campo, and Gaña, and Berviesca, and Berlanga, 
with all their districts. And he gave him privileges with 
leaden seáis appendant, and confirmed with his own hand, 
that whatever castles, towns, and places, he might win from 
the Moors, or from any one else, should be his own, quit 
and free for ever, both for him and for his descendants. 

Chr. del . . . 
Cid. cap. Thus was my Cid received into the King's favor, and he 
Chr. Gen. abode with him long time, doing him great services as his 
ff- 234- Lord . 

1 The Aragonian writers, not contented with denying this, insist that 
the Cid was taken prisoner. They rest upon the authority of the Historia 
del Monasterio de San Juan de la P e ñ a . This authority is both late and 
bad. Berganza [ L . 5. C. 17. § 222.) quotes Zurita to show its worth-
lessness— Vetus rerum Aragonensium AutJior, qui ante C. C. annos, Re-
g u m f a c í a composuit, i n artificio et opera quam tenui et exi l i , cum alias 
nullam adhibuisse diligentiam videaiur i n recensendi regni originibus, longe 
se et cesteros omnes superat, sed falso quasita proprice gentis laus leviorem 
authorem faci t . Such authority would be of little forcé, even if it were 
not opposed by the concurrent testimony of so many earlier documents. 
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CHEONICLE OE THE CID 

I . I N these days King Yahia reigned i n Toledo, the BOOK 
grandson of King Alimaymon, who had been the friend of-
King Don Alfonso ; for Alimaymon was dead, and his son King of 
Hicem also. Now Yahia was a bad King, and one who 5oSd0have 
walked not in the ways of his fathers. Insolent he was^111,0" 
towards the elders, and cruel towards his people: and his 
yoke was so heavy that all men desired to see his death, 
because there was no good in him. And the people seeing 
that he did not protect them, and that their lands were 
ravaged safely, went to him and said. Stand up, Sir, for 
thy people and thy country, else we must look for some 
other L o r d who w i l l defend us. But he was of such lewd 
customs that he gave no heed to their words. And when 
they knew that there was no hope of him, the Moors sent 
to the King of Badajoz, inviting him to come and be their 
protector, saying that they would deliver the city into his 
hands in spite of Yahia : And the Muzárabes who dwelt in 
the city sent to King Don Alfonso, exhorting him to win 
Toledo, which he might well do, now that he was no longer 
bound by his oath. Then both Kings came, thinking to 
have the city : and the King of Badajoz came first, and the 
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BOOK gates were opened to him in despite of Yahia. Howbeit 
King Don Alfonso speedily arrived, and the King of Bada­
joz, seeing that he could not maintain Toledo against him, 
retreated, and King Don Alfonso pursued him into bis 
own dominions, and gave orders that he should be attacked 
along the whole of his border, and did not leave him t i l l he 
had plainly submitted. I n this manner was Yahia delivered 
from the King of Badajoz ; but King Don Alfonso knowing 

Garihay, t^at ^ taken, contented himself with 
tópaos!*1' overrunning the country, and despoiling it, even to the 
Ctfr Gen wa^s of the (At j f snd thus he did for four years, so that he 
ff. 234. was master of the land. 
How Diego i i , i n au this time did my Cid do good service to King 
Rodríguez . o <J 
the son of Don Alfonso. And in these days King Don Alfonso fought 
the Cid . . i . i* T \ • T • i • 

was slain. at Consuegra with King Abenalfange of Dema, and m mis 
battle the Christians were defeated,1 and Diego Rodríguez, 
the son of my Cid, was slain. "Greatly was his death 
lamented by the Christians, for he was a youth of great 
hope, and one who was beginning to tread in the steps of 
his father. A n d King Don Alfonso was fain to retire into 
the Castle of that town. And Abenalfange gathered to-
gether the greatest power of the Moors that he could, and 
entered the land of the Christians, and past the mountains, 
and came even to Medina del Campo, and there Alvar 
Fañez Minaya met him. Minaya had but five and twenty 

Chr.delCid hundred horse with him, and of the Moors there were 
Chr1 ^ e n ^teen thousand ; nevértheless by God's blessing he prevailed 
ff 234. a^ainst them. And by the virtue of God Alvar Fañez gave 
Bleda. 1. 3. * J 0 
c. so. King Abenalfange a cruel wound in the face, so that he fled 
Mariana 
F. 9. c 14. away. Great honor did Manaya win for this victory. 
How Zing I I I . Now had King Don Alfonso for many years cut 
so0went0n down the bread and the wine and the fruits in all the coun-
against To-

1 Bleda, íbllowing the Chronica General, makes the Christians vic-
torious in this battle. But where two writers of equal authority record 
the one the victory, the other the defeat of his countrymen, the latter is 
obviously to be preferred. 



RODRIGO DIAZ DE JBIVAR. 167 

try round about Toledo, and he made ready to go against BOOK 
the city. The tidings of this great enterprize spread far and ! 
wide, and adventurers carne from all parts to be present; 
not only they of Castille and León, Asturias and Nagera, 
Galicia and Portugal, but King Sancho Ramírez of Aragón 
carne also, with the flower of Aragón and Navarre and Ca-
talonia, and Franks and Germans and Italians, and men of 
other countries, to bear their part in so great and catholic a 
war. And the King entertained them well, being full boun-
tiful, insomuch that he was called He of the Open Hand. 
Never had so goodly a forcé of Christians been assembled in 
Spain, ñor so great an enterprize attempted, since the coming 
of the Moors. And of this army was my Cid the leader, A. D. IOSS. 

So soon as the winter was over, they began their march. 
And when they carne to a ford of the Tagus, behold the river 
was swoln, and the best horseman feared to try the passage. 
Now there was a holy man in the camp, by ñame Lesmes, 
who was a monk of St. Benedict's ; and he being mounted 
upon an ass, rodé first into the ford, and passed safely Garibay, 

through the flood ; and all who beheld him held it for a great sándoval. 
. f ' & ff.227. 

miracle. 
I V . Greatly to be blamed are they who lived in those Of the tak-

days, for not handing down to everlasting remembrance the ledo" 0 

worthy feats which were atchieved at this siege. For not 
only was Toledo a strong city, both by nature and in its 
walls and towers, but the flower of the chivalry of all Spain 
and of all Christendom was there assembled, and the Moors 
of Spain also, knowing that this was, as it were, the heart of 
their empire, did all they could to defend it : greatly to be 
blamed are they who neglected to transmit to us the memory 
of their deeds, and' greatly have they wronged the worthy 
knights, whose exploits should else have gained for them a 
never-dying renown. Nothing more, owing to their default, 
can we say of this so notable a siege, than that when Don 
Cabrían, the Bishop of León, was earnestly engaged in 
prayer for the success of the Christian arms, the glorious 
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BOOK St. Isidro appeared unto him, and certified that in fifteen 
^ days the city should be surrendered; and even so it came 

to pass, for the gates were opened to the King on Thursday 
the twenty-fifth of May, in the year of the sera 1123, which 
is the year of Christ 1085. The first Christian banner 
which entered the city was the banner of my Cid, and my 
Cid was the first Christian Alcayde of Toledo. Of the 
terms granted unto the Moors, and how they were set aside 
for the honor of the Catholic faith, and of the cunning 
of the Jews who dwelt in the city, and how the Romish 

Garibay. ritual was introduced therein, this is not the place to speak ; 
landoval a^ ^686 ^ings are written in the Chronicles of the Kings 
ff-"6° " of Spain. 

How rahia y . now Yahia, when he saw that he could by no means 
sent to spy ' 

the^state of hold Toledo, because on the one hand the Moors would 
give it to the King of Badajoz, and on the other King Don 
Alfonso warred against it, he made a covenant with King 
Don Alfonso to yield the city to him, i f he with the help of 
Alvar Fañez would put him in possession of Valencia, 
which had belonged unto Hicem and Alimaymon his fathers, 
but which the Guazil Abdalla Azis held now as his own, 
calling himself King thereof. And he covenanted that 
King Don Alfonso should also put into his hand Santa Maria 
Albarrazin, and the kingdom of Denia; and the King as-
sented to the covenant, thinking that in this manner the land 
would be all his own. Yahia therefore sent Abenfarat, who 
was his cousin, to Valencia, to spy out what the Guazil 
would do, whether he would peaceably deliver up the king­
dom unto him, or whether he would oppose his coming, 
which he greatly doubted, because it was rumored that he 
was about to give his daughter in marriage to the King of 
Zaragoza. Abenfarat went his way, and took up his abode 
in the house of a Moor who was called Abenlupo ; and 
while he sojourned there, the marriage of the Guazil's 
daughter was effected, and the Guazil himself fell sick and 
died. Then Abenfarat tarried yet awhile, to see what 
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would be the issue, for the men of Valencia were greatly BOOK 
troubled because of the death of their King. He left two 
sons, between whom there was no brotherly love during his 
life, and now that he was dead there was less. And they 
divided between them all that he had left, even the least 
thing did they divide, each being covetous to possess all 
that he could; and they made two factions in the town, 
each striving to possess himself of the power therein. But 
the men of Valencia who were not engaged on their side, 
and they also who held the castles round about were greatly 
troubled because of this strife which was between them ; and 
they also were divided between two opinions, they who 
were of the one wishing to give the kingdom to the King of 
Zaragoza, and they who were of the other, to yield them-
selves unto Yahia, the grandson of Alimaymon, because of 
the covenant which King Don Alfonso had made M d t h him. 
When Abenfarat knew these things he returned unto Ya­
hia, and told him all even as it was ; and Yahia saw that ^ r - d e l 

1 ] ; Cid. cap. 
he should have the citv, because of the discord which was 132. 133. 

J ' Chr. Gen. 

therein. ff. 241. 
V I . Then Yahia gathered together all his people, knights, How Yahia 

and cross-bowmen, and foot soldiers, and they of his board, ed into Va-
and the oííicers of his household, which are the eunuchs ;lei 
and he set forward on the way toward Valencia, and Alvar 
Fañez and his body of Christians with him. And he sent 
to the townsmen greeting them, and saying that. he was 
coming to dwell among them and to be their King, and that 
he would deal bountifully by them ; and that he should wait 
awhile in the town which was called Sera. The chief men 
of the town took counsel together what they should do, and 
at length they agreed to receive him for their L o r d ; and 
this they did more in fear of King Don Alfonso and of A l ­
var F a ñ e z than for any love towards him. This answer 
they sent him by Aboeza the Alcayde. Now Aboeza would 
fain have departed from Valencia when the Guazil Abdalla 
Azis died, because of the strife which was in the city, and 

22 
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BOOK he thought to betake himself to his own castle of Monviedro 
V' and dwell there, away from the troubles which were to 

come. Upon this purpose he took counsel with his friend 
Mahomed Abenhayen the Scribe, for there was great love 
between them ; and when the Scribe heard what he pur-
posed to do he was grieved thereat, and represented unto 
him that it was not fitting for him to forsake the city at such 
a time, so that Aboeza was persuaded. And they twain 
covenanted one to the other, to love and defend each other 
against all the men in the world, and to _ help each other 
with their persons and possessions; and Aboeza sent trusty 
men of his kinsfolk and friends to keep the Castles of 
Monviedro and Castro and Santa Cruz, and other Castles 
which were in his possession, and he himself abode in Va­
lencia. And now he went out to Yahia, to give unto him 
the keys of the city, and the good men of the city went out 
with him, and they made obeisance to him, and promised 
to serve him loyally. Then Yahia, the grandson of A l i -
maymon, set forth with all his company from Sera, and 
all the people of Valencia, high and low, went out to meet 
him with great rejoicings. And Aboeza adorned the A l -
cazar right nobly, that Yahia and his women and they of 
his company might lodge within. The most honorable 
of his knights took up their lodging in the town, and the 
cross-bow men, and others of low degree, lodged round 
about the Alcázar, and in certain dwellings which were be-

cid'cap tween ^ an(i ^ e Mosque, and Alvar Fañez , and the Christ-
133. 134. ians who were with him, in the village which was called 
Chr. Gen. 0 

ff. 242. Kuzal. 
Of the tax V I I . Yahia being now King in Valencia, made Aboeza 
raised for his Guazil, and gave him authority throughout all his king-
th^Chris- dom. Nevertheless he bore displeasure against him in his 

heart, becaüse he had served Abdalla Azis ; and on his part 
also Aboeza secretly feared the King, and knew not whether 
it were better to depart from him, or not; howbeit he 
thought it best to remain and serve him right loyally and 

tians. 
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well, that so he might win his good w i l l ; and when the King B O O K 

perceived this, his anger abated and was olean put out of '. 
mind. And he made Aboeza his favorite, and made a vow 
unto him and confirmed it by a writing, that he would never 
take away his favor from him, ñor change him for another, 
ñor do any thing in his dominions without him. W i t h this 
was Aboeza satisfied, and the fear Avhich he felt in his heart 
was removed. And they who held the castles brought great 
giíts to Yahia, with much humility and reverence, such as 
the Moors know how to put on. This they did to set his 
heart at rest, that he might confide in them, and send away 
Alvar Fañez into his own country, and not keep him and his 
people at so great a charge, for it cost them daily six hun-
dred maravedís, and the King had no treasure in Valencia, 
neither was he so rich that he could support his own com-
pany and supply this payment; and for this reason the 
Moors complained of the great cost. But on the other hand, 
Yahia feared that i f he should send away Alvar Fañez , the 
Moors would rise against h im; and to maintain him he laid 
a great tax upon the city and its district, saying that it was 
for bar ley. This tax they levied upon the rich, as well as 
the poor, and upon the great as well as the little, which they 
held to be a g-reat evil and breach of their privileges, and 
thought that by his fault Valencia would be lost, even as To­
ledo had been. This tribute so sorely aggrieved the people, 
that it became as it were a by-word in the city, Give the bar-
ley. They say there was a great mastifF, with whom they 
killed beef in the shambles, who, whenever he heard, ' Give Cbr. del 
the barley,' began to bark and growl : upon which a Troba-134.' isT 
dor said, Thanks be to God, we have many in the town who ffh242.Geri" 
are like the mastifF. 

V I I I . When they who held the Castles sent presents to How Yahia 
s ' 1 went 

Kina; Yahia, there was one among them, by ñame Aben- against 
, 7 , J Abenmazot 

mazot, who held Xativa, who neither sent him gifts, ñor in Xativa. 

came to oífer obedience. And the King sent to bid him 
come before him. But then Abenmazot sent a messenger 
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BOOK w i t h letters and fu l l of r i ch presents, saying that he could by 
no means come himself, and not this f rom any feigning, and 
that he would alway do him service with a true good wi l l . 
A n d he besought him as his Lord to let him remain in 

•• -Xativa, and he would give him the rents thereof; but i f it 
was Kis pleasure to appoint some other in his stead, he be-
sougl^t that he would then give him something for himself 
and his company to subsist upon, seeing that he desired 
nothing but the King's favor to be well with him. Then the 
King took counsel with Aboeza the Guazil, and the Guazil 
advised him to do unto Abenmazot even as he had requested, 
and let him keep Xativa ; and to send away Alvar Fañez 
because of the great charge it was to maintain him, and to 
live in peace, and put his kingdom in order ; in all which he 
advised him like a good counsellor and a true. But the 
King would not give héed to him ; instead thereof he com-
municated his counsel to the two sons of Abdalla Azis who 
had submitted unto him, and whom he had taken into his 
favor, and they told him that Aboeza had advised him i l l , 
and that it behoved him to lead out his host and bring Aben­
mazot to obedience. And the King believed them and went 
out and besieged Xativa. And the first day he entered the 
lower part of the town, but Abenmazot retired to the Alcázar 
and the fortresses, and defended the upper part; and the 
King besieged him there for four months, attacking him 
every day, t i l l food began to fail both in the army of the King 
and in. the town. And they of Valencia could not supply 
what was to be paid to Alvar Fañez and his company, much 
less what the King wanted. Then the King understood that 
he had been i l l advised, and for this reason he condemned 
one of the sons of Abdalla Azis to pay Alvar F a ñ e z for 
thirty days; and he seized a Jew who was one of his A l -
moxarifes in Valencia, that is to say, one who collected the 

cid' c íp . t a x e s ' a n d t o o k f r o m h i m a11 t h a t he had5 because he had 
chr Gen ac'-vise<i ^ m an(i while ^ lasted the people of Valencia 
ff. 243. had some respite. 
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I X . "When Abenmazot saw that the King was bent upon BOOK 
destroying him, and that every day he prest him more and 
more, he sent to Abenalfange who was King of Denia and na^fan'ge6' 

Tortosa, saying, that i f he would come and help him, he ^ e ^ e n . 
would make him Lord of Xativa and of all his other mazot. 

Castles, and would be at his mercy; and this he did to 
escape from the hands of Yahia. When Abenalfange heard 
this it pleased him well, and he sent one of his Alcaydes, 
who was called the Left-handed, to enter the Alcázar, and 
help to defend it t i l l he could collect a company of Christians 
who might deal with Alvar Fañez . So that Left-handed 
one entered the Alcázar with his company, and the L o r d of 
the Castle which was called Almenar, was already there to 
help Abenmazot, and encourage him that he should not sub-
mit. Then Abenalfange gathered together all his host and 
his cavalry, and brought with him Giralte the Román, with 
a company of French knights, and carne towards Xativa, as 
a hungry lion goes against a sheep, or like the coming of a 
flood in its hour ; so that Yahia was dismayed at the tidings 
of his approach, and fled as fast as he could to the Isle of 
Xucar, and though that Isle was so near, he thought he had 
done a great thing; and from thence he went to Valencia, 
holding himself greatly dishonored. Then Abenalfange had 
Xativa and all its Castles, so that it was all one kingdom as 
far as Denia. A n d he took Abenmazot. with all his women 
and his household and all that he had, to Denia, and gave 
him possessions there, and did him much honor. And 
when it was seen that King Yahia was thus dishonored, and 
that Alvar F a ñ e z had not helped him as had been looked 
for, they who held the Castles lost all fear of him, so that 
their hearts were changed towards him, as well they of 
Valencia as of the other Castles, and they said that they 
would rather belong to Abenalfange than to him, because £!"••del 

0 0 " Cid, cap. 
the town could not bear the charge of the Christians, ñor i?,7- _ 
the oppressions which they sunered because of them. tf- 243. 
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BOOK X . Abenalfange abodc somc days in Xativa, and then 
moved on towards Valencia, thinking to win the c i ty ; for 

FaaezAlvar he knew how greatly the people were oppressed because of 
Srcoun? tlie Christians, and that they could not bear it, and that there 
try' was no love between them and their Lord . And he passed 

by a place which was an oratory of the Moors in their festi-
vals, which they cali in Arabio Axera, or Araxea; and he 
halted near Valencia, so that they in the town might see him ; 
and he went round about the town, to the right and to the 
left, wheresoever he would. The King of Valencia with his 
knights was near the wall watching him, and Alvar F a ñ e z 
and his company were in readiness lest the French should 
defy them. And after Abenalfange had staid there awhile 
he drew off and went his way to Tortosa. And Yahia 
was perplexed with Alvar Fañez , and sought for means to 
pay him ; and he threw the two sons of Abdalla Azis into 
prison, and many other good men of the town also, and 
took from them great riches. Then he made a covenant 
with Alvar Fañez , that he should remain with him, and gave 
him great possessions. And when the Moors saw that A l ­
var Fañez was in such power, all the ruffians and lewd 
livers in the town flocked unto him, so that Valencia was in 
the hands of him and his foliowers ; and the Moors being 
desperate of remedy deserted the town, and went whither 
they could, setting at nought their inheritances, for no man 
was safe, neither in his goods ñor person. Then Alvar 
Fañez made an inroad into the lands of Abenalfange, and 
overran the lands of Buriana, and other parts; and there 

chr. del went with him a great company of those Moorish desperá­
is?.' isa." does wl10 had joined him, and of other Moorish Almogav-
ffh244Gen' ^ 6 8 ' 1 a n d th-ey stormed towns and castles, and slew many 

1 Miedes says that Almogávares means — O f dust — i , e. Men sprung 
from the dust of the earth; or because, being the best of the araiy, they, 
in Arabio phrase, trod their enemies to dust. Bluteau explains it to mean 
men covered with dust, — he is strangely mistaken in supposing them to 
be oíd garrison soldiers. F r . Joara de Sousa, in his Lexicón Etymolo-
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Moors, and brought away flocks and herds, both of cattle BOOK 
and of brood mares, and much gold and silver, and store of ̂  '. 
wearing apparel, all which they sold in Valencia. 

X I . Now when one of the sons of Abdalla Azis was of the 
loosed from prison, he placed his love upon Alvar Fañez , which one 

and gave him goodly gifts, and upon Aboeza, the King's °f 
Guazil, and upon a Jcw who was a messeñger from King ?̂1^ 
Don Alfonso. A n d they all sent to King Don Alfonso, to be- |?°"oA1' 
seech him that he would take the son of Abdalla Azis and all 
that he had under his protection, so that Yahia might do no 
evil unto him, neither take by forcé from him anything that 
was his; and for this protection he promised to give the 
King thirty thousand maravedís yearly. This request King 
Don Alfonso granted, and incontinently he took him under his 
protection, and sent to the King of Valencia to request that 
he would do him no wrong. Therefore the son of Abdalla 
Azis was from that time held in more honor, because of 
the love of King Don Alfonso ; nevertheless he was still 
kept under a guard in his own house, that he should not 

gico, makes it merely warriors or íighting men. A n incursión into an 
enemy's country was called almogauria. 

Winter and summer they lay upon the bare earth, they consorted in 
the camp with none but their fellows, their manners were sullen like sav-. 
ages, they spake little, but -when they went to battle were like wild 
beasts let loóse, and kindléd with joy. Winter and summer they wore 
the same dress of skins, girt with a cord of esparto. Shoes, bonnet, 
and scrip, were of the same skin as their dress; they carried spear, 
sword, and dagger, some of them a mace, {porrimaza) and without any 
defensivo arm'or attacked horse or foot, generally the horse. The Almo­
gávar, when a horseman ran at him, rested the end of his lance against 
his right foot, bent forward, and let the horse spit himself; — i n a rao-
ment he was upon the fallen horseman with his dagger, or rather knife. 
I f he could kill the man and save the horse, his reward was to be-
come a horse-soldier himself, for they were as skilful when mounted as 
when a-foot. 

The French in Sicily thought little of the Spanish men at arms, but 
stood in great fear of the Almogávares. Miedes, Historia del Rey D . 
Jamyeel Conquistador. L . W . C . l . 
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BOOK issue forth. A n d because of this confineraent not thinking 
himself safe, he made a hole through the wall and got out 
by night in woman's apparel, and lay hid all the next day 
in a garden, and on the following night mounted on horse-
back and rodé to Monviedro. When the Guazil knew this 
he took his son and his imcle as sureties for him for the 
thirty thousand maravedís, which the Jew was now come to 
receive for King Don Alfonso. And they went to Monvie­
dro to him, and communed with him, and accorded with 
him that he should pay the one half immediately, and when-
ever he returned to Valencia and was safe there in posses-
sion of all his rents and inheritances, that then he should 
pay the remainder: so he paid the fifteen thousand forth-
with in silver, and in rings of gold, and in cloth, and in 
strings of pearls, and the Jew returned theréwith to King 
Don Alfonso. A t this time his brother was released from 
prison by desire of the King of Zarragoza, and he went 

cid" cap i m t 0 5 and niany of the rich men of the city also betook 
139. no. themselves to Monviedro, because they were not secure 
Chr. Gen. . . . . . . v. 

ff. 244. neither in their possessions ñor in their bodies. 
How Alvar X I I . I n these days the Almorávides aróse in Barbary. 
called The rise of this people and all that they did in Spain are not 
ValJncia0"1 for me to relate in this place. Suffice it to say, that King 

Don Alfonso being in great Danger, sent for Alvar Fañez 
and all his company ; and that he had so much to do for 
himself that he took no thought for Valencia. A n d when 
they who had the keeping of Yahia's Castles saw this they 
rose against him, so that few remained unto him, and they 
of his vassals in whom he put the most trust proved false, 
so that the heart of the King of Denia and Tortosa grew, 
and he thought to win Valencia. The chief persons of the 
town also sent unto him, saying that i f he would come they 
would give the city into his hands. So he gathered together 
his host, and a company of French also, and sent them for-
ward under the command of his únele, saying that he would 
follow and join them on a certain day. But they went for-
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ward, and Yahia thinking that i f he should conquer them he B O O K 

should be secure, went out and fought against them; and he '.—-
was defeated and lost a great part of his people and of his 
arms, and returned into the city with great loss. When 
Abenalfange, who was a day's journey oíF, heard this, he 
marched all night, and carne before Valencia. And King 
Yahia knew not what to do, and was minded to yield up the 
town. And he took counsel with his people, and they ad-
vised him to send for help to King Don Alfonso, and also to 
the King of Zaragoza, and he did accordingly. And an Ar-
rayaz of Cuenca, whose ñame was Abencaño, who was a na-
tive of Valencia went to Zaragoza, and told the King that i f 
he wouldgo thither he would deliver the city into his hands, capr.' iso! ' 

for it appertained unto him rather than to Abenalfange. ff.h249^en* 
X I I I . And in those days my Cid gathered together a How the 

great forcé, and went to the borders of Aragón, and crost Zaragoza!*5 

the Douro, and lodged that night in Fresno. From thence 
he went to Calamocha, where he kept Whitsuntide. Whi le 
he lay there the King of Albarrazin, being in great fear of 
him, sent to him requesting that they might meet. And 
when they saw each other they established great love be-
tween them, and the King from that day became tributary to 
the Cid. Then the Cid went to Zaragoza, where he was 
full honorably received. And when Abencaño carne to Za­
ragoza inviting King Almescahen to go and take Valencia, 
and King Yahia sent also to beg succor at his hands, the 
King asked the Cid to go with him, and gave him whatever 
he demanded. So greatly did this King desire to have Va­
lencia, that he looked not whether his forcé was great or 
little, ñor whether that of the Cid was greater than his own, 
but went on as fast as he could. When the King of Denia 
heard that he was' coming and the Cid with him, he durst 
not abide them. And he thought that the King of Zaragoza 
by the Cid's help would win the city, and that he should re-
main with the labor he had undergone, and the costs. Then 
he placed his love upon King Yahia, and sent him all the . 

23 • 
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BOOK 
V . 

Chr. del 
Cid. cap. 
151. Chr. 
Gen. ff. 
249. 

food he had, and besought him to help him, saying that he 
would supply him with whatever he needed. King Yahia 
was well pleased with this, though he well understood the 
reason, and firm wrilings were made to this effect, and then 
Abenalfange went to Tortosa. 

How the 
King of 
Zaragoza 
could not 
win the 
city as he 
thought. 

X I V . And when the King of Zaragoza and the Cid 
drew nigh unto Valencia, Yahia went out to welcome them, 
and thanked them greatly for coming to his assistance ; and 
he lodged them in the great garden, which was cailed the 
Garden of Vi l l a Nueva, and honored them greatly, and 
sent them great presents ; and he invited them afterwards to 
come with their honorable men and be his guests in the A l -
cazar. But the King of Zaragoza all this while had his eye 
upon the town, thinking that it would be given up to him as 
Abencaño had promised ; but he saw no sign of this, neither 
knew he how he could win it. Moreover Yahia had placed 
his love upon the Cid, and had sent him full noble gifts 
when he was upon the road, in secret, so that the King of 
Zaragoza knew not thereof. And the King of Zaragoza 
asked counsel of the Cid how he might get Valencia into 
his hands, and besought the Cid to help him. But the Cid 
made answer, how could that be, seeing that Yahia had re-
ceived it from the hands of King Don Alfonso, who had 
given it unto him that he might dwell therein. I f indeed 
King Don Alfonso should give it to the King of Zaragoza, 
then might the King win it, and he would help him so to do ; 
otherwise he must be against him. When the King heard 
this, he perceived how the Cid stood in this matter ; and he 
left an Alcayde with a body of knights to assist King Yahia, 
and also to see i f he could win the town ; and he himself 
returned to Zaragoza. 

How Count 

X V . Then the Cid went to besiege the Castle called 
Snjrr136' Perica, by advice of the King of Zaragoza, that he might 
alSnst Va- a frontier against Monviedro. This he did because, 

when the King came to relieve Valencia, Aboeza had cov-
enanted to give up Monviedro unto him, the which he had 

Chr. del 
Cid. cap. 
152. 
Chr. Gen. 
ff. 250. 

lencia. 
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not done ; and the King thought that i f he made war upon BOOK 

these Castles, they must either yield unto him, or be at his 1 
mercy, because they did not belong to the King of Denia. 
But when Aboeza knew this, he sent to Abenalfange the 
King of Denia, saying that he would give him the Castle ; 
and the King of Denia incontinently carne and took posses-
sion of it, and Aboeza beeame his vassal. When the Cid 
saw this, he understood that Valencia must needs be lost, 
and thought in his heart that he could win the city for him-
self, and keep it. Then sent he letters to King Don A l ­
fonso, in which he besought him of his mercy not to think it 
i l l that the people who were with him should remain with 
him, for he would do God ser vice , and maintain them at the 
cost of the Moors, and whensoever the King stood in need 
of their service, he and they would go unto him and serve 
him freely ; and at other times they would make war upon 
the Moors, and break their power, so that the King might 
win the land. W e l l was King Don Alfonso pleased at 
this, and he sent to say that they who were in the Cid's 
company might remain with him, and that as many as 
would might go join him. A n d my Cid went to the King 
to commune with him, and while my Cid was with him, 
Don Ramón Berenguer, L o r d of Barcelona, came to Zara­
goza ; and the King gave him great gifts, that he might 
not place his love upon any other for want ; for the King 
had now put away his love from the Cid, thinking that be-
cause of him he had lost Valencia. And presently he sent 
a forcé to besiege Valencia, under Don Ramón Berenguer ; 
and he had two Bastilles built, one in Lir ia , which King 
Yahia had given him when he came to relieve him, and the 
other in Juballa, and he thought to build another on the 
side of Albuhera, so that none might enter into the city, 
neither go out from it. And he reedified the Castle of Ce­
bolla, that the Count might retire thither, i f it should be <%• del 

Cid. cap. 

needful ; and every day the Count attacked the city, and 153. 154. 
King Yahia defended himself, looking for the coming of the ff. 251. 
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BOOK Cid to help him, according to the covenant which was be-
V' tween them. 

of the X V I . When the Cid returned from Castillo, and knew 
whfdfwas that Valencia was besieged by the French, he went to Tares 
^een King which is near Monviedro, and encamped there with his 
S?Cida.nd People, who were many in'mimber. And when the Count 

knew that the Cid was so near, he feared him, holding him 
to be his enemy. And the Cid sent to him, to bid him 
move from that place and raise the siege of Valencia. The 
Count took Counsel with his knights, and they said that they • 
would rather give battle to the Cid. Howbeit the Cid had 
no wish to fight with them, because the Count was related 
to King Don Alfonso, and moreover he had defeated him 
and made him prisoner heretofore : so he sent a second 
time, bidding him depart. And the Count seeing that he 
could not abide there in the Cid's despite, broke up the 
siege and went his way by Requena, for he would not pass 
through Zaragoza. Then the Cid went to Valencia, and 
King Yahia received him full honorably, and made a cove­
nant with him to give him weekly four thousand maravedís 
of silver, and he on his part was to reduce the Castles to 
his obedience, so that they should pay the same rents unto 
him, as had been paid unto the former kings of Valencia ; 
and that the Cid should protect him against all men, Moors 
or Christians, and should have his home in Valencia, and 
bring all his booty there to be sold, and that he should have 
his granarles there. This covenant was confirmed in Avrit-
ing, so that they were secure on one side and on the other. 

^u , . A n d my Cid sent to all those who held -the Castles, com-
Chr. del ^ ' 

Cid. cap. manding them to pay their rents to the King of Valencia as 
Chr. Gen. they had done aforetime, and they all obeyed his command, 
ff. 2 5 1 . * • • ^ i i • , 

every one stnvmg to have his love. 
Ramón 

X V I I . When the Cid had thus set the land in order he 
aa^eaTlth went against the King of Denla, and warred against Denla 
C c h m e n an(i against dativa ; and he abode there all the winter, do-
against the ing great hurt, insomuch that there did not remain a wall 
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standing from Orihuela to Xativa, for he laid everything B O O K 

waste ; and all booty and his prisoners he sold in Valencia 
Then he went towards Tortosa, destroying every thing as 
he went; and he pitched his camp near unto the city of 
Tortosa, in a place which in Arabio is called Maurelet, and 
he cut down every thing before him, orchards and vines and 
corn. When King Abenalfange saw that the land was thus 
destroyed, and that neither bread, ñor wine, ñor flocks 
would be left him, he sent to Count Ramón Berenguer, be-
seeching him to gather together a great forcé, and drive the 
Cid out of the land, for which service he would give him 
whatever he might stand in need of. A n d the Count, think-
ing now to be revenged of the Cid for his former defeat, and 
because he had taken from him the rents which he used to 
receive from the land of Valencia, took what the King gave 
him, and assembled a great host of the Christians. This 
was so great a power when the Moors had joined, that 
they surely thought the Cid would fly before them ; for the 
Moors held that these Frenchmen were the best knights in 
the world, and the best appointed, and they who could bear 
the most in battle. "When the Cid knew that they carne 
resolved to fight him, he doubted that he could not give 
them battle because of their great numbers, and sought how 
he might wisely disperse him. And he got among the 
mountain valleys, whereunto the entrance was by a narrow 
strait, and there he planted his barriers', and guarded them 
well that the Frenchmen might not enter. The King of 
Zaragoza sent to tell him to be upon his guard, for Count 
Ramón Berenguer would without doubt attack h i m : and 
the Cid returned for answer, Let him come. On the mor-
row the Count came nearer, and. encamped a league ofF, in 
sight of him, and when it was night he sent his spies to 
view the camp of Ruy diez the Cid. The next day he sent 
to bid him come out and fight, and the Cid answered, that 
he did not want to fight ñor to have any strife with him, but 
to pass on with his people. And they drew nearer and 
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BOOK invited him to come out, and defied him, saying that he 
feared to meet them in the field ; but he set nothing by all 

cid.' cap- thi8, They thought he did it because of his weakness, and 
Chr Gea. ^16 w a s 0f tbem 5 but what he did was to wear 
ff. 252. out their patience. 
Of the let- X V I I I . Then the Count sent a letter to the Cid after this 
ter which 

Count Ray- fasbion : I Count Don Ramón Berenguer oí Barcelona, and 
unto the all my vassals with me, say unto thee, Ruy diez, that we ha ve 

seen thy letter to King Almescahen of Zaragoza, which thou 
toldest him to show unto us, that we might have the more 
cause of quarrel against thee. Before this thou hast done 
great displeasure unto us, so that we ought at all times to 
bear i l l w i l l against thee. And now while thou hast our 
goods in thy possession as booty, thou sendest thy letter to 
King Almescahen, saying that we are like our wives. God 
give us means to show thee that we are not such. A n d thou 
saidst unto him, that before we could be with thee thou 
wouldst come to us ; now we wi l l not alight from our horses 
t i l l we have taken vengeance on thee, and seen what sort of 
Gods these mountain crows and daws are, in whom thou 
puttest thy trust to fight with us; whereas we believe in one 
God alone, who wi l l give us vengeance against thee. Of a 
truth, to-morrow morning we wi l l be with thee, and i f thou 
wilt leave the mountain and come out to us in the plain, 
then wilt thou be, as they cali thee, Rodrigo the Campeador. 
But i f thou wil t not do this, thou wilt then be what accord-
ing to the custom of Castille is called alevoso, and bauzador 
according to the custom of France ; that is to say, a false 
traitor. And i f thou wilt not come down from the mountain 
it shall not avail thee, for we w i l l not depart from henee t i l l 
we have thee in our hands, either dead or alive, and we wi l l 

Chr. del deal with thee as thou hast done by us, and God in his merey 
155cap' now take vengeance upon thee for his churches which thou 
ff.hr252Gen' hast destroyed. 
Of the letter X I X . When the Cid had read this letter he wrote another 
Cid1Csent in in reply after this manner : I Ruydiez and my vassals : God 
reply. 
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save you Count! I have seen your letter in which you tell B O O K 

me that I sent ene to King Almescahen of Zaragoza, speak- " 
ing contumeliously of you and of all your vassals; and true 
it is that I did so speak, and I wi l l tell you for what reason. 
When you were with him you spake contumeliously of me 
before him, saying of me the worst you could, and affirming 
that I did not daré enter the lands of Abenalfange for fear 
of you. Moreover Ramón de Bajaran, and other of your 
knights who were with him, spake i l l of me and of my vas­
sals before King Don Alfonso of Castille, and you also after 
this went to King Don Alfonso, and said that you would 
have fought with me, and driven me out of the lands of 
Abenalfange, but that I was dismayed, and did not daré do 
battle with you; and you said unto him, that i f it had not 
been for the love of him, you would not have suffered me to 
be one day in the land. Now then I say that I thank you 
because you no longer let me alone for the love of him. 
Come ! here I am; this is the plainest ground among these 
mountains, and I am ready to receive you. But I know 
you daré not come, for Moors and Christians know that I 
conquered you once, and took you and your vassals, and 
took from ye all that ye had with ye : and i f ye come now 
ye shall receive the same payment at my hands as heretofore. Chr. ^del 
As for what thou sayest that I am a false traitor, thou liest, ise.' 

, P i . n !/• Chr. Gen. 

and art a íalse traitor thyselí. fF. 252. 
X X . Greatly was the Count enraged when he read this How the 

letter, and he took counsel with his vassals, and in the night ed Count 

time took possession of the mountain above the camp of the 
Cid, thinking that by this means he might conquer him. On 
the morrow the Cid sent away certain of his company as i f 
they were flying, and bade them go by such ways that the 
French might see them, and instructed them what to say 
when they should be taken. When the French saw them, 
they pursued and took them, and carried them before the 
Count, and he asked of them what the Cid would do. Then 
made they answer that he meant to fly, and had only re-
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BOOK mained that day to put his things in order for flight, and as 
': soon as night carne he would make his escape by way of the 

mountain. Moreover they said that the Cid did not think 
Count Ramón had it so much at heart to give him battle, or 
he would not have awaited t i l l his coming ; and they coun-
selled the Count to send and take possession of the passes by 
which he meant to escape, for so he might easily take him. 
Then the Frenchmen divided their host into four parts, and 
sent them to guard the passes, and the Count himself remained 
with one part at the entrance of the straits. The Cid was 
ready with all his company, and he had sent the Moors who 
were Avith him forward to the passes whither his men had 
directed the Frenchmen, and they lay in ambush there ; and 
when the Frenchmen were in the strong places, and had 
begun to ascend, little by little, as they could, they rose upon 
them from the ambush and slew many, and took others of the 
best, and among the prisoners was Guirabent the brother of 
Giralte the Román, who was wounded in the face. A n d the 
Cid went out and attacked the Count, and the battle was a 
hard one; the Count was beaten from his horse, nevertheless 
his men remounted him, and he bade them stand to it bravely, 
and the battle lasted long time ; but at the end, he who was 
never conquered won the day. A n d the Cid took a good 
thousand prisoners; among them was Don Bernalte de 
Tamaris, and Giralte the Román, and Ricarte Guillen. And 
he put them all in irons, and reproached them saying, that he 
well knew what his chivalry was, and his hardihood, and that 
he should thus beat them all down ; and he said to them that 
he was in God's service, taking vengeance for the ills which 
the Moors had done unto the Christians, and had done them 
no wrong ; but they being envious of him, had come to help 
the Moors, therefore God had helped him, because he was in 
his service. And he took their tents, and their horses, and 
their arms, which were many and good ; and much gold and 
silver, and fine linen, and all that they had, so that he and all 
his company were rich men with the spoils. And when 
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Count Ramón heard in his flight that the Cid had taken all BOOK 
his chief captains, and that well nigh all his power was either 
slain or taken, he thought it best to come unto the Cid and 
trust unto hia mercy, and he carne full humbly and put him-
self into his hands. A n d the Cid received him full well and 
honored him greatly, and let him go into his own country. 
And the Count ofFered a price for the prisoners which was a 
full great ransom, and moreover the swords precious above 
all others, which were made in other times.1 Bountiful was 
the Cid when he received this ransom, and great part of it 
he returned unto them again, and showed them great cour-^1"- ^ 
tesy, and they did homage to him never to come against him w¿ 
with any man in the world. ff- 253-

X X I . When Abenalfange the King of Denia and Tortosa Of the 
. . dealh of 

heard this, he was so sorely grieved that he fell sick and died. Aben^l-

He left one son Avho was a little one, and the sons of Buxar how^he" 

were his guardians. One of these held Tortosa for the child, masterTn16 

and the other held Xativa, and one who was their cousin heldtbe lancL 
Denia. And they knowing that they could neither live in 
peace, ñor yet have strength for war, unless they could have 
the love of the Cid, sent humbly to say unto him that i f he 
would do no hurt to their lands they would do whatever he 
pleased, and pay him yearly what he should think good. 
And the Cid demanded of them fifty thousand maravedís of 
silver, every year : and the covenant was made between 
them, and the whole country from Tortosa to Orihuela was 
under his protection and at his command. And he fixed 
the tribute which each Castle was to pay, that it should be 
certain : and it was as you shall be told. The Lord of Albar-

1 E mas las espadas preciadas de todos, que fueran de otro tempo. Ber-
ganza labors to prove that this is not the former story of the Count of 
Barcelona told over again, and that the only error in the Chronicle is 
that of mistaking Berenguer Ramón for his brother Ramón Berenguer, 
a mistake sufficiently easy. But this circumstance of the swords makes 
against him, for Colada must be meant, and Colada is mentioned as part 
of the spoils in the former battle. 

24 
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BOOK razin was to pay ten thousand, according to covenant as 
V . you heard heretofore, and the L o r d of Alfuente' ten thou-

sand, and Monviedro eight thousand, and Segorbe six thou-
sand, and Xerica four thousand, and Almenara three thou-
sand. Lir ia at that time paid nothing, for it was in the 
Lordship of Zaragoza; but the Cid had it in his heart to 
fight with that King. For every thousand maravedis a 
hundred more were paid for a Bishop, whom the Moors 
called Alat Almarian. And you are to know that whatever 
my Cid commanded in Valencia was done, and whatever 
he forbad îvas forbidden. And because the King was sick 
of .a malady which continued upon him long time, so that 
•he could not mount on horseback, and was seen by none, 
Valencia remained under the command of his Goazil Aben-
alfarax, whom the Cid had appointed. A n d then the Cid 

. appointed trusty men in the city who should know to how 
much the rents amounted, as well those of the land as of 
the sea; and i n every village he placed a knight to protect 
it, so that none dared do wrong to another, ñor take any-
thing from him. Each of these knights had three maravedis 
daily. And the people complained greatly of what they 
gave these knights, and of that also which they paid to 
King Yahia. Yet were they withal abundantly supplied with 

Cid.'cap. bread, and with flocks which the Christians- brought in, and 
ChnGen. c a P ^ e s both male and female, and with Moorish men 
ff. 253. a n ¿ women; gave great sums for their ransom. •• 

c id w e n t t o X X I 1 - Then the Cid sent t0 the King -of Zaragoza, bid-
t h l n k i n g t o ^ m J i e ^ UP Bastilles which he had built against 
Kiñgthe V^6110^ I an(i t^6 King returned for answer that he would 

not until King Yahia had paid him the whole cost which he 
had beeñ at, when he came to his succor against King 
Abenalfange. Then the Cid besieged Lir ia , and the people 
submitted unto him, that they should pay him yearly two 
thousand maravedis. And he overran the whole of the 
King of Zaragoza's country, and brought great spoils to 
Valencia. Now at this time a Moor called A l i Abenaxa, 
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the Adelantado of the Almorávides, that is to say, of the BOOK 
Moors from beyond sea, carne with a great power of the 
Moors of Andalusia to besiege the Castle of Aledo. This 
he did because he knew that King Don Alfonso would come 
to its relief, and he thought that peradventure the King 
would bring with him so small a forcé that he might slay or 
take him. But when the King heard of it he assembled a 
great host, and sent to the Cid, bidding him come and aid 
him. A n d the Cid went to Requena, believing that he 
should meet the King there; but the King went another 
way, and the Cid not knowing this tarried some days in 
Requena expecting him, because that was the road. And 
when the Moors knew that King Don Alfonso was coming 
with so great a host to relieve the Castle, they departed, 
flying. And King Don Alfonso came to the Castle, and 
when he came there he found that he was short of victuals, 
and returned in great distress for want of food, and lost 
many men and many beasts who could not pass the Sierra. 
Nevertheless he supplied the castle well with arms, and with chr.delCid. 

such food as he could. . . câ 160-

X X I I I . Now they. who hated the Cid spake leasing- of g07A£f0 
him to King Don Alfonso, saying that he had tarried in^gQ^da 
Requena, knowing that the King was gone another way, ̂ °nd 
that so he might give the Moors opportunity to fall upon 
him. And the King believed them, and was wroth against 
the Cid, and ordered all that he had in Castille to be taken 
from him, and sent to take his wife, and his daughters. 
When the Cid heard this he sent presently a knight to the 
King to defend himself, saying, that i f there were Count or 
Rico-ome or knight who would maintain that he had a better 
and truer w i l l to do the King service than he had, he would 
do battle with him body to body,1 but the King being greatly 

1 Berganza refers to F r . Juan Gi l de Zamora, who wrote about five cen-
turies before him, for a fulier account of this part of the Cid's history ; 
and he quotes from him four diíferent forms of defiance delivered in the 
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BOOK incensed would not hear him. And when they who hated 
V' the Cid saw this, and knew that the Cid was gone against a 

Castle near Zaragoza, they besought the King to give them 
forcé to go against h im; howbeit this the King would not. 
A t this time A l i Abenaxa, the Adelantado of the Almorá­
vides, besieged Murcia, and there was a dearth in the city, 
and Alvar F a ñ e z who should have relieved them did not, 
and they were so closely beset that they were compelled to 
yield up the town. As soon as he had taken Murcia he 
went against the Castle of Aledo, of which you have heard, 
and assaulted i t vigorously, and took it by forcé and by 
famine. And when he had won Murcia and Aledo, he 
wished to have Valencia also, and they of Valencia, because 
of the yoke of the Cid, longed to be his vassals, even as the 
sick man longeth after health. When King Don Alfonso 
heard what A l i Abenaxa had done, he made ready to go 
against him. And the Queen his wife, and certain knights 
who were friends to the Cid, wrote to him that he should 
now come and serve the King in such a season, that the King 
might thank him greatly and lay aside his wrath. Having 
seen these letters the Cid set out from Zaragoza where he 
was, and went his way with a great host, and advanced as 
far as Martos, where he found the King. A n d the King re-
ceived him honorably, and they continued together t i l l the 
King passed the Sierra de Elvira, and the Cid went in the 
plain below before him. And they who wished i l l to him 
said to the King, The Cid came after you like one who was 
wearied, and now he goes before you. And after this man-
ner they set the King again against him, so that his dis-
pleasure was greatly moved. A n d the Moors did not ven-

Chr. del toe to give him battle, but left the Castle of Aledo and 
i ¿ ; cap' retreated to Murcia, and the King returned to Ubeda. And 

Cid's ñame by one of his people before the K i n g ; upon which the K i n g 
set Doña Ximena and her daughters at liberty, but would do the Cid no 
farther justice. L . 5. C. 22. 274. 275. 
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when the Cid saw that the heart of the King was changed, BOOK 
he returned to Valencia, and the King went back to Toledo. 

X X I V . After this King Don Alfonso drew forth a great *|°dwla|5e 
host and went towards Valencia, and sent to all the Castles waste the 

in that land, saying that for five years they should pay him King Don 
the tribute which they were wont to pay unto the Cid. andThe' 
"When the Cid knew this he sent to the King, saying, he himjustke. 

marvelled why the King should thus seek to dishonor him, 
and that he trusted in God soon to make him know how i l l 
he was advised by those about him. A n d presently the Cid 
gathered together a full great host both of Moors and of 
Christians, and entered the land of King Don Alfonso, burn-
ing and destroying whatever he found, and he took Logroño, 
and Alfaro also, and sacked it. While he was at Alfaro, 
Count Garci Ordoñez and certain other Ricos-ornes of Cas-
tille sent to say to him, that i f he would tarry for them seven 
days, they would come and give him battle. He tarried for 
them twelve days, and they did not daré to come ; and 
when the Cid saw this he returned to Zaragoza. Now 
when King Don Alfonso knew what the Cid had done in 
his land, and that the Ricos-omes had not dared fight against 
him, he saw that he had taken an evil counsel when he set 
his heart against him. And he sent his letters to the Cid 
saying, that he forgave him all that he had done, seeing that 
he himself had given the occasion ; and he besought him to 
come to Castille, where he should find all things free which 
appertained unto him. Much was the Cid rejoiced at these 
tidings, and he wrote to the King thanking him for his grace, 
and beseeching him not to give car to bad counsellors, for Chr. del 
he would alway be at his service. íes. Cap 

X X V . Now it came to pass, that by reason of certain How Aben-

affairs the Cid tarried a long time in Zaragoza. And they [ l i ¿ imo-

of Valencia being no longer kept in awe by his presence, ™v¿d¿se 
complained one to another of the oppressions and wrongs j ^ " ^ 1 Va' 
which they endured from him and from his servants, and 
from Abenalfarax, the Guazil whom he had appointed ; 
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BOOK and they conspired with an Alcayde who was called Aben-
_ _ _ Z l _ i a f . And when Abenalfarax the Guazil understood how 

Abeniaf cast aboat to disturb the peace of the city, he would 
have takeh him and cast him into prison ; but this he dared-
not do t i l l the Cid should come, and moreover he weened 
that upon his coming the disturbance would cease. Now 
Abeniaf knew that the Guazil was' minded to seize him i f 
he could have dared so to do, and he sent his messengers to 
A l i Abenaxa the Adelantado of the Almorávides, who was 
now Lord of Murcia, telling him to come to Valencia, and 
he would deliver the city into his hands. Moreover he took 
counsel with the Alcayde of Algezira de Xucar, that the 
Alcayde also should send to A l i Abenaxa, exhorting him to 
make good speed himself, or to send an Alcayde with a 
fitting power, and to come to Algezira, which was near, and 
then presently proceed to Valencia. So soon as A l i Aben­
axa had received this message, he made speed to come, and 
as many castles as were upon his road submitted unto him. 
When the Alcayde of Denia heard of his coming, and that 
all these Castles had submitted, he durst not abide. there, but 
fled to Xativa ; and A l i Abenaxa took possession of Denia, 
and he sent his Alcayde to Algezira de Xucar, and took • 
possession of that also. When these tidings came to Va­
lencia, the Bishop who was there, and the forty knights who 

• were with the messenger of the King of Aragón because of 
the friendship between their King and the Cid, and all the 
other Christians who were in the city, would no longer 
abide there, but took of their goods each as much as he 
could, and went away in fear. And the Guazil was greatly 
dismayed, neither knew he what course to take, and Yahia 
the King, though he was now healed of his malady, neither 
mounted on horseback, ñor appeared abroad. Abenalfarax 
went unto him, and told him the peril in which they stood. 
And their counsel was, that they should remove all that they 
had from Valencia, and go to the Castle of Segorbe. Then 
they sent away many beasts laden with goods and with 
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riches, under the care of a nephew of the Guazil and many BOOK 
others, to the Castle of Benaecab, that is to say, the Castle _ 
of the Eagle,-to be in charge of the Alcayde thereof. And 
the King and the Guazil bestirred themselves, and gathered 
together foot soldiers and cross-bowmen to defend the Alca-
zar, and sent speedily to Zaragoza, telling the Cid to come ; 
but he could not set forth so speedily as need Was : and the 
stir Avhich was in the city endured for full twenty days. 
Then that Alcayde of A l i Abenaxa who was in Algezira de 
Xucar, set forward in the first of the night with twenty horse­
men of the Almorávides, and as many more of Algezira, all 
ciad alike in green, that they might all be taken for Almorá­
vides ; and they came by day-break to Valencia to the gate 
of Tudela, and sounded their drums, and the rumor in the 
town was, that there were full five 'hundred knights of the 
Almorávides, and the Guazil was in great fear. And he 
went to the Alcázar to take counsel with the King, and they gh^5 Chr. Gen. 

254. 
gave order that the gates of the town should be barred, and ^ J - del 
that the walls should be manned. 163-

X X V I . Then the King's soldiers went to the house of*10™ Va-
0 ^ • l e t i c i a w a s 

Abeniaf the Alcayde who had sent for the Almorávides, and won by the 
called unto him to'come forth that they might take him be- des. 
fore the King ; but he was trembling in great fear, and 
would not come out. And the men of the town came to his 
help, and when he sáw the company that were on his side, 
he came forth and went with them to the Alcázar, and en-
tered it and took the Guazil of the Cid. And the townsmen 
ran to the gates and drove away those of the King's party 
who guarded them; and they strove to beat the gates down, 
but they could not, and they set fire to them and burnt 
them. And others let down ropes from the walls, and drew 
up the Almorávides. King Yahia put on woman's apparel, 
and fled with his women, and hid himself in a dwelling near 
unto a bath. And the Almorávides took possession of the chr. Gen. 
Alcázar, and plundered it. One Christian they slew who chn del 
guarded the gates, and another who was of St. Maria de ^ 
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BOOK Albarrazin, who guarded one of the towers of the wall. 
. I n this manner was Valencia lost. 
"°fpufbe" X X V I I . NowwhenAbeniafsaw that all the people were 
to1D(kathhia on ^S S^e' anĉ  obeyed him, his heart grew and he was 

puffed up, insomuch that he despised those who were as 
good as himself or better. Albeit he was of good parentage, 
for his fathers before him had all been Alcaydes ever since 
Valencia was in the hands of the Moors. And because he 
knew that the King had not fled out of the town, he made 
search for him, and found him in the house where he had 
hidden himself with his women. Now the King Avhen he 
fled from the Alcázar had taken with him the besí of his 
treasures, pearls, among which was one the most precious 
and noble that could be, so that no where was there a better 
one to be found, ñor so good; and precious stones, sap-
phires and rubies and emeralds ; he had with him a casket 
of puré gold full of these things ; and in his girdle he had 
hidden a string of precious stones and of pearls, such that 
no King had so rich and precious a thing as that carkanet. 
They say that in former times it had belonged to Queen 
Seleyda, who was wife to Abanarrexit King of Belcab, 
which is beyond sea; and afterwards it had come to the 
Kings called Benivoyas, who were Lords of Andalusia; 
after that King Alimaymon of Toledo possessed it, and gave 
it to his wife, and she gave it to the wife of her son, who 
was the mother of this Yahia. Greatly did Abeniaf covet 
these treasures and this carkanet, and incontinently he 
thought in his heart that he might take them and none know 
thereof, which could no ways be done unless he slew King 
Yahia. When therefore it was night he gave order to cut 
off his head, and throw it into a pond near the house in 
which he had been taken. This was done accordingly, and 
Abeniaf took the treasures, and they who were set over 
King Yahia to guard him and murder him, took also each 
what he could, and concealed it. And the body lay where 
it hadkbeen slain ti l l the following day; but then a good 
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man who grieved.for the death of his L o r d took- it up, and BOOK 
laid it upon the cords of a bed, and covered it with an oíd — 
horsecloth, and carried it out of the town, and made a grave 

. Cnr. Gen. 

for it in a place where camels were wont to lie, and buned ff. 255. 
it there, without graveclothes and without any honors what- cid. cap. 
soever, as i f the corpse had been the corpse of a villain. 165' 

25 
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CHEONICLE OF THE CID 

BOOK I . "WHEN Abeniaf had slain his Lord , as you have heard, 
•—he became haughty like a King, and gave no thought to 

niaf was any thing save to building his own houses, and setting 
puffecfup. guards round about them by day and by night; and he 

appointed secretaries who should write his secret letters, 
and chose out a body from among the good men of the 
city to be his guard. A n d when he rodé out he took with 
him many knights and huntsmen, all armed, who guarded 
him like a K i n g ; and when he went through the streets the 
women carne out to gaze at him, and shouted and rejoiced 
in h i m ; and he being elated and puffed up with these 
vanities, demeaned himself in all things after the manner 
of a King. This he did for the sake of abasing a cer-
tain kinsman of his, who was chief Alcayde, and who 
was better and wiser than he. Moreover he made no ac-
count of the Alcayde of the Almorávides who held the 
Alcázar, neither took counsel with him concerning any 

cS' ca1 ^11» ' ai1^ he §ave no ^ee^ to ^ m ex06?1 to supply him 
166.' and his company with their charges, which he did right 
Chj. Gen. . •• 
ff. 255. spanngly. 
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I I . But w h e n Kina; Yahia was slain. his servants and BOOK 
V I . 

eunuchs and they of his household fled to Juballa, a Castle 
which was held by a kinsman of the Guazil Abenalfarax, ciTsent 
who lay in prison; other some fied to Zaragoza, and told ^^g^f0 
the Cid all that had befallen. The Cid was greatly grieved 
when he heard it, and without delay he set forth with all his 
people, and went as fast as he could go to Juballa, and 
there they who had escaped from Valencia met him, and 
besought him to help them to revenge the death of their 
Lord , saying that they would follow him for life or for 
death, and do whatsoever he commanded them. Then 
the Cid sent letters to Abeniaf, saying disdainfully unto him, 
that by God's help he had kept his Lent well, and accom-
plished his fast with a worthy sacrifice by murdering the 
King his master ! and he reproached him for the shame he 
had done the King in casting his head into the pond and 
letting the body be buried in a dunghill; and at the end of 
the letter he bade Abeniaf give him his corn Avhich he had 
left. in his granarles at Valencia. Abeniaf returned for an-
swer that his granarles had all been plundered, and that the 
city now belonged to the King of the Almorávides ; and he 
said that i f the Cid would serve that King he would do his 
best to help him that he might win his love. When the Cid 
read this letter he saw that Abeniaf was a fool, for he had 
sent to reproach him for the death of his Lord , and the 
answer which he had returned was concerning another mat-
ter ; and he then knew that Abeniaf was not a man to keep 
the power which he coveted. So he sent other letters to 
him, calling him and all who were with him traitors, and 
saying that he would never leave from making war against S?1?- del 

^ 0 o o cap, 
them t i l l he had taken vengeance for the death of Kins isr. 
, r . . 0 5 Chr. Gen. 

i ahia. ff. 255. 
I I I . And the Cid sent letters to all the Castles round How the 

about, bidding them supply his host with victuals, and do it siege to 

speedily, or or he would do all he could to destroy them. u a a" 
And there was none to gainsay him : and all obeyed his com-
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BOOK mands in this matter, saving Aboeza Abenlupo, for he was a 
VI ' discreet man, and perceived what was to come, and in what 

this was to end: moreover he feared that i f he should not do 
as the Cid commanded, the Cid would put him out of the 
world-, and no one would be able to protect him ; and i f he 
should do it, then he feared lest he should be banished. So 
he sent to the Cid to say he would do his pleasure, and he 
sént also to Abenrazin, the L o r d of Albarrazin, saying that 
he would give him Monviedro and the other Castles in his 
possession, and bidding him make his terms with the Cid, 
for as touchirig hirnself, he desired to have no dispute, but 
to come off with his company and his own person in peace. 
When Abenrazin heard this he was well pleased; and he 
went to Monviedro with all speed, and took possession of 
the Castle. F rom the time that King Yahia was slain t i l l 
this time, was twenty and six days. And when Abenrazin 
had got possession of the Castle of Monviedro he came to 
the Cid, and established love with him, and made a covenant 
that there should be buying and selling between his Castles 
and the host, and that he would provide food, and that the 
Cid should not make war upon him. A n d upon this they 
made their writings, which were full fast; and Abenrazin 
returned to his own land, and left one to keep Monviedro 
for him ; and Abenlupo went with him, taking with him his 
wives and his children and his people arid all that he had, 
and he thought himself well off that he had escaped with 
his body, for he desired to have nothing to do with the Cid. 
And the Cid lay before Juballa, and sent out his foragers 
towards Valencia twice a day ; one party went in the morn-
ing, and another towards night; and they slew many Moors, 
and made many prisoners, and made prey of all the flocks 
which théy found without the walls ; nevertheless the Cid 
commanded that no hurt should be done to those of the land 
of Moya, ñor to the husbandmen, but that they who labored 
to produce bread and wine should be protected and en-
couraged; and this he did thinking-that what they raised 
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woiüd be for him when he should lay siege unto the town ; SOOK 
and he said" this to his kniffhts and Adalides and Almoca-
denes, and took homage of them that they should obey him 
therein. A l l this time the Cid held that Castle besieged, so 
that none could enter in ñor come out thereof; and it is, 
said that terms had secretly been made with him to yield it • 
up, but that it was so to be done that the other Moors might 
believe that they had yielded from great necessity, for it 
was not stored so as to be able to hold out long. And while 
the Cid lay before Juballa, all the spoil which- his Almo­
gávares took they brought to the host, and from the host it ĥr2ĝ en-
was taken and .sold at Monviedro. Many laden beasts cb; del 

J Cid. cap. 

came every day, and there was plenty m the host. 167. íes. 
I V . Abeniaf gathered together the knights who were na- HOW the 

tives of the city and vassals to the King whom he had slain, agair^tví 
and sept for others who were in Denia, so that in all theylencia-
were three hundred knigbts, and maintained them with the 
bread which was in the granarles of the Cid Ruydiez, and . 
with the rents and possessions of those who had been the 
King's officers, and who were gone from Valencia, and with 
the customs ; from all these did he give these knights what-
soever they gtood in need of. And he took no counsel with 
the Alcayde of the Almorávides concerning anything which 
he did, neither with any one, ñor did he care a jot for them. 
And when the Alcayde and the Almorávides saw that he 
made himself master in the city, and how everything that 
he did was by his own w i l l , they were oífended therewith. 
The sons of Aboegib were offended also : and they and the 
Almorávides placed their love upon each other, and took 
counsel together against him, and became of one party, and 
they bare great hatred against him, and he against them. • 
A l l this while the Cid lay before Juballa,. and every day 
he scoured the country to the gates of Valencia, early i n 
the morning, and at noon-day, and at night, so that he 
never let them rest. And the three hundred knights whom 
Abeniaf had collected went out against his foragers, with 
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BOOK the men of the town, and the Christians slew many of 
Y l . them, so that there were lamentations daily within the walls, 

and Availings o ver the dead that were brought in. And 
in one of these skirmishes a rich Moor was taken who was 
Alcayde of Acala, which is near Toralva, and they gave 
him grievous torments t i l l he ransomed himself for ten thou-
sand marks of silver ; and moreover he gave the houses 

chr. del which he had in Valencia, which were called the houses of 
169." Cap' Añaya, to be theirs i f peradventure the town should be 
Chr. Gen. • i i i 
ff. 256. yielded up. 
How the V . When the Cid knew that there was great hatred be-
S'suJJpOTt'1 tween Abeniaf, and the Almorávides and the sons of Aboe-
who^reed S^' 1̂6 ^evised means how to set farther strife between 
to send them, and sent privily to proífer his love to Abeniaf on condi-
away the 7 x ^ x 
Aimora- tion that they should expel the Almorávides out of the town ; 
vides 

saying, that i f he did this, he would remain Lord thereof, 
and the Cid would help him in this, and would be good to 
him, as he knew he had been to the King of Valencia, and 
would defend him. When Abeniaf heard this he was well 
pleased, thinking that he should be King of Valencia. And 
he took counsel with Abenalfarax, the Gruazil of the Cid, 
Avhom he held prisoner, and Abenalfarax, with the hope of 
getting out of prison, counselled him to do thus, and to 
accept the love of the Cid. Then sent he to the Cid, say­
ing that he would do all which he commanded to gain his 
love, and. he began to stop the allowance of the Almora-

Chr. del vides, saying that he could give them nothing, for he had 
170.' Cap' nothing whereof to give ; this did he to the end that they 
ff. 257. ' might go their way, for he lacked not means. 
How Aben- V I . At this time A l i Abenaxa, the Alcayde who was in 
^ésftreas- Denia, sent to Abeniaf, saying unto him that he should send 
MiramaSo- 0̂  treasure, and of those jewels which he had taken 
lm- from King Yahia, to the Miramamolin beyond sea ; with the 

which he would gather together a great power, and cross 
the sea, and come against the Cid, to help the people of 
Valencia, and protect them against the Cid, who did so 
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much evi l to them all. And Abeniaf took counsel w i t h the BOOK 
men of Valencia, concerning this matter, whether he should 
send this to the Miramamolin beyond sea or not. A n d the 
oíd men advised him that he should, and the others that he 
should not. And Abeniaf took the treasures, and hid the 
best part thereof for himself, for none knew what it was ; 
and the rest he sent by his messengers, Abenalfarax the 
Guazil of the Cid being one; and they took theh departure 
from Valencia with great secrecy, lest the Cid should know 
it and overtake them upon the road. But Abenalfarax de-
vised means to let the Cid know, and sent him a messenger. 
And the Cid sent horsemen to follow their track, who 
caught them, and took the treasure, and brought it to the 
Cid. Greatly did he thank Abenalfarax for having served 
him so well at that season, and putting the treasure into his 
hands, and he promised him goodly guerdon ; and he 
made him chief o ver all the Moors who were his subjects. 
A t this time the Alcayáte of Juballa yielded up the Castle to 
the Cid, and the Cid placed another therein, and went up 
with his host against Valencia, and encamped in a village 
which is called Deroncada. A n d as the seed time was 
now over, he burnt all the villages round about, and wast-
ed all that belonged to Abeniaf and his lineage, and he 
burnt the milis, and the barks which were in the river. 
And he ordered the corn to be cut, for it was now the sea-
son, and he beset the city on all sides, and pulled down the chr. del 
houses and towers which were round about, and the stone ^Q* 
and wood thereof he sent to Juballa, to make a town there f ^ l ' ^ ™ ' 
beside the castle. 

V I I . A t this time there carne the Guazil of the King of RPW the 
Zaragoza to the host of the Cid, bringing with him great the subm-b 

treasures which the King had sent for the redemption of the of Alcudia" 
captives, for ruth which he had of them, and also that he 
might ha ve his reward from God in the other world. He 
carne also to talk with Abeniaf and counsel him that he 
should give up the city to the King of Zaragoza, and they 
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B O O K would send away the Almorávides, and the King would pro-
JIl tect h i m ; but Abeniaf would give no ear to this, and the 

Guazil said unto him that he would repent not having taken 
.this advice, Ori the second day after this Guazil had ar-
rived, the Cid attacked the suburb which is cálled Vi l la 
Nueva, and entered it by forcé, and slew many Moors, both 
men of Andalusia and Almorávides, and plundered all Ihat 
they found, and pulled down the houses, and the wood and 
stone the Cid. sent to Juballa, and he set a guard there that 
the Moors might not recover the place. On the morrow the 
Cid attacked añother suburb, which is called Alcudia, and 
there wére a great body of the Moors gathered together 
there. And he sent a part of his host against the gate of 
Alcántara, bidding them attaek the gate, while he fought 
against them in Alcudia; and he thought that by God's 
mercy peradventure he should enter the town. A n d the Cid 
with his company rodé among that great multitude of the 
Moors, smiting and slaying withou# mercy, and the Cid's 

• horse trampled over the dead, and stumbled among them 
and fell, and the Cid remained afoot. Howbeit they brought 

r • him to horse again, and he continued smiting and láying on 
• • strenuously, so that 'the Moors were amazed at the great 

. mortality which he made among them, and maugre all they 
could do, were fain to fly into the town. And they whom 
he had sent against the gate of Alcántara, attacked it so 

. . bravely thatj they would have entered the city, i f it had not 
been for the boys and the women, who were upon the wall 
and in the towers, and threw down stones upon them. And 
this. while the cry went forth in the city, and many horsemen 
sallied forth and fought with the Christians before the bridge, 
and the battle lasted from morning until mid-day, and wjien 
they separated, the Cid returned to his camp. And when 
the Cid had taken food, he returned .after the siesta to attaek 
the suburb of Alcudia; and this attaek was so vigorous that 
they who dwelt therein thought the place would be forced, 
and they began to cry out, Peace! peace! being in great 
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fear . T h e n t h e C i d b a d e h i s m e n g i v e o v e r t he a t t a c k , a n d BOOK 

the g o o d m e n o f t h e s u b u r b ca rne o u t t o h i m , a n d w h a t s o e v e r 

t e r m s o f s e c u r i t y t h e y a s k e d , h e g r a n t e d t h e m ; a n d h e t o o k 

possession o f t h e s u b u r b t h a t n i g h t , a n d set h i s g u a r d s 

t h e r e i n ; a n d h e c o m m a n d e d h i s p e o p l e t h a t t h e y s h o u l d d o 

n o w r o n g t o t h e m o f A l c u d i a , a n d i f a n y o n e o í f e n d e d he 

sa id t h a t h i s h e a d s h o u l d b e s m i t t e n ofF: so he r e t u r n e d t h a t 

n i g h t t o t h e c a m p . A n d o n t h e m o r r o w h e c a m e t h e r e , a n d 

a s sembled t o g e t h e r t h e M o o r s o f t h a t p l a c e , a n d c o m f o r t e d 

t h e m m u c h w i t h h i s speeches , a n d p r o m i s e d t h a t h e w o u l d 

f avor t h e m g r e a t l y a n d n o t oppres s t h e m , a n d b a d e t h e m t i l l 

t h e i r fields a n d t e n d t h e i r flocks s e c u r e l y , s a y i n g t h a t he 

w o u l d t a k e o n l y a t e n t h o f t h e f r u i t t h e r e o f , as t h e i r l a w d i -

r e c t e d . A n d he p l a c e d a M o o r t h e r e n a m e d Y u c e f , t o be 

his A l m o x a r i f e , t h a t is t o say , h i s R e c e i v e r . A n d h e g a v e 

o r d e r s t h a t a l l M o o r s w h o w o u l d c o m e a n d d w e l l t h e r e i n 

m i g h t c o m e s e c u r e l y , a n d t h e y a lso w h o w o u l d b r i n g f o o d 

t h i t h e r f o r sale , a n d o t h e r m e r c h a n d i z e . S o m u c h f o o d a n d cap. 

m u c h m e r c h a n d i z e w e r e b r o u g h t t h e r e f r o m a l l p a r t s , a n d 1 Q¿n 

t h a t s u b u r b b e c a m e l i k e a c i t y , a n d t h e r e w a s p l e n t y t h e r e i n . ff- 257-

V I I I . N o w w h e n the C i d R u y d i e z h a d g o t t e n possess ion How they 
o f t h e s u b u r b s , h e c u t ofF f r o m V a l e n c i a b o t h t h e i n g r e s s a n d sLTaaJwaCya 
the egress , a n d t h e y o f t h e t o w n w e r e g r e a t l y s t r a i g h t e n e d , videŝ ncf' 
a n d k n e w n o t w h a t t h e y s h o u l d d o , a n d t h e y r e p e n t e d t h e m ™ft^et^gace 

t h a t t h e y h a d n o t l i s t e n e d t o w h a t t h e K i n g o f Z a r a g o z a s e n t c i d -

t o c o u n s e l t h e m , f o r t h e y h a d n o n e t o h e l p t h e m ; a n d the 

A l m o r á v i d e s w e r e i n t h e l i k e s t r a i g h t , f o r t h e y h a d n o n e t o 

l o o k t o , a n d t h e p a y w h i c h t h e y w e r e w o n t t o r e c e i v e f a i l e d , 

b o t h t o t h e m a n d t o t h e o t h e r k n i g h t s . A l l th i s t i m e A b e n i a f 

s e c r e t l y c o n t i n u e d h i s l o v e w i t h t h e C i d , f o r he h a d n o t de -

p a r t e d f r o m t h e p r o m i s e w h i c h h e h a d m a d e h i m t o s e n d 

a w a y t h e A l m o r á v i d e s , a n d p u t h i m s e l f u n d e r h i s p r o t e c t i o n . 

A n d t h e y t o o k c o u n s e l t o g e t h e r i n th i s d is t ress , b o t h t h e A l ­

m o r á v i d e s a n d t h e m e n o f t he t o w n , h o w t h e y m i g h t o b t a i n 

the l o v e o f t h e C i d , i n w h a t e v e r m a n n e r t h e y c o u l d , so t h a t 

t h e y m i g h t r e m a i n i n peace i n t he c i t y t i l l t h e y h a d sen t t o 

26 
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BOOK the Miramamolin beyond sea, and received his commands : 
V I " ' 

; and they sent to the Cid to say this. But he made answer 
that he would make no treaty with them t i l l they had sent 
away the Almorávides. And they of the town told the A l ­
morávides what the Cid had said, and these Africans were 
well pleased, being full weary of that place, and said that 
they would go their way, and that it would be the happiest 
day of their lives, that, wherein they should depart. So they 
made their covenant that the Almorávides should be placed 
in safety, and that they should pay the Cid for all the corn 
which was in his granarles at the time when King Yahia was 
slain. And moreover the thousand maravedís per week 
which they were wont to pay him should be paid for the 
whole time which they had been in arms, and also from that 
time forth. A n d that the suburb which he had won should 
be his; and that his host should remain in Juballa so long 
as they continued in that land. A n d upon this they made 
their Avritings, and confirmed them. And the Almorávides 

cid* cap departed from Valencia, and horsemen were sent with them, 
Chr Gen w^0 con(iucted them in safety, and the Moors of Valencia 
ff. 258. were left in peace. 

HowJubal- I X . Then the Cid went with all his host to Juballa, 
labecame a 

great town. leaving none but such as were to collect his rents with his 
Almoxarife. And Abeniaf cast about how he might pay the 
Cid for the corn, and also what else was to be given him. 
And he made terms with those who held the Castles round 
about Valencia, that they should pay him the tenth of all 
their fruits and of all their other rents. Now this was the 
season for gathering in the fruit, and he appointed men in 
every place who should look to it, and see it valued, and re-
ceive the tenth; a Moor and a Christian did he appoint in 
every place, who were to receive this, and to gather the corn 
also into the granarles: and this was done after such man-
ner that the Cid had his tribute well paid. A t this time 
came tidings to Valencia, that the Almorávides were coming 
again with a great power, and the Cid devised how he might 
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prevent their coming, or i f they carne how he might fight BOOK 

against them. And he sent to tell Abeniaf to forbid them 
from coming, for i f they should enter the town he could not 
be L o r d thereof, which it was better he should be, and the 
Cid would protect him against all his enemies. W e l l was 
Abeniaf pleased at this ; and he held a talk with the Alcayde 
of Xativa, and with him who held the Castle of Carchayra ; 
and they agreed to be of one voice. And they came to Va­
lencia, and the Cid came to his suburb; and they confirmed 
love with him in great secrecy. But he who had the Castle 
of Algezira would not be in this covenant with them, and the 
Cid sent parties into his lands, and did him much evi l ; and 
the Alcayde of Juballa went against him, and cut down all 
his corn and brought it to Juballa, which the Cid had made 
a great town with a church and with towers, and it was a 
goodly place ; and there he had his corn and his other things, 
and his rents were all brought thither, and it abounded with 
all things ; and men held it for a great marvel that in so 
short time he had made so great a town, which was so rich 
and so plentiful. A n d the Cid thought to have Valencia i f gjj* cdaê  
the Almorávides did not come, and for this reason did all „ 

Chr. Gen. 

that he could to prevent their coming. ff- 258. 
X . A t this time Abenrazin the L o r d of Albarrazin, cov- How the 

enanted with the King of Aragón that the King should help war upon 
him to win Valencia, and he would give him great treas-
ures; and he gave him in pledge a Castle which is called 
Toalba. And in this which he did he gained nothing, but 
he lost the Castle. Now this Abenrazin had made covenant 
with the Cid, so that they were friends, and the Cid had 
never done hurt in his lands. A n d when he knew this that 
he had done with the King of Aragón, he held himself to 
have been deceived and dealt falsely with ; howbeit he dis-
sembled this, and let none of his company wit, t i l l they had 
gathered in all the corn from about Algezira de Xucar, and 
carried it to Juballa. When this was done, he bade his 
men make ready, and he told them not whither they were 
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BOOK to go, and he set forward at night toward Albarrazin, and 
VL carne to the Fountain. Now that land was i i i peace, and 

the dwellers thereof kept neither watch nor ward ; and his 
foragers slew many, and made many prisoners, and dxove 
great flocks and herds, sheep and kine, and brood mares, 
and prisoners all together, and they carried away all the 
corn; and they sent all the spoil to Juballa, and it was so 
great that Valencia and Juballa and all their dependencies 
were rich wi lh cattle and with other things. While the Cid 
lay before Albarrazin, as he one day rodé forth with five of 
his knights to disport himself, there carne twelve knights out 
of the town, thinking to slay him or take him. And he 
pricked forward against them, and encountered them so 
bravely that he slew twain, and other twain he overthrew, 
so that they were taken, and the rest were put to flight : 

Chr. del but he remained with a wound in his throat from the push 
175. Cap of a spear, and they thought he would have died of that 
fi^ae^611' wound ; and it was three weeks before it was healed. 
How Aben- ¿Ll. Now carne true tidings to Valencia that the host of 
theCidfor the Almorávides were coming, and that they were now at 

Lorca, and the son in law of the Miramamolin at their head, 
for he himself could not come, by reason that he ailed. 
They of Valencia took courage at these tidings, and waxed 
insolent, and began to devise how they should take ven-
geance upon Abeniaf, and upon all those who had oppressed 
them. And Abeniaf was in great trouble at this which was 
said openly concerning him, and he sent privily to the Cid, 
telling him to come as soon as might be. The Cid was then 
before Albarrazin, doing all the evil that he could, and he 
brake up his camp, and came with his host to Juballa ; and 
Abeniaf and the Alcaydes of Xativa and Carchayra came 
unto him, and they renewed their covenant to stand by 
each other, and be of one voice. And they took counsel 
and made a letter for the leader of the army of the A l ­
morávides, wherein they told him that the Cid had made a 
treaty with the King of Aragón, whereby the King bound 
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himself to help him against them; and they bade him be- B O O K 

ware how he carne towards Valencia, unless he chose to 
do battle with eight thousand Christian horsemen, covered 
with iron, and the best warriors in the world. This did chr. del 
they, thinking that he would be dismayed and turn back: ^ ¿ cap' 
but the Moor did not cease to advance, notwithstanding this ffh259Gei1' 
letter. 

X I I . There was a garden nigh unto Valencia, which had § ^ , ¡ ¡ ¡ ¡ ¿ 1 

belonsred to Abenalhazis, and the Cid asked Abeniaf to Abeniaf to 
~ give him a 

give it him, that he might take his pleasure there, when he garden. 

was disposed to solace himself. This he did cunningly, 
that when the Almorávides heard how this garden had been 
given him, which was so nigh unto the city, they should 
ween that the men of Valencia had given it, and that they were 
better pleased with his company than with theirs. Abeniaf 
granted it . And the Cid was wary, and would not enter it 
t i l l a gateway had been opened into the garden, for the en-
trance was through narrow streets, and the Cid would not 
trust himself in those strait places : so Abeniaf ordered the 
gate to be made, and told the Cid that he would be his host 
on a day appointed. And Abeniaf bedecked the gate of 
this garden full richly, and spread costly carpets, and or­
dered the way to be strewn with rushes, and made a great 
feast, and expected him all the day, but he did not come. 
And when it was night he sent to say that he was sick, and 
he could not come : and he prayed him to hold him ex-
cused. This he did to see whether they of Valencia would 
murmur against him. And the sons of Aboegib and all the 
people murmured greatly, and would fain in their hearts 
have risen against Abeniaf; but they durst not because of 
the Cid, with whom they would not fall out, least he should 
lay waste all that was without the walls. And they looked 
daily for the Almorávides, and one day they said. L o ! 
now they are coming : and on the morrow they said, They 
are coming not. And in this manner some days past on. 
And the murmur which there had been concerning the gar-
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BOOK den died away ; and then the Cid entered it, and took pos-
Yll session of the whole suburb of Alcudia round about i t : and 

Cid." SJ. this 1̂6 did peaceably, for the Moors and Christians dwelt 
Chr". Gen. there together. 
ff. 259. X I I I . Now carne true tidings that the host of the Almo-
STaieucia ravides, which was at Lorca, was coming on through Mur-
agebecause ĉ a'an̂  tarriance which they had made had been by 
of the ap- reason of their Captain, who had fallen sick, but he was 
proacti of r 

the Almo- now healed, and they were advancing fast. A n d the sons ravides. ' J 0 . . » • i 
oí Aboegib and great part of the people rejoiced m tnese 
tidings, and took heart: and Abeniaf was in great fear, and 
he began to excuse himself to the men of the town, and said 
unto them to pacify them, that they did him wrong to com-
plain of him for the garden which the Cid had asked of him, 
inasmuch as he had only given it him to disport himself 
therein for some days and take his pleasure, and that he 
would make him leave it again whenever it should please 
them. Moreover he said, that seeing they were displeased 
with what he had done, he would take no farther trouble 
upon him ; but would send to break off his covenant with 
the Cid, and send to bid him look out for others to collect 
his payments, for he would have the charge no longer. 
This he said in his cunning, thinking that he should pacify 
them; but they understood his heart, and they cried aloud 
against him that they would not stand to his covenant, ñor 
by his counsel, but that the sons of Aboegib should counsel 
them, and whatsoever they should think good, that would they 
do. And they gave order to fasten the gates of the town, 
and to keep watch upon the towers and walls. When 
Abeniaf saw this he ceased to do as he had been wont, 
for fear of the people and of the sons of Aboegib, and 

Chr. del t00^ himself a greater company to be his guard. And 
178.' i79P" tlie war was renewed between the Cid and the people of 
Chr Gen. Valencia. 
n. 260. 

X I V . Now came true tidings that the host of the Almo­
rávides was nigh unto Xativa ; and the people of Valencia 
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oiced, for they thought t i 
delivered from their great misery, and from the oppression 
were giad and rejoiced, for they thought that they were now B O O K 

of the Cid. And when he heard these tidings he left the 
rain and 

garden and went to the place where his host was encamped, ^u êiTthe 
which was called Xarosa, and remained there iri his tents, ^ g t o ' 
and he was at a stand what he should do, whether to abidetum back-
the coming of the Almorávides, or to depart; howbeit he re­
solved to abide and see what would befall. And he gave 
order to break down the bridges and open the sluices, that 
the plain might be flooded, so that they could only come by 
one way, which was a narrow pass. Tidings now came 
that the host of the Almorávides was at Algezira de Xucar, 
and the joy of the people of Valencia increased, and they 
went upon tbe walls and upon the towers to see them come. 
And when night came they remained still upon the walls, for 
it was dark, and they saw the great fires of the camp of the 
Almorávides, which they had pitched near unto a place 
called Bacer ; and they began to pray unto God, beseeching 
him to give them good speed against the Christians, and 
they resolved as soon as the Almorávides were engaged in 
battle with the Cid, that they would issue forth and plunder 
his tents. But our L o r d Jesús Christ was not pleased that 
it should be so, and he ordered it after another guise ; for 
he sent such a rain that night, with such a wind and flood 
as no man living remembered, and when it was day the 
people of Valencia looked from the wall to see the banners 
of the Almorávides and the place where they had encamp­
ed, and behold they could see nothing : and they were full 
sorrowful, and knew not what they should do, and they re­
mained in such state as a woman in her time of childing, 
t i l l the hour of tierce, and then came tidings that the Almo­
rávides had turned back, and would not come unto Valencia. 
For the rains and floods had dismayed them, and they 
thought the waters would have swept them away, and that 
the hand of God was against them, and therefore they 
turned back. And when the people of Valencia heard this 
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BOOK they held themselves for dead men, and they wandered 
VL about the streets l ike dnmkards , so that a m a n k n e w not his 

neighbor, and they smeared Iheir faces with black like unto 
pitch, and they lost all thought l ike one who falls into the 
waves of the sea. And then the Christians drew nigh unto 
the walls, crying out unto the Moors with a loud voice like 
thunder, calling them false traitors and renegadoes, and say-

Cid.' cap. ing, Give up the town to the Cid Ruydiez, for ye cannot 
Chr. Gea. escaPe hom him. And the Moors were silent, and made no 

reply because of their great misery. ff. 260. 

0rfiÍeeofreat X V - Then Abenalfarax, a Moor of Valencia, he who 
food in wrote this history in Arabic, took account of the food which 
Valencia, and how Was m the city, to see how long it could hold out. And he 
thesuburbs n n 

were de- says that the cajiz oí wheat was valued at eleveji maravedís, 
stroyed. caĵ z 0£ ^arley at seven maravedís, and that of pulse 

or other grain at six; and the arroba of honey at fifteen 
dineros ; and the arroba of carobs1 the third of a maravedí, 
and the arroba of onions two thirds of a maravedí, and the 
arroba of cheese two 7naravedis and a half, and the measure 
of oil which the Moors cali marón, a maravedí, and the 
quintal of figs five maravedís, and the pound of mutton six 
dineros of sil ver, and the pound of beef four. These mara­
vedís were silver ones, for no other money was current 
among them. The Moors who dwelt in the suburbs car-
ried all the best of their goods into the city, and the rest they 
buried. And when the Cid was certain that the Almorávides 
were not coming, he returned again to lodge in the garden, 
and gave order to spoil the suburbs, save that of Alcudia, 
because the inhabitants of that had received him without 
resistance : and the Moors fled into the city with their wives 
and children. And when the Christians began to plunder 
the suburbs they of the town carne out and plundered also 

1 Alcarehofas — artichokes, the Chronica del Cid has i t ; this cannot 
have been a common article of food. The Chronica General substitutes 
the right vvord. 
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those houses which were nearest unto the walls, so that BOOK 

every thing was carried away and nothing but the timbers •— 
left: and then the Christians took that to build them lodg-
ments in the camp ; and when the Moors saw this they 
carne out, and carried away what timber they could into 
the city. A n d the Christians pulled down all the houses, 
save only such as could be defended with arrows, and these 
which they dared not pulí down they set fire to by night. 
And when all the houses had been levelled they began to 
dig in the foundations, and they found great wealth there, 
and store of garments, and hoards of wheat; and when the 
Cid saw this he ordered them to dig every where, so that 
nothing might be lost. And when all had been dug up the 
Cid drew nearer to the city, and girt it round about, and 
there was fighting every day at the barriers, for the Moors 
carne out and fought hand to hand, and many a sword-stroke 
was given and many a push with the spear. "While the 
Moors were thus beleagered came letters from the Captain 
of the Almorávides, saying that he had not turned back to 
Algezira de Xucar for fear, ñor for cowardice, neither as 
one who fled, but for lack of food, and also by reason of the 
waters; and that it was his set purpose at all events to 
succor them and deliver them from the oppression which 
they endured, and he was preparing to do this with all dil i-
gence. A n d he bade them take courage, and maintain the 
city. And when the Moors of Valencia heard these letters 
they took heart, and joined with the sons of Aboegib, and 
their resolve was that they would be íirm and maintain the 
city. A n d they said that Abeniaf had made the Almorávides 
retreat, because he had told them that there was discord in 
the town. A n d Abeniaf kept great watch, having a great 
guard to secure him, least the people should attempt aught Chr. del 
against him. And the price of all things in Valencia was So.' m'. 
doubled. ff.l26iG'n' 

X V I . Then the Cid drew nearer to the walls, so that no 
man could either enter in or issue out, but whosoever at-

27 
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BOOK tempted i t was either slain or taken. And he gave orders to 
" t i l l all the lands which lay round about Alcudia, for this was 

How the now become a great place, even like a city, and the Moors 
vides re- who dwelt there were safe ; and tenis and shops were made 
their own there for all kinds of merchandize, and merchants carne there 
country. safeiy froni all parts to buy and to sell, so that they who 

dwelt there were greatly enriched. And justice was admin-
istered to all full righteously, so that there was none who 
could complain of the Cid ñor of his Almoxarife, ñor of any 
of his people; and the Moors were judged by their own 
law, and were not vexed, and he took from them only a 
tenth. Now carne true tidings from Denia that the Almo­
rávides had returned into their own country, and that there 
was no hope of succor at their hands. A n d when they of 
Valencia heard this they were greatly troubled. And they 
who held the Castles round about came humbly to the Cid, 
to place their love upon him, and besought him that he 
would accept tribute from them, and have them under his 
protection; and he gave orders that they might travel the 
roads in peace: and in this manner his rents increased, so 
that he had plenty to give. And he sent to them who held 
the Castles, bidding them provide him with cross-bow men, 
and foot soldiers, to fight against the ci ty; and there was 
none who dared disobey his bidding, and they sent him 
cross-bow men and foot-men in great numbers, with their 
arms and provisions. Thus was Valencia left desoíate, and 
forsaken by all the Moorish people; and it was attacked 

C k í ' cap every day, and none could enter in, neither could any come 
Chr Gen out ' an^ were sore distressed, and the waves of death 
ff- 26i. compassed them round about. 

Of the la- X V I I . Then was there a Moor in the city who was a 
mentation i i • i 

•which was learncd man and a wise, and he went upon the highest 
Vakncia. tower, and made a lamentation, and the words with which 

he lamented he put in writing, and it was rendered after-
wards from the Arabio into the Castilian tongue, and the 
lamentation which he made was this : 
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Valencia I Valencia.! trouble is come upon thee, and BOOK 

thou art in the hour of death; and i f peradventure thou 
shouldst escape, it w i i l be a wonder to all that shall behold 
thee. 

But i f ever God hath shown mercy to any place, let 
him be pleased to show mercy unto thee ; for thy ñame was 
joy, and all Moors delighted in thee and took their pleasure 
inthee. 

• And i f it should picase God utterly to destroy thee now, 
it wi l l be for thy great sins, and for the great presumption 
which thou hadst in thy pride. 

The four córner stones whereon thou art founded would 
meet together and lament for thee, i f they could ! 

Thy strong wall which is founded upon these four stones 
trembles, and is about to fall, and hath lost all its strength. 

Thy lofty and fair towers, which were seen from far, 
and rejoiced the hearts of the people, . . little by little they 
are falling. 

Thy white battlements which glittered afar bfF, have lost 
their truth, with which they shone like the sunbeams. 

Thy noble river Guadalaver, with all the other waters 
with which thou hast been served so well^ have left their 
channel, and now they run where they should not. 

Thy water courses, which were so clear and of such 
great profit to so many, for lack of cleansing are choked 
with mud. 

Thy pleasant gardens which were round about thee ; . . 
the ravenous wolf hath gnawn at the roots, and the trees can 
yield thee no fruit. 

Thy goodly fields, with so many and such fair flowers, 
wherein thy people were wont to take their pastime, are all 
dried up. 

Thy noble harbor, which was so great honor to thee, is 
deprived of all the nobleness which was wont to come into 
it for thy sake. 

The fire hath laid waste the lands of which thou wert 
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BOOK called the Mistress, and the great smoke thereof reacheth 
ZÜ thee. 

There is no medicine for thy sore infirmity, and the phy-
sicians despair of healing thee. 

Valencia ! Valencia ! from a broken heart have I uttered 
all Ihese things which I have said of thee. 

A n d this grief would I keep unto myself, that none 
should know it, i f it were not needful that it should be known 

Chr. Gen. 
ff. 262. to aii. 
How they X V I I L Now all the trouble and distress which the men 
putVthdrCia of Valencia endured, pleased Abeniaf well, because they 
S^AbeiTaf. had forsaken him, and followed the sons of Aboegib ; and 

he said that it did not behove a man to give advice unto 
those who would not listen to it, and that i f the people had 
hearkened to him, they would not have been brought to this 
misery ; and what evil they endured was because of the 
sons of Aboegib, who lacked wit to be well with any one, 
or to do any thing. These things Abeniaf said daily to all 
who came to visit him ; so that the people great as well as 
little began to talk thereof, saying that Abeniaf spake truly. 
And the Christians fought against them every day, and prest 
them cióse, and the price of food increased daily : and they 
withdrew themselves from the love of the sons of Aboegib, 
and thought that they had been i l l advised to follow their 
counsel, and that because of them all this evil was come 
upon them, and they held them for fools. And the people 

1 The Chronica del Cid contains only four verses of this lamentation ; 
. . which is I think, beyond a doubt, Arabio. In the Chronica General, 
which gives the whole, a long gloss follows allegorizing away all its 
beauty and all its passion ; in which one of the córner stones is made the 
King , a second his son, a third the King of Zaragoza, and so on, for more 
than two pages, in the same insipid style. 

Berganza, in a sneer at the Chronica General, praises the Chronicler of 
the Cid for not having inserted this curious poem. ' E l Recopilador de la 
Coránica del Cid no fue tan aficionado a llenar su historia de successos cele­
brados for -poetas.' 
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cried out upen Abeniaf that he should forgive them for hav- : B ^ K 
ing forsaken him, and that he should protect them, and de- . — 
vise means for their deliverance from this great troable. 
And Abeniaf said that he would have nothing to do with 
them more than as one of them; for i f they were in trouble, 
so was he : and what they stood in fear of, that did he fear 
also ; and that he could not give counsel to men who were 
divided among themselves ; and he said unto them that they 
must agree among themselves, and be all of one mind to 
do one of these two things; . . either to forsake the sons 
of Aboegib and their counsel, or to stand by i t . And 
when he should see that they no longer opposed him with 
their evil counsels, and the bad way in which they were 
going on, that he would then take counsel for them in such 
guise that they should be at peace ; for they knew how 
they had sped so long as they let him direct them, and 
he trusted in God so to speed as that they should have no 
war with the Cid, neither with any other. And they made 
answer with one accord, that they would trust in him, Chr. del 

Cid. cap. 

and obey him, and do all which he should command, for it m . 
had alway been well with them when they followed his f. 263. 
advice. 

X I X . Then the men of Valencia made Abeniaf their How Abe-
Adelantado, and promised to abide by his counsel; howbeit the sons of 
this could not lightly be done, for many of the people held and^deliv-

with the others. And when Abeniaf saw that they would ^ 6 ^ 1 ^ 
have him for their chief, he said that they should make a 
writing, and the chief persons of the town confirm it with 
their ñames ; and the people accorded that it should be so, 
and it was done accordingly. Then he made ofFers to the 
Cid that they should pay him tribute, and took counsel with 
him how to put the sons of Aboegib, and those who held 
with them, out of the town; and their counsel was, that the 
Cid should draw nigh to the walls, and speak unto the men 
of the town, saying, that so long as they followed after the 
ways of the sons of Aboegib, he would never grant them 
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BOOK his love ; and that all the evil which he did unto them was 
— because of them, and because they were guided by them 

and by their evil counsel. And i f they desired to speed well 
they should send away the sons of Aboegib, and take Aben-
iaf to be their chief, and give ear unto him. And the Cid 
carne nigh unto the walls and said these things, and more-
over that he had great ruth for them, for he loved them weU ; 
and i f they would do according to his words he would help 
them and protect them, as he had been wont to do in the 
days of King Yahia ; and he bade them look well to what 
they were doing, and not suffer themselves to be brought to 
destruction. And Abeniaf also said these things to those of 
his household and to all those who talked with him, and 
asked of them why they would let themselves be brought to 
destruction by the counsel of foolish men and unwise. And 
this he said so often that they thought it was truth, and they 
besought him that as he was their Adelantado, now he would 
devise means for their deliverance, and how they might live 
in peace ; and he made answer that they were not to think 
he had forgotten this, for he had labored greatly with the 
Cid to obtain his love for them, but the Cid had sworn that 
they should never have his love t i l l they had put the sons of 
Aboegib out of the town; when they had done that, he 
would do whatsoever they should think good, but t i l l they 
had done it there should be no covenant between him and 
them. But when the men of the town heard this they mur-
mured greatly and said that he demanded a hard thing, 
and that it were better they should all die than do this ; and 
they talked concerning this matter three days, being in 
doubt what they should do. And when Abeniaf saw that 
the people were thus at a stand, he took counsel privily 
with the Cid, and with the knights, and the good men who 
were on his side, how he might take them. And one of the 
chief persons of Abeniaf's household went out with a great 
company of horse and foot to seize the sons of Aboegib ; and 
the y when they knew this, took shelter in the house of an 
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Alfaqui, that is to say, one learned in the law, who was held 
in much honor by the Moors ; and in this house, which was _ 
surrounded with an embattled wall, they thought with the 
little company that they had with them, to defend themselves, 
ti l l the cry could go forth through the city, and their friends 
come to their succor. And they who went to take them set 
íire to the outer gates, and many of the baser sort gathered 
together to see what the stir was. And they ascended the 
roof and threw down tiles upon the assailants t i l l they made 
them take shelter under the eaves, and then the house was 
forced, and they plundered all that they could find, and laid 
hands on the sons of Aboegib and carried them to prison. 
A l l this was done before the cry could go forth through the 
town; and all the kinsmen of the sons of Aboegib were 
taken also : they were kept that day in prison, and when it cdaepl 
was night they were taken to the Cid, to his lodging in ̂  18^n 
Alcudia, and delivered into his hands. ff- 264-

X X . On the morrow there was a great stir among the How Abe-
0 " tuaf went 

men of the town, and they were greatly troubled at this foul out to meet 
thing which Abeniaf had done. But Abeniaf thinking that how he 
he should now have his desire, and that all was done, took keep the 
horse and rodé forth with all his company to the Bridge- ^Sh were 
end, to see Ruy diez the Cid. A n d the Bishop, as he was made' 
called, of Albarrazin, came to meet him with a great com­
pany of knights, being the chiefs of the company of the Cid, 
and they did great honor unto him, thinking that he would 
give them something. And they brought him to the lodging 
of the Cid, which was in the Garden of the New T o w n ; 
and the Cid came out to meet him at the garden gate, and 
embraced him, and made much of him. And the first thing 
which he said, was, to ask him why he had not put .011 kingly 
garments, for King he was: and he bade him take oíf the 
coif which he wore, for it was not what beseemed him now, 
and made semblance as i f he would have held his stirrups. 
And they stood talking awhile. Now the Cid thought that 
Abeniaf would not come to him with empty hands, and 



216 CHRONICLE OF T H E CID, 

BOOK looked that he should give him of the treasures and jewels 
;— that he had taken from King Yahia whom he had slain; but 

when he saw that he brought nothing, then began the Cid to 
talk of terms, and said unto him that i f he desired to have 
his love, and that there should be peace between them, he 
must divide with him the rents of the town, as well what 
was collected within as without, and that he would have his 
own Almoxarife to see to this and collect his share. And 
Abeniaf made answer that it should be so. And the Cid 
demanded of him his son as hostage, that he might keep him 
in Juballa, for otherwise he said he could not be secure. 
And Abeniaf agreed to this also; so they parted for that 
day, having appointed that they should meet on the morrow, 
and confirm this covenant by writings so that it should be 
good. Then Abeniaf returned into the city, full sorrowful 
and taking great thought; and then he saw the foolishness 
that he had done in sending away the Almorávides out of 
the land, and in putting his trust in men of another law. 
And on the morrow the Cid sent for him that he should 
come out and confirm the covenant; but Abeniaf sent him 
word that he would not give him his son, even though he 
knew he should lose his head for refusing. And the Cid 
sent him a letter with great threats, saying, that since he had 
thus deceived him, there should never more be love between 
them, ñor would he ever believe aught which he should say. 
And then the hatred between them waxed very great. And 
the Cid sent unto that Moor who had taken the sons of 
Aboegib and bade him leave the town, and go unto the 
Castle which was called Alcalá; and he obeyed and went 
thither, for he dared not do otherwise than as the Cid com-
manded. And he did great honors to the sons of Aboegib 
and to their kinsmen, and gave orders that they should be 
provided with all things which they needed, and gave them 
garments, and promised that he would be their great friend. 

Chr del ^me t l i r e e g00& men 0^ Valencia died, who were the 

Cid. cap. most honorable of the town and of the most discretion, and 
186. 
Chr. Gen. Abeniaf was left as Chief, for there was none to gainsay him. 
ff. 264. 
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X X I . And the Cid made war afresh upen the city as BOOK 

cruelly as he could, and the price of bread was now three 
times as'great as it had been at the beginning ; the load of ^ ¿ g 6 ^ 
wheat was worth an hundred maravedís of silver, and the 2beniaf°f 
pound of flesh was a maravedí. And the Cid drew nigh ^ h 9 ^ of 
unto the walls, so as to fight hand to hand with the towns- foodPwaxed 

. more and 

men. And Abeniaf Avaxed proud and despised the people, more, 

and when any went to make complaint before him, and ask 
justice at his hands, he dishonored them, and they were evil 
entreated by him. And he was like a King, retired apart, 
and trobadors and gieemen and masters disported before 
him which could do the best, and he took his pleasure. 
And they of the town were in great misery, from the 
Christians who warred upon them from without, and the 
famine whereof they died within. Moreover Abeniaf op-
pressed them greatly, and he took unto himself all the goods 
of those who died, and he made all persons equal, the good 
and the bad, and took from all all that he could ; and those 
who gave him nothing he ordered to be tormented with 
stripes, and cast into rigorous prisons, t i l l he could get some-
thing from them. And he had no respect neither for kins-
man nOr friend. There was but. one measure for all, and 
men cared nothing now for their possessions, so that the 
sellers were many and the buyers none. And with all 
these miseries the price of food became exceeding great, for 
the cafiz of wheat was priced at ninety maravedís, and that 
of barley at eighty,. and that of painick 1 eighty and five, 
and that of all pulse sixty, and ihe arroba of figs seven, and 
of honey twenty, and of cheese eighteen, and of carobs six-
teen, and of onions twelve, arid the measure of oil twenty: 
flesh there was none, neither of beast ñor of any thing 
else; but i f a beast died,2 the pound was worth three 

1 Panizo . . . this is Minsheu's interpretation, who says it is a grain 
resembling millet. 

2 i . e. horse, mulé, or ass. 
28 
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BOOK maravedís. And they were so weak with hun^er that the 
v i 

Christians carne to the walls and threw stones in with the 
cahpr;df86ld" hand, and there was none who had strength to drive them 
Chr. Gen. \¿ÍM¿ 
ff. 265. baCK-

Of the X X I I . And the . Cid having it at heart to take the town, 
wMchüierelet make an engine, and placed it at one of the gates, 
knci1ar!Va' and & did great h1111 botl1 to the walls and within the 

town; and the Moors made other engines, with the which 
they brake that of the Cid. And the Cid in his anger 
let make three engines, and placed them at the three gates 
of the town, and they did marvellous great hurt. A n d 
food waxed dearer every day, t i l l at last dear ñor cheap 
it was not to be had, and there was a great mortality 
for famine ; and they eat dogs and cats and mice. And 
they opened the vaults and privies and sewers1 of the town, 
and took out the stones of the grapes which they had caten, 
and washed them, and ate them. And they who had horses 
fed upon them. And many men, and many women, and 
many children watched when the gates were open, and 
went out and gave themselves into the hands of the Christ­
ians, who slew some, and took others, and sold them to the 
Moors in Alcudia; and the price of a Moor was a loaf and 
a pitcher of wine : and when they gave them food and 
they took their ñll, they died. Them that were stronger 
they sold to merchants who carne there by sea from all 
parts. And the Moors of Alcudia, and of the town which 

1 Of the sewers at Valencia Miedes gives a long account, L . 12, C . 17. 
which filis the whole chapter. They were the work of the Romans, and 
were perfect two centuries ago, to the great comfort of the inhabitants. 
A canal from the river, after supplying the dye-houses, entered them, 
and swept away their filth to the sea, . . fertilizing, says Miedes, the 
fields through which it flowed. 

This mention of privies is curious. I give the original passage because 
it has escaped Professor Beckmann's researches. Abrían las cámaras e 
privadas, e los caños de la vil la , e saccavan el uruso de las uvas que comían, 
e lavavanlo en el agua, e comíanlo. Chroníca del Cid. cap. 187. 
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the Cid had made there, had plenty of all things, and as BOOK 

great as was their abundance, even so great was the misery. 
of those in the town : and they spake the verse which say- ghr. del 
eth, I f I go to the right the water wiíl destroy me, and i f I isr̂  ^ 
go to the left the lion w i l l k i l l me, and i f I turn back there is ff. s'es. 
the fire. 

X X I I I . Now the Moors of Valencia being in this great How they 
. sent to ask 

misery, because of the siege which the Oíd laid unto the the aid of 
town, Abeniaf bethought him that he would send a messen- z^r Joza.0 

ger to the King of Zaragoza, and beseech him to come to 
his succor, even as he had succored the grandson of A l i -
maymon, when the L o r d of Denia and Tortosa came 
against him. And the good men of the town took counsel 
whether they should say in these letters, To you the King, 
or whether they should humble themselves before him and 
cali him L o r d ; and they debated upon this for three days, 
and agreed that they would cali him Lord , that he might 
have the more compassion upon them. And though Aben­
iaf was troubled at heart at this determination, nevertheless 
he said in the letter as they had appointed. And he called 
a Moor who spake the mixed language, and instructed him 
how to get out of the city by night, so that the Christians 
might not see him, and told him that when he had given 
that letter to the King of Zaragoza, the King would give 
him garments, and a horse, and a mulé to ride on, and that 
he himself would show favor unto him as long as he lived. 
So the messenger departed with the letter. And the famine 
in the town waxed greater, and food was not now bought 
by the cajiz, neither by the fanega, but by ounces, or 
at most by the pound. And the pound of wheat cost a 
maravedí and a half, and that of barley a maravedí, and that 
of painick a maravedí and a quarter, and of pulse a 7nara-
vedí, and of flax-seed three parts of a maravedí, and of 
cheese three dineros, and of honey three, and of figs one ; 
and the panilla of oil was eight dineros, and the pound of 
colewort five, and the ounce of carobs three parts of a 



220 CHROmCLE OF THE CID, 

BOOK dinero, and the ounce of onions the same, and the head of 
V I . garlick the same ; and a pound of beast's flesh was six ma­

ravedís, and grape-stones were half a dinero the pound, 
Chr. del and the skins of kine and of beasts five dineros : the din-
iss." Cap' ero was sil ver, for there was no money current save silver 
Chr. Gen. 1 n i 

ff. 266. and gold. 
Ofthe X X I V . When the King of Zaragoza saw the letter 
thelcingfof wlrich Abeniaf and the men of Valencia had sent him, he 
andffthe gave n0 heed it, neither cared he for the messenger, 
search neither did he sive him a draught of water for his reward. 
whichi Abe- 0 0_ 

niaf^made And the messenger waited for his answer from day to day 
for three weeks, and he dared not depart without it for fear 
lest Abeniaf should slay him ; and he thought also that some 
of the King's people would come out after him, and slay 
him upon the way: and he was urgent for his answer, and 
began at last to cry aloud at the gate of the King's house, 
so that the King asked of what that messenger was making 
his complaint. Then they told the King that he wanted his 
answer that he might be gone. A n d the King wrote an an­
swer and said, that this aid which they .besought of him he 
could not give t i l l he had sent to ask help of King Don 
Alfonso of Castille, for he could not else venture to do bat-
tle with the Cid. And he exhorted them to defend them-
selves the best they could, while he procured horsemen from 
King Don Alfonso to help them, and that they should from 
time to time send him word how they went on. So the 
messenger returned in great sorrow, that he had sped no 
better, and that nothing had been given him as Abeniaf had 
promised : and all this which the King of Zaragoza said 
was only delay, and meant nothing. A n d the famine now 
waxed so great that there was no food to sell, and many 
died of hunger. And many for great misery went out to 
the Christians, recking not whether they should be made 
captive, or slain, for they thought it better to be síain than 
to perish for lack of food. And Abeniaf searched all the 
houses in the town for food, and where he found any store, 
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he left only what would suffice for a fortnight, and took BOOK 
the rest, saying that in that time the King of Zaragoza _ _ J 
would come and relieve them, for that he only tarried to 
collect great store of food, that he might bring it with him. 
This he said to keep the people quiet, and to encourage 
them. And of the food which he carried away, h§ took the 
most part for himself and for his guards, and the rest he 
ordered to be sold in such manner, that none should buy 
more. than would suffice him for the day. And what he 
took he did not pay for, and when the people demanded 
payment, he put them oíf t i l l another day; and he bade 
them not complain, for they would be relieved from this 
misery, and then he would pay them well. And they who 
had any food left buried it for fear, and for this reason there 
was none to be bought, neither dear ñor cheap. And they chr. del 
who had nothing else, ate herbs, and leather, and electuaries igg." 
from the apothecaries,1 which they bought at a great price, ffh286Gen' 
and the poor ate the dead bodies. 

X X V . Now Abeniaf had no hope of succor, save o ^ K ^ o f 6 
from the King; of Zaragoza, who had sent to bid him hold Zaragoza 

. , n i • p i sentletters 
out; and he sent to him every mght, to tell him oí the great to Valencia, 

misery which there was in Valencia, and the King of Zara­
goza returned for answer that King Don Alfonso had sent 
him a great body of horsemen with Garcia Ordoñez, and 
would come himself after them; and he sent in this letter 
another letter written with his own hand, and which was 
to be shown to the good men of the town privily ; and he 
said therein, with great oaths to coníirm it, that he would 
without fail come and deliver them, for it was a great 
grief to him to think what they endured, and that this was 

1 The Chronica General has especieros in the place of boticarios, . . a 
synonyme which is worthy of notice. This early mention of apothecaries 
was also unknown to Beekmann, and it strengthens the conjecture of that 
very learned and laborious writer, that the trade originated with the Sar-
acens, and was by them introduced into Europe. Hist . o f Inventions. 
Enghsh translation, Vol. 2. p . 133. 
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BOOK as great sorrow to him as theirs could be. And certain of 
VI ' the King's favorites wrote to Abeniaf also after the same 

manner, telling him that he would surely come ; how-
beit one of his favorites who had compassion upon the men 
of Valencia, sent a covert message to warn them, saying, 
that the King of Zaragoza would build a tower in Alcudia 
de Tudela; 1 the meaning of this was, that all the King 
said, was only to put them ofF. Abeniaf did not under-
stand it, and sent to ask him what it was that he had said; 
but the other made him no reply. Then the King of Zara­
goza sent two messengers to the Cid with jewels and rich 
presents, and besought him that he would not distress the 
men of Valencia so greatly, and also that he would let his 
messengers enter the town that they might speak with Abe­
niaf. This the Cid would not permit; howbeit they found 
means to send in a letter, saying, W i t ye that I send to 
entreat the Cid that he wi l l not do so great evil unto you, 
and I give him jewels and rich presents that he may do my 
w i l l in this, and I believe that he w i l l do it. But i f he 
should not, I wi l l gather together a great host, and drive 
him out of the land. Howbeit these were but dissembling 
words, for the King of Zaragoza and the Cid were friends 

Cid cap an<̂  were 0f one accord, that the Cid should take Valencia 
Chr Gen an(i give ^ ^ e King, who should give him great treasures 
ff. 267. in return. 

How Aben- X X V I . Then the Cid began to treat with a great Moor 
moxiz rose 

against of the town, named Abenmoxiz2 that he should nse up 
and how he against Abeniaf, and k i l l him or deliver him into his hands, 
was taken. 

1 Que querie fazer una torre de candela en el Alcudia, . . is what the 
Chronica General says. 

2 Aboegib, according to the Chronica General. The sons of Aboegib 
have appeared so rauch without any mention of the father, that it seems 
probable he was either dead or superannuated : had their father been 
living, and active enough to have taken the part which this Abenmoxiz 
did, he would certainly have been sent out of ihe town with the rest of 
his family. 
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and that he would make him L o r d o ver Valencia, and ^ O O K 
the country as far as Denia. And Abenmoxiz took coun . 
sel with his friends, and they advised him that he should 
do this; but Abeniaf knew of their counsel, and took 
them, and put them in prison, and gave them in charge 
to two of his household in whom he had great trust. 
And Abenmoxiz talked with his keepers, and told them 
all that he purposed to do, and promised them, i f they 
would reléase him, to reward them greatly when he had 
succeeded, saying, that he undertook this with the con-
sent and advice of the King of Zaragoza: so they were per-
suaded and promised to join with him. And when it was 
night Abenmoxiz and his friends and the two keepers agreed 
to seize the Alcázar, which was the place wherein they were 
imprisoned, and to beat the alarm, and raise a cry for the 
King of Zaragoza; and they thought the men of the town 
would join with them, and then they would go to the house 
of Abeniaf and lay hands on him. And they did accordingly, 
and beat a drum, and sent a cryer upon the tower of the 
Mosque to bid all the people assemble at the Alcázar. 
And when the people heard that drum and that cryer they 
were in great fear, and knew not what to think: and they 
assembled some to guard their own houses, other some to 
guard the tower, t i l l they knew what it was. A n d when 
Abeniaf heard it, he was greatly dismayed, and he asked of 
all whom he found at his gates, what the uproar was, and 
what this thing might be. I n short time all they who were 
on his side, both horse and foot, assembled together, and 
then they knew what it was; and he bade them go to the 
Alcázar and take Abenmoxiz, und all that held with him. 
Abenmoxiz this while was at the gate of the Alcázar with 
his little company, thinking that the whole town would join 
him ; and behold Abeniaf's company came up and charged 
him; and he thought to defend himself Avith the few that 
were with him, but the most part fled, and he with four 
others were taken; and they led them with great shame 
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BOOK to the house o f Abeniaf, who sent h i m to prison, and gave 
Jll orders to smite off the heads of the others. And Abe­

niaf sent to lay hands on all whom he suspected, and took 
from them all that they had. And he sent messengers to 
the King of Zaragoza to tell him what had chanced, and 

Cid." cap. they took with them Abenmoxiz prisoner, and they were 
chr Gen. charged to remain at Zaragoza, and send him true tidings 
ff. 267. from thence. 

CkUtteck- X X V I I . Nô w- there was no food to be bought in the 
ed the cuy c^y ail(j people were in the waves of death : and men 
and was r r 
put to the were seen to drop and die in the streets, and the Place of the 
wqrst, and 1 

of the great Alcázar round about the walls thereof was mi l of graves, and 
which he there was no grave which had fewer than ten bodies in it . 
uponItheed As many as could fled out of the town, and delivered them-

selves up to the Christians to be made prisoners. The Cid 
thought that they who were the Chiefs within the walls, 
thrust out the poor and feeble, that they might be able to 
hold out longer; and it troubled him, for he thought to take 
the town by starving it, and he feared the coming of the A l ­
morávides. Sometimes it troubled him, and at other times 
he seemed pleased that the Moors should come out and give 
themselves prisoners to his people. Now it befel that once, 
at such time as it seemed to picase him, some of the chief 
men of the town came out in this manner, .and counselled 
him that he should attack it, for they said the men at arms 
were few, and weak for hunger, and that he might presently 
w i n it i and the Cid took thought upon this matter, and re­
solved to do as they said; and he gathered together his host 
and advanced against the gate which is called Belfanhanes, 
that is to say, the Gate of the Snake, and they drew nigh 
unto the wall . And all the people of the town assembled, 
even all the forcé which was therein, and threw down stones 
from the gate and from the wall, and shot their arrows, so 
that neither stone ñor arrow fell in vain; and the Cid and 
they who had advanced with him went into a bath which 
was near the wall, to be under cover from the arrows. And 
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Abeniaf s company opened the gate and sallied out, seeing B00K 
that the stones and arrows from the wall had hurt many, !— 
and made the Christians draw back ; and the Cid and they 
who were with him remained in the bath, being shut up 
there, for they could not go out by the door whereat they 
had entered, and they broke through the wall on the other 
side, and the Cid escaped that way, being thus put to rout. 
Then he thought himself i l l advised in having attacked the 
town, and in putting himself into a place from whence he 
had escaped with such great danger; and he held that the 
worst war which he could make upon the men of Valencia 
was to let them die of hunger. So he ordered proclamation 
to be made so loud that all the Moors upon the walls could 
hear, bidding all who had come out from the town to return 
into it, or he would burn as many as he should find; and 
saying also that he would slay all who carne out from that 
time forth. Nevertheless they continued to let themselves 
down from the walls, and the Christians took them without 
his knowledge. But as many as he found he burnt alive be-
fore the walls, so that the Moors could see them ; in one day 
he burnt eighteen, and cast others alive to the dogs, who tore 
them in pieces. They who could hide any sent them away 
by sea and by land to be sold ; the most whom they sent 
were young men and girls, for others they would not take ; 
and many virgins they kept for themselves. And i f they 
knew that any who carne out, had left kinsmen or friends in 
the town who would give any thing for them, they tortured 
them before the walls, or hung them from the towers of the 
Mosques which were without the city, and stoned them; and 
when they in the town saw this they gave ransom for them, 
that they might be permitted to dwell in Alcudia with the 
Moors who were in peace with the Cid. This continued for 
two months, t i l l there were only four beasts left in the town, 
and one was a mulé of Abeniaf's, and another was a horse Chr- del 
of his son's; and the people were so wasted that there were 193.' m . ' 
but few who had strength to mount the wall. ff.h268.Gen* 

29 
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BOOK X X V I I I . The company of Abeniaf and of his kinsmen 
despaired now of holding out, and of the help of the King of 

How the Zaragoza, or of the Almorávides, and they desired rather to 
to anleAÍ-nt die than endure this misery. A n d the good men of the city, 
wasa^ord- as many as were left, went to an Alfaqui, who w'as a good 
shoíwgcf m a n j and one who was held in great esteem, and besought 
^emand ^ m to §^ve ^6111 counsel, for he saw their great distress, and 
the Cid. ho^y they were out of all hope of succor ; and they besought 

him that he would go to Abeniaf, and know of him what he 
thought to do, or what hope he had, that he let them all 
perish thus. The Alfaqui gave ear to them, and said that i f 
they would all hold together, and be of one heart, and show 
great anger at having been brought to this misery, he would 

. • do all he could to relieve them; and they promised to do 
whatever he should advise. Now Abeniaf knew of the talk 
which the good men of the town had had with the Alfaqui, 
and understood that it was because of the great misery which 
they endured ; and he thought in his heart that he would 
humble himself, and do whatever his people should think 
good. And the Alfaqui thought that happy man was his 
dolé riow that the people had committed themselves to his 
guidage, and he went to Abeniaf and communed with him, 
and their accord was to give up all hope of succor. And 
Abeniaf put • himself in the hands of the Alfaqui, that he 
should go between him and the Cid and the people of Va-

Chr. del . " í x 
cid. cap. lencia, and make the best terms for them that he could, 
194. 195. ' 
Chr. Geú. seeing that they could no longer hold out, and maintain the 
ff. 269. + • 

town. 
CidWmade X X I X . Here the history relates that at this timé Martin 
pe^20f aPelaez the Asturian came with a convoy of laden beasts, 
0 ood^ a carrying provisions to the host of the Cid ; and as he past 
knight. near the town the Moors sallied out in great numbers against 

h im; but he, though he had few with him, defended the con­
voy right well, and did great hurt to the Moors, slaying 
many of them, and. drove them into the town. This Martin 
Pelaez who is here spoken of, did the Cid make a right good 
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knight, of a coward, as ye shall hear. When the Cid first B O O K 

began to lay siege to the city of Valencia, this Martin Pelaez 
carne unto h im; he was a knight, a native of Santillana in 
Asturias, a hidalgo, great of body and strong of limb, a well 
made man and of goodly semblance, but withal a right 
coward at heart, which he had shown in many places when 
he was among feats of arms. And the Cid was sorry when 
he carne unto him,- though he would not let him perceive 
this ; for he knew he was not fit to be of his company. 
Howbeit he thought that since he was come he would make 
him brave whether he would or not. A n d when the Cid 
began to war upon the town, and sent parties against it 
twice and thrice a day, as ye have heard, for the Cid was 
alway upon the alert, there was fighting and tourneying every 
day. One-day it fell out that the Cid and his kinsmen and 
friends and vassals were engaged in a great encounter, and 
this Martin Pelaez was well armed ; and when he saw that 
the Moors and the Christians were at it, he fled and betook 
himself to his íodging, and there hid himself t i l l the Cid re-
turned to dinner. And the Cid saw what Martin Pelaez did, 
and when he had conquered the Moors he returned to his 
Iodging to dinner. Now it was the custom of the Cid to 
eat at a high table, seated on his bench, at the head. And 
Don Alvar Fañez , and Pero Bermudez, and other precious 
knights, ate in another part, at high tables, full honorably, 
and none other knights whatsoever dared take their seats with 
them, unless they were such as deserved to be there; and 
the others who were not so approved in arms ate upon 
estrados, at tables with cushions.1 This was the order in 

1 Comían en estrados, e en mesas de cábecales. Chronica General. 
The others are said to eat at mesas altas. It should seem therefore, 

if I have not mistaken the meaning of the words, that the common and 
least honorable "mode of eating was after the Román fashion. The 
Welsh Kings had their Pedifer, whose office it was to chafe their feet 
while they were at their meáis ; . . they probably retained the Román 
fashion also. By whom were chairs introduced into common use ! Our 
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BOOK the house o f the Cid, and every one knew the place where he 
. — was to sit at meat, and every one strove all he coiüd to gain 

the honor of sitting to eat at the table of Don Alvar Fañez 
and his companions, by strenuously behaving himself in all 
feats of arms ; and thus the honor of the Cid was advanced. 
This Martin Pelaez, thinking that none had seen his bad-
ness, washed his hands in turn with the other knights, and 
would have taken his place among them. A n d the Cid 
went unto him, and took him by the hand and said, Yon are 
not such a one as deserves to sit with these, for they are 
worth more than yon or than me ; but I w i l l have yon with 
me : and he seated him with himself at table. And he, for 
lack of understanding, thought that the Cid did this to honor 
him above all the others. On the morrow the Cid and his 
company rodé towards Valencia, and the Moors carne out 
to the tourney; and Martin Pelaez went out well armed, 
and was among the foremost who charged the Moors, and 
when he was in among them he turned the reins, and went 
back to his lodging ; and the Cid took heed to all that he 
did, and saw that though he had done badly he had done 
better than the first day. And when the Cid had driven the 
Moors into the town he returned to his lodging, and as he 
sate down to meat he took this Martin Pelaez by the hand, 
and seated him with himself, and bade him eat with him in 
the same dish, for he had deserved more that day than he 
had the first. And the knight gave heed to that saying, and 

Cowper has given the rise and progress of seat-making, from the joint-
stool to the so fá ; the subject still remains to be investigated by anti-
quarians. Sitting on the ground is the more natural and more convenient 
custom : . . . the Portugueze women of the lower ranks, who still retain 
it, say it keeps the feet warm. High seats may have been preferred in 
cold countries because it is desirable to expose the feet to the fire, and 
skreen the face from it ; by a drunken people like the Northern conquer-
ors, because it was convenient at their beastly banquets that a guest 
should fall under the table rather than on his neighbor's lap; or by a 
dirty people, like our ancestors, who sufFered filth to accumulate upon the 
floors. 
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was abashed ; howbeit he did as the Cid commanded him : BOOK 
and after he had dined he went to his lodging and began to 
think upon what the Cid had said unto him, and perceived 
that he had seen all the baseness which he had done ; and 
then he understood that for this cause he would not let him 
sit at board with the other knights who were precious in 
arms, but had seated him with himself, more to af&ont him 
than to do him honor, for there were other knights there 
better than he, and he did not show them that honor. Then 
resolved he in his heart to do better than he had done here^ 
tofore. Another day the Cid and his company and Martin 
Pelaez rodé toward Valencia, and the Moors came out to 
the tourney M I resolutely, and Martin Pelaez was among 
the first, and charged them' right boldly; and he smote 
down and slew presently a good knight, and he lost there 
all the bad fear which he had had, and was that day one of 
the best knights there : and as long as the tourney lasted 
there he remained, smiting and slaying and overthrowing 
the Moors, t i l l they were driven within the gates, in such 
manner that the Moors marvelled at him, and asked where 
that Devil came from, for they had never seen him before. 
And the Cid was in a place where he could see all that was 
going on, and he gave good heed to him, and had great 
pleasure in beholding him, to see how well he had forgot-
ten the great fear which he was wont to have. And 
when the Moors were shut up within the town, the Cid and 
all his people returned to their lodging, and Martin Pelaez 
full leisurely and quietly went to his lodging also, like a 
good knight. A n d when it was the hour of eating the Cid 
waited for Martin Pelaez, and when he came, and they had 
washed, the Cid took him by the hand and said, M y friend, 
you are not such a one as deserves to sit with me from 
henceforth, but sit you here with Don Alvar Fañez, and with 
these other good knights, for the good feats which you have 
done this day, have made you a companion for them ; and 
from that day forward he was placed in the company of the 

I 
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BOOK good. A n d the history saith that f ronr that day forward 
VI ' this knight Martin Pelaez was a right good one, and a right 

valiant, and a right precious, in all places where he' chanced 
among feats of arms, and he lived alway with the Cid, and 
served him right well and truly. A n d the history saith, 
that after the Cid had won the city of Valencia, on the day 
when they conquered and discomfited the King of Seville, 
this Martin Pelaez was so good a one, that setting aside the 
body of the Cid himself, there was no such good knight 
there, ñor one who bore such part, as well in the battle as in 
the pursuit. And so great was the mortálity which he made 
among the Moors that day, that when he returned from the 
business the sleeves of his mail were clotted with blood, up 
to the elbow ; insomuch that for what he did that day, 
his. ñame is written in this history, that it may never die. 
A n d when the Cid saw him come in that guise, he did him 
great honor, such as he never had done to any knight before 
that day, and from thenceforward gave him a place in all 
his actions, and in all his secrets, and he was his great friend. 
I n this knight Martin Pelaez was fulfilled the example which 
saith, that he who betaketh himself to a good tree, hath good 
shade, and he who serves a good L o r d winneth good guer-
don ; for by reason of the good service which he did the 
Cid, he carne to such good state that he was spoken of as 

^ ye ha ve heard: for the Cid knew how to make a good knight 
as a. good groom knows how to make a good horse. The 

cid.' cap. history now leaves to speak of him, and returns to the ac-
Ch6r~Gen cor<^ 0^ A-lfa(lui and Abeniaf, which they propounded 
ff.269. * unto the Cid. 

How the X X X . This Alfaqui sent his messensers to an Almox-
city was to _ ^ ~ 
be yielded^ arife of the Cid, whose ñame was Abdalla Adiz, who was 
did not a good man, and one whom the Cid lo ved, and who never 
üffifteen W l him after he had obtained his favor. And when Ab-
d&JS- dalla Adiz heard that they wished to propose terms, he 

spake with the Cid upon this matter, and the Cid bade him 
enter the town, and speak with them, and know of them 
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what they would have. And he went inte the town, and BOOK 
spake with them as the Cid had commanded, and carne out . 
again, and reported unto him what they had said, t i l l he 
had made terms between them. Abeniaf sent three good 
men with him to confirm the terms which were made, and 
the covenant was after this manner, that they of Valencia 
should send messengers to the King -of Zaragoza, and to 
A l i Abenaxa who was Adelantado of the Almorávides and 
Lord of Murcia, beseeching them to succor them within fif-
teen days ; and i f within that time they were not succored, 
they should then give up the city to the Cid, with such con-
ditions, that Abeniaf should remain mighty in the town, as 
he had been before, his person being secure and all that he 
had, and his wives, and his children, and that he should re­
main Veedor, that is to say, Overseer, of all the rents of the 
town, he and the Almoraxife of the Cid, and a Moor who 
was called Musa should be Guazil of the town ; this Musa 
had looked after the aíFairs of the Cid in the time of King 
Yahia, and never forsook him after the death of the King his 
Lord ; and the Cid made him Alcayde of a Castle, and al-
way found him loyal, and at his service, and for this reason 
trusted he in him so as to make him Guazil, who should 
keep the keys of the town, with a guard of Almocadenes, 
and of Christian footmen of Almogávares who had been 
born in the land of the Moors. And it was appointed that 
the .Cid should dwell in Jaballa, in the town which he had 

Chr. del 
made, and that . he should alter none of their privileges, ñor Cid. cap. 
of their customs, ñor the rents which they paid, ñor their Chñ Gen. 
money. ff-270-

X X X I . Presently on the morrow they sent five good men of the 
as messengers to the King of Zaragoza, and as many more whích were 

to Murcia; and it had been covenanted that neither o f ^ ^ ™ . 
these messengers should take with him more than fiÉ^fg^SÍÍÍ 
maravedís for his journey, and that they should go by sea foot̂  
as far as Denia, in a ship of the Christians, and from thence 
by land. These messengers embarked with their company 
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BOOK on board that ship, and the Cid sent orders to the master 
VI ' thereof not to sail t i l l he carne; and the Cid carne himself 

in his own body and bade them search the messengers to 
see i f they took with them more than had been agreed ; and 
he found upon them great riches in gold and in silver and in 
pearls and in precious stones; part was their own, and part 
belonged to other merchants in the city, who thought to 
send it to Murcia, not being minded to abide in Valencia : 
and he took it all, leaving them no more than fifty maravedís 
each, according to the covenant. This was the price of 
food on the day when these messengers departed: the 
pound of wheat was three maravedís^ and the pound of 
barley one and a half, and the pound of painick three, 
saving a quarter ; the ounce of cheese three dineros, and 
the ounce of hemp seed four, and the pound of colewort 
one maravedí and two dineros of silver, and the pound of 
neat-skin one maravedí. I n the whole town there was only 
one mulé of Abeniaf's, and one horse: another horse which 
belonged to a Moor he sold to a butcher for three hundred 
and eighty doblas of gold, bargaining that he should have 

Chr. Gen. ten pounds of the flesh. And the butcher sold the flesh of 
ff. 270. r 
chr. del that horse at ten maravedís the short pound, and afterwards 
Cid. cap 
201. ' at twelve, and the head for twenty doblas of gold. 
How the X X X I I . The Moors of Valencia were now something 
C Í t V W3,S — 

yieided up. comforted, for they weened that they should receive help, 
and the Christians did not now war upon them ; neverthe-
less they kept guard, and went the rounds, as before, and 
waited for the day appointed, as one who looked to be re-
leased from prison. And for this reason men began to bring 
out the food which they had hidden, and to sell of it, and 
thus they went on t i l l the time expired, and the mes­
sengers were not returned. And Abeniaf besought them 
that they would wait yet three days more, but they made 
answer that they would not, for they could bear it no 
longer. A n d the Cid sent unto them bidding them yield 
up the town, as they had covenanted to do ; and he 
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swore with great oaths, that i f they delayed a single hour B O O K 

after the time was expired, he would not keép the terms L _ 
which he had made, and moreover that he would slay the 
hostages ; nevertheless they let. a day pass over and above 
the term. And then they who made the covenant with the 
Cid went out unto him, and besought him to come and re-
ceive the town, but the Cid said wrathíully to them, that he 
was not bound to keep the terms, seeing that they had let 
the time appointed pass; and they yielded themselves into 
his hands, that he should do with them according to his 
pleasure ; then he was moved to compassion, and had pity 
upon them. A n d Abeniaf and other good men came out, 
and the writings were made and confirmed on both sides, 
by the Chiefs of the Christians and of the Moors, and the 
gates were opened at the hour of noon, upon Thursday, the 
last day of June, after the feast of St. John, which the 
Moors cali Alhazaro. And when the gate was opened Aben­
iaf was there within, with a great company round about him, 
both of his own people and of those of the town ; and the 
Christians as they entered ascended the walls and towers. chr. del 
And Abeniaf asked why so many went up, for it was not in ^ " 
the terms ; but they would not .cease for that, and they took j^vf611' 
possession of all, little to his liking. • 

30 
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BOOK I - AND all the people of the town gathered together, 
VI1- like men risen from their graves, . . yea, like the dead when 

How the trumpet shall sound for the day of iudgment, and men 
people cued r ^ J o ' 

after the shall come out of their graves and be gathered together be-
fore the Majesty of God. And hucksters carne from Alcu­
dia and brought bread and pulse to sell, and others of the 
town went out to Alcudia to buy food ; and they who were 
poor, and had not wherewith to buy, plucked of the herbs of 
the field and ate them, and they held themselves rich because 
they could go out when they would, and enter in again 
without fear. And such as were wise among them ab-
stained from taking much food, fearing what would hap-
pen, and they took it little by little t i l l they had gotten 

Cid' cap s^eng* 5 all they who took their fill died, and the mortality 
sos. among them was so great that all the fields were full of 
Chr. Gen. 0 0 
ff. 271. graves. 
Oftheho- I I . On the following day after the Christians had taken 
ñor which . „ » • Ji,-, •, . . , 

the Cid did possession oí the town, the Cid entered it with a great com-
Moors.6 pany, and he ascended the highest tower of the wall, and 

beheld all the ci ty; and the Moors came unto him, and 
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kissed his hand, saying he was welcome. And the Cid did BOOK 
great honor unto them. And then he gave order that all the 
windows of the towers which looked in upon the town should 
be closed up, that the Christians might not see what the 
Moors did in their houses; and the Moors thanked him for 
this greatly. And he commanded and requested the Christ­
ians that they should show great honor to the Moors, and re-
spect them, and greet them when they met : and the Moors 
thanked the Cid greatly for the honor which the Ghristians S; cdaep. 
did them, saying that they had never seen so good a man, QJ". Gen. 
ñor one so honorable, ñor one who had his people under such ff- 27l• 
obedience. 

I I I . Now Abeniaf thought to have the love of the Cid ; ckTspake 
and calling to mind the wrath with which he had formerly 
been received, because he had not taken a gift with him, he 
took now great riches, which he had taken from those who 
sold bread for so great a price during the siege of Valencia, 
and this he carried to the Cid as a present. Among those 
who had sold it were some men from the Islands of Majorca,1 
and he took from them all that they had. This the Cid 
knew, and he would not accept his gifts. A n d the Cid 
caused proclamation to be made in the town, and through-
out the whole district thereof, that the honorable men and 
knights and castellans should assemble together in the gar-
den of Vi l la Nueva, where the Cid at that time sojourned. 
And. when they were all assembled, he went out unto them, 
to a place which was made ready with carpets and with 
mats, and he made them take their seats before him full 
honorably, and began to speak unto them, saying, I am a 
man who have never possessed a kingdom, neither I ñor 
any man of my lineage. But the day when I first beheld 
this city I was well pleased therewith, and coveted it, that I 
might be its L o r d ; and I besought the Lord our God that 
he would give it me. See now what his power is, for the 

1 A l l the Balearle Islands, thus callad as being subject to the largest. 
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BOOK day when I sate down before Juballa I had no more than 
"VTT . • 

. foar loaves ,of bread, and now by God's mercy I have won 
Valencia. And if I admihister right and justice here, God 
wi l l let me enjoy it, but i f I do evil, and demean myself 
proudly and wrongfully, I know that he w i l l take it away. 
Now then let every one go to his own lands, and possess 
them even as he was wont to havé and to hold them. • He 
who shall find his field, or his vineyard, or his garden, de-
sert, let him incontinently enter thereon ; and he who shall 
find his husbanded, let him pay him that hath cultivated it 
the cost of his labor, and of the seed which he hath sown 
therein, and remain with his heritage, according to the law 
of the Moors. .Moreover I have given order that they who 
eollect my dues take from you no more than the tenth, be-
canse so it is appointed by the custom of the Moors, and it 
is what ye have been wont to pay. And I have resolved in 
my heart to hear your complaints two days in the week, on 
the Monday and the Thursday; but i f causes should arise 
which require haste, come to me when ye wi l l , and I w i l l 
give judgment, for I do not retire with womeh to sing and 
to drink, as your Lords have done, so that. ye could obtain 
no justice, but wi l l myself see to these things, and watch 
o ver ye as friend o ver his friend, and kinsman o ver his 
kinsman. And I w i l l be Cadi1 and Guazil, and when dis­
pute happens among ye I w i l l decide it. "When he had said 
these things theyall replied that they prayed God to preserve 

Chr. del him through long and happy. years, and four of the most 
Cid. cap. honorable among them rose and kissed his hands, and the 

ffh2V?en* ^ ba^e ^6111 take ^16^ seats again. 

1 Both origináis have Alcayde. The Cid uses the w ôrd in its civil 
sense ; in which sense every person who has read the Arabian Nights 
Entertainments will understand it. I f the Moors in Spain had but ohe 
Cadi, . . that is, if the civil power was in the hands óf a military officer, 
as perhaps may be inferred from the word Alcayde, it is one proof more 
of the miserable state of barbarism into which they had fallen. 
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I V . Then the Cid spake unto them and said, it is told BOOK 

me that Abeniaf hath done much evil, and committed great 
wrong toward some of ye, in that he hath taken great riches JJJj^j1: 
from ye to present them to me, saying, that this he did be- Cii "JjJ 
cause ye sold food for a great price during the siege. But I Moors. 

wil l accept of no such gif t ; for i f I were minded to have 
your riches, I could táke them, and need not ask them 
neither from him, ñor from any other ; but thing so unseem-
ly as to take that which is his from any one, without just 
cause, I wi l l not do. They who have gotten wealth thus, 
God hath given it them ; let them go to Abeniaf, and take 
back what he hath forced from them, for I w i l l order him to 
restore the whole. Then he said, Ye see the.riches which I 
took from the messengers who went to Murcia ; it is mine 
by right, for I took it in war because they brake the cove-
nant which they had made, and would have deceived me: 
nevertheless I w i l l restore it to the uttermost farthing, that 
nothing thereof shall be lost. • A n d ye shall do homage to 
me that ye w i l l not withdraw yourselves, but wi l l abide here, 
and do my bidding in all things, and never depart from the 
covenant which ye make with me; for I love ye, and am 
grieved to think of the great evil and misery which ye en-
dured from the great famine, and of the mortality which 
there was. And i f ye had done that before which ye have 
done now, ye would not have been brought to these suífer-
ings and have bought the cafiz of wheat at a thousand mara­
vedís ; but I trust in G od to bring it to one maravedí. Be 
ye now secure in your lands, and t i l l your fields, and rear 
cattle ; for I have given order to my men that they oífer ye 
no wrong, neither enter into the town to buy ñor to sell; 
but that they carry on all their dealings in Alcudia, and this 
I do that ye may receive no displeasure. Moreover I com-
mand them not to take any captive into the town, but i f this 
should be done, lay ye hands on the captive and set him 
free, without fear, and i f any one should-resist, kiU him and 
fear not. I myself wil l not enter your city ñor dwell therein, 
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BOOK but I wi l l build me a place beside the Bridsre of Alcántara, 
V I I 

where I may go and disport myself at times, and repair 
Chr. del ^ e n it is needful. When he had said these thinffs he bade 
Cid. cap. o 

272. V . W e l l pleased were the Moors when they departed 
How the from him, and they marvelled at the greatness of his pro-
promises of / ^ «-> 
the cid mises, and they set their hearts at rest, and put away the íear 
?aTse%nd which they had had, thinking all their troubles were over; 
demanded for in all the promises which the Cid had made unto them, 
ínaf fhould they believed that he spake truth ; but he said these things 
eredmto on^y to them, and to make them come to what he 
his hands. v^ghec^ even as came to pass. And when he had done, he 

sent his Almoxarife, Abdalla Adiz, to the Custom House, and 
made him appoint men to collect the rents of the town for 
him, which was done accordingly. And when the Cid had 
given order concerning his own aífairs at his pleasure, the 
Moors would fain have entered again into possession of their 
heritages as he told them ; but they found it all otherwise, 
for of all the fields which the Christians had husbanded, 
they would not yield up one ; albeit they let them enter upon 
such as were left waste: some said that the Cid had given 
them the lands that year, instead of their pay, and other 
some that they rented them and had paid rent for the year. 
So the Moors seeing this, waited t i l l Thursday, when the 
Cid was to hear complaints, as he had said unto them. 
When Thursday came all the honorable men went to the 
Garden, but the Cid sent to say unto them that he could not 
come out that day, because of other causes which he had to 
determine ; and he desired that they would go their way for 
that time, and come again on the Monday: this was to show 
his mastery. And when it was Monday they assembled 
again in the Garden, and the Cid came out to them, and 
took his seat upon the estrado, and the Moors made their 
complaint. And when he had heard them, he began to 
make similitudes, and offer reasons which were not like 
those which he had spoken the first day, for he said to them, 
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I ask of ye, whether it is well that I should be left without BOOK 
men ? for i f I were without them, I should be like unto one !— 
who hath lost his right arm, or to a bird that hath no wings, 
or to one who should do battle and hath neither spear ñor 
sword. The first thing which I have to look to is to the 
well-being of my people, that they may live in wealth and 
honor, so that they may be able to serve me, and defend my 
honor: for since it has pleased God to give me the city of 
Valencia, I w i l l not that there be any other Lord here than 
me. Therefore I say unto you and command you, i f you 
would be well with me, and would that I should show favor 
unto you, that ye see how to deliver that traitor Abeniaf into 
my hands. Ye all know the great treason which he com-
mitted upon King Yahia, his L o r d and yours, how he slew 
him, and the misery which he brought upon you in the siege ; 
and since it is not fitting that a traitor who hath slain his 
Lord should live among you, and that his treason should be cid." cap. 
confounded with your loyalty, see to the obeyment of my Qeñ. 
command. & 272' 

V I . When the honorable Moors heard this they were How the 
dismayed; verily they knew that he spake truth touching the ed counsel 

death of the King, but it troubled them that he departed Adfz^and 

from the promise which he had made ; and they made an- delTvered 
swer that they would take counsel concerning what he had up Abeniaf-
said, and then reply. Then five of the best and most hon­
orable among them withdrew, and went to Abdalla Adiz, 
and said unto him, Areed us thy reed now the best and 
truest that thou canst, for thou art of our law, and oughtest 
to do this: and the reason why we ask counsel of thee is 
this. The Cid promised us many things, and now behold 
he says nothing to us of what he said before, but moveth 
other new reasons, at which great dismay hath seized us. 
And because thou better knowest his ways, tell us now what 
is his pleasure, for albeit we might wish to do otherwise, this 
is not a time wherein any thing but what he shall command 
can be done. When the Almoxarife heard this he made 
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BOOK answer, Good men^ it is -easy to imderstand what he would 
Yn" have, and to do what should be done. W e all know the 

great treason which Abeniaf committed against ye all in 
killing your Lord the K i n g : for albeit at that time ye felt 
the burden of the Christians, yet was it nothing so great as 
after he. had killed him, neither did ye suffer such misery. 
A n d since God hath brought him who was the cause to this 
state, see now by all means how ye may deliver him into the 
hands of the Cid. And fear not, neither take thought for the 
rest; for though the Cid may do his pleasure in some things, 
better is it to have him for Lord , than this traitor who hath 
bronght so much evil upon ye. Moreover the things of this 
world soon pass away, and my heart tells me that we shall 
ere long come out of the bondage of the Cid, and of the 
Christians; fór the Cid is well nigh at the full of his days, and 
we who remain alive after his death, shall then be masters of 
our city. W h e n the good men heard what he said, they 
thanked him much, and held themselves to be well advised, 
and said that they would do willingly what he bade them: 
and they returned forthwith to the Cid, and said unto him 
that they would fulfil his commandment. Incontinently did 
the good men dispeed themselves of the Cid, and they went 
into the city, and gathered together a great posse of armed 
men, and went to the place Avhere Abeniaf dwelt ; and they 
assaulted the house and brake the doors, and entered in and 
laid hands on him, and his son, and all his company, and 

SK'* del carried them before the Cid. And the Cid ordered Abéniaf 
üid. cap. 
Chr 2 Gen to ^e cast Prison5 an(^ a^ ^ose who had taken counsel 
ff. 273. with him for the death of King Yahia. 
CiTsSd ^1611 was done, the Cid said unto the good 
that he men, Now that ye have fulfilled my bidding, I hold it good 
dwell in to show favor unto you iri that which ye yourselves shall 
and^ow he understand to be fitting for me to grant. Say therefore 
session5" w h a t Y6 would. have, and I wi l l do that which I think 
thereof. behoveth me: but in this manner, that my dwelling place 

be within the city of Valencia, in the Alcázar, and that my 
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Christian raen ha ve all the fortresses in the city. And when B O O K 

the good raen heard this, they were greatly troubled ; how- .— 
beit they dissembled the sorrow which they resented, and 
said unto him, Sir Cid, order it as yon think good, and we 
consent thereto. Then said he unto them that he would 
observe towards thera all the uses and customs of their law, 
and that he would have the power, and be L o r d of a l l ; and 
they should t i l l their fields and feed their flocks and herds, 
and give him his tenth, and he would take no more. 
When the Moors heard this they were well pleased, and 
since they were to remain in the town, and in their houses 
and their inheritances, and with their uses and customs, and 
that their Mosques were to be left them, they held them-
selves not to be badly off. Then they asked the Cid to let 
their Guazil be the same as he had first appointed, and that 
he would give them for their Cadi the Alfaqui Alhagi, and 
let him appoint whom he would to assist him in distributing 
justice to the Moors ; and thus he himself would be re-
lieved of the wearisomeness of hearing them, save only 
when any great occasion raight befall. This Alhagi was 
he who made the lamentation for Valencia, as ye have 
heard; and when the Cid was peaceably established in 
Valencia, he was converted, and the Cid made him a Chris­
tian. And the Cid granted this which they required, and 
they kissed his hand, and returned into the town. Nine 
months did the Cid hold Valencia besieged, and at the end 
of that time it fell into his power, and he obtained possession 
of the walls, as ye have heard. And one month he was 
practising with the Moors that he raight keep thera quiet, 
til l Abeniaf was delivered into his hands; and thus ten 
months were fulfilled, and they were fulfilled on Thursday 
the last day of June, in the year of the aera one thousand 
one hundred and thirty and one, which was in the year one 
thousand ninety and three 1 of the Incarnation of our L o r d 

1 Both the Chronicles say aera 1125. i . e. A . D . 1087; but by specify-
ing Thursday, the last day of June, they supply a date for correcting this 

31 
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BOOK Jesús Christ. And when the Cid had finished all his deal-
VIL ings wilh the Moors, on this day he took horse with all his 

company in good array, his banner being carried before 
him, and his arms behind : and in this guise, with great 
rejoicings he entered the city of Valencia. And he alighted 
at the Alcázar, and gave order to lodge all his men round 
about it, and he bade them plant his banner upon the highest 
tower of the Alcázar. Glad was the Campeador, and all 
they who Avere with him, when they saw his banner planted 
in that place. And from that day forth was the Cid pos-

Cid' cap sessed of all the Castles and fortresses which were in the 
208. 209. kingdom of Valencia, and established in what God had 
Chr. Gen. & 7 
ff. 273. given him, and he and all his people rejoiced. 
How Abe- V I H . On the morrow the Cid sent Abeniaf to Juballa, 
maf was . n 

tortured to and they gave him great tortures t i l l he was at the pomt of 
give ac- death; and they kept him there two days, and then brought 
riches^and.8 him to Valencia to the Garden of the Cid, and the Cid gave 
falsete-a order that he should write with his own hand an account of 
waTstoned. a11 t h a t h e h a d ' he d i í i t h Í S ' a n d W r 0 t e d o w n t h e 

carkanets, and rings, and costly garments, and rich apparel 
which he had, and also many other precious household 
things, and the debts which were due unto him. This the 
Cid did that he might see i f all was there which Abeniaf 
had taken when he slew the King his Master ; and the 
writins: was read before the Cid. And the Cid sent for cer-
tain Moors who were good and honorable men, and made 
Abeniaf be brought before him, and demanded of him i f he 
had nothing more than what was there written down; and 
he answered that he had not: and he bade him swear this 

error. Berganza, 5. 24. § 299, calcúlales that the last day of June 
would fall on a Thursday, in the years 1082, 1093, and 1099 : the last 
is the year of the Cid's death, and Valencia was certainly not taken in 
the former. Ye t he supposes a mistake of one day, and follows the 
Anuales de Toledo in fixing 1094 as the year of the conquest; that date 
seeming to agree best with the chronology of other connected events. 
I f the day be assumed as datum, the result should be adhered to. 
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before the Moors, and Abeniaf swore accordingly. Then BOOK 

the Cid sent privily to make search in all the houses of the '•— 
friends of Abeniaf, swearing unto them, that i f they had any 
thing of his and denied it, and it should afterwards be dis-
covered, he would put them to death, and moreover take 
from them all that they had. And they when they heard 
this, partly in the fear of the Cid, and partly that they might 
find favor with him, brought each of them great riches, say-
ing, Sir, Abeniaf gave us this in keeping, that i f it might be 
saved, he might share it with us. And he gave order to 
search and dig in the houses of Abeniaf, and they found 
great treasure there in gold and in silver, and in pearls, and 
in precious stones, all which a servant discovered unto 
them. And when the Cid saw it all before him it pleased 
him much, and he called for the Moors before whom Abe­
niaf had taken the oath, and he took his seat upon the 
estrado full nobly, and there in the presence of Christians 
and Moors he ordered Abeniaf and all the other prisoners to 
be brought forth. And he bade that Alfaqui whom he had 
made Cadi, and the other good men, judge by what death 
he who had slain the L o r d deserved to die, according to 
their law, and who moreover was perjured, for he had 
sworn that he possessed nothing more than what he had set 
down in wr i t ing : and the Cadi and the other Moors said 
that according to their law, he and his accomplices should be 
stoned: This, they said, we íind in our law, but you wi l l 
do as you think good. Nevertheless we ask mercy of you 
for his son, who is but a child ; may it picase you to set him 
free, for he hath no fault in what his father hath done. And 
the Cid answered, that for the love of them he pardoned the 
child, but that he should depart from the city, for he would 
not have the son of a traitor dwell therein. And he com-
manded them that they should stone Abeniaf and all them 
who had taken coimsel with him for the death of the King, 
according as they had given sentence. Then the honorable 
Moors rose and kissed his feet and his hands for the mercy 
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BOOK which he had shown to the son of Abeniaf; and they took 
out Abeniaf to stone him, and other twenty and two with 

Chr. del him. A n d the Cid bade them come again to him on the 
Cid. cap. 0 

210. ^ morrow, and he would appoint what should be the manner 
ff. 274. * of his dwelling among them. 
Ofthe I X . That night the Cid spake with Alvar F a ñ e z and 
whkThthe with Pero Bermudez, and all them who were of1 his council,, 
TOtó thé6 an<̂  resolved i11 what manner they would live among 
Moors, tei- £ g Moors. And on the morrow the honorable Moors of 
ling them 
that he Valencia assembled together in the Alcázar, as they had 
•would have 0 . . ^ 

the city to been commanded to do, and the Cid took his seat upon the 
estrado, and all the honorable men round about him, and he 
spake unto them after this manner : Good men of the A l ­
jama of Valencia, ye know how I served and defended 
King Yahia your Lord , and ye also, until his death. And I 
had great sorrow for him, and strove to revenge him, as ye 
know, and endured great hardships in winning Valencia. 
And since God hath thought it good that I should be L o r d 
thereof, I w i l l have it for myself, and for those who have 
holpen me to win it, saving the sovereignty of King Don 
Alfonso of Castille, my Lord , whom God preserve for his 
service long and happy years. Ye are all now in my 
power, to do with ye whatever I w i l l , both with your per-
sons and your riches, and your wives and your children ; 
but I w i l l not do thus. A n d I hold it good that the honor­
able men among ye who have alway been loyal, remain in 
the city in their dwellings and with all their family; and 
that none among ye keep more than one beast, which shall 
be a mulé, and that ye do not use arms, neither have them 
in your possession, except when it is needful and I shall 
give command. And all the rest of the people shall go out 
of the town, and dwell in the suburb of Alcudia, where I 
was wont to be. Ye shall have two Mosques, one in 
the city and one in the suburb ; and ye shall have your 
Alfaquis and follow your own law ; and ye shall have your 
Cadis, and your Guazil, as I have appointed ; and ye shall 
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have your inheritances, and pay me the tenth of the fruits BOOK 
thereof as your ser vice ; and the power of justice shall be 
mine, and I w i l l order such money to be coined as I shall 
think good. Do ye therefore who are minded to abide with 
me in the land abide : and let those who are not, go, in 
God's ñame, and good luck with them, but they shall take 
only their own persons, and I w i l l give command to see 
them escorted in safety. When the Moors of Valencia heard 
this, they were full sorrowful ; howbeit it was now a time 
when they could do no otherwise than as he commanded. 
And incontinently they began to go out of the city with 
their wives and children, all except those whom the Cid had 
commanded to abide there ; and as the Moors went out 
the Christians who dwelt in Alcudia entered in. And the 
history saith, that so great was the multitude which departed, 
that they were two whole days in going out. Great was the Chr. del 
joy of the Cid and his people that day, and from thence-211. 
forward he was called M y Cid the Campeador, L o r d of g-. 2u,en' 
Valencia. 

X . Now it was bruited abroad throughout all lands, how How the 
the Cid Ruydiez had won the noble city of Valencia. And yiulíame' 
when A l i Abenaxa the Adelantado of the Almorávides knew and' 
it, he sent his son-in-law the King of Seville to besiege him 
in Valencia, and gave him thirty thousand men at arms. 
And this King came in great haste to Valencia, and be-
sieged the Cid therein. And the Cid made ready with all 
his people, and went out to fight him. And the battle was 
nigh unto Valencia, beside the garden which is called the 
Garden of Vi l la Nueva; and it was a good battle, and at 
length he of the good fortune conquered ; and the pursuit 
continued as far as Xativa; even so far did the Christians 
pursue them, smiting and slaying. And at the passage of 
the Xucar there might you have seen confusión, and there 
the Moors without liking it, drank plenty of water. They 
say that fifteen thousand Moors died in the river ; and the 
King of Seville fled with ttiree great blows. This day did 
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BOOK Martin Pelaez the Asturian approve himself a right good 
ZIL one ; there was no knight so good that day in arms as he, 

ñor who bore away such honor. And when the pursuit was 
ended the Cid returned to the field of battle, and ordered 
the spoils of the field and of the tents to be collected. Be it 
known that this was a profitable day's work. Every foot 
soldier shared a hundred marks of silver that day. And the 
Cid returned full honorably to Valencia. Great was the joy 
of the Christians in the Cid Ruydiez, he who was born in a 

Chr. del good hour. His beard was grown, and continued to grow a 
212. Cap" great length. M y Cid said of his chin, For the love of King 
ĥ2r-4Gei1- Don Alfonso, who hath banished me from his land, no scis-

C i d T í í ío sars s^a^ c o m e u P o n ü, ñor shall a hair be cut away, and 

i25 i . Moors and Christians shall talk of it . 
X I . That niffht the Cid took counsel with Alvar Fañez , 

How the 0 
cid num- who departed not from his side, and with the other honora-
bered his p n . - i • i i i i 
people. ble men who were oí his council, concermng what shouid 

be done: for now that his people were all rich, he feared 
least they shouid return into their own country, for my Cid 
saw that i f they might go they would. And Minaya advised 
him that he shouid cause proclamation to be made through 
the city, that no man shouid depart without permission of 
the Cid, and i f any one went who had not dispeeded him­
self and kist his hand, i f he were overtaken he shouid lose 
all that he had, and moreover be fixed upon a stake. And 
that they might be the more certain, he said unto Minaya 
that he would take account of all the people who were with 
him, both horsemen and foot, and Pero Bermudez and Mar­
tin Antolinez made the r o l l ; and there were found a thou-
sand knights of lineage, and five hundred and fifty other 
horsemen, and of foot soldiers four thousand, besides boys 

S r í í ? ' 1 ' and oíhers ; thus many were the people of my Cid, he of 
ffh274Gen" - ^ ^ * his heart rejoiced, and he smiled and said, 
P?emadel^ Thanks be to God, Minaya, and to Holy Mary Mother ! . • • 
1270.' we had a smaller company when we left the house of Bivar ! 
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X I I . A t this time there carne a crowned one from the B ^ K 
parts of the East, that is to say, one who was shaven and 
shorn; his ñame was the Bishop Don Hieronymo, a full J^.1^6 
learned man and a wise, and one who was mighty both on ^^P^0 
horseback and a-foot : and he carne inquiring for the Cid, and the 
wishing that he might see himself with the Moors in the the eity a 
íield, for i f he could once have his fill of smiting and slaying fo? Mm C 
them, Christians should never lament him. And when the 
Cid kneAV this it pleased him in his heart, and he took horse 
and went to visit him, and rejoiced greatly that he was come ; 
and he resolved to make Valencia a bishopric and give it to 
this good Christian. And they took counsel, and it was that 
on the morrow the Bishop and his clergy should turn the 
Mosques into Churches, wherein they might sing masses, 
and sacrifice the body of Jesús Christ. And rents were 
appointed for the table of the Bishop and for his Canons, 
and for all the clergy in the city of Valencia. A n d nine 
parish Churches were made. A n d the greatest was called 
St. Pedro's and another was called St. Mary of the Virtues. 
This was near the Alcázar, and there the Cid went oftenest PJ"'"o?lCld* 

' i Cap. ¿ lo, 

to hear service. After this manner the Cid ordered his city Chr. Gen. 
that it should be a Bishopric, for the honor of the Catholic Poema del 

Cid. v. 

faith. God ! hoAv joyful was all Christendom that there was 1295.1314 
a L o r d Bishop in the land of Valencia ! H w th 

X I I I . Now the Cid bethought him of Doña Ximena his Cid sent for 
wife, and of his daughters Doña Elvira and Doña Sol, and daugh-

whom he had left in the Monastery of St. Pedro de Car-ters' 
deña ; and he called for Alvar Fañez and Martin Antolinez 
of Burgos, and spake with them, and besought them that 
they would go to Castille, to King Don Alfonso his Lord , 
and take him a present from the riches which God had given 
them ; and the present should be a hundred horses, saddled 
and bridled ; and that they would kiss the King's hand for 
him, and beseech him to send him his wife Doña Ximena, 
and his daughters, and that they would tell the King all the 
merey which God had shown him, and how he was at his 
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BOOK service with Valencia and with all that he had. Moreover 
VIL he bade them take a thousand marks of silver to the Monas-

tery of St. Pedro de Cárdena, and give them to the Abbot, 
and thirty marks of gold for his wife and daughters, that 
they might prepare themselves and come in honorable guise. 
A n d he ordered three hundred marks of gold to be given 
them, and three hundred marks of silver, to redeem the 
chests full of sand which he had pledged in Burgos to the 
Jews; and he bade them ask Rachel and Vidas to forgive 
him the deceit of the sand, for he had done it because of his 
great need: and he said, You, Martin Antolinez, were aid-
ing and abetting herein, but praised be the ñame of the Lord 
for ever, he hath let me quit myself t ru ly; tell them that they 
shall have more profit than they asked. And he bade them 
each take with him his whole company, that they might be 
better advised and accompanied, and that Doña Ximena 

Chr. del might come with the greater honor: and the company was 
Cid. cap. ^ ^jjjj^j.gjj knights who were of Don Alvar Fañez , 
ffh275 Gen' ari(i 0f Martin Antolinez: and he ordered money to be 
CMmv del given them for their disbursement, and for all things need-
1280. Í294.fui) in abundance. 

í rS ígers X I V - Alvar Fañez and Martin Antolinez went their 
King ^nd6 w a y 5 anĉ  ^ ey found the King in the city of Falencia, 
of the ĝ ea.t wh.en they arrived he was comino from mass, and seeing 
favor whicn * . o ? o 

was^shown this goodly company of horsemen he stopt in the church 
porch, and asked who they were. A n d it wás told him that 
they were people of the Cid, who came to him with a full 
great present. And Alvar Fañez and Martin Antolinez 
alighted, and came to the King, and kissed his hand; and 
he received them right well, and said, What tidings bring 
ye me of the Cid, my true vassal, the most honorable knight 
that ever was knighted in Castille ? W e l l was Minaya 
pleased when he heard this, and he said, A boon, Sir King 
Don Alfonso, for the love of your Maker ! M y Cid sendeth 
to kiss your hands and your feet, as his natural Lord, at 
whose service he is, and from whom he expecteth much 
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bounty and good. You banished him from the land ; but ^ O K 
though in another's country, he hath only done you service. 
Five pitched battles hath he won since that time, some with 
Moors and some with bad Christians; and he hath taken 
Xerica, and Ondra, and Almenar, and Monviedro which is a 
bigger place, and Cebóla also, and Castrejon, and Peña 
Cadiella which is a strong eminence, and with all the right 
noble city of Valencia, for the honor of the faith of Jesús 
Christ, and of you our L o r d and K i n g ; and he hath made it 
a Bishopric, and made the honorable Don Hieronymo Bishop 
thereof with his own hand. And behold here are a hundred 
horses of the spoils which he hath won ; they are great and 
swift, and all are bridled and saddled, and he kisseth your 
hand and beseecheth you as his natural L o r d to receive 
them. When the King heard this he was greatly astonished, 
and he lifted up his right hand and blest himself, and said, 
As St. Isidro shall keep me, I rejoice in the good fortune of 
the Cid, and receive his gift full willingly. But though this 
pleased the King it did not picase Garci Ordoñez, and he 
said, I t seemeth there is not a man left in the land of the 
Moors, that the Cid can thus do his pleasure! A n d the 
King said unto him, Hold thy peace, for in all things he 
serves me better than thou. Then Alvar Fañez kissed the 
King's hand again, and said, Sir, the Cid beseecheth you of 
your bounty that he may have his wife Doña Ximena and 
his two daughters, that they may go to Valencia unto him, 
from the Monastery where he left them, for it is many days 
since he saw them, and i f it picase you this would rejoice 
him. A n d the King made answcr, I t picases me well, and 
I w i l l give them a guard throughout my dominions, that they 
may be conducted honorably to the border : when they have 
past it, the Campeador himself w i l l look to them. A n d he 
said, Hear me ! all those whom I have disseized of their in-
heritances for foliowing the Campeador, I restore again to 
the possession thereof, and all those who desire to serve him 
I fireely license : let them go in the grace of God. Moreover 
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the King said, I grant him Valencia and all that he hath won 
and shall win hereafter, that he be called Lord thereof, and 
that he hold it of no other Lordship save of me, who am his 
liege Lord . Alvar F a ñ e z and Martin Antolinez kissed his 
hand for this in the Cid's ñame. A n d the King called a 
porter, who should go with them, bearing a writing from the 
King, that all things needful should be given unto them so 
long as they were in his lands. Then Alvar Fañez and 
Martin Antolinez dispeeded themselves of the King, and took 
their way towards Burgos. 

X V . When they reached Burgos they sent for Rachel 
and for Vidas, and demanded from them the chests, and paid 
unto them the three hundred marks of gold and the three 
hundred of silver as the Cid had commanded, and they be-
sought them to forgive the Cid the deceit of the chests, for 
it was done because of his great necessity.1 A n d they said 
they heartily forgave him, and held themselves well paid ; 
and they prayed God to grant him long life and good 
health, and to give him power to advance Christendom, and 
put down Pagandom. And when it was known through 
the city of Burgos the goodness and the gentleness which 
the Cid had shown to these merchants, in redeeming from 
them the chests full of sand and earth and stones, the peo-
pie held it for a great wonder, and there was not a place in 
all Burgos where they did not talk of the gentleness and 
loyalty of the Cid ; and they besought blessings upon him, 
and prayed that he and his people might be advanced in 

1 I am afraid i t is not quite so eertain that the Cid redeemed these 
chests, as that he pledged them. The Poem, which gives the minutest 
account of the pledging, says nothing of the repayment. On the contrary, 
when A l v a r F a ñ e z and the ladies are about to set oíF for Valencia, i t 
says, " Behold Rachel and Vidas fell at his feet . . . mercy, Minaya, 
good knight , the Cid has undone us, i f he do not help us. W e w i l l give 
up the interest, i f he w i l l pay us the capital,'1 " I w i l l see about i t wi th 
the Cid i f God shall let me reach him ; yon w i l l find good help from him 
for what yon have done." Rachel and Vidas said, " God grant i t ; i f not 
we w i l l leave Burgos and go seek h i m . " 1439. 1446. 
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honor. When they had done this, they went to the Monas- BOOK 
tery of St. Pedro de Cardeña, and the porter of the King " 
went with them, and gave order every where that every thing 
which they wanted should be given them. I f they were 
well received, and i f there was great joy in St. Pedro de 
Cardeña over them, it is not a thing to ask, for Doña X i m -
ena and her daughters were like people beside themselves 
with the great joy which they had, and they carne running 
out on foot to meet them, weeping plenteously for great 
joy. • And Alvar F a ñ e z and Martin Antolinez, when they 
saw them coming, leapt off their horses and went to them, 
and Minaya embraced Doña Ximena and both his cousins, 
Doña Elvira and Doña Sol, and so great was the rejoicing 
which they made together that no man can tell it yon. 
And when this great joy was somewhat abated, Doña X i m ­
ena asked how the Cid fared, for since he had parted from 
her, she had heard no news of him. And Alvar F a ñ e z 
said he had left him safe and sound in Valencia ; and he 
bade her and her daughters thank God for the great favor 
that he had shown him, for he had won sundry castles from 
the Moors, and the noble city of Valencia, whither he was 
now come to carry her and her daughters, for the Cid had 
sent for them, and when he should see them his heart's de-
sire would be accomplished. When Doña Ximena and 
her daughters heard this, they set their knees to the ground, 
and lifted up their hands and thanked God for the favor 
he had shown to the Cid, and to them with him, in giving 
him the Lordship of Valencia. While they were preparing 
for the journey, Alvar F a ñ e z sent three knights to the Cid, 
to tell him how they had sped with the King, and of the 
great favor which they had found at his hands, and how he 
only tarried now to equip Doña Ximena, that she might 
come full honorably. That good one Minaya then began to 
deck them out for the journey with the best trappings 
which could be found in Burgos : right noble garments did 
he provide for them, and a great company of damsels, and 
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BOOK good palfreys, and great mules, which were not bad ones, 
VI1' And he gave the Abbot the thousand marks of silver which 

the Cid had sent for the Monastery, with which to discharge 
all the debt that Doña Ximena and his daughters had con-
tracted. Great was the stir throughout all that land, of th,e 
honor of the Cid, and of the license which the King gave to 
as .many as should choose to join him ; and for this reason 
full sixty knights carne to St. Pedro de Cardeña and a great 
number of squires on foot. Don Alvar F a ñ e z was well 
pleased to see them, and he promised them that he would 
obtain the Cid's grace for them, and would befriend them all 
he could. Great dolé did the Abbot make when they de-
parted ; and he said. As God shall help you, Minaya, kiss the 
hand of the Campeador for me. This Monastery w i l l never 
forget him, to pray for him every day in the year, The Cid 
w i l l alway prosper more and more. Minaya promised to do 

Chr. del this, and dispeeded himself, and they went their way. Five 
Cid. cap. ¿ayS faej travelled, and then they came to Medina Celi ; and 
ff^re38"' alway ^ e porter of the King was with them, and made all 
Poema del Wanted be given unto them, even as the King had 
1450: commanded. 
HowDoña X V I . Now the three knights whom Alvar F a ñ e z had 
Ximena . . 
and her sent, came to the Cid and delivered their message. When 
came to my Cid heard it his heart rejoiced and he was glad, and he 

a encía. ^ an¿ ggj^ j j e sen¿s good messen-
gers looks for good tidings. Blessed be the ñame of God, 
since King Don Alfonso rejoices in my good fortune. And 
he called for Muño Gustios, and Pero Bermudez, and the 
Bishop Don Hieronymo, and bade them take a hundred 
knights least there should be need to fight, and go to Molina, 
to Abencano, who was his friend and vassal, and bid him 
take another hundred knights, and go with them to Medina 
Celi as fast as they could go. There, said he, ye w i l l find 
Alvar F a ñ e z and my wife and daughters ; bring them to me 
with great honor : I wi l l remain here in Valencia which has 
cost me so much ; great folly would it be i f I were to leave 
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i t : I w i l l remain in it, for I hold it for my heritage. And 
they did as he commanded them. And when they carne to •— 
Molina, Abencaño received them right well, and did them 
great honor ; and though the Cid had bidden him take only 
one hundred horse, he took two. On the morrow they went 
to horse : they crossed the mountains which are great and 
wild, and they passed Mata de Toranz without fear, and 
they thought to come through the valley of Arbuxedo. 
There was good look out kept in Medina, and Alvar F a ñ e z 
sent two knights to know who they were. They made no 
tarriance in doing this, for they had it at heart; one tarried 
with them, and the other returned, and said it was the host 
of the Campeador with Pero Bermudez, and Muño Gustios, 
and the Bishop Hieronymo, and the Alcayaz Abencaño. 
This instant, said Minaya, let us to horse ; incontinently this 
was done, for they would make no delay. And they rodé 
upon goodly horses with bells at their poitrals and trappings 
of sandall silk, and they had their shields round their 
necks, and lances with streamers in their hands. Oh, how 
Alvar F a ñ e z went out from Castille with these ladies ! They 
who pricked forward, couched their spears and then raised 
them, and great joy was there by Salón where they met. 
The others humbled themselves to Minaya: when Abenca­
ño came up he kissed him on the shoulder, for such was his 
custom. I n a good day, Minaya, said he, do you bring these 
ladies, the wife and daughters of the Cid, whom we all ho­
nor. Whatever i l l we may wish him we can do him none ; 
. . in peace or in war he w i l l have our wealth, and he must 
be a fool who does not acknowledge this truth. Alvar Fa­
ñez smiled and told him he should lose nothing by this ser-
vice Avhich he had done the C id ; and now, said he, let us 
go rest, for the supper is ready, Abencaño said he was well 
pleased to partake it , and that within three days he would 
return him the entertainment two-fold. Then they entered 
Medina, and Minaya served them ; all were full glad of the 
service which they had undertaken, and the King's porter 
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BOOK paid for all. The night is gone, morning is come, mass is 
VIL said, and they go to horse. They left Medina and past the 

river Salón, and pricked up Arbuxuelo, and they crost the 
plain of Torancio. That good Christian the Bishop Don 
Hieronymo, night and day he guarded the ladies ; on a goodly 
horse he rodé, and they went between him and Alvar Fa-
ñez. They carne to Molina and there were lodged in a good 
and rich house, and Abencaño the Moor waited on them. 
Nothing did they want which they could wish to have ; he 
even had all their beasts new shod, and for Minaya and the 
ladies, L o r d ! how he honored them ! On the morrow they 
left Molina, and the Moor went with them. When they 
were within three leagues of Valencia, news of their coming 
was brought to the Cid. Glad was the Cid, never was he 
more joyful, never had he such joy, for tidings were come 
to him of what he loved best. Two hundred knights did he 
order out to meet them, others he bade to keep the Alcázar, 
and the other high towers, and all the gates and entrances. 
And he commanded that they should bring him Bavieca.1 
I t was but a short time since he had won this horse; my 
Cid, he who girt on sword in a happy hour, did not yet know 
if he was a good goer, and i f he stopt well. The Bishop 
Don Hieronymo, he pricked forward and entered the city. 

1 This is the first mention of this famous horse in the Poem : an cid 
history to which Berganza often refers as beginning w i t h K i n g Fruela, 
says, Bavieca was won in the battle wi th the K i n g of Seville, which may 
wel l agree w i t h the Poem. The Chronica del Cid absurdly makes i t the 
first horse that ever Rodrigo rodé to battle. W h e n he w:as growing to-
wards years of strength, he asked his godfather to give h im a foal from 
one of his mares : and the Priest, who had many mares, w i t h many good 
foals, bade h im choose for himself, and take the best. W h e n i t was time 
to choose, he went into the yard, and let many good mares go out wi th 
good foals, t i l l last of al l there went out one w i t h a foal which was a ful l 
ugly one, and a scurvy, and he said to his godfather, I w i l l have this. 
The godfather thereat was angered and said angri ly , Bavieca, which sig-
nifyeth booby, thou hastchosen i l l ! Rodrigo answered, He w i l l be a good 
horse, and Bavieca shall be his ñame ; and the horse proved afterwards a 
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He left his horse and went to the Church, and collected all BOOK 
V I I . 

the clergy; they put on their surplices, and with crosses oí 
silver went out to meet the ladies, and that good one Minaya. 
He who was born in happy hour made no tarriance; they 
saddled him Bavieca and threw his trappings on. M y Cid 
wore light armor,1 and his surcoat over i t : long was his 
beard. He went out upon this horse, and ran a career with 
him; Bavieca was the ñame of the horse, and when he was 
running all marvelled at h i m : from that day Bavieca was 
famous all over Spain. A t the end of the course my Cid 
alighted and went towards his wife and his daughters. W h o 
can tell the joy that was made at their meeting ? They fell 
at his feet, and their joy was such that they could not speak. 
And he raised them up and embraced them, and kissed them 
many times, weeping for joy that.he saw them alive. Hear 
what he said who was born in happy hour ! You dear and 
honored wife, and ye my daughters, my heart and my soul; 1 
enter with me into Valencia; . . this is the inheritance 

good one and right fortúnate, and upon this horse did my Cid conquer in 
many a pitched battle, Chronica del Cid. Cap. 2. 

Bavieca is an oíd and obsolete word of contempt; lubber would perhaps 
represent it. 

Bien me ten por babieca si yo te lo conscienío. 
D . Gonzalo de Berceo. p . 128. 

According to tradition, he was foaled in the vale of Mondego, 
M . Lusitana. 2. 7. 28. 

1 Armas de fuste tomaba. 
Poema del Cid. 1594. 

" Fuste is any frame made of slight wood to bulke out, being commonly 
covered over with painted cloths, as castles for a shew, and such like. The 
ofíicers of them in Valencia are called Fusteros, and with such cudgels 
which support such frames they use to beat galley slaves, and thereof 
comes fustar , fus t igar , and hostigar, to cudgel." Minsheu. 

He had forgotten the Latin etymon. I have rendered the passage 
vaguely, least by aiming at accuracy I should become incorrect. It 
seems to have been a suit of mock armor for shew ; . . such perhaps as 
Ghosts walk in, upon the stage. Sancha has left the phrase unex-
plained. 
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BOOK which I have won for you. "While they were thus rejoicing 
VI1, the Bishop Don Hieronymo carne with the procession. Doña 

Ximena brought good relies and other saered things, whieh 
she gave to ennoble the new Church of Valeneia. I n this 
guise they entered the city. W h o can tell the rejoicings 
that were made that day, throwing at the board, and killing 
bulls ! M y Cid led them to the Alcázar, and took them up 
upon the highest tower thereof, and there they looked around 
and beheld Valencia, how it lay before them, and the great 
Garden with its thick shade, and the sea on the other side ; 
and they lifted up their hands to thank God. Great honor 
did the Cid do to Abencaño the L o r d of Molina, for all the 
service which he had done to Doña Ximena. Then said 
Abencaño, This, Sir, I was bound to do, for since I have 
been your vassal I have alway been respected and defended 
from all my enemies, and maintained in good estáte; how 

Poema del ^ e n should I do otherwise than serve you ? I f I did not, I 
?Í«;Vi'«o« should lack understanding. And the Cid thanked him for 
1461. 1626. 0 
Chr. del what he had done, and what he had said, and promised also 
Cid. cap. ' . 
217. to show favor unto him. And Abencaño took his leave and 
Chr. Gen. -«jr T 

íF. 276. returned to Molina. 
How tid- X V I I . The winter is past, and March is coming in. 
that the"16 Three months Doña Ximena had been in Valencia, when 
^inTaT1" tidings came to the Cid from beyond sea, that King Yucef, 
againsfva-Üie son of the Miramamolin, who dwelt in Morocco, was 
lencia. coming to lay siege unto Valencia with fifty thousand men. 

When the Cid heard this he gave command to store all his 
Castles, and had them well repaired. A n d he had the walls 
of the city prepared, and stored it well with food and with 
all things needful for war, and gathered together a great 
power of Christians and of the Moors of his seignory. 
Hardly had he done this before he heard that Yucef was 
near at hand, and coming as fast as he could come. Then 
the Cid assembled together the Christians in the Alcázar, 
and when they were assembled, he rose upon his feet and 
said, Friends and kinsmen and vassals, praised be God and 
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holy Mary Mother, all the good which I have in the world I 
have here in Valencia ; with hard labor I won the city, and 
hold it for my heritage, and for nothing less than death w i l l 
I leave it. M y daughters and my wife shall see me fight, . . 
they shall see with their own eyes our manner of living in 
this land, and how Ave get our bread. W e wi l l go out 
against the Moors and give them battle, and God who hath 
thus far shown favor unto us w i l l still continué to be our chr. del 
helper. When they heard this they cried out with one ac- ^ • cap' 
cord that they would do his bidding, and go out with him ffhrc¡77Gen' 

and fight under his banner, for certain they were that by his del 
good fortune the Moors would be overthrown. Jear. mi . 

X V I I L On the morrow the Cid took Doña Ximena by How the 
J Cid took 

the hand, and her daughters with her, and made them go up Mswife 

upon the highest tower of the Alcázar, and they looked to- ters upon. 

ward the sea and saw the great power of the Moors, how íha/they 
they came on and drew nigh, and began to pitch their tents ^ M o o r s 

round about Valencia, beating their tambours and with greatland-
uproar. And Ximena's heart failed her, and she asked the 
Cid i f peradventure God would deliver him from these ene-
mies. Fear not, honored woman, said he ; you are but lately 
arrived, and they come to bring you a present, which shall 
help marry your daughters. Fear not, for you shall see me 
fight by the help of God and holy Mary Mother ; my heart 
kindles because you are here ! The more Moors the more 
gain ! 1 The tambours sounded now with a great alarum, 
and the sun was shining . . . Cheer up, said my Cid ; . . this 
is a glorious day. But Ximena was seized with such fear as 
if her heart would have broken ; she and her daughters had 
never been in such fear since the day that they were born. 
Then the good Cid Campeador stroked his beard and said, 
Fear not, all this is for your good. Before fifteen days are 
over, i f it picase God, those tambours shall be laid before 

1 A mas Moros, mas ganancia. Berganza. The woids past into a 
proverb. 
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BOOK you, and shall be sounded for your pleasure, and Ihen they 
VIL shall be given to the Bishop Don Hieronymo, that he may 

hang them up in the Church of St. Mary, Mother of God. 
This vow the Cid Campeador made. Now the Moors began 
to enter the gardens which were round about the town, and 
the watchman saw them and struck the bell. M y Cid 
looked back and saw Alvar Salvadores beside him, and he 
said, Go now, take two hundred horse, and sally upon yon-
der Moors who are entering the gardens : let Doña Ximena 
and her daughters see the good w i l l you have to serve them. 
Down went Alvar Salvadores in great baste, and ordered a 
bell to be rung which was a signal for two hundred knights 
to make ready ; for the history saith, that the Cid, by reason 
that he was alway in war, had appointed such signáis for 
his people, that they knew when one hundred were called 
for, and when two, and so forth. Presently they were ready 
at the place of meeting, and the gate was opened which was 
nearest the gardens where the Moors had entered, without 
order ; and they fell fiercely upon them, smiting and slaying. 
Great was the pleasure of the Cid at seeing how well they 
behaved themselves. And Doña Ximena and her daughters 
stood trembling, like women who had never seen such things 
before : and when the Cid saw it he made them seat them­
selves, so as no longer to behold it . Great liking had the 
Bishop Don Hieronymo to see how bravely they fought. 
Alvar Salvadores and his companions bestirred themselves so 
well that they drove the enemy to their tents, making great 
mortality among them, and'then they turned back, whereat 
my Cid was well pleased; but Alvar Salvadores went on, 
hacking and hewing all before him, for he thought the ladies 
were looking on, and he prest forward so far, that being 
without succor he Avas taken. The others returned to the 
city, falling back in brave order t i l l they were out of reach 
of the enemy: and they had done no little in that exploit. 

Cid' «p for they slew above two hundred and fifty Moors. When 
218. 219. my Cid saw that they who eat his bread were returned, he 
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went down from the tower, and received them right well, 
and praised them for what they had done like good knights : 
howbeit he was full sorrowful for Alvar Salvadores that he stlrf™' 
should be in the hands of the Moors, but he trusted in God cidlTesa! 
that he should deliver him on the morrow. 1692-

X I X . And the Cid assembled his chief captains and ^ J , ^ 
knights and people, and said unto them, Kinsmen ^ ^ ^ e í after 

friends and vassals, hear me : to-day has been a good day, what man-
_ ner they 

and to-morrow shall be a better. Be you all armed and should at-

ready in the dark of the morning; mass shall be said, and Moors. 

the Bishop Don Hieronymo w i l l give us absolution, and then 
we w i l l to horse, and out and smite them in the ñame of the 
Creator and of the Apostle Santiago. I t is fitter that we 
should live than that they should gather in the fruits of this 
land. But let us take counsel in what manner we may go 
forth, so as to receive least hurt, for they are a mighty power,. 
and we can only defeat them by great- mastery in war. 
When Alvar Fañez Minaya heard this he answered and 
said, Praised be God and your good fortune, you have 
achieved greater things than this, and I trust in God's mercy 
that you w i l l achieve this also. Give me three hundred 
horse, and we wi l l go out when the first cock crows, and 
put ourselves in ambush in the valley of Albuhera; and 
when you have joined battle we w i l l issue out and fall upon 
them on the other side, and on one side or the other God 
w i l l help us. W e l l was the Cid pleased with this counsel, 
and he said that it should be so ; and he bade them feed 
their horses in time and sup early, and as soon as it was 
cock-crow come to the Church of St. Pedro, and hear mass. Cid! cap. 
and shrive themselves, and communicate, and then take Gen. 
horse in the ñame of the Trinity, that the soul of him who d d c1̂ d.ema 
should die in the business might go without let to God. 1693' 1706-

X X . Day is gone, and night is come. A t cock-crow they ^ c t í r / ^ 
all assembled together in the Church of St. Pedro, and the ^hÍch the 
•_.. Cid won 

Bishop Don Hieronymo sung mass, and they were shriven weirKuig 
and assoyled, and howselled. Great was the absolution 
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BOOK which the Bishop gave them: He who shall die, said he, 
V I I ' 

:— fighting face forward, I w i l l take his sins, and God shall 
have his soul. Then said he, A boon, Cid Don Rodrigo ; I 
have sung mass to you this morning: let me have the giving 
the first wounds in this battle ! and the Cid granted him this 
boon in the name of God. Then being all ready they went 
out through the gate which is called the Gate of the Snake, 
for the greatest power of the Moors was on that side, leav-
ing good men to guard the gates. Alvar F a ñ e z and his 
company were already gone forth, and had laid their am-
bush. Four thousand, lacking thirty, were they who went 
out with my Cid, with a good wi l l , to attack fifty thousand. 
They went through all the narrow places, and bad passes, 
and leaving the ambush on the left, struck to the right hand, 
so as to get the Moors between them and the town. And 
the Cid put his battles in good array, and bade Pero Ber-
mudez bear his banner. When the Moors saw this they 
were greatly amazed; and they harnessed themselves in 
great haste, and carne out of their tents. Then the Cid bade 
his banner move on, and the Bishop Don Hieronymo pricked 
forward with his company, and laid on with such guise, that 
the hosts were soon mingled together. Then might you 
have seen many a horse running about the field with the 
saddle under his belly, and many a horseman in evil plight 
upon the ground. Great was the smiting and slaying in 
short time; but by reason that the Moors were so great a 
number, they bore hard upon the Christians, and were in the 
hour of overcoming them. And the Cid began to encourage 
them with a loud voice, shouting God and Santiago ! And 
Alvar F a ñ e z at this time issued out from ambush, and fell 
upon them, on the side which was nearest the sea; and the 
Moors thought that a great power had arrived to the Cid's 
succor, and they were dismayed, and began to fly. And 
the Cid and his people pursued, punishing them in a bad 
way. I f we should wish to tell you how every one behaved 
himself in this battle, it is a thing which could not be done, 
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for all did so well that no man can relate their feats. And B ^ K 
the Cid Ruydiez did so well, and made such mortality. 
among the Moors, that the blood ran from his wrist to his 
elbow ! Great pleasure had he in his horse Bavieca that day, 
to find himself so well mounted. And in the pursuit he 
carne up to King Yucef, and smote him three times : but the 
King escaped from under the sword, for the horse of the Cid 
passed on in his course, and Avhen he turned, the King being 
on a fleet horse, was far off, so that he might not be overtak-
en ; and he got into a Castle called Guyera, for so far did 
the Christians pursue them, smiting and slaying, and giving cid." cap. 
them no respite, so that hardly fifteen thousand escaped of G e n . ^ ' 

fifty that they were. They who were in the ships, when ¿el cki.ema 
they saw this great overthrow, fled to Denia. 1707- 1737-

X X I . Then the Cid and his people returned to the field g7e*eered 
and began to plunder the tents. And the spoil was 80 J10ewciS'and 

great that there was no end to the riches, in gold and in gave in 
0 i i i marnage 

silver, and in horses and arms, so that men knew not what the damsels 

to leave and what to take. And they found one tent which Doña xim-
had been King Yucef 's ; never man saw so noble a thing as ena' 
that tent was ; and there were great riches therein, and 
there also did they find Alvar Salvadores, who had been 
made prisoner the yesterday, as ye have heard. Greatly 
did the Cid rejoice when he saw him alive and sound, and 
he ordered his chains to be taken oíF; and then he left A l ­
var Fañez to look to the spoil, and went into Valencia with 
a hundred knights. His wrinkled brow was seen, for he 
had taken off his helmet, and in this manner he entered, 
upon Bavieca, sword in hand. Great joy had Doña Ximena 
and her daughters, who were awaiting him, when they saw 
him come riding in ; and he stopt when he came to them, 
and said, Great honor have I won for yon, while yon kept 
Valencia this day ! God and the Saints have sent us goodly 
gain, upon your coming. Look, with a bloody sword and 
a horse all sweat, this is the way that we conquer the 
Moors! Pray God that I may live yet awhile for your 
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BOOK sakes, and you shall enter into great honor, and they shall 
kiss your hands. Then my Cid alighted when he had said 
this, and the ladies .knelt down before him, and kissed his 
hand and wished long life. Then they entered the Palace 
with him, and tóok their seats upon the precious benches. 
Wife Doña Ximena, said he, these damsels who have served 
you so well, I w i l l give in marriage to these my vassals, 
and to every one of them two hundred marks of silver, 

Poema del that it may be known in Castille what they have got by 
1744. 1779. their services. Your daughters' marriage w i l l come in 
cid.' cap. tii116- they all rose and kissed his hand ; and great was 
Chí Gen ^16 Palace3 and it was done according as the Cid 
ff- 2'79- ' had said. 
0f ., X X I I . Alvar F a ñ e z this while was in the field writing 
great spoil 0 
which was anc[ takina; account of the spoil : but the tents and arms and 
found. 0 í 

precious garments were so many, that they cannot be told, 
and the horses were beyond all reckoning ; they ran about 
the field, and there was nobody to take them, and the 
Moors of the land got something by that great over-
throw. Nevertheless so many horses were taken, that the 
Campeador had to his share of the good ones a thousand 
and five hundred. W e l l might the others have good store 
when he had so many. A n d my Cid won in this battle 
from King Yucef, his good sword Tizona, which is to say, 
the fire-brand. The tent of the King of Morocco, which 
was supported by two pillars wrought with gold-, he gave 
order not to be touched, for he would send it to Alfonso the 
Castilian. The Bishop Don Hieronymo, that perfect one 
with the shaven crown, he had his fill in that battle, fighting 
with both hands ; no one could tell how many he slew. 
Great booty came to him, and moreover the Cid sent him the 

Poema del t i t h e 0^ h i s Glád were the Christian folk in Valencia 
mó. 1811. ÍOY the §reat booty which they had gotten, and glad was 
Chr. del Doña Ximena and her dauffhters, and erlad were all those 
Cid. cap. O J O 
221. ladies who were married. 
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X X I I I . King Yucef, after the pursuit was given over, WjM 
and he saw that he might come forth from the Castle, fled to 
Denia, and embarked in his ships, and returned to Morocco. Yucefdied, 
And thinking every day how badly he had sped, and how ^hargethe 

he had been conquered by so few, and how many of his peo- t0^is 
pie he had lost, he fell sick and died. But before he died brother to 
r _ revenge 

he besought his brother, who was called Bucar, that for the him. 
tie there was between them, he would take vengeance for the 
dishonor which he had received from the Cid Campeador 
before Valencia ; and Bucar promised tp do this, and 
swore also upon the Koran, which is the book of their law. 
And accordingly he came afterwards across the sea, with 
nine and twenty Kings, as shall be related when the time c j j ; Jp. 

221. 

comes. 
X X I V . Then the Cid sent Alvar Fañez and Pero Ber- °rfe^t 

mudez with a present to King Alfonso his Lord . And the Q-J0̂ 6 
present which he sent was two hundred horses saddled and ^0gthe 
bridled, with each a sword hanging from the saddle-bow ; 
and also the noble tent which he had won from King Yucef 
of Morocco. This present he gave, because the King had 
sent him his wife and daughters when he asked for them, 
and because of the honor which he had done them, and that 
the King might not speak i l l of him who commanded in 
Valencia. Alvar F a ñ e z and Pero Bermudez went their 
way towards Castille, over sierras and mountains and wa-
ters ; and they asked where the King was, and it was told 
them that he was at Valladolid, and thither they went. 
And when they drew nigh unto the city, they sent to let him 
know of their coming, and to ask of him whether he thought 
it good for them to come into the city unto him, or i f he 
would come out to them, for they were a great company, 
and the present a full great one, which he would see better 
without, than in the town. And the King thought this best, 
and he went to horse, and bade all the hidalgos who were 
with him do the like. Now the Infantes of Carrion were 
there, Diego González, and Ferrando González, the sons 
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BOOK of Count Don Gonzalo. And they found the company of 
VIL the Cid about half a league from the town, and when the 

King saw how many they were, he blest himself, for they 
seemed like a host. A n d Minaya and Pero Bermudez 
pricked on when they saw him, and carne before him, and 
alighted, and knelt down, and kissed the ground and kiss-
ed both his feet: and he bade them rise and mount their 
horses, and would not hear them t i l l they had mounted, and 
taken their places one at his right hand, and the other at his 
left. A n d they said, Sir, the Cid commends himself to your 
grace as his liege Lord , and thanks you greatly for having 
sent him with such honor his wife and daughters. A n d 
know, Sir, that since they arrived, he hath achieved a great 
victory over the Moors, and their King Yucef of Morocco, 
the Miramamolin, who besieged him in Valencia with fifty 
thousand men. And he went out against them, and smote 
them, and hath sent you these two hundred horses from his 
fifth. Then Alvar Fañez gave order that the horses should 
be led forward. And this was the manner m which they 
carne. The two hundred horses carne first, and every one 
was led by a child, and every one had a sword hanging 
from the saddle, on the left side ; and after them came the 
pages of all the knights in company, carrying their spears, 
and then the company, and after them an hundred couple 
with spears in rest. And when they had all past by, the 
King blest himself again, and he laughed and said that never 
had so goodly a present been sent before to King of Spain 
by his vassal. A n d Alvar F a ñ e z said moreover, Sir, he 
hath sent you a tent, the noblest that ever man saw, which 
he won in this battle : and the King gave order that the 
tent should be spread, and he alighted and went into it, he 
and all his people, and he was greatly pleased ; and they 
all said that they had never seen so noble a tent as this: 
and the King said he had won many from the Moors, 
but never such as this. But albeit that all the others were 
well pleased, Count Don Garcia was not so ; and he and 
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ten of his lineage talked apart, and said that this which B ^ K 
the Cid had done was to their shame, for they hated the 
Cid in their hearts. A n d King Don Alfonso said, Thanks 
be to God and to Sir Saint Isidro of León, these horses 
may do me good service ; and he gave three of them to 
Minaya, and Pero Bermudez, and bade them choose, and 
he ordered food and clothing to be given them while they 
remained, and said that he would give them complete ar- chr. del 
mor when they returned,. such as was fit for them to 222.' C&V' 
appear in before my Cid. And they were lodged, and |H27^EA* 

all things that were needful provided for them and their cid^asS 
people. 1827-

X X V . When the Infantes of Carrion, Diego González g ^ ^ 6 of 
and Ferrando González, saw the noble present which the Camón de-

l . sired to 

Cid had sent unto the King, and heard how his riches and marry the 

power daily increased, and thought what his wealth must daughters. 

needs be when hé had given those horses out of the fifth of 
one battle, and morco ver that he was L o r d of Valencia: 
they spake one with the other, and agreed, that i f the Cid 
would give them his daughters to wife, they should be well 
married, and become rich and honorable. And they agreed 
together that they would talk with the King in prívate upon 
this matter. A n d they went presently to him, and said, Sir, 
we beseech you of your bounty to help us in a thing which 
wi l l be to your honor; for we are your vassals, and the 
richer we are the better able shall we be to serve you. And 
the King asked of them what it was they would have, and 
they then told him their desire. A n d the King thought upon 
it awhile, and then came to them, and said. Infantes, this 
thing which you ask lies not in me, but in the C id ; for it is 
in his power to marry his daughters, and peradventure he 
wi l l not do it as yet. Nevertheless that ye may not fail for 
want of my help, I w i l l send to tell him what ye wish. 
Then they kissed his hand for this favor. And the King 
sent for Alvar F a ñ e z and Pero Bermudez, and went apart 
with them, and praised the Cid, and thánked him for the 

34 
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BOOK good wi l l which he had to do him service, and said that he 
VIL had great desire to see him. Say to him, he said, that I be-

seech him to come and meet me, for I would speak with him 
concerning something which is to his good and honor. 
Diego and Ferrando, the Infantes of Carrion, have said unto 
me that they would fain wed with his daughters, i f it seemeth 
good to h i m ; and methinks this would be a good marriage. 
When Alvar Fañez and Pero Bermudez heard this, they 

Chr. del answered the King, and said, Certain we are, Sir, that nei-
223.' cS'. ti161 ^*8? nor in anything else w i l l the Cid do aught but 
So1' ff" w^at you' command or advise. When ye have 
Poema del your meeting ye w i l l agree concerning it as is best. Then 
1888. 1923. they kissed his hand, and took their lea ve. 
How the X X V I . On the morrow the messengers of the Cid de-
was ap- parted from Valladolid, and took their way towards Va-
Fween the6 lencia; and when the Cid knew that they were nigh at hand 
t he^kL1 he went out to meet them, and when he saw them he waxed 

joyful ; and he embraced them, and asked what tidings of 
his L o r d Alfonso. And they told him how they had sped, 
and how greatly the King loved h i m ; and when we de-
parted, said they, he bade us beseech you to come and meet 
him anywhere where you w i l l appoint, for he desireth to 
speak with you concerning the marriage of your daughters 
with the Infantes of Carrion, i f it should picase you so to be-
stow them : now by what the King said it seemeth unto us 
that this marriage pleaseth him. And when the Cid heard 
this he became thoughtful, and he said to them after awhile, 
"What think ye of this marriage ? And they answered him, 
Even as it shall picase you. And he said to them, I was 
banished from my own country, and was dishonored, and 
with hard labor gained I what I have got; and now I stand 
in the King's favor, and he asketh of me my daughters for 
the Infantes of Carrion. They are of high blood and full 
orgullous, and I have no liking to this match; but i f our 
L o r d the King adviseth it we can do no otherwise: we wi l l 
talk of this, and God send it for the best. So they entered 
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Valencia, and the Cid spake with Doña Ximena touching B O O K 

this matter, and when she heard it it did not please her ;. '— 
nevertheless she said, i f the King thought it good they could 
do no otherwise. Then the Cid gave order to write letters 
to the King, saying, that he would meet the King as he com-
manded, and whatever the King wished that he would do. 
And he sealed the letters well, and sent two knights with ^ , 

Chr. del 
them. And when the King saw the letters he was well Cid. cap. 

. • , •' 224. ' • 

pleased, and sent others to say that the time of their meeting Chr. Gen. 
should be three weeks after he received these letters, and Poema'del 

the place appointed1 was upon the Tagus, which is a great ^ 1973-
river. 

X X V I I . Now began they to prepare on both sides for J^1^ 
this meeting. He who should relate to you the great prepa- for the 

& J T r i meeting. 

rations, and the great nobleness which were made íor the 
nonce, would have much to recount. W h o ever saw in 
Castille so many a precious mulé, and so many a good-
going palfrey, and so many great horses, and so many 
goodly streamers set upon goodly spears, and shields adorned 
with gold and with silver, and mantles, and skins, and rich 
sendals of Adria ?2 The King sent great store of food to 
the banks of the Tagus, where the place of meeting was 
appointed. Glad were the Infantes of Carrion, and richly 
did they bedight themselves ; some things they paid for, 
and some they went in debt for : great was their company, 
and with the King there were many Leonese and Galegos, 
and Castilians out of number. M y Cid the Campeador 
made no tarriance in Valencia; he made ready for the meet­
ing : there was many a great mulé, and many a palfrey, 

1 The Poem leaves the place of meeting at the Cid's choice, . . which 
is something over-courteous on the King's part. The Chronica del Cid 
ñames ' Requena, which is near Valencia,' making the King appoint it. 
This is still less likely. I follow the scene of the Poem. 

2 Adria, which the Spanish editor observes upon this passage must 
have been famous for this sendal-silk, is a city belonging to what was 
once the Venetian State ; it has been greatly reduced by inundations. 
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BOOK and many a good horse, and many a goodly suit o f arms, 
VIL cloaks, and mantles both o f c loth and of p e l t r y ; 1 . . great 

and little are all ciad in colors. Alvar Fañez Minaya, and 
Pero Bermudez, and Martin Muñoz, and Martin Antolinez 
that worthy Burgalese, and the Bishop Don Hieronymo that 
good one •with the shaven crown, and Alvar Alvarez, and 
Alvar Salvadores, and Muño Gustios that knight of prowess, 
and Galind Garcia of Aragón ; all these and all the others 
made ready to go with the Cid. But he bade Alvar 
Salvadores and Galind Garcia and all those who were under 
them, remain and look with heart and soul to the safety of 
Valencia, and not open the gates of the Alcázar neither by 
day ñor by night, for his wife and daughters were there, in 
whom he had his heart and soul, and the other ladies with 
them; he like a good husband gave order that not one of 
them should stir out of the Alcázar t i l l he returned. Then 

Poema del Valencia and pricked on more than apace; more 
2022 1974" ^9-11 a thousand knights, all ready for war, were in this 
Cid ca1 comPany' A l l those great horses that paced so well and 
224.225. were so soft of foot, my Cid w o n ; they were not given to 
Chr. Gen. ^ o 

ff. 280. him. 
Ofthe X X V I I I . King Don Alfonso arrived first by one day at 
meetmg. ^ e piace 0f meeting, and when he heard that the Cid was at 

hand, he went out with all his honorable men, more than 
a long league to meet him. When he who was born in a 
good hour had his eye upon the King, he bade his company 
halt, and with fifteen of the knights whom he lo ved best he 
alighted, and put his hands and his knees to the ground, 
and took the herbs of the field between his teeth, as i f he 
would have eaten them,8 weeping for great j o y ; . . thus did 

1 Pellizones. 
2 Neither of the Chronicles make the Cid thus enact Nebuchadnezzar 

before his Lord the King ; hoth however represent him as offering to kiss 
his feet. It is remarkable that even this should not have been felt as a 
humiliation; and that. so free a people as the Spaniards should have 
adopted the loathsome forms of eastern servility from the Moors. 



RODRIGO DIAZ DE BIVAR. 269 

he know hoAv to humble himself before Alfonso his L o r d ; 
and in this raanner he approached his feet and would have .— 
kissed them. And the King drew back and said, The hand, 
Cid Campeador, not the foot! And the Cid drew nigh 
upon his knees and besought grace, saying, I n this guise 
grant me your lo ve, so that all present may hear. And 
the King said that he forgave him, and granted him his 
love with his heart and soul. A n d the Cid kissed both 
his hands, being still upon his knees ; and the King 
embraced him, and gave him the kiss of peace. W e l l 
pleased were all they who beheld this, save only Alvar Diez 
and Garcia Ordoñez, for they did not love the Cid. Then 
went they all toward the town, the King and the Cid talking 
together by the way. A n d the Cid asked the King to eat 
with him, and the King answered, Not so, for ye are not 
prepared; we arrived yesterday, and ye but now. Eat you 
and your company therefore with me, for we have made 
ready. To-day, Cid Campeador, you are my guest, and 
to-morrow we w i l l do as pleases you. Now came the In ­
fantes of Carrion up and humbled themselves before the 
Cid, and he received them well, and they promised to do 
him service. And the company of the Cid came up, and 
kissed the King's hand. So they alighted and went to 
meat; and the King said unto the Cid that he should eat 
with him at his table ; howbeit he would not. A n d when 
the King saw that he would not take his seat with him, he 
ordered a high table to be placed for the Cid and for Count 
Don Gonzalo, the father of the Infantes of Carrion. A l l the 
while that they ate the King could never look enough at the 
Cid, and he marvelled greatly at his beard, that it had 
grown to such length. And when they had eaten they 
were merry, and took their pleasure. And on the morrow poema del 
the King and all they who went with him to this meeting, 2023-
ate with the Cid, and so well did he prepare for them that gj*. 
all were full joyful, and agreed in one thing, that they had 225.. 

- o ^ Chr. Gen. 
not eaten better íor three years. There was not a manff. 281. 
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BOOK there who did not eat upon silver, and the Kinsr and the 
V I I • 

chief persons ate upon dishes and trenchers1 of gold. And 
when the Infantes saw this they had the marriage more at 
heart than before. 

E?ns ^ k e d X X I X . On the morrow as soon as it was day, the Bi -
^vehis10 sk0P ^on Hieronymo sung mass before the King, in the 
daughters oratorv of the Cid : and when it was over, the King said 
in marriage 

to the in - before all who were there assembled, Counts and Infan­
zones and knights, hear what I shall say unto the Cid. Cid 
Ruydiez, the reason wherefore I sent for you to this meet-
ing was twofold : íirst, that I might see you, which I greatly 
desired, for I love you much because of the many and great 
services which you have done me, albeit that at one time I 
was wroth against you, and banished you from the land. 
But you so demeaned yourself that you never did me dis-
service, but contrariwise, great service, both to God and to 
me, and have won Valencia, and enlarged Christendom, 
wherefore I am bound to show favor unto you, and to love 
you alway. The second reason was, that I might ask you 
for your two daughters Doña Elvira and Doña Sol, that 
you would give them in marriage to the Infantes of Carrion, 
for this methinks would be a fit marriage, and to your ho­
nor and good. When the Cid heard this, he was in a 
manner bound to consent, having them thus demanded 
from h i m ; and he answered and said, Sir, my daughters 
are of tender years, and i f it might picase you, they are yet 
too young for marriage. I do not say this as i f the Infantes 
of Carrion were not worthy to match with them, and with 
better than they. And the King bade him make no excuse, 
saying, that he should esteem himself well served i f he gave 
his consent. Then the Cid said, Sir, I begat them, and you 
give them in marriage ;2 both I and they are yours, , i 

1 Tajaderos ; the English corresponda in etymology. 
2 Both the Poem and the Chronica del Cid say, Vos las criastes, , • 

you bred them up, , , which is in contradiction to the history. Vos las 
msays are the words of the Chronica General. 
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give them to whom you please, and I am pleased therewith. B00K 
When the King heard this he was well pleased, and he bade *— 
the Infantes kiss the hand of the Cid Campeador, and in-
continently they changed swords before the King, and they 
did homage to him, as sons-in-law to their father-in-law. 
Then the King turned to the Cid and said, I thank thee, 
Ruydiez, that thou hast given me thy daughters for the I n ­
fantes of Carrion : and here I give them to the Infantes 
to be their brides ; I give them and not you, and I pray 
God that it may please him, and that you also may have c^ á^ 
great joy herein. The Infantes I put into your hands ; Cid. cap. 
they w i l l go with you, and I shall return from henee, and I Chr. Gen. 
order that three hundred marks of silver be given to them for Poema del 

their marriage, and they and your daughters wi l l all be your Saíg.2078' 
children. 

X X X . Eight days this meeting lasted ; the one day they How the 
dined with the King, and the other with the Cid. ThenSeded" 
was it appointed that on the morrow at sunrise every one t¿™King.f 

should depart to his own home. M y Cid then began to 
give to every one who would take his gifts, many a great 
mulé, and many a good palfrey, and many a rich garment, 
. . every one had what they asked, . . he said no to none. 
Threescore horses did my Cid give away in gifts ; well 
pleased were all they who went to that meeting. And now 
they were about to sepárate, for it was night. The King 
took the Infantes by the hand, and delivered them into the 
power of my Cid the Campeador, . . See here your sons : 
from this day. Campeador, you w i l l know what to make of 
them. A n d the Cid answered, Sir, may it please' you, see-
ing it is you who have made this marriage for my daughters, 
to appoint some one to whom I may deliver them, and who 
may give them, as from your hand, to the Infantes. And 
the King called for Alvar F a ñ e z Minaya, and said, You are 
sib to the damsels: I command you, when you come to 
Valencia, to take them with your own hands, and give them 
to the Infantes, as I should do i f that I were there present : 
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BOOK and be yon the brides' father. Then said the Cid, Sir, you 
YU' must accept something from me at this meeting. I bring 

for you twenty palfreys, these that are gaily trapped, and 
thirty horses fleet of foot, these that are well caparisoned, 
. . take them, and I kiss your hand. Greatly have you 
bound me, said King Don Alfonso ; I receive this gift, and 
God and all Saints grant that it may be well requited ; 
i f I live you shall have something from me. Then my Cid 
sprung up upon his horse Bavieca, and he said, Here I say 
before my Lord the King, that i f any w i l l go with me to 
the wedding, I think they w i l l get something by it ! A n d he 
besought the King that he would let as many go with him 
as were so minded ; and the King licensed them accord-

Chr. del ingty- A n d when they were about to part, the company 
Cid. cap. fiiat went with the Cid was greater than that which returned 
ffh28iGen" W ^ King- And the Cid kissed the King's hand and 
Poema del dispeeded himself with his favor, and the King returned to 
Cid. 2121. r 
2176. Castille. 
Of the con- X X X I . M y Cid went his way toward Valencia, and he 
the in- appointed Pero Bermudez and Muño Gustios, than whom 
fantes. fa^Q were no better two in all his household, to keep com­

pany with the Infantes of Carrion and be their guard, and he 
bade them spy out what their conditions were ; and this they 
soon found out. The Count Don Suero González went with 
the Infantes; he was their father's brother, and had been 
their Ayo and bred them up, and badly had he trained them, 
for he was a man of great words, good of tongue, and of 
nothing else good; and full scornful and orgullous had he 
made them, so that the Cid was little pleased with them, and 
would willingly have broken off the marriage ; but he could 

Chr del n 0 t ' s e e ™ § ^16 King had made it . And when they 
Cid." cap. reached Valencia, the Cid lodged the Infantes in the suburb 
cifr. Gen. of Alcudia, where he had formerly lodged himself; and all 
Poema del the company who were come to the marriage were quar-
2177*2193. tereíÍ WÍth them- Arld he Went t0 tlle Alcazar-
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X X X I I . On the morrow the Cid mounted his horse and B O O K 

rodé into Alcudia, and brought the Infantes his sons-in-law ,— 
from thence with him into the city to the Alcázar, that they j ^ j / ^ J J 
misht see their brides Doña Elvira and Doña Sol. Doña his kitls: 

& womea to 

Ximena had her daushters ready to receive them in full the in -
noble garments, for since midnight they had done nothing 
but prink and prank themselves. F u l l richly was the Alca-
zar set out that day, with hangings both above and below, 
purple and samite,1 and rich cloth. The Cid entered be-
tween the Infantes, and all that noble company went in after 
them; and they went into the chief hall of the Alcázar, 
where Doña Ximena was with her daughters; and when 
they saw the Cid and the Infantes, they rose up and wel-
comed them right well. A n d the Cid took his seat upon his 
bench with one of the Infantes on one side of him, and one 
on the other, and the other honorable men seated themselves 
on the estrados, each in the place where he ought to be, and 
which belonged to h i m ; and they remained awhile silent. 
Then the Cid rose and called for Alvar F a ñ e z and said, 
Thou knowest what my L o r d the King commanded; fulfil 
now his bidding, . . take thy cousins, and deliver them to 
the Infantes, for it is the King who gives them in marriage, 
and not I . And Alvar F a ñ e z aróse and took the damsels 
one in each hand, and delivered them to the Infantes, saying, 
Diego González, and Ferrando González, I deliver unto you 
these damsels, the daughters of the Cid Campeador, by com-
mand of King Don Alfonso my Lord , even as he com­
manded. Receive you them as your equal helpmates,2 as 
the law of Christ enjoineth. A n d the Infantes took each his 
bride by the hand, and went to the Cid and kissed his hand, 
and the same did they to their mother Doña Ximena Gómez : 
and the Bishop Don Hieronymo espoused them, and they 
exchanged rings. When this was done, the Cid went and 
seated himself on the estrado with the ladies, he and Doña 

1 Xamed. 2 Parejas, 

35 
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BOOK Ximena i n the middle, and beside h i m he placed Doña E l -
VIL vira his eldest daughter, and by her, her spouse the Infante 

Chr. del 

Diego González; and Doña Sol was seated on the other 
side, by her mother, and the Infante Ferrando by her. And 
when they had solaced themselves awhile, the Cid said that 
now "they would go eat, and that the marriage should be 
performed on the morrow, and he besought and commanded 

Cid. cap. the Bishop Don Hieronymo to perform it in such a manner 
227. 228. i ' 
Chr. Gen. that no cost should be spared, but that every thing should be 
Poema del done so completely, that they who carne from Castille to this 
21̂ 3. 2245. wedding might alway have something to tell of. 
Of the X X X I I I . On the morrow they went to the Church of St. 
marriage. fág^ an(j there the Bishop Don Hieronoymo sate awaiting 

them, and he blest them all four at the altar. W h o can tell 
the great nobleness which the Cid displayed at that wedding, 
the feasts and the bull-fights, and the throwing at the target, 
and the throwing canes, and how many joculars were there, 
and all the sports which are proper at such weddings ? As 
soon as they carne out of Church they took horse and rodé 
to the Glera ; three times did the Cid change his horse that 
day ; seven targets were set up on the morrow, and before 
they went to dinner all seven were broken. Fifteen days 

. did the feasts at this wedding continué ; then all they who 
had come there to do honor to the Cid took leave of him and 
of the Infantes. W h o can tell the great and noble gifts 
which the Cid gave to them, both to great and little, each 
according to his quality, vessels of gold and silver, rich cloth, 
cloaks, furs, horses, and money beyond all reckoning, so that 

Chr. del all were wel l pleased. And when it was told in Castille 
2218.' Ch?". with what gifts they who had been to the wedding were re-
S PL toned, many were they who repented that they had not gone 
ma del Cid tViprp 
2247. 2279. • e * 



H E R E B E G I N N E T H T H E E I G H T H B Ü O K 

OF THE 

CHEONICLE OF THE CID 

I . Now the history relateth that Gilbert, a sage who BOOK 
wrote the history of the Moorish Kings who reigned in Afr i - VIIL 
ca, saith, that Bucar remembering the oath which he had How King 

' ' 0 Bucar made 
made to his brother King Yucef, how he would take ven- ready to re-

VGn2f6 his 

geance for him for the dishonor which he had received from brother 

the Cid Ruydiez before Valencia, ordered proclamation to Cef!g U' 
be made throughout all the dominions of his father, and 
gathered together so great a power of Moors, that among 
the Captains of his host there were twenty and nine Kings; 
this he could well do,, for his father was Miramamolin, 
which is as much as to say Emperor. And when he had 
gathered together this mighty host, he entered into his ships 
and crost the sea and carne unto the port of Valencia, and 
what there befell him with the Cid the history shall relate in cid.'rap. 
due time. 229• 

I I . Two years after their marriage did the Infantes of °rfd|£ee cow" 
Carrion sojourn in Valencia in peace and pleasure, to their by 
own great contentment, and their únele Suero González f2111168 of 

. i p i Camón 

witn them ; and at the end oí those two years, there came to when the 
pass a great misadventure, by reason of which they fell out loóse™ 6 

with the Cid, in whom there was no fault. There was a lion 
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BOOK in the house of the Cid, who had grown a large one, and a 
VI11, strong, and was full nimble : three men had the keeping of 

this lion, and they kept him in a den which was in a court-
yard, high up in the palace; and when they cleansed the 
court they were wont to shut him up in his den, and after-
ward to open the door that he might come out and eat: 
the Cid kept him for his pastime, that he might take pleasure 
with him when he was minded so to do. Now it was the 
custom of the Cid to diñe every day with his company, and 
after he had dined, he was wont to sleep awhile upon his 
seat. And one day when he had dined there came a man 
and told him that a great fleet was arrived in the port of 
Valencia, wherein there was a great power of the Moors, 
whom King Bucar had brought over, the son of the Mirama-
molin of Morocco. And when the Cid heard this, his heart 
rejoiced and he was glad, for it was nigh three years since 
he had had a battle with the Moors. Incontinently he or-
dered a signal to be made that all the honorable men who 
were in the city should assemble together. A n d when they 
were all assembled in the Alcázar and his sons-in-law with 
them, the Cid told them the news, and took counsel with 
them in what manner they should go out against this great 
power of the Moors. And when they had taken counsel the 
Cid went to sleep upon his seat, and the Infantes and the 
others sate playing at tables and chess. Now at this time 
the men who were keepers of the lion were cleaning the 
court, and when they heard the cry that the Moors were 
coming, they opened the den, and came down into the pal­
ace where the Cid was, and left the door of the court open. 
A n d when the lion had ate his meat and saw that the door 
was opened he went out of the court and came into the pal­
ace, even into the hall where they all were ; and when they 
who were there saw him, there was a great stir among them; 
but the Infantes of Carrion showed greater cowardice than 
all the rest. Ferrando González having no shame, neither 
for the Cid ñor for the others who were present, crept under 
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the seat whereon the Cid was sleeping, and in his haste he B O O K 

burst his mantle and his doublet also at the shoulders. And '— 
Diego González, the other, ran to a postern door, crying, I 
shall never see Carrion again ! This door opened upon a 
court-yard where there was a wine press, and he jumped out 
and by reason of the great height could not keep on his feet, 
but fell among the lees and defiled himself therewith. A n d 
all the others who were in the hall wrapt their cloaks around 
their arms, and stood round about the seat whereon the Cid 
was sleeping, that they might defend him. The noise which 
they made awakened the Cid, and he saw the lion coming 
towards him, and he lifted up his hand and said, What is 
this ? . . and the lion hearing his voice stood s t i l l ; and he 
rose up and took him by the mane, as i f he had been a gen-
tle mastiff, and led him back to the court where he was be-
fore, and ordered his keepers to look better to him for the Cid.' cap* 
time to come. And when he had done this he returned to Gen.^1*' 

the hall and took his seat again; and all they who beheld it f ^ - ^ ™ 
were greatly astonished. 2288- 2313-

I I I . After some time Ferrando González crept from*1™*6 
1 Infantes 

under the seat where he had hidden himself, and he carne piotted to 
, . /. i revenge 

out with a palé face, not having yet lost his fear, and his themselves 

brother Diego got from among the lees : and when they CIÍL 6 
who were present saw them in this plight you never saw 
such sport as they made ; but my Cid forbade their laugh-
ter.1 And Diego went out to wash himself and change his 
garments, and he sent to cali his brother forth, and they took 
counsel together in secret, and said to each other, L o now, 
what great dishonor this Ruy diez our father-in-law hath 
done us, for he let this lion loóse for the nonce, to put us to 
shame. But in an evil day were we born i f we do not 
revenge this upon his daughters. Badly were we matched 
with them, and now for the after-feast he hath made this 

1 Thus the Poem, with more feeling of propriety than both the Chron-
icles, which make him publicly reproach the Infantes for their cowardice. 
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BOOK mockery of us ! But we must keep secret this which we 
V I I I . bear in mind, and not let him wit that we are wrath against 

him, for otherwise he would not let us depart from henee, 
neither give us our wives to take with us, and he would take 
from us the swords Colado and Tizona which he gave us . . . 
W e wi l l therefore tura this thing into merriment before him 
and his people, to the end that they may not suspect what 
we have at heart. While they were thus devising their 
únele Suero González came in, and they told him of their 
intent. A n d he counselled them to keep their wrath secret, 
as they said, t i l l this stir of the Moors from beyond sea was 
over, and then they should demand their wives of the Cid 
that they might take them to their own country : This, said 
he, the Cid can have no reason to deny, neither for detaining 
ye longer with him ; and when ye are got away far out of 
his land, then may ye do what ye w i l l with his daughters, 
and i l l w i l l ye do i f ye know not how to revenge yourselves ; 

i so shall ye remove the dishonor from yourselves, and cast it 
Chr.delCid, J 7 
cap. 230. upon him and his children. This wicked counsel did Suero 
231. . ^ . 

Chr. Gen. González give unto his nephews, which he might have well 
Poema del cxcused giving, and then both he and they would not have 
232o?3U' come off so badly as the history w i l l i n due season relate. 
How the I V . After Suero González and his nephews had taken 
wereafraid ^ i s evil counsel together, they went to their lodging, and on 
i^held the morrow ^ e y went to the Alcázar, and came to the Cid 
gp^ Power where he was preparing for business. And when they drew 
Moors. nigh, the Cid rose and welcomed them right well, and they 

carried a good countenance towards him, and made sport 
of what had happened about the lion. A n d the Cid began 
to give order in what array they should go out to battle. 
While they were in this discourse, a great cry was heard in 
the town and a great tumult, and this was because King Bu-
car was come with his great power into the place which is 
called the Campo del Quarto, which is a league from Valen­
cia, and there he was pitching his tents ; and when this was 
done the camp made a mighty show, for the history saith 
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that there were full five thousand pavilions, besides common ̂ g 1 ^ 
tents. And when the Cid heard this, he took both his sons-
in-law and Suero Gonzales with them, and went upon the 
highest tower of the Alcázar, and showed them the great 
power which King Bucar of Morocco had brought ; and 
when he beheld this great power he began to laugh and 
was exceeding glad : but Suero González and his nephews 
were in great fear : howbeit they would not let it be seen. 
And when they carne down from the tower the Cid went 
foremost, and they tarried behind, and said, I f we go into 
this battle, we shall never return to Carrion. Now it so 
chanced that Muño Gustios heard them, and he told it to 
the Cid, and it grieved the Cid at heart ; but he presently 
made sport of it, and turned to his sons-in-law, and said, 
You, my sons, shall remain in Valencia and guard the 
town, and we who are used to this business w i l l go out to 
battle ;1 and they when they heard this were ashamed, for 
they weened that some one had overheard what they said ; chr del 
and they made answer, God forefend, Cid, that we should ci<i. cap. 
abide in Valencia ! we w i l l 2;o with you to the work, and Chr. Gen. 

& J ' ff.283. 

protect your body as i f we were your sons, and youwere the Poema del 

Count Don Gonzala Gómez, our father. And the Cid was 2347. 
well pleased hearing them say this. 

V . Whi le they were thus saying, word was brought to of the 
the Cid that there was a messenger from King Bucar at the ^ntloy6 

gate of the town, who would fain speak with him. • The ^ " the^ icL 

ñame of this Moor was Ximen de Algezira, and the Cid 
gave order that he should be admitted. Now the history 
saith, God had given such grace to my Cid that never Moor 
beheld his face without having great fear of him ; and this 
Ximen began to gaze upon his countenance, and said 

1 A gap occurs here in the Poem, the M S . wanting a leaf in this place. 
It seems by the first lines which follow, as if some quarrel had been re-
lated between Pero Bermudez and one of the Infantes, who had been ex-
tolling his own courage. 
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BOOK nothing, for he could not speak. And so great was the fear 
V I I I . which came upon hirn, that the Cid perceived it, and bade 

him take courage and deliver the bidding of his Lord , with-
out fear or shame, for he was a messenger. A n d when the 
Moor heard this, he laid aside his fear, and recovered heart, 
and delivered his bidding fully, after this wise. Sir Cid 
Campeador, King Bucar my L o r d hath sent me to thee say-
ing, great wrong hast thou done him in holding Valen­
cia against him, which belonged to his forefathers; and 
morco ver thou hast discomfited his brother King Yucef. 
A n d now he is come against thee with twenty and nine 
Kings, to take vengeance for his brother, and to win Valen­
cia from thee in spite of thee and of all who are with thee. 
Nevertheless, King Bucar saith, that inasmuch as he hath 
heard that thou art a wise man and of good understanding, 
he w i l l show favor unto thee, and let thee leave Valencia 
with all the lands thereof, and go into Castille, and take with 
thee all that is thine. And i f thou wil t not do this he sends 
to say that he wi l l fight against Valencia, and take thee and 
thy wife and thy daughters, and torment thee grievously, in 

chr, del guch manner that all Christians who shall hear tell of it shall 
Cid. cap. 
233. talk thereof for evermore. This is the bidding of my Lord 
Chr. Gen. „ . 

ff. 284. K m g Bucar. 
Ofthean- V I . When the Cid heard this, notwithstanding he was 
swer o e â  heart, he would not manifest it, but made answer 

in few words and said, Go tell thy L o r d King Bucar I wi l l 
not give him up Valencia : great labor did I endure in win-
ning it, and to no man am I beholden for it in the world, 
save only to my L o r d Jesús Christ, and to my kinsmen and 
friends and vassals who aided me to win it. Tel l him that 
I am not a man to be besieged, and when he does not ex-
pect it I w i l l give him battle in the field ; and would that 
even as he has brought with him twenty and nine Kings, so 
he had brought all the Moors of all Pagandom, for with the 
mercy of God in which I trust, I should think to conquer 
them all. Bear this answer to your Lord , and come here 
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no more with messages, neither on this account, ñor on BOOK 
any other. When Ximen de Algezira, the Moorish mes ^ 
senger, heard this, he left Valencia and went unto his 
Lord and told him before the twenty and nine Kings all that 
the Cid had said. And they were astonished at the brave 
words of the Cid, for they did not think that he would have 
resisted, so great was their power, neither did they ween that 
he would so soon come out to battle. And they began to 
give order to set their siege round about Valencia, as the his-
tory, and as Gilbert also relateth. This King Bucar and his 
brother King Yucef were kinsmen "of Alimaymon, who had chr. del 
been King of Toledo and Valencia, and this was the rea- 233.'CAP' 

son why Bucar said that Valencia had belonged to his fore- ffH284GEN" 
fathers. 

V I I . No sooner had Ximen, the messenger of King Bu- of the or­
ear, left the city, than the Cid ordered the bell to be struck, cid's bat-
at the sound of which all the men at arms in Valencia were e' 
to gather together. Incontinently they all assembled before 
the Cid, and he told them all to be ready fall early on the 
morrow, to go out and give battle to the Moors. And they 
made answer with one accord that they were well pleased to 
do this, for they trusted in God and in his good fortune that 
they should overeóme them. On the morrow therefore, at 
the first cock-crow, they confessed and communicated, as 
was their custom, and before the morning brake they went 
forth from Valencia. A n d when they had got through the 
narrow passes among the gardens, the Cid set his army in 
array. The van he gave to Alvar F a ñ e z Minaya, and to 
Pero Bermudez who bore his banner ; and he gave them 
five hundred horsemen, and a thousand and five hundred 
men a-foot. I n the right wing was that honorable one with 
the shaven crown, Don Hieronymo the Bishop, with the like 
number both of horse and foot ; and in the left Martin An-
tolinez of Burgos and Alvar Salvadores, with as many 
more. The Cid carne in the rear with a thousand horse­
men all in coats of mail, and two thousand five hundred 

36 
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BOOK men a-foot. And in this array they proceeded t i l l they 
YIIL carne in sight of the Moors. As soon as the Cid saw their 

tents he ordered his men to slacken their pace, and got upon 
his horse Bavieca, and put himself in the front before all his 
army, and his sons-in-law the Infantes of Carrion advanced 
themselves with him. Then the Bishop Don Hieronymo 
carne to the Cid and said, This day ha ve I said the mass of 
the Holy Trinity before you. I left my own country and 
carne to seek you, for the desire I had to k i l l some Moors, 
and to do honor to my order and to my own hands. Now 
would I be foremost in the business; I have my pennon 1 
and my armorial bearing, and w i l l employ them by God's 
help, that my heart may rejoice. A n d my Cid, i f you do 
not for the love of me grant this, I wi l l go my ways from 
you. But the Cid bade him do his pleasure, saying that it 
would picase him also. And then the great multitude of 
the Moors began to come out of their tents, and they formed 
their battle in haste, and came against the Christians, with 
the sound of trumpets and tambours, and with a great up-
roar ; and as they came out upon the alarm, not expecting 
that the Cid would come against them so soon, they did not 
advance in order, as King Bucar had commanded. And 
when the Cid saw this, he ordered his banner to be ad­
vanced, and bade his people lay on manfully. The Bishop 
Don Hieronymo he pricked forward ; two Moors he slew 
with the two first thrusts of the lance ; the haft broke, and 
he laid hand on his sword. God, . . how well the Bishop 
fought! two he slew with the lance, and five with the 
sword ; the Moors came round about him and laid on load 
of blows, but they could not pierce his arms. He who was 

1 Pendón iraio a corzas. 
Poema del Cid. 2385. 

The Glossary says upon this passage, parece que se habla de pendón l i ­
gero para llevarle quando se corria. Acaso debe leerse cordas porque irta 
asegurado con cuerdas. 
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born in happy hour had his eyes upen him, and he took his ^ O O K 
shield and placed it before him, and lowered his lance, and 
gave Bavieca the spur, that good horse. W i t h heart and 
soul he went at them, and made his way inte their first bat-
tle ; seven the Campeador smote down, and four he slew. 
In short time they joined battle in such sort that many were chr< ¿ei 
slain and many overthrown, on one side and on the other, ¡̂ J- CAP-
and so sreat was the din of strokes and of tambours that£h^-p611-

~ fl. 284. 
none could hear what another said : and they smote away Poema del 

7 J J Cid. 2378. 

cruelly, without rest or respite. 2407. 

V I I I . Now it came to pass in this battle that the Infante ^ow^the ^ 

Diego González encountered a Moor of Africa who was of ed King 
great stature and full valiant withal, and this Moor came thTtwenty-
fiercely against him ; and when the Infante saw how fiercely nmeKinss-
he was coming, he turned his back and fled. No one beheld 
this but Felez Muñoz the nephew of the Cid, who was a 
squire ; he set himself against the Moor with his lance under 
his arm, and gave him such a thrust in the breast, that the 
streamer of the lance came out all red with blood between 
his shoulders, and he down'd with the dead man and took 
his horse by the bridle, and began to cali the Infante Diego 
González. When the Infante heard himself called by his 
ñame he turned his head to see who called him, and when 
he saw that it was his cousin Felez Muñoz, he turned and 
awaited him. And Felez Muñoz said, Take this horse, 
cousin Diego González, and say that you killed the Moor ; 
nobody shall ever know otherwise from me, unless you give 
just cause. Whi le they were talking the Cid came up, after 
another Moorish knight, whom he reached just as he came 
up to them, and smote him with his sword upon the head, so 
that he split it down to the teeth. "When Felez Muñoz saw 
the Cid, he said, Sir, your son-in-law Don Diego González 
hath great desire to serve and help you in this day's work, 
and he hath just slain a Moor from whom he hath won this 
horse: and this pleased the Cid much, for he weened that it 
was true. And then they all three advanced themselves 
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BOOK toward the midst of the battle, giving great strokes, and 
- VI11'— smiting and slaying. Who can tell how marvellously the 

Bishop Don Hieronymo behaved himself in this battle, and 
how well all the rest behaved, each in his way, and above 
all, the Cid Campeador, as the greatest and best of a l l ! 
Nevertheless the power of the Moors was so great that they 
could not drive them to flight, and the business was upon 
the balance even t i l l the hour _ of nones. Many were the 
Christians who died that day among the foot soldiers ; and 
the dead, Moors and Christians together were so many, that 
the horses could scant move among their bodies. But after 
the hour of nones the Cid and his people smote the Moors 
so sorely that they could no longer stand against them, and 
it pleased God and the good fortune of the Cid that they 
turned their backs; and the Christians followed, hewing 
them down, and smiting and slaying ; and they tarried not 
to lay hands on those whom they felled, but went on in the 
pursuit as fast as they could. Then might you have seen 
cords broken, and stakes plucked up as the Christians came 
to the tents ; my Cid's people drove King Bucar's through 
their camp, and many an arm wiíh its sleeve-mail was lopt 
ofF, and many a head with its helmet fell to the ground; 
and horses ran about on all sides without riders. Seven full 
miles did the pursuit continué. And while they were thus 
following their flight the Cid set eyes upon King Bucar, and 
made at him to strike him with the sword ; and the Moorish 
King knew him when he saw him coming : Turn this way 
Bucar, cried the Campeador, you who came from beyond 
sea, to see the Cid with the long beard. W e must greet 
each other and cut out a friendship ! God confound such 
friendship, cried King Bucar, and turned his bridle, and 
began to fly towards the sea, and the Cid after him, having 
great desire to reach him. But King Bucar had a good 
horse and a fresh, and the Cid went spurring Bavieca who 
had had hard work that day, and he came near his back ; 
and when they were nigh unto the ships, and the Cid saw 
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that he could not reach him, he darted his sword at him, 
and struck him between the shoulders; and King Bucar • 
being badly wounded rodé into the sea, and got to a boat, 
and the Cid alighted and picked up his sword. And his 
people carne up, hewing down the Moors before them, and 
the Moors in their fear of death ran into the sea, so that 
twice as many died in the water as in the battle; neverthe-
less so many were they who were slain in the field, that they 
were thought to be seventeen thousand persons and upward: 
but a greater number died in the sea. And so many were 
they who were taken prisoner, that it was a wonder ; and 
of the twenty and nine kings who carne with King Bucar, c a ^ í f ™ ' 
seventeen were slain. And when the Cid saw that of the ¿H2¿EN' 
Moors some had gotten to the ships and the others were del 
slain or taken-, he returned toward their tents. 2409. 2441. 

I X . M y Cid Euydiez the Campeador returned from the Ofthegreat 
. . spou whica 

slaushter: the hood of his mail was thrown back, and the was won 
by the 

coif upon his head bore the marks of it . And when he saw Ohmtíaw. 
his sons-in-law the Infantes of Carrion, he rejoiced over 
them, and said to them to do them honor. Come here my 
sons, for by your help we have conquered in this battle. 
Presently Alvar F a ñ e z came up : the shield which hung 
from his neck was all battered: more than twenty Moors 
had he slain, and the blood was running from his wrist to 
his elbow. Thanks be to God, said he, and to the Father 
who is on high, and to you, Cid, we have won the day. A l l 
these spoils are yours and your vassals. Then they spoiled 
the field, where they found great riches in gold, and in sil-
ver, and in pearls, and in precious stones, and in sumptuous 
tents, and in horses, and in oxen, which were so many that 
it was a wonder. The poorest man among the Christians 
was made full rich that day. So great was the spoil that 
six hundred horses fell to the Cid as his fifth, beside sumpter 
beasts and camels, and twelve hundred prisoners; and of 
the other things which were taken no man can give account, 
ñor of the treasure which the Cid won that day in the Campo 
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BOOK del Quarto. God be praised! said the Campeador . . . 
" once I was poor, but now am I rich in lands and in posses-

sions, and in gold and in honor. And Moors and Christians 
both fear me. Even in Morocco, among their Mosques, do 
they fear least I should set upon them some night. Let 
them fear i t ! I shall not go to seek them, but here wi l l I 
be in Valencia, and by God's help they shall pay me tribute. 
Great joy was made in Valencia for this victory, and great 

Poema del was ^16 j0y 0^ ̂ e Infantes of Carrion; five thousand marks 
2445 2519 came to them for their portion of the spoil. And when they 
chr. del gaw themselves so rich, they and their únele Suero González 
Cid. cap. ' ^ 
236. took counsel tosjether, and coníirmed the wicked resolution 
Chr. Gen. . 55 
ff. 285. which they had taken. 
How the X . One day the companions of the Cid were talking be-
said that fore him of this victory, and they were saying who were the 
retumlnioyoung knights that had demeaned themselves well in the 
coumry™ battle and in the pursuit, and who had not ; but no mention 

was made of the Infantes ; for though some there were who 
whispered to each other concerning them, none would speak 
i l l of them before the Cid. And the Infantes saw this, and 
took counsel with their únele, who ought not to have given 
them the evil counsel that he did, and they determined forth-
with to put their wicked design in execution. So they went 
before the Cid, and Ferran González, having enjoined si-
lence, began to say thus. Cid, thou knowest well the good 
tie which there is between thee and us, for we hold thee in 
the place of a father and thou didst receive us as thy sons 
on the day when thou gavest us thy daughters to be our 
wives ; and from that day we have alway abode with thee, 
and have alway endeavored to do that which was to thy ser-
vice ; and i f we have at any time failed therein it hath not 
beén wilfully, but for lack of better understanding. Now 
inasmuch as it is long time since we departed from Castille, 
from our father and from our mother, and because neither 
we know how it fares with them, ñor they how it fares with 
us, we would now, i f you and Doña Ximena should so think 
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good, return unto them, and take our wives with us: so BOO î 
shall our father and our mother and our kinsmen see how . — 
honorably we are mated, and how greatly to our profit, and 
our wives shall be put in possession of the towns which we 
have given them for their dower, and shall see what is to be 
the inheritance of the children whom they may have. And 
whensoever you shall cali upon us, we w i l l be ready to 
come and do you service. Then the Cid made answer, 
weening that this was spoken without deceit, M y sons, I am 
troubled at what ye say, for when ye take my daughters ye 
take my very heart-strings : nevertheless it is fitting that ye chr del 
do as ye have said. Go when ye wi l l , and I w i l l give unto caP-
you such gifts that it shall be known in Gallicia and in Cas- ^h2g6Gen' 

tille and in León, with what riches I have sent my sons-in- Poema del 
J Cid. v. 

law home. 2541. 2589. 

X I . When the Cid had made this reply, he rose from How Doña 
his seat and went to Doña Ximena his wife, and spake mistrusted 

with her and with Alvar Fanez, and told them what had purpose of 

passed with his sons-in-law, and what answer he had given. ^ g . Infan" 

Greatly was Doña Ximena troubled at this, and Alvar Fañez 
also, that he had consented to what they asked ; and she said, 
I do not think it is wisely done to let them take our daughters 
from us, and carry them into another country ; for these our 
sons-in-law are traitorous and false at heart, and i f I areed 
them right they w i l l do some dishonor to our daughters, 
when there w i l l be none there to cali them to account. 
And Alvar Fañez was of the same mind ; but the Cid was 
displeased at this, and marvelled greatly at what they said ; 
and he bade them speak no more thereof, for God would 
not let it be so, . . neither were the Infantes of such a race 
as that they should do this ; neither, quoth he, would it 
come into their minds to do it, i f only because our Lord Kinsr 3 , 
-r\ i Í> Cnx. del 
Don Alfonso was he who made the marriase : but i f the Cid. cap. 

238 
Devil should tempt them, and they should commit this wick- Chr. Gen. 
edness, dearly would it cost them ! ff' 280' 
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BOOK X I I . So the Infantes of Carrion made ready for their 
departure, and there was a great stir in Valencia. And the 

togíwtweeatwo sisters, Doña Elvira and Doña Sol, carne and knelt be-
and his ^ore an(^ before Doña Ximena their mother, and 
daughters. You send us to the lands of Carrion, and we must 

fulfil your command ; now then give ns your blessing, and 
let us have some of your people with us in Carrion, we 
beseech you. And the Cid embraced them and kissed 
them, and the mother kissed them and embraced them twice 
as much, and they gave them their blessing, and their 
daughters kissed their hands. And the Cid gave unto his 
sons-in-law great store of cloth of gold, and of ser ge, and 
of wool, and an hundred horses bridled and saddled, and an 
hundred mules with all their trappings, and ten cups of 
gold, and. an hundred vessels of sil ver, and six hundred 
marks of silver in dishes and trenchers and other things. 
When all this was done they took their departure and went 
out of Valencia, and the Cid rodé out a long league with 
them. He looked at the birds, and the augury was bad, 
and he thought that these marriages would not be without 
some evil. And his heart1 smote him, and he began to 
think on what Doña Ximena had said, and to fear least evil 
should befall him from these sons-in-law, for the manner of 
their speech was not as it was wont to be. Where art thou 
my nephew, where art thou Felez Muñoz ? Thou art the 
cousin of my daughters, said he, both in heart and in soul. 
Go with them even unto Carrion, and see the possessions 
which are given them, and come back with tidings thereof.2 

1 The phrase is literally Spanish . . . Comenzó de fe r i r l e el corazón 
muy reziamente. Chronica del Cid. 

2 The Chronica del Cid says that the Cid sent a hundred knights wi th 
his daughters, under Martin, Pelaez the Asturian, and another knight 
called Pero Sánchez , who did homage in his hands that they would alway 
serve his daughters, as their liege ladies, and children of their natural 
Lord . Neither the Poem, ñor the Chronica General mention this, 
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And Felez Muñoz said that he would do this. And the Cid B O O K 
V I I I . 

bade him salute the Moor Abengalvon in his ñame, with L_ 
whom they should tarry a night at Molina, and bid him do 
service unto his daughters and his sons-in-law, and accom-
pany them as far as Medina ; and for all that he shall do,, 
said the Cid, I wi l l give him good guerdon. And when the 
ladies carne to take their leave of their father the Cid, and of 
their mother Doña Ximena, great were the lamentations on 
both sides, as i f their hearts had divined the evil which was 
to come ; and the Cid strove to comfort them, saying, that Chr del 
he should alway think of them, and would maintain them in Cid. cap. 
good estáte : and he gave them his blessing and turned chr. Gen. 
6 ff. 286. 

back toward Valencia, an(i they went their way with their Poema'del 

husbands, and that parting was like plucking the nail from 2595.V'265i. 

the flesh. 
X I I I . So the Infantes of Carrion went their way, by the How the 

Campo del Quarto to Chiva, and to Bonilla, and to Re- wouldehave 

quena, and to Campo-Robres, and they took up their lodg- ^ i v o n ^ ' 

ing at Vi l la Taxo. A n d on the morrow they tbok the road 
to Amaja, and leaving it on the right came to Adamuz, and 
passed by Colcha, and rested at Quintana. And when 
Abengalvon knew that the daughters of the Cid were com-
ing, he went out joyfully from Molina to meet them, and 
pitched tents for them in the field, and had food brought 
there in abundance. God, how well he served them! and 
on the morrow the Moor gave full rich and noble gifts to ' 
the daughters of his L o r d the Cid, and to each of the In­
fantes he gave a goodly horse. And he took horse himself 
and rodé on with them, having two hundred knights in his 
company. They crossed the mountains of Luzon, and 
passed Arbuxuelo, and came to Salón, and the Moor lodged 
them in the place which is called Ansarera : all this he did 
for the love of the Cid Campeador. Now the Infantes see-

and all that is afterwards related of these knights, is in the latter 
attributed with more probability to the knights of the Infantes own com­
pany. 

37 ; 
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BOOK ing the riches which this Moor had with him, took counsel 
together for treason, and said, L o now if we could slay 
this Moor Abengalvon, we should possess all these riches as 
safely as i f we were in Carrion, and the Cid could never 
take vengeance. And a Moor who understood the Latin of 
the country, heard them and knew what they said, and he 
went to Abengalvon, and said unto him, Acaiaz, that is to 
gay, Sire, take heed, for I heard the Infantes of Carrion 
plotting to k i l l thee. Abengalvon the Moor was a bold Ba­
rón, and when this was told him, he went with his two hun-
dred men before the Infantes, and what he said to them did 
not please them. Infantes of Carrion, he said, tell me what 
have I done ? I have ser ved ye without guile, and ye have 
taken counsel for my death. I f it were not for the sake of 
my Cid, never should you reach Carrion ! I would carry back 
his daughters to the loyal Campeador, and so deal with you 

, , that it should be talked of over the whole world. But I 
Poema del _ _ 
Cid. leave ye for traitors as ye are. Dona Elvira and Dona Sol, 
2653. 2698. T J. . „ A • -i i T • 

Chr. del I go with your lavor. God grant that this marnage may 
239," cap' please your father ¡ Having said this the good Moor returned 
ff! 286.Gen' to Molina. 
Of the X I V . They went on by Valdespino, and by Parra, and 
fy whicrhe1' Berrocal, and Val de Endrinas, and they left Medina Celi 
tes com11" o n ^16 r^§^lt5 an<̂  crost the plain of Barahona, and past near 
mit.ted VP011 Berlanga ; and they crost the Douro by a ford below the 
theirwives. o ^ ^ j 

town, and rodé on and carne into the Oak-wood of Corpes. 
The mountains were high, and the trees thick and lofty, 
and there were wi ld beasts in that place. A n d they carne 
to a green lawn in the midst of that oak forest, where there 
was a fountain of clear water, and there the Infantes gave 
order that their tent should be pitched ; and they passed the 
night there, making show of love to their wives, which they 
badly fulfilled when the sun was risen, for this was the 
place where they thought to put them to shame. Early in 
the morning they ordered the sumpter beasts to be laden, 
and the tent struck, and they sent all their company on, so 



RODRIGO DIAZ DE BIVAR. 291 

that nene remained with them, neither man ñor woman, but BOOK 
they and their wives were left alone, that they might disport !_ 
with them at pleasure. And Doña Elvira said to her hus-
band, W h y wouldst thou that we should remain alone in 
this place ? And he said, Hold thy peace, and thou shalt 
see ! And the Infantes tore away the mantles from off 
their wives, and the garments which they wore, save only 
their inner garment, and they held them by the hair of their 
head with one hand, and with the other took the girths of 
their horses. And the women said, Don Diego and Don 
Ferrando, ye have strong swords and of sharp edge ; the 
one is called Colada and the other Tizona; cut off our 
heads and we shall become martyrs ! But set not this evil 
example upon us, for whatever shame ye do unto us, shall 
be to your own dishonor. But the Infantes heeded not 
what they said, and beat them cruelly with the saddle-
girths, and kicked them with their spurs, so that their gar­
ments were torn and stained with blood. Oh, i f the Cid 
Campeador had come upon them at that hour ! And the 
women cried out and called upon God and Holy Mary to 
have merey upon them ; but the more they cried, the more 
cruelly did those Infantes beat and kick them, t i l l they were 
covered with blood and swooned away. Then the Infantes 
took their mantles and their cloaks, and their furs of er-
mine and other garments, and left them for dead, saying, 
Lie there, daughters of the Cid of Bivar, for it is not fitting 
that ye should be our wives, ñor that ye should have your 
dower in the lands of Carrion! W e shall see how your 
father wi l l avenge you, and we have now avenged ourselves 
for the shame he did us with the Lion . And they rodé away 
as they said this, leaving them to the mountain birds and to p d 1 
the beasts of the forest. Oh i f the Cid Campeador had Cid.v.2699. 

277 3 
come upon them at that hour ! And the Infantes rodé on, chr.'dd 
glorying in what they had done, for they said that the daugh- 239.'CAP' 

ters of the Cid were worthy to be their harlots, but not their ff.1^6"" 
wives. 
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B O O K X V . When the Infantes, before they committed this great 
YIIL cruelty, ordered their company to ride forward, Felez 

MuñofeleZ ^ u n o ' z nephew of the Cid, rode on with the rest: but 
íbund these this order nothina; pleased him, and he was troubled at heart, 
dames ly- . • <• • ' • 

ing in the insomuch that he went aside from his companions, and 
struck into the forest, and there waited privily t i l l he should 
see his cousins come, or learn what the Infantes had done 
to them. Presently he saw the Infantes, and heard what 
they said to each other. Certes if they had espied him he 
could not have escaped death. But they pricked • on, not 
seeing him, and he rode back to the fountain, and there he 
found the Avomen lying. senseless, and in such plight as ye 
have heard. And he made great lamentation over them, 
saying, Never can it picase God that ye my cousins should 
receive such dishonor ! God and St. Mary give them who 
have done this an evil guerdon ! for ye never deserved this, 
neither are ye of a race to deserve that this or any other evil 
should betide ye ! By this time the women began to come to 
themselves, but they could not speak, for their hearts were 
breaking. And Felez Muñoz called out to them, Cousins ! 
Cousins! Doña E lv i r a ! Doña So l ! for the love of God 
rouse yourselves that we may get away before night comes, 
or the wi ld beasts' w i l l devour us ! And they came to them­
selves and began to open their eyes, and saw that he who 
spake to them was- Felez M u ñ o z ; and he said to them, For 
the love of God take heart and let us be gone ; for the 
Infantes w i l l soon seek for me, and i f God do not befriend 
us we shall all be slain. And Doña Sol said to him in her 
great pain, Cousin, for all that our father hath deserved at 
your hands, give us water. Felez Muñoz took his hat and 
filled it with water and gave it to them. And he comforted 
them and bade them take courage, and besought them to 
bear up. And he placed them upon his horse, and covered 
them both with his'cloak, and led them through the oak 
forest, into the thickest part thereof, and there he made a 
bed of leaves and of grass, and laid them on it, and covered 
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them with his cloak, and he sate down by thera and began ROCK 
to weep, for he knew not what he should do ; for he had no V m ' 
food, and i f he went to seek it, great danger was there 
because they were wounded and bloody, that the wi ld beasts Poema del 

and the birds of the mountain would attack them ; and on 2819. 
the other hand, unless he went to his únele the Cidj to tell cid.' cap. 
him of this wickedness, none other knew what had been cten.*^' 
done, and thus there would be no vengeance taken. • 287• 

X V I . While Felez Muñoz was in this great trouble the How Pero 
0 Sánchez 

Infantes ioined their company, and their spurs were bloody the oiher 
p - knights de-

and their hands also írom the wounds wmch they had given fied the in-
their wives. And when their people saw them in this plight, 
and that their wives were not with them, they weened that 
some wickedness had been done ; and all they who were of 
good heart and understanding among them went apart, to 
the number of an hundred, w i t h ' one who was named Pero 
Sánchez ; and he spake unto them, saying, Friends, these 
Infantes have done a foul deed upon their wives, the daugh-
ters of our L o r d the Cid ; and they are our liege Ladies, for 
we did homage to them before their father," and accepted 
them as such ; and the Cid made us knights that we should 
discharge the duty which we owe to them. Now then, it 
behoveth us that we arm ourselves, and demand of the 
Infantes what they have done with our ladies, and require 
them at their hands. And i f they w i l l not deliver them to 
us, then w i l l we fight against them even to death ; for thus 
shall we do right, and otherwise we shall be i l l spoken of, 
and not worthy to live in the world. This was the counsel 
which Pero Sánchez gave, and they all held it good and did 
accordingly. A n d the Infantes, when they saw them coming 
and heard their demand, were greatly afraid, and they said, 
Go to the fountain in the Oak-forest of Corpes, and there ye 
may find them ; we left them safe and sound, and no harm 
have we done unto them ; but we would not take them with 
us. 111 have ye done, replied thóse knights, to forsake such 
wives, and the daughters of such a father, and i l l w i l l ye fare 
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BOOK for i t ! A n d from henceforward, we renounce all friendshin 
V I I I 

.— with ye, and defy ye for the Cid, and for ourselves, and for 
all his people. And the Infantes could not reply. And when 
they saw that the Infantes did not answer, they said, Get ye 
gone for traitors and false caitifFs; there is no way in the 

cid." cap. world by which ye can escape from the- enemies whom ye 
Geó ^r" ^ave now ma(ie ! But for all this the Infantes made no 
287. reply, and went their way. 
How those X V I I . Pero Sánchez and those other knights rodé back 
made their to the grcen lawn in the Oak-forest, where they had left the 
t o ^ K i n g . dames ; and when they carne to the fountain they saw that 

there was blood round about, but the dames were not there ; 
and they were greatly troubled, and knew not where to seek 
them. A n d they went about the forest seeking them, calling 
thera aloud, and making great lamentation for the i l l that 
had befallen, and also, because they could not find them. 
Now Felez Muñoz and the women heard their volees, and 
were in great fear, for they weened that it was the Infantes 
and their company, who were returned with intent to k i l l 
them; and in their great fear they remained still, and would 
fain have been far from that place. So Pero Sánchez and 
they who were with him went about seeking them in vain. 
Then spake up a knight called Martin Ferrandez, who was 
a native of Burgos, saying, Friends, it boots us to turn back 
from henee and follow after the Infantes, and do battle with 
them, even unto death, because of this wickedness which 
they have committed, rather than return to the C id ; for i f 
we do not strive to take vengeance, we are not worthy to 
appear before hirn. And if, peradventure, we cannot come 
up with them upon the road, let us go before the King Don 
Alfonso, and discover unto him this foul deed, and tell him 
the truth thereof, to the intent that he may order juslice to 
be done for such a thing; for certes, greatly w i l l he be 
troubled when he knoweth it, and greatly wil l he be incensed 
against them, inasmuch as he it was who besought the Cid 
to give them his daughters to wife. And we w i l l not depart 


